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FOREWORD

The genesis of this book has been both unusually long and fortuitous. Its origins lie
with Marcus Burke’s dissertation completed in 1984 for the Institute of Fine Arts at
New York University, a work that even then had already gained a considerable reputa-
tion because of its scope and originality. At a time when very little of a comprehensive
nature had been published on collecting in Spain, Burke’s dissertation on Italian art in
Spanish collections pulled together a large number of unpublished documents and syn-
thesized them into a wide-ranging interpretation of the history of taste during Spain’s
Golden Age. His work concentrated on the great noble collectors of the period whose
activity could be traced not only in Spain but in the lands under Spanish control, from
as far afield as Italy to the east and The Netherlands to the north. Although individual
documents on single collections had appeared over a long period and in a vast and
confusing variety of local journals and newspapers, here finally was a careful analysis
of the field as a whole, combined with a large number of crucial but previously unpub-
lished inventories.

The word “fortuituous™ is appropriate because it was just at the moment that
Burke completed his dissertation that the Getty Provenance Index embarked on a pro-
gram of automating archival material as a means of documenting a comprehensive his-
tory of collecting in Europe prior to the nineteenth century. Although we had already
come into contact with Marcus Burke on earlier occasions, it was Ellis Waterhouse, a
colleague we had in common and a perpetual source of useful references, who pointed
out the relevance of his work for our new project. Jonathan Brown, Burke’s adviser,
also played an important role in bringing about the collaboration, as well as assisting
in the project’s development at various points along the way. In the summer of 1984
Burke was invited to California for eight weeks to begin the process of converting his
data into electronic form.

The Provenance Index of that time was still a young department, consisting of
historians and former museum staff who were still struggling to come to grips with
automation and were barely familiar with their new computer given them by the Getty
Trust. Marcus Burke’s ideas of how archival inventories could be automated were
much more advanced than our own, and it took a while for his message to sink in. It
was Marcus who laid out the first proposals for parsing such documents and described
how the work might be done, although it was only the following year that any signifi-
cant amount of transcribing was attempted, and the initial efforts concentrated on Ital-
1an documents, not Spanish. Nonetheless, his recommendations served as the basis for
such work and were incorporated as the staff learned to take advantage of them.

Since the principal thrust of the archival projects was to begin publishing in auto-
mated form the vast corpus of unknown inventories yet to be identified in public and
private European archives, it was agreed with Burke that we would attempt to flesh out
his own list of documents in the hope of achieving something closer to comprehen-
siveness. With his usual breadth of vision, Burke hoped to make the book a summary
of relevant research from the nineteenth century until the present time, including a
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complete list of every known inventory (both published and unpublished) and includ-
ing as well a full bibliography that could serve as a definitive guide to the subject.
Initially these efforts were aided by Angela Delaforce, an authority on Spanish and
Portuguese collecting in the sixteenth and early seventeenth century, who prepared for
us a useful bibliography on the subject and copies of some inventories that had already
been published. Before long, however, it was concluded that a more intensive effort
was required, ideally to involve someone working in Madrid, and it was this decision
that led us to Peter Cherry, who, although still a graduate student at the Courtauld
Institute, already had a reputation as the person who had dredged through a larger
number of Madrid documents than any of his contemporaries. Cherry was employed
from 1986 until 1989 to identify and acquire copies of inventories in the Archivo His-
térico de Protocolos that could be added to those already known to us through Marcus
Burke.

The nature of the inventories found by Cherry carried the work into a domain that
differed considerably from the material treated in Burke’s dissertation. They docu-
mented the possessions of a wide range of non-noble collectors and miscellaneous
members of the court whose activity had previously been ignored or overlooked. Their
inventories were not as rich as those of the nobility, but they yielded a more complete
view of collecting in Madrid society than was possible when the focus was only those
men surrounding the king. In the course of his work on Spanish still lifes, the subject
of his dissertation, Cherry had come to study these non-noble collectors more thor-
oughly than his predecessors, and consequently it was decided that he was also the
best person to discuss this kind of document within the scope of the project. Thus the
book came to combine the efforts of two people with different though compatible
approaches to the subject.

During this period of expansion the Provenance Index emphasized Italian archives,
in part because its staff included no one with a specialized knowledge of Spanish art
history. It was only in 1988 that Maria Gilbert took on the task of overseeing the pro-
ject and began to systematically transfer the data to the computer. Since that time
Ms. Gilbert has overseen the project in all its details, from transcribing the documents
using photocopies of the originals, to adding subject classifications from Iconclass,
and later to researching the present location of the paintings and organizing the data in
the computer, ultimately making possible its publication in book form. In a real sense
it has become Ms. Gilbert’s book, since the two original authors had taken on other
duties in other parts of the world; although both of them spent brief periods of time in
California while the book was progressing, for the past few years it was Ms. Gilbert
who crafted the various texts, the numerous documents, and the vast number of refer-
ences into a final book that we hope does not betray its diverse origins and its lengthy
gestation.

The final result is, we hope, as nearly comprehensive as was originally aspired to.
In the course of the thirteen years that have elapsed since the book was first put into
motion, a certain amount has been published, and a few important documents have
been found by other scholars that could not be incorporated here. Our ability to utilize
automation has improved greatly, and although we would no longer attempt so large
a project without the collaboration of another institution — normally one with some
proximity to the source of the documents — the final result at least is very close to the
book initially envisaged.

Having said that, it needs to be noted that the transcriptions found in the present
book are limited primarily to paintings, reflecting the interests of the two authors and
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the methods in force when the Provenance Index first came into being a decade and
one half ago. Until fairly recent times it was not unusual to drastically excerpt a docu-
ment in order to concentrate on those parts of most interest to the compilers. In the
meantime, however, this practice has declined, and a decision has been taken by the
Provenance Index to publish transcriptions that encompass a wider and more compre-
hensive range of objects.

Future books will generally include every work of art as well as, on occasion,
items that have primarily an historical or documentary value. The present book is the
last of those undertaken during our youth, and in this sense does not represent what
is to come.

The Getty Provenance Index and the Getty Information Institute are grateful
indeed to Marcus Burke for having given the initial impetus to the project, to Peter
Cherry for having given it a different and important dimension, and finally to Maria
Gilbert for having brought it to a successful conclusion. To all three we extend our
thanks for many years of patient effort, the benefits of which should finally be appar-
ent to all. Finally, we are all indebted to Jonathan Brown and William Jordan for their
consistent generosity and advice. Everyone involved is aware that, without these two
men, the book would not have come into being.

Burton Fredericksen, Santa Monica, 1997
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PREFACE

For approximately 150 years, from about 1550 to 1700, there occurred in the group

of nations we today call “Spain” an explosion of cultural energy known as the Siglo
de Oro: the Spanish Golden Age. During the reigns of the Hapsburgs Philip II, Philip
II1, Philip IV, and Charles 11, artists such as El Greco, Ribera, Veldzquez, Murillo,
Carrefio, and Coello (not to mention Cervantes, Lope de Vega, Quevedo, Calderdn,
Géngora, and the other great literary figures of the age) created many of the famous
masterpieces of world art. At the beginning of the period, Spain was the most powerful
country in Europe and perhaps in the world, its international monarchy comprising
much of Europe, most of the New World, and parts of Asia and Africa. As might be
expected, Spanish patrons were active internationally, especially in Rome, in southern
Italy, and in Flanders — the latter two being the principal European parts of the Spanish
monarchy.

Above all, the era witnessed a fashion, even a mania, for collecting paintings,
which eventually affected a surprisingly wide range of Spaniards, from the king, his
nobles, and his ministers down to relatively humble subjects in Madrid. In 1638 the
English ambassador in Madrid, Sir Arthur Hopton, filed one of many reports with the
diplomat and art collector, Sir Francis Cottington, who had preceded him in Spain.
Hopton had presented a group of pictures sent by Queen Henrietta Maria to the Span-
ish court and had found Spanish connoisseurship to be somewhat more exacting than
that of his own monarch:

I delivered those [pictures] which her Mat'¢ sent, wch were discovered to
be no Originalls. They are now become more judicious in & more affec-
tiond unto the Art of Paynting, then they have beene, or then the world
imagines. And the King within this 12 moneth, hath gotten an incredible
numbr of ancient & of the best moderne hands & over wt" the Conde

de Monte Rey came the best of Italye, particulerly the Baccanalian of
Titian & in this towne is not a peece worth any thing but the King takes
& payes very well for them & in his imitation the Admirante [,] Don
Lewis de Faro, and many others are making Collections.'

In his nine years of residence in Madrid, Hopton had discovered what has since
become clear to modern scholars: as connoisseurs and collectors of fine art, the Span-
ish of seventeenth-century Madrid were second to none.

No decade of the century, with the possible exception of the 1690s, passed with-
out the formation of a major private collection. Furthermore, the art collections assem-

1. Published by W.N. Sainsbury, Original Unpublished Papers, lllustrative of the Life of Sir Peter Paul Rubens,
with an Appendix of Documents Respecting the Arundellian Collection, London 1859, p. 353 (Letter CXXXVI).
The original is in the British Library, Egerton ms. 1820, dated 26 July-5 August 1638. Cited by E. du G. Tra-
pier, “Sir Arthur Hopton and the Interchange of Paintings between Spain and England in the Seventeenth
Century,” Connoisseur, 165 (1967b), p. 62; and by J. Brown and J. Elliott, A Palace for a King: The Buen
Retiro and the Court of Philip IV, New Haven 1980, p. 115, following London: Public Record Office, SP 94.40.
f. 150v.
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bled in Golden Age Madrid were often enormous, sometimes comprising thousands of
pictures. This volume attempts to describe how and why these collections were assem-
bled, and their effect on the artistic and cultural life of Spain.

This book is necessarily document-centered, arranged according to sources of
information rather than other historical criteria. We seek above all to provide reliable
transcriptions of documents, for the most part from seventeenth-century Madrid, and
to present the data from these documents in an analytically useful way. To balance the
datacentric nature of the endeavor, we also seek to provide a historical framework for
the information, so that the true work of historians, the interpretation of data in the
light of contemporary values, may proceed. The Introduction is therefore designed to
be a brief history of collecting in Golden Age Spain, augmented by the more specific
discussions in the essays — which we will call “entries” — introducing each family of
collectors. We have attempted to separate each subject’s influence as a patron from his
or her activities as a collector, even though the data we are working with — inventories
of collections — tend to conflate the two. Inevitably, some subjects offer more of an
historical image than others; many others are remembered today only because they
once owned pictures. Taken as a whole, however, the histories and the data reveal
much about a previous era and offer tantalizing leads for further historical and art-
historical investigations.
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SEVENTEENTH-CENTURY SPANISH
TASTE

Peter Cherry

The Taste for Paintings

For Philip IV, the visit of Peter Paul Rubens to Madrid in 1628 must have been one of
the most stimulating and formative events of his reign. Rubens had come to the Span-
ish court as an ambassador of the Regent of the Netherlands, and predictably the king
had reservations about having to treat affairs of state with a ““‘common painter.” How-
ever Philip eventually sat for Rubens for his portrait — breaking Veldzquez’s monopoly
on royal sittings — and in the course of time he made almost daily visits to his Alcdzar
studio to converse with the artist and watch him at work.! Philip had inherited the best
picture collection in Europe, and soon after the Fleming’s seven month sojurn, the
young king began to emerge as a picture collector on a grand scale.? Under such cir-
cumstances, it is not difficult to grasp why Rubens had such a profound effect in form-
ing royal taste.

A shrewd judge of character, Rubens was comparably impressed by the king’s
personality and the “extreme delight” he took in painting. Philip had been trained in
drawing by the Dominican painter Juan Bautista Mayno, and all writers on art in the
period stressed that the king painted. One contemporary portrait depicts the king sur-
rounded with the attributes of painting, and another shows Philip in the act of paint-
ing a Virgin of the Immaculate Conception.> Other members of the royal family were
also trained in art.* Such images affirmed royal support for the profession and under-
scored the importance of painting in the service of the Catholic faith (in the eyes of
most Spaniards, the whole raison d’étre of the art).’ Given his upbringing, it is not
surprising that Philip became one of the greatest collectors of paintings of his age,

1. In a letter from Madrid, dated 2 December 1628, Rubens wrote that the king “takes an extreme delight in
painting, and in my opinion this prince is endowed with excellent qualities. I know him already by personal
contact, for since I have rooms in the palace, he comes to sce me almost every day.” R. Magurn, The Letters
of Peter Paul Rubens, Cambridge, MA, 1971, p. 292. While the king knighted Rubens in 1631 in recognition
of his diplomatic services, his later enlightened intervention to help Veldzquez gain entry into the Order of
Santiago (1659) was in recompense for his artistic services. Indeed, a meaningful, if superficial, reading of
Veldzquez's Las Meninas (Fig. 2) shows the artist in the act of painting, celebrating his proximity to the mon-
arch and the royal family.

2. See Brown 1995, p.119. Brown points out that the construction of both the Buen Retiro and the Torre de la
Parada at this time contributed greatly to Philip IV’s need to acquire large quantities of pictures.

3. This first picture, by Juan Martinex de Gradilla, a follower of Zurburdn, was from the chapel of the Seville
painters’ confraternity, the Hermandad de San Lucas in the Churcy of San Andrés, and was in the Stirling
Maxwell collection. The latter portrait was a seventeenth-century work in the collection of the Conde de la
Unidn, Navarra.

4. Philip’s brother, the infante Carlos, painted a St. Anthony and the Christ child, and Philip’s son, the Infante
Juan José de Austria, was trained in drawing by Eugenio de las Cuevas and practised painting as well as being
an astute connoisseur; he even instructed his own pages in the art of painting. Palomino (ed. 1986, pp. 342 -
343) names him as Don Francisco de Vera Cabeza de Vaca. For the Infante Carlos’s painting, see Angulo and
Pérez Sédnchez 1969, p. 369; E. Montaner Lépez, Pintura barroca en Salamanca. Escuela espaiiolas, 1987,
pp. 34-35.

5. See J. Gallego, “Felipe IV pintor,” in A. Géllego-Morell et al., eds., Estudios sobre la literatura y arte dedi-
cados al Profesor Emilio Orozco Diaz, vol. 1, 1979, pp. 533-540.

SEVENTEENTH-CENTURY SPANISH TASTE 1



2

providing at the same time a sympathetic ambience for countless other collectors who
emulated the royal model.® Paintings became a kind of currency that could be ex-
changed or used as gifts in order to curry favor, and the practice of collecting perme-
ated many levels of Spanish society. The most active collectors were generally mem-
bers of the court, especially the numerous viceroys who governed the extensive lands
under Spanish control, including Flanders — Rubens’ home -- as well as parts of the
Italian peninsula: Milan, Naples,” and Sicily. On a more modest level, it was common
for ecclesiastics who travelled to the papal court in Rome to return home with pic-
tures.® These acquisitions served to lend some lustre to the image and status of their
owners, but they could also be used to obtain favours from higher officials, or even
from the king, whose tastes were carefully observed. Some of the viceroys were espe-
cially instrumental in decorating the royal Buen Retiro Palace.®

Visitors to the main state room of the Alcdzar — the New Room, later the Hall of
Mirrors - were dazzled by the display of masterpieces from the king’s collection.'?
None, however, would have been surprised by the fact that almost all of these were by
Italian and Flemish hands. The fact that Philip IV did not collect Spanish pictures, but
only foreign imports, may seem paradoxical today. However, since the reign of Philip
II, Spanish connoisseurs focused on Italian painting, and cultivated Spaniards fully
acknowledged the traditional lead of Italy in cultural matters (as well as their technical
expertise in fresco painting and bronze casting). It was, of course, also a prerogative of
power that the very best works of world art should find their way into the collection of
the King of Spain, Europe’s most powerful ruler. Given Spanish imperial hegemony
and political influence in Europe, too, many Spaniards would have been *“‘at home” in
Flanders and Italy; the human traffic throughout the empire familiarised more people
than we might imagine with the art of these countries. In a real sense, then, paintings
from Flanders and Italy may not have seemed strictly “foreign” to the eyes of Spanish
CONnoisseurs.

The Taste for Flemish and Italian Painting at Court

In 1628 Rubens brought to Madrid eight of his own works, which effectively con-
verted Philip to his art.!! Indeed, Philip IV’s patronage of Rubens can be seen as paral-
leling Philip II’s of Titian. Rubens’ paintings came to dominate the Alcdzar collection;
more than 60 of his works were inventoried in the palace by 1682, and in 1686 the
Hall of Mirrors displayed examples from the full range of his art: portraiture, biblical

6. See most recently, J. Brown, Kings and Connoisseurs, 1996.

7. Among the seventeenth-century Spanish viceroys of the kingdom of Naples, who formed the greatest collec-
tions of Italian art after the king, were the Conde de Monterrey and the Marqués del Carpio. See Docs. 49, 57,
58, 61,109, 114, and 115.

8. This volume includes the inventory of Don Juan de Matute, a canon of Granada Cathedral, who appears to
have spent time in Rome, where many of his pictures were painted, and who died on a visit to the court of
Madrid in 1629 (Doc. 14). Remarkably, Matute owned a copy of Caravaggio’s Boy with a Ram (Doc. 14,

no. 13; the original is in the Capitoline Museum, Rome), which he listed in his own inventory as a copy of a
famous painting in the Mattei collection in Rome calling it ““St. John nude holding the lamb,” without a hint of
the classical or homocrotic dimensions noted in modern interpretations. For the painting in the Mattei collec-
tion, see J. Gash, “Book Reviews,” The Burlington Magazine, 1068, 1992, pp. 186 188. Claudio Strinati,

et al., Caravaggio e la collezione Matei, Milan 1995, pp. 120123, no. 2.

9. Brown and Elliott 1980.

10. For the evolution of the pictorial decoration of this room, see Orso 1986, pp. 32-117.

11. On the presence of Rubens in Spain, see Vosters 1990; W.A. Vergara, The Presence of Rubens in Spain,
Ph.D. dissertation, New York University Institute of Fine Arts, 1994.

MADRID, 16011755



and classical history, and mythology.!” Rubens’ mythological paintings hung at the
Torre de la Parada, and copies of them by Juan Bautista del Mazo were in the Madrid
Alcéazar. Rubens was almost universally admired in Spain and the most sought-after
northern master. In Philip IV’s reign, the Marqués de Leganés used his diplomatic
posting to Flanders to begin assembling the most spectacular collection of Flemish
painting in private hands in Spain, which remained intact during the seventeenth cen-
tury by being entailed to the family estate. On a lesser scale, Don Miguel de Sala-
manca acquired his taste for Flemish painting while serving in Flanders.'? Leganés
knew Rubens and he commissioned works from the artist at first hand. Collectors of
the wealth and distinction of Leganés or indeed the Marqués del Carpio were careful
to show appropriate deference to the king in the pursuit of art. The 1636 inventory of
the royal collection is unusual in that it notes the donations of pictures to Philip by
many aristocrats, courtiers, and private individuals, who may have gained the favour
of the young monarch through such gifts.'# In 1628 Rubens painted for Leganés an
Immaculate Conception, a quintessentially **Spanish” subject which he prudently and
wisely immediately donated to the Crown.'> A few years later, however, Leganés
threw a tantrum when asked to furnish a number of rooms of the Buen Retiro with
pictures from his own collection. Indeed, the set of small Flemish still lifes by Alex-
ander Adrienssen (Museo del Prado, Madrid) that Leganés willed to the king on his
death in 1655 are intriguing curiosities that pale into insignificance alongside the
many masterpieces of figure subjects in his collection of some 1,300 pictures.'®

The prestige of Rubens and Van Dyck was immense among Spanish collectors;
it increased throughout the seventeenth century in Spain along with that of sixteenth-
century Venetian artists. Attributions in inventories testify to the large numbers of
copies in collections in Madrid. High-quality Flemish prints after Rubens and Van
Dyck were imported and also collected and displayed in collections such as that of the
Duc d’Aarschot (Docs. 30 and 31).!7 Some Madrid collections of the second half of
the seventeenth century, including those of the Conde de Molina (Doc. 93) and Conde
de Fuensaldafia,'® were notable for the particular taste of their noble owners for paint-
ings from Flanders. Philip IV’s son, the Infante Don Juan José of Austria (1629
1679), governor of the Low Countries between 16561659, collected the Flemish
school, particularly the genre paintings of David Teniers.'® It was not uncommon
for Flemish residents in the capital (the most distinguished of whom was the Duc
d’ Aarschot) to own distinguished paintings of their native school, either brought
with them to Spain or imported subsequently. Merchants also owned important col-
lections of Flemish paintings; the inventory of capital of the Flemish merchant Pedro

12. Sec Orso 1986, pp. 189—192, for the 1636 inventory of the New Room, which also included Rubens hunt-
ing pictures at this date; ibid., pp. 192-194, for the room, now renamed the Hall of Mirrors, in 1686. See also
Brown 1991, pp. 228ff.

13. Sce the inventory made after the death of his wife, Costanza Pardo, Document 63 in this publication.

14. Typescript copies of this inventory, the original of which is held in the Archivo de Palacio, Madrid, exist in
the Library of the Prado Muscum, Madrid, and the National Gallery, London.

15. Diaz Padrén, Museo del Prado Catdlogo de Pinturas, Escuela flamenca siglo XVII, 1975, pp. 224-226, no.
1627.

16. Lépez Navio 1962, p. 267, Diaz Padrén 1975, pp. 13-14, nos. 13411344,

17. Sec Agulld y Cobo 1981, p. 211, for a contract of 1655 by which Mateo Guerra agreed to scll from his shop
in Madrid prints after Rubens and Van Dyck on paper and vellum supplied by two Flemish merchants. The
majority of the lot of more than 7,500 prints were of religious subjects, along with images of emperors of the
House of Austria and landscapes, and their quality varied between “finas” and “ordinarias”.

18. Vergara 1989.

19. Mordn and Checa 1985, pp. 280-281.
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van Vucht (Doc. 34) was headed by a Descent from the Cross by Jordaens, valued at
3,000 reales, and included other works attributed to Flemish masters, as well as a
range of subjects typical of this school, such as the Five Senses, the Elements, land-
scapes, hunting scenes, and mythologies. Pedro was the brother of Jan van Vucht,
Madrid agent of the Moretus Printing Works, who in 1639 bequeathed Rubens’ altar-
piece of the Martyrdom of St Andrew to the chapel of the Hospital de los Flamencos,
the hostel for Flemish residents in the Spanish capital.?

Paintings were among the most common goods imported from Spanish Flanders,
and lienzos de Flandes appear to have increased in volume throughout the century
owing to the special trading links between Spain and the Spanish Netherlands.?! The
massive trade deficit with Flanders in paintings even led to a proposal in 1598 that
instead of being imported, the paintings should be made in Spain.?? The fruit of this
importation was a range of secular picture types long associated with the Flemish
school, primarily landscapes, still lifes, flower paintings, and genre scenes that were
common in Madrid collections. In Italy, and perhaps also in Spain, Flemish devotional
painting was also popular for its direct appeal to pious emotions.>* Spanish collectors’
high regard for contemporary northern religious paintings appears reflected in the
choice of Flemish-style religious paintings after compositions by Rubens depicted
on top of an expensive buffet (escritorio) in a number of still lifes by the Valencian
artist Tomds Hiepes.?* Although not always identified as Flemish works in postmor-
tem inventories of collections, large consignments of devotional pictures, frequently
small and on copper (listed as Idminas in inventories), were regularly shipped to Spain
throughout the period. Typical of this trade is a lot of 120 devotional coppers painted
by the Antwerp artists Gaspar Goosens and Damian van den Vequen, sent to Seville
for sale by the merchant and dealer Crysostoom van Immerseel in 1631.2% In 1640, five
religious paintings were listed among 70 pictures imported from Flanders by the
Madrid collector Juan César Scazuola.?

20. Viieghe, Corpus Rubenianum, Saints 1, 1972, p. 89. Jan van Vucht commissioned the frame of Rubens
altarpicce from two Flemish cabinetmakers, one of whom, Abraham Lers, valued the picture frames of the
works listed in Pedro van Vucht’s capital.

21. Sce Denucé 1931; Herrero Garcia 1943, pp. 424-425; Pemdn 1929-1932, pp. 145ff.

22. Morén Turina 1991-1992, p. 177, n. 81, citing C. Pérez de Herrera’s scheme to alleviate poverty among
orphans in his Discursos del amparo de los legitimos pobres, 1583.

23. See, for instance, Jones 1993, pp. 105-107. Comments ascribed to Michelangelo by the Portuguese artist
Francisco da Hollanda emphasised the devout qualitics and naturalism of Flemish painting. F. da Hollanda,
Four Dialogues on Painting, ed. A.F.G. Bell, Oxford, 1928, pp. 15-16.

24. Jordan and Cherry 1995, p. 120; A.E. Pérez Sanchez, Thomas Yepes, Valencia: Fundacién Bancaja, pp. 26—
27, p. 60, no. 12, pp. 125-126.

25. Van Immerseel was the main importer of Flemish paintings in Seville from ca. 1623 —early 1640. For 84
“pinturas de devocién pintadas en cobre” by Goosens and 36 “pinturas de devocién en cobre” by Van den
Vequen in the shipment of 1631, see Denucé 1934, doc. 34. Ibid., for many other documents of this type. In
1610, an Antwerp merchant, Solomon Paradis, opened a paintings shop in Seville near the cathedral, and in
1621 Antwerp painters were unable to satisfy all their Spanish orders. By 1646, there were at least three Sevil-
lian shops specialising in Flemish paintings. See E. Stols, “La colonia flamenca de Sevilla y el comercio de los
Paises Bajos espaiioles en la primera mitad del siglo XVIL,” Anuario de Historia Econdmica y Social, 2 (1969),
pp. 376--377. For the importation of Flemish paintings into Cadiz later in the century, see C. Peman “Un com-
ercio de arte flamenco en Cadiz el siglo XVIL,” El Boletin del Museo de Cddiz, 1V, 19291932, pp. 145ff.

26. Scazuola, knight of the Order of Calatrava, Tesorero general de la Santa Cruzada, was also an asentista of
the king (Elliott, Richelieu and Olivares, Cambridge, UK, 1986, p. 476). On his death in November 1639, his
estate was inventoried (AHPM, Prot. 7.805, ff. 1103—1125) and his picture collection appraised by the painter
Jusepe Leonardo, who valued the lot of 70 paintings said to have recently arrived from Flanders, on 6 February
1640 (AHPM, Prot. 7.805, ff. 1067v~1068v). These were mostly landscapes, but included paintings of the
Nativity of Christ, SS. Paul and Anthony, Supper at Emmaus, Virgin and Child, Christ on the Way to Calvary,
as well as a genre subject of a woman with fruit. However, all of the figurative subjects were described as
*“copies” in the document.

MADRID, 1601-1755



Despite the enormous popularity of Flemish painting by minor masters, Spanish
art treatises tended to denigrate the school as simple and unsophisticated. Pacheco
considered the Flemish manner “dry” and advised looking to Italy for the “good
style” (buena manera).?” For these writers, and in accordance with the anthropocentric
emphasis and idealising values of Italian art theory, the appeal of most Flemish art
depended on bright colours and a detailed transcription of natural appearances.’® It
was, of course, precisely this perceived “naturalism” in northern painting that made
Flemish landscapes, still lifes, and flower painting so sought after in Spain. However,
there may also have been a widespread attitude among even minor painters in Antwerp
and Brussels that the Spanish market was relatively undiscerning and was able to
absorb even very low-grade works.?*

Italian painters who visited Spain in the seventeenth century may have been
drawn there by the traditional esteem enjoyed by foreign artists in the Peninsula.? It
was well known that Philip II’s Escorial had been decorated by Italian artists, and a
legacy of this fact may have been the promise of financial rewards in Spain, perhaps
even stories of an excess of American silver, undiscriminating taste, and a dearth of
native talent.’! Rubens’ impressions of painting at the Spanish court in 1603 are well
known: in letters back to his Mantuan patrons, he joked about the incompetence of
Spanish painters and the low level of connoisseurship among courtiers, and it took many
years for such opinions to dissipate entirely.? Italian and Flemish painters were also
accustomed to shipping paintings to the Spanish market; in his letter on painting, the
Roman collector Vicenzo Giustiniani listed Spain first among the countries to which
Italian artists sent pictures.?? During the reign of Philip III, the Florentine royal painter
Bartolomé Carducho acted as agent for the importation of paintings by Florentine con-
temporaries, the “Reformed Mannerists” Passignano, Sorri, and Pagani, and, probably,
old master pictures too.?* Other Italian painters who shipped to Spain at this time
included Antiveduto Grammatica and Camilo Proccacini.®> One shipment of paintings

27. Pacheco, ed. 1990, p. 348.

28. See, for instance, Martinez, ed. 1988, p. 286.

29. The attitude that ignorant Spanish collectors would be satisfied with paintings with bright colours was
expressed in Flanders in the presence of Juan José de Austria, as reported by Juscpe Martinez (ed. 1988,

p. 286). In correspondence with Van Immerseel in Seville in 1631-1632, Jan Brueghel Il urged the merchant to
bring paintings by his father for sale to Spain, since he was sure such beautiful craftmanship had not been seen
there. If originals proved to be too expensive for Spanish collectors, copies of Brueghel’s paintings were also
offered. See Denucé 1934, docs. 33 and 39.

30. For Italian artists in Spain, R. Longhi, “Un ‘San Tomasso’ del Veldzquez e le congiunture italo-spagnole tra
il ‘5 el “600,” Vita Artistica, 1927, pp. 4—12; A.E. Pérez Sanchez, Pintura italiana del siglo XVI en Espana,
Madrid 1965; Dizionario degli Artists Italiani in Spagna, Madrid 1977; Goldberg, “Artistic relations between
the Medici and the Spanish courts, 15871621 Part I,” The Burlington Magazine 1996 (1}, pp. 111-114.

31. According to the testimony of the [talian artist Gerolamo Lucenti da Correggio, in Seville in the early sev-
enteenth century, he had come to Spain to make money and return home. Pérez Sdnchez, Borgianni, Cavarozzi
y Nardi en Esparia, Madrid 1964, p. 9; Pérez Sdnchez 1965, pp. 37-38.

32. In a letter of 24 May 1603, Rubens singled out the Duque de Lerma for his understanding of painting,
formed through his familiarity with foreign art, namely the masterpieces of Titian, Raphael, and others in the
Spanish royal collection. Magurn 1971, p. 33. When Federico Barocci’s painting of the Vocation of SS. Andrew
and Peter (1583) was installed at the Escorial, the height of Christ and the slimness of Saint Andrew was criti-
cised, which caused an Italian to remark that nobody in Spain was qualificd to make such a criticism. Cited in
Pérez Sénchez 1965, p. 228.

33. Enggass and Brown 1970, p. 20. Spain was followed by France, Flanders, and England. Giustiniani also
said that the Spanish market had improved since Spaniards decorated their palaces with paintings rather than
hangings, especially during the summer.

34. Pérez Sdnchez, Pintura italiana, 1965, p. 512; Pérez Sanchez, “La crisis en Ia pintura espafiola en torno

a 1600 en Espafia” in Espafia en las crisis del arte europeo, Madrid, 1968, pp. 173-174; Schroth 1990,

pp. 105-107; Goldberg 1996 [1], pp. 112-113.

35. Pérez Sanchez, Pintura italiana, 1965; Moran 1993, p. 28.
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from Florence in 1613 listed paintings of saints, mythologies, and historical subjects,
including a painting of Cleopatra, who may have been represented in a state of nudity.3®
A group of paintings of modest quality which still decorate the cloister of the royal con-
vent of the Encarnacion include copies after works by Barocci, Pulzone, Arpino, Zuc-
caro, and Borgianni, among others, and remain as testimony to the esteem of Italian
models during the reign of Philip III. The full extent of artistic traffic from Florence to
the court of Madrid during the privanza of the Duque de Lerma has recently become
clear owing to the research of Edward Goldberg in the Medici Grand Ducal Archives.

The Perception of Spanish Art in Spain

In seventeenth-century inventories and valuations of picture collections, attributions to
Italian artists can frequently outnumber those to Spanish painters, whose works most
probably outnumbered the former. Indeed, in the Getty Provenance Index database,
there are over twice as many Italian attributions as Spanish, although 75 percent of
pictures in our inventories are not attributed and one might assume that a large per-
centage of these are native works.?” In 1600, for instance, the inventory of the collec-
tion in Granada of Licenciado Gregorio Lépez de Madera, reputed to be an amateur
artist, contained paintings attributed to the most famous Italian artists (Titian, Bas-
sano, and Raphael), but a Flight into Egypt by a local hand was listed anonymously as
by a “pintor de nombre en Granada™.*® Resident artists seem to have perceived the
widespread premium on imported art in the period as prejudicial to their careers.
Ambitious and talented artists in Spain early in the century felt that they were under-
valued, passed over by patrons in favour of foreigners for important commissions,
with their easel paintings losing out to collectors’ taste for old master pictures.*® Two
significant commissions that went to foreigners stand out during the reign of Philip III:
Don Rodrigo de Calderén’s commission of the altarpiece of the Valladolid monastery
of Portacoeli from the Italian studio of Orazio Borgianni (1611), and the commission
(around 1619) by Cardinal Sandoval, the Archbishop of Toledo, of three paintings
from Carlo Saraceni in Rome for the sacristy of Toledo Cathedral.*° It is impossible to
gauge in real terms how much the prevailing taste for foreign pictures inhibited the
careers of Spanish artists. However, it is significant that the court painter Vicencio
Carducho spearheaded early attempts to found an art academy in Madrid on the model
of the Florentine one, in order to encourage and train promising painters and thus to
propagate a school of native artists.*!

In a letter of 1610, Eugenio Caxés succinctly diagnosed the state of painting

36. AHPM, Prot. 2.581, ff. 38—42v, Madrid, 22 July 1613.

37. Of ca. 20,000 pictures in the Getty Provenance Index Spanish Inventories database, only 22.5 percent are
attributed. Of these ca. 4,500 attributed works, 53 percent are Italian, 20.5 percent are Spanish, and 16 percent
are Flemish.

38. AHPM, Prot. 4.775, ff. 775v-777. Document kindly facilitated by Dr. Angela Delaforce.

39, Cf. Carducho, ¢d. 1979, pp. 426-427.

40. Borgianni visited Spain twice (15981602, 1603 -1607) and was involved in the founding of an academy
of painting in Madrid (1603). Sce A. Matilla Tascén, ‘‘La Academia madrileia de San Lucas,” Goya, 1981,
pp. 260-265; A.E. Pérez Sanchez, “La Academia madrilefia de 1603 y sus fundadores,” Boletin del Semina-
rio de Estudios de Arte y Arqueologia, 1982, pp. 281 -289. For Borgianni’s paintings for Calderén, see Pérez
Sanchez 1964, pp. 16—18; Idem, 1965, pp. 46—54; Martin Gonzélez 1988. For the paintings by Saraceni in
Toledo, see Pérez Sénchez, Caravaggio y el naturalismo espaniol, Seville 1983, nos. 31-33.

41. See Calvo Seraller 1981, pp. 157-177, for a memorial from the painters to Philip IIT concerning the foun-
dation of an academy. This document speaks of the ““ignorance” of painters in Spain, the lack of “naturales,”
and the need to cultivate painting. Among the reasons given is that the king could then choose his painters from
graduates of the academy, instead of relying on painters from abroad.
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in Spain.*? Blame for artists’ low opinion of themselves in Spain was attributed to
indigenous social prejudices against their profession, public contempt, and general
ignorance. It is not surprising that attempts to improve the status of painters in Spain
came from Italian artists at court, including Vicencio Carducho, and those who had
lived in Italy, such as El Greco.** However, the fact that lack of patronage doomed
the early efforts to found a drawing academy to failure is a measure of how deeply
ingrained Spanish prejudices were. Caxés also noted the provincialism of Spanish art,
which he attributed to the trade deficit in favour of painting from abroad, and the fact
that collectors who went to Italy did not take Spanish pictures with them. While Span-
ish works were exported later in the seventeenth century, this effort was negligible in
comparison with the massive importation of paintings from Flanders and Italy.*
Philip IV’s taste for collecting art from abroad was not caused by a dearth of
native painters. Jusepe Martinez’s manuscript treatise on painting written in the 1670s,
Discursos practicables del nobilisimo arte de la pintura, aimed to expose the fallacy
of Spanish taste for all things foreign, to cultivate a greater appreciation of “Spanish”
art, and ultimately to help foster a native school.*> The apparent plight of artists work-
ing in Spain is encapsulated for Martinez in Jusepe Ribera’s cynical remark, in refer-
ence to his permanent exile in Naples, that “Spain is a pious mother of foreigners and
very cruel stepmother to her own children.” 46 In fact, Jusepe de Ribera would seem to
have enjoyed an ideal position regarding the Spanish market. He was one of the most
famous Spanish artists, whose work had all the appeal of Italian art for Spanish collec-
tors. Living in the Spanish dominion of Naples, he was exempt from the prejudices
and pressures on artists at home, while being able to export at least half of his easel
paintings back to collectors in his native country. By the end of the century, the Almi-
rante de Castilla had a room of his palace especially devoted to the works of Ribera, as
well as rooms decorated with paintings by “Eminent Spaniards,” such as Antonio de
Pereda and Juan Carrefio de Miranda, which suggests that this collector at least placed
living Spanish artists on an equal footing with the great foreign names of the past.*’
Jusepe Martinez amplified Caxés’s complaints.*® He attributed the Italians’ per-

42. Martinez, ed. 1988, pp. 279-280, quoting a letter from Pictro Antonio Torri (?) in Madrid to Bartolomeo
Cavarozzi in Rome, which quoted the opinions of Caxés. Cavarozzi was himself in Madrid between 1617 and
1619.

43. Géllego 1979;. R. Kagan, “El Greco and the Law,” Figures of Thought: El Greco as Interpreter of History
and ldeas, Washington 1982, pp. 79-90.

44. Martinez was concerned with artistic trade in Europe, and no mention is made of Spanish art in South
America. His treatise was written before the beginnings of the export of works by famous artists such as
Murillo. For the collection of the Genoese merchant and banker Pablo Justiniano, who sent some Spanish pic-
tures and sculptures back to Genoa, see Doc. 19. The collection of Spanish paintings assembled in Madrid in
the 1670s by the imperial ambassador, Count Ferdinand Harrach, is still intact in the family palace at Rohrau
and would repay study.

45. Martinez’s treatise takes every opportunity to deride the vogue for foreign art. One story, for instance, con-
cerns an aristocrat who presumes to be a connoisseur buying what he thinks is a Roman painting from an auc-
tion (almoneda) for double the cost price. The fact that the painting disappoints the collector by proving to be
Spanish, and one of Martinez’s own works, illustrates the fallacy of associating guality and value with Italian
art: ““Estos desconciertos nacen de la grande ignorancia y poca fe que aqui se tiene de los mismos naturales, y
mucho crédito de las naciones estrangeras™. Martinez, ed. 1988, pp. 282-285. For the issue of nationalism in
the arts, sce S. Gross, “A Second Look. Nationalism in Art Treatises from the Golden Age of Spain,” Rutgers
Art Review, S, 1984, pp. 9-27; Glendinning 1988.

46. Martinez, ed. 1988, p. 99.

47. Palomino, Lives of the Eminent Spanish Painters and Sculptors, 1987 edition, pp. 206, 275; see also

pp. 232, 272.

48. He attributed a lack of important commissions in which artists might demonstrate their skills to unenlight-
encd patronage. He illustrated this with such examples as Francisco Ribalta’s having to comply with the wishes
of his patrons to the letter. Martinez, ed. 1988, p. 235.
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ception of the ineptitude of Spanish artists to the lack of prints after their paintings.*
He also noted the irony of Spanish patrons having artists copy prints after foreign
paintings rather than commissioning their own original creations, the whole world
thereby denied seeing “the subtlety of their genius”.%° Originality of conception in
figurative histories became a vital aesthetic distinction, and in the treatises of Pacheco
and Carducho the emphasis on artistic invention was linked to the liberal status of the
artist, since to slavishly copy the work of another was analogous to craftmanship.®!
The use of the term “original” in inventories generally distinguished paintings by the
hand of a master painter from copies after another, but it may also imply that the work
was an independent and unique éompositionA

In his treatise on painting, Antonio Palomino was aware that the uninformed
viewer (“‘el vulgo”) did not distinguish between pictures that were copied and those
invented, but that the connoisseur set a higher premium on the painter who “invented”
and employed his creative intellect rather than merely copied.>? Spanish theorists
believed that, while an artist might jusitifably use print sources during his apprentice-
ship, creative artists should invent rather than merely copy.’? In his advice on copying
from prints, however, Palomino showed some sympathy with the problems and diffi-
culties inherent even in this relatively elementary practice.’* Indeed, many Spanish
painters may have regularly made copies for sale. A number of recent studies have
shown the extent to which even the most talented of artists in the seventeenth century
depended upon print sources for their own works.>® Occasionally, inventories noted
the print source for paintings; in 1657 the painter Juan Bautista Sdnchez appraised
the collection of Mateo Alvarez de Ferrera and his wife and noted that a Deposition
was copied after a print by Van Dyck.*® Flemish and Italian prints were imported into
Spain in large numbers.>” As well as being vital source material for practicing artists,

49. Martinez, ed. 1988, p. 255. Martinez (ibid., pp. 191-192) recounts the surprise of a Roman artist at the
quality of Caxés’ altarpiece of the Martyrdom of St. Philip and Assumption of the Virgin in the Madrid church
of San Felipe, confessing that he did not expect such great painters to be active in Spain and that the pictures
were as good as anything to be seen in Rome.

50. Martinez (cd. 1988, pp. 220-221) did not encourage artists to copy from prints (p. 71) and spoke of Pedro
Horfelin’s having to copy Flemish devotional prints for nuns and monks instead of painting altarpieces. For

a document in which Bartolomé Romadn in 1619 agreed to paint a faithful copy of a print given to him by a
private client, Felipe Sierra, see Barrio Moya 1980, p. 116.

51. On this question, see Glendinning 1988, pp. 73-74.

52. A. Palomino, El museo pictérico y escala optica, ed. M. Aguilar, Madrid 1988, pp. 237-244.

53. Carducho (ed. 1979, pp. 155-158) compared painters who copied prints and other paintings to sheep, while
the most celebrated artists were like goats, “porque van por los caminos de la dificultad, inventando nuevos
conceptos y pensando altamente™.

54. Palomino, ed. 1988, pp. 188-192.

55. A.E. Pérez Sanchez, De pintura y pintores. La configuracidn de los modelos visuales en la pintura espa-
Aola, Madrid 1993; P. Silva Maroto, “La utilizacién del grabado por los pintores espaiioles de la época de
Velazquez” in Veldzguez y el arte de su tiempo, V Jornadas de Arte, Departamento de Historia del Arte “Diego
Velazquez,” Madrid 1991, pp. 309-320; idem, “Rafael y 1a pintura espafiola del siglo XVII” in Tiempo y
Espacio en el Arte, Homenaje al Profesor Antonio Bonet Correa, Universidad Complutense, Madrid 1994,

pp. 867--895. For Seville, see most recently, B. Navarrete Prieto, “Génesis y descendencia de ‘Las doce tribus
de Israel’ y otras series zurbaranescas” in Museo del Prado, Zurbardn. Las doce tribus de Israel, 1995, pp. 45—
99; idem, **Otras fuentes grabadas utilizadas por Francisco de Zurbaran,” Archivo Espariol de Arte, 268 (1994),
pp. 359-376; idem, “‘Algo mds sobre Zurburén,” Goya, 251, 1986, pp. 284-290.

56. AHPM, Prot. 6.056, unfoliated, 20 February 1657, “otra lamina de un dezimiento de la cruz pintado en
tabla de poco mas de media bara de largo con moldura negra de pino de La estampa de bandique,” worth twelve
ducats. The inventory of 1616 of Don Juan de Acuiia, Marqués del Valle, listed a large unfinished genre painting
which was copied from a print, *Yten otra pintura grande por acabar en liengo sin marco de una labradora con
unos gallos en la mano y un picaron con ella que se sacaba de una estampa”. AHPM Prot. 2.661, f. 695v.

57. See n. 17 above for a consignment of Flemish prints imported in 1655. Italian prints were no less important.
In Madrid in 1635, the “illuminator’” Antonio Manzelli bought prints from the Milanese merchant Gerdnimo
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prints were an economical form of decor in some houses, while collectors also dis-
played finer-quality prints as works of art in their own right.>® The collector and ama-
teur artist Gaspar de Ledesma Meriiio owned a print collection in 1618 (Doc. 4), and
the Duc d’ Aarschot’s collection included prints by Rubens and Jordaens which were
valued in silver reales (“‘reales de plata™).

Patrons and Painters

An ideal of artistic patronage from the Renaissance was that of the cultivated noble-
man, instructed in art, who appreciated the elevated, intellectual calibre of painting
and the artist’s unique creativity. The art treatises written by Carducho and Pacheco
were aimed at such individuals in Spain. Throughout the seventeenth century paint-
ers campaigned to improve their social and professional standing, and to raise their
activity to the ranks of the liberal arts. Despite this, they were generally considered
artisans, closer to tailors than poets, and the normal pattern of relations between them
and their socially superior clients put them at a distinct disadvantage.> The social
prejudices of the Spanish aristocracy, highly conscious of rank and hierarchy, may
have inhibited their appreciation of native Spanish painters and smoothed the path for
foreign artists. Even so enlightened and art-loving an aristocratic employer as the
Duque de Lerma expected deference from his artists, and had painters of the calibre
and ambition of Vicencio Carducho undertake menial painting tasks.®® On the other
hand, many important middle-class collectors at court, some of whose collections are
documented here, and who rose through the royal bureaucracy from more humble
backgrounds, may have been more open to the merits of practising painters. Some
members of the ecclesiastical estate in Spain who were cultivated, sometimes well-
travelled and used to dealing with artists, were also important patrons. Indeed, canons
of the cathedral chapters of Toledo and Seville cathedrals were patrons and friends of
El Greco and Murillo, respectively. However, the friendship of individuals such as the
self-confessed aficionado Fray Felix Hortensio de Paravicino, who had his portrait
painted by El Greco and wrote perceptively on painting, contrasts with El Greco’s mis-
fortunes at the hands of his corporate religious patrons.®!

Leiba for 1,040 reales, which were listed as follows: 828 “estampas finas,” 8 “cstampas finas en tafetan,” “un
libro de san ant.® abbad,” “un libro de Rafael de urbino,” “un libro de polidoro de carabajio,” “un libro de
tempesta” “Un libro Primavera,” *“Un papel del tempesto,” 6,600 “estampas hordinarias”. AHPM, Prot.
4.579, ff. 434435, 20 October 1635.

58. See Portus 1990. In 1607, for instance, Licenciado Camito de Negron’s madest collection included many
sets of prints of secular subjects, including those of Roman emperors, national costumes, European royalty, the
Escorial, maps and family trees. (AHPM, Prot. 2.001, ff. 364-384, 27 July 1607). The Duke of Lerma hung
framed prints at the palace of La Ribera and the ducal quarters of the Valladolid palace (Florit 1906; Schroth
1990, p. 208). Carducho (ed. 1979, pp. 179, 226) admired Albrecht Diirer’s religious prints of the Passion and
Apocalypse, and the evidence of seventeenth-century Spanish inventories reflects the esteem in which collec-
tor’s held Diirer’s prints. See, for instance, Barrio Moya 1985, p. 112, for the collection of the military captain
Don Jerénimo de Soto in 1630, which included two series of the Passion by Diirer and a print of his namesake
St. Jerome by Diirer in a walnut frame. Framed sets of Diirer’s Apocalypse hung on the walls of Fernando de
Borja’s residence in 1666 (Doc. 78, nos. 7-9).

59. As early as 1548, Francisco da Hollanda was able to write, “We Spaniards still despise art and indeed it is
fashionable to hold it in low esteem”. Glendinning, Oxford Art Journal, 11: 2 (1988), p. 69. This had not
changed by the seventeenth century, when, for instance, Juan Carrefio de Miranda’s gentleman father was
against his son becoming a painter. Diaz del Valle, ed. 1933, p. 381.

60. For references to Carducho’s decorative tasks in the royal palace at Valladolid and the convent of San Diego
between 16021605, see Angulo and Pérez Sdnchez 1969, pp. 87, 104105

61. Kagan 1982; R. Mann, E! Greco and His Patrons, Cambridge, 1986.

” e
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While art treatises of the period suppose an ideal of a courtly patron who unques-
tioningly and magnanimously rewarded artists according to their genius, this rarely
corresponded with reality. Many documents relating to legal disputes over money tes-
tify to painters’ frequent financial difficulties. In 1635, for instance, the young painter
Domingo Guerra Coronel successfully sued a royal servant, Francisco Bandres de
Abarca, for a large sum of money he was owed for one year’s employment in his ser-
vice painting original works of his own invention and making copies.®> Don Diego de
Persia, “agente e hombre de la casa de Su Majestad,” bad Juan de la Corte released
from prison and paid off his debt of 568 reales on the condition that he or his brother
Francisco de la Corte pay off the bail by undertaking any works of painting Persia
demanded of them for three days every week, at a daily “salary” of eight reales and
supply of canvases and food.®®* However, such situations contrast with the social pres-
tige and considerable freedoms enjoyed by salaried court painters. Comparatively
speaking, Diego Veldzquez was immensely privileged for a painter in Spain, living
in another world from the rank and file of his colleagues in Madrid, enjoying royal
favour, his career distinguished by honours and court offices, and gold chains in pay-
ment for some of his paintings.

In the reign of Philip IV, The Conde-Duque de Olivares oversaw the recruitment
and placing of Sevillian artists at court; he had his own painter in Alonso Cano, from
1638, the year of his arrival at court, designated pintor y ayuda de cdmara to Olivares.
The new king inherited the royal painters Vicencio Carducho and Eugenio Caxés from
the previous reign, where they had been identified with the regime of the Duque de
Lerma. Ironically, perhaps, it was their lowly status — as mere painters — that may have
prevented them from being purged on the accession of Philip IV and his first minister.
Among the artists who benefitted from Olivares’ “Sevillian connection,” Veldzquez
was the most powerful and influential. It was most probably Veldzquez who recruited
Francisco de Zurbarin in 1634 to paint a battle painting and 12 mythological paintings
of the Labours of Hercules for the Salon de los Reinos of the Buen Retiro. This com-
mission was awarded to him in spite of his being unsuited to mythological painting by
experience and style, a fact that reinforced his dependence upon Flemish prints for
assistance in visualizing the scenes.®* Conversely, it is difficult to explain the absence
from this commission of the Italian royal painter Angelo Nardi. This long-lived artist
enjoyed a considerable reputation as a connoisseur; in 1644 Philip called him “my
most modern painter,” in spite his rather outmoded talents.®> Perhaps Nardi’s political
connections and friendship with Velazquez, rather than his art, was enough to secure
his reputation.

Unlike their Italian counterparts, who could move between city states, Spanish
artists were forced to compete for work in comparatively few artistic centres — for
Andalusian artists, Seville and Granada. Francisco de Zurbardn, for instance, moved to
Seville from a provincial career in Llerena in 1629, and enjoyed a long and successful
career. However, even he appears to have outlived his style and to have lost out to

62. AHPM, Prot. 6.339, ff. 430434, 12 March 1635. Guerra Coronel was under twenty-five years old and sued
Abarca for 7,200 reales, of which the outstanding sum of 800 reales was paid on this date. The patron had
argued that Guerra Coronel was his servant (“criado’) and had been paid two ducats a month, as well as being
given full board and all cavases and materials necessary for his painting.

63. AHPM, Prot. 6.080, ff. 328-329v, 21 July 1631. Later in the century, Palomino (ed. 1986, p. 273) thought
it noteworthy that the Marqués de Balbases paid a daily wage of one dobldn to Dionisio Mantuano and Don
Vicente de Benavides for decorating the facade of his Madrid palace.

64. Museo del Prado, Zurbardn, Madrid 1988, pp. 234245, nos. 35-44.

65. Sanchez Cantén 19135, p. 59. For Nardi, see Angulo and Pérez Sdnchez 1969, pp. 271-298.
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younger artists, which forced him to move to the Madrid court in 1658, as did his
contemporary, Francisco de Herrera the Elder. Perhaps Zurbaran once again expected
to draw on the support of his old friend Diego Veldzquez, whose death in 1660 may
have adversely affected his career. Although mention of Zurbaran’s works in Madrid
collections show that he enjoyed a degree of success among private collectors, he died
in Madrid in 1664 in reduced circumstances, and by Palomino’s time his works went
unrecognised.® Both Dfaz del Valle and Palomino were also shocked by the unfortu-
pate reversal of circumstances in the case of talented artists they had known person-
ally, such as Antonio Arias, a cultivated and talented artist who had been employed by
Philip IV but who died a pauper in the Hospital General.%” Such a miserable end can
partly, if not wholly, be explained by the likelihood that his rather hard, classical style
fell out of favour in the high Baroque of the later seventeenth century. A majority of
potential patrons of painting, aristocrats, high-ranking ecclesiastics, the letrados of the
Spanish bureaucracy, and court functionaries were concentrated at the royal court.
Painters too gravitated to court as the single most important source of patronage and
favour. A total of 72 painters were recorded in one survey of professions in the capital
for taxation purposes in 1625, and there may have been many more journeymen artists
among whom subsistence may have been endemic.5®

Some aristocrats and court functionaries imitated the royal predilection for the
company of painters. A few individuals whose passionate interest in art is well docu-
mented followed the custom of the Italian aristocracy of protecting artists in their own
palaces. Thus the Duque de Alcala protected Diego de Rémulo Cincinnato; *® the
young Antonio de Pereda was the protegé of Don Francisco de Tejada, a councillor of
Castile, and was soon taken into the household of the influential Roman aristocrat and
connoisseur Giovanni Battista Crescenzi, himself a painter.” Early in the century, the
Dugque de Lerma named Bartolome de Cardenas his ducal painter.”' Juan Bautista de
Espinosa styled himself painter to the Duque del Infantado.”? In the second half of the
century, Juan de Alfaro was protected by the Almirante de Castilla and came to enjoy
a degree of familiarity with his noble patron that Palomino found remarkable and that
he likened to the relationship between Apelles and Alexander the Great.”?

The protection of powerful individuals at court could make all the difference to
an artist’s career. In 1612, Eugenio Caxés’ appointment to the post of royal painter that
his father, Patricio Caxés, had occupied, was processed through the Junta de Obras y
Bosques, and he obtained the office not only on the strength of his ability but also
because he was recommended by the Conde de Salazar.”* However, artists’ reliance
upon the patronage of a limited number of individuals at court, and their identification
with their retinues, meant that careers could be made and lost overnight as a result of
court factionalism. The consequences for artists’ sudden loss of patronage, through

66. Palomino, ed. 1986, pp. 198-199.

67. Diaz del Valle, ed. 1933, pp. 384-385; Palomino, ed. 1986, p. 274.

68. C. Gonzdlez Muiioz, “Datos para un estudio de Madrid en la primera mitad del siglo XVI1,” AIEM, 18
(1981), pp. 159~160.

69. Diaz del Valle, ed. 1933, pp. 354-355.

70. Diaz del Valle, ed. 1933, pp. 374-375.

71. Schroth 1990, p. 104.

72. In a rental agreement signed in Madrid on 28 August 1613, Espinosa was identified as “pintor y pintor del
$." duq del ynfantado”. AHPM, Prot. 1.459, ff. 530~ 530v; Cherry 1991, p. 68.

73. Palomino, ed. 1986, p. 263.

74. The recommendation of the Junta read, “Es muy havil en su ofi.® de Pintor, en que se aventaja a los que oy
ay desta profesion como 1o a referido el conde de salagar”. F.J. Sdnchez Cantén, “Los pintores de los Reyes de
Castilla,” Boletin de la Sociedad Espariola de Escursiones, XXII (1914), p. 300.
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political machinations or death, could be dramatic. Antonio de Pereda was one of the
most promising artists of his generation. At the very beginning of his career, Pereda
was taken into the household of Don Francisco de Tejada, councillor of Castile, and
continued his artistic education by copying from fine paintings in his private collec-
tion. Pereda’s career was transformed by the protection of Giovanni Batista Crescenzi,
Marquis de la Torre, who secured the artist his first paintings for a Madrid church and
his début at court, with the Relief of Genoa for the Saldn de los Reinos of the Buen
Retiro.”> However, on the death of his protector in 1635, Pereda’s ambitions were
abruptly curtailed; he lost court favour and was never rehabilitated, and was forced to
rely on ecclesiastical commissions and the production of religious subjects, still lifes,
and landscapes for the private market, the conventional source of livelihood for most
painters in the capital. Palomino recounts an incident in which Francisco de Herrera
the Younger painted a picture satirizing the poor taste of the Conde-Duque de Olivares
(a friend warned him of the dire consequences for the artist if he presented the work to
him).”¢ Palomino describes the case of Don Juan de Alfaro to illustrate the extent to
which an artist’s career could depend upon the protection of a single powerful indi-
vidual. Despite being under the protection of the powerful Almirante de Castilla, one
of the greatest collectors of his day, Alfaro made the mistake of not joining his master
in his exile from court and instead went to work in his home town of Cérdoba. On
returning to Madrid, Alfaro again sought the protection of the rehabilitated almirante,
only to find that he refused to see him. Perhaps “tainted” by his disloyalty toward

the almirante and consequently unable to replace this patronage with that of another
noble, Alfaro resorted to the ignominious expedient of trying to find work in the pub-
lic painting shops (“tiendas de pintura”) and soon died.””

Influence of Foreign Art

Despite the complaints of Carducho and Martinez, it is hard to prove in real terms how
detrimental the prevailing taste for art from abroad was to the careers and livelihoods
of Spanish artists. Some artists improved their chances on the home market by travel-
ling abroad to study. Pedro de Moya was the only painter of significance to travel to
the North, to study the work of Van Dyck first hand. Many more made the traditional
study trip to Italy, including Luis Tristdn, Juan de Jauregui, Pedro Nifiez, who became
a member of the Rome Academy of St. Luke, and, of course, Velazquez.

Painters could turn to their own advantage prejudices in taste among Spanish
collectors by imitating the styles of foreign artists. The pantheon of Spanish artists
includes many who painted in the Venetian manner; some artists, such as El Mudo,
Juan Bautista Martinez del Mazo, or Diego Polo, were considered extremely skillful
imitators of Titian’s style. In Palomino’s biography, Angelo Nardi’s paintings were said
to be close to Veronese, the works of Bartolomé Romdn were like Rubens, and Pedro
de Moya and Simén de Ledn Leal painted like Van Dyck. The abiding popularity
among collectors of the works of Pedro de Orrente, called the “Bassano espafiol,” can
partly be explained by their similarity to the rustic genre mode of the Bassano family
of artists, who were so admired in Spain. The Flemish background of the very talented
artist Juan van der Hamen was certainly an advantage in marketing his still lifes,

75. P. Cherry, “La intervenci6n de Juan Bautista Crescenzi y las pinturas de Antonio de Pereda en un retablo
perdido (1634),” Archive Espariol de Arte, 239 (1987), pp. 299-305.

76. Palomino, ed. 1986, pp. 282 -283.

77. Palomino, ed. 1986, p. 264.
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which many regarded as a particular expertise of northern artists. Van der Hamen
painted some still lifes based on Flemish prototypes, as he did garland pictures, and
thus kept pace with the tastes of collectors who were conversant with and valued art
from Flanders.”® Van der Hamen yearned for court recognition as a figure painter, and
it is perhaps telling that the king employed him only to paint pendants for the imported
Flemish fruit and flower pictures by Frans Snyders that hung in the Alcédzar.”

The normative standards in Spanish taste in the period appear to have been set by
the works and reputation of foreign artists.8° Spanish painters were admired as they
approached the styles of sixteenth-century Venetian artists, for instance, or for their
ability to paint with the fluency of Rubens and Van Dyck. In his biographies, Antonio
Palomino characteristically justified the achievements of Spanish artists by reference
to authoritative “great” artists of Italy and the Low Countries. While this was a rhe-
torical strategy in Palomino’s text, it is not a recourse used by Lézaro Diaz del Valle in
the 1650s and it may well reflect a tendency among connoisseurs of the later seventeenth
century whose admiration for sixteenth-century Venetian old masters and deceased
artists such as Rubens and Van Dyck had increased. For Palomino, then, Bartolomé
Carducho’s paintings were considered so good that they seemed to be by Raphael.®' A
work by Eugenio Caxés looked like a Tintoretto,3? a José Donoso was like Veronese,®?
Crist6bal de Zarifiena and Herrera the Younger’s paintings could look like Titian’s,3
Juan de Alfaro’s portraits were like Van Dyck,?> and an Alonso Cano was like a Cor-
reggio.®¢ While Palomino admired El Greco’s works in his earlier “Venetian” manner,
he was highly critical of his later “maniera extravagante,” which Palomino interpreted
as a means of expressing his originality and the uniqueness of his works.?” Even more
admirable were those artists versatile enough to create works that equalled a number
of the acknowledged great masters. Thus, Juan Antonio Escalante made paintings that
were like those of Titian and Tintoretto,®® Pedro Ruiz Gonzdlez’s works were like
Titian and Veronese,?” and Juan Nifio de Guevara’s portraits were like those of Rubens
and Van Dyck.%® Moreover, some paintings seemed be an ideal combination of the
qualities of these artists, such as Sebastian de Herrera’s Martyrdom of St. Lawrence,
which Palomino believed partook of the best of Titian, Tintoretto, and Veronese.!
Juan Carrefio de Miranda’s portraits were distinguished for their combination of quali-
ties of Titian and Van Dyck, which made them superior to either.®? Although modern
eyes may not agree with some of Palomino’s stylistic comparisons, they cannot be dis-
missed out of hand, since contemporaries would have been familiar with the works of
most major European artists as found in the rich holdings of Madrid collections.

78. For Van der Hamen’s Flemish-style paintings, see Jordan 1985, pp. 107-109.

79. Cherry 1991, pp. 123-124; Jordan and Cherry 1995, pp. 49-52.

80. There was a veiled criticism of “el gusto con que todos veneran la menor obra de los Varones grandes,”
particularly the works of Raphael, by Doctor Francisco Ignacio de Porres, Professor of Greek at Alcala de
Henares. See Diego de Saavedra, Repiiblica literaria, ed. Alcald, 1670, Prologue.

81. Palomino, cd. 1986, pp. 85-86.

82. Ibid., p. 125.
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84. Ibid., pp. 71, 282.

85. Ibid., p. 264.

86. Ibid., p. 249.

87. Ibid., p. 101.
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91. Ibid., p. 230.
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Artists commonly learned by the studying and copying of works in private collec-
tions — especially, if access could be secured, the masterpieces of the royal collection.
The young Antonio de Pereda was set to copying the great masters represented in the
collection of Tejada.*® Palomino also attributed the development of Juan Nifio de
Guevara’s style to the intervention of two early patrons, who recommended the study
of foreign and Spanish masters: the Flemish Captain Miguel Manrique schooled him
in the style of Rubens, and the Marqués de Montebelo, himself an amateur painter,
recommended him to Alonso Cano in Madrid, who completed his instruction in the art
of painting.”® The Venetian paintings in court collections meant that Spanish artists
could familiarise themselves with the type of “painterly” painting this school typified
and which came to be so greatly admired in the later seventeenth century. Jusepe
Martinez recommended copying heads from Venetian art, “que es la mds suelta y mas
amable a la vista,” something which Rubens did when he drew heads from Titian’s
Poesie in Madrid in 1628.%5 A head also copied from one of these paintings was listed
in the studio of the painter Francisco de Burgos Mantilla in 1648.°6 Another copy of a
head from an unspecified Titian painting was listed in the inventory of the amateur
artist Giovanni Battista Crescenzi.”’

In a real sense, it was not imperative that artists travel abroad to see great easel
paintings, since many of the best had come to Spain. As early as 1603, it was proposed
that a “school” for painters be opened in the galleries of the Duque de Lerma, in
which painters of the capital could benefit from “the best paintings” and sculptures
of his collection.®® Bartolomé Murillo, who never left Spain, travelled from Seville to
Madrid to study the masterpieces in court collections, as did his contemporary Juan
de Valdés Leal.”” The fact, reported by Palomino, that Madrid collectors ultimately
admired the works of Murillo over those of Titian and Van Dyck is a real measure of
the great esteem in which this artist himself came to be held.!® Diego Polo copied
paintings at the Escorial, and Bartolomé Vicente is said to have spent seven years
copying there.'?' Palomino tells how Juan de Sevilla turned himself into a follower
of Rubens through his study of oil sketches of mythological subjects by the artist,
when it was much more common to follow prints after Rubens’ works, as did José de
Sarabia.!02

Palomino attributed the evolution of the style of Claudio Coello, an artist whom
he knew personally, to his copying the works of Titian, Rubens, and Van Dyck.!?
The high-Baroque style of Spanish painters such as Juan Carrefio de Miranda, Fran-
cisco Rizi, Francisco de Herrera (who travelled to Italy), and Claudio Coello was
heavily indebted to their exposure to Italian and Flemish works in court collections;

93. Diaz del Valle, ed. 1933, p. 374.
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95. Martinez, ed. 1988, pp. 71-72. For these drawings see M. Jafté, Rubens and Italy, 1977, p. 33.
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it could be interpreted as a form of supreme stylistic synthesis of all that Spaniards
admired in the best foreign art. Thus, for Palomino, Juan de Alfaro’s artistic dexterity
and skill was reflected in the fact that he not only painted pictures of his own inven-
tion, but was also an admired copyist of Titian and Rubens, imitator of Van Dyck, and
restorer to the Almirante de Castilla.'® The 10th Almirante de Castilla, who formed
one of the greatest private collections of the second half of the century (Doc. 117),
dedicated rooms in his Madrid palace to the works of the most admired of foreign
artists, including Raphael, Titian, Tintoretto, Bassano, and Rubens. His dedication of
rooms to Ribera and Orrente and another room to the works of Eminent Spaniards,
which included paintings by Pereda (Desengario de la vida), Antolinez (The Incre-
dulity of St. Thomas), Herrera the Younger (Christ and the Samaritan Woman), and
Carrefio de Miranda (Penitent Magdalene),'®> shows that contemporary painters of
the Madrid “school” were regarded with equal admiration. Indeed, this regard could
reflect a more widespread appreciation of native Spanish artists in the second half of
the seventeenth century, which may have been a consequence of the development of
taste and collecting during the period.

Not all of the copies listed in inventories of artists’ studios like that of Francisco
de Burgos Mantilla in 1648 were for study; many made a living by selling these to
collectors.'% A booming copying industry among painters in Madrid developed in
response to the demand of many collectors for images by universally admired artists
such as Titian, Raphael, Andrea del Sarto, Correggio, Rubens, and Van Dyck, among
others. Some images themselves appear to have assumed a paradigmatic status; one of
these was the Entombment of Christ by Titian, known as the Sepulcro; inventories of
collections list many copies of the work, probably derived from the two versions in the
Spanish royal collection. The Entombment by Titian in the Escorial began to generate
copies almost from the time of its arrival in Spain; one, believed to have been painted
by Juan Fernandez de Navarette, was placed in Francisco Fernandez de Liébana’s altar
in the Catedral Nueva of Salamanca in 1577 and is still in situ.'?” From the evidence
in the last will and testament of the painter Diego Rodriguez, for instance, the artist
painted a copy of a Virgin by Van Dyck for the Conde de la Revilla, copied works by
Correggio, Borgianni, Caxés, De la Corte, and Veldzquez for Juan de Saavedra, Knight
of Santiago, and wanted a copy of a St. Peter by Ribera hung in his own family chapel.'®
One entry in the will of Juan Bautista de Santolus concerned a copy of a Ribera paint-
ing for an unnamed collector.'® Copies of works by contemporary Spanish artists
were also [isted in collections of the time, which could be made up of a mixture of
originals and copies. In 1651, the small collection of Don Tomds de Albafia, secretary

104. Palomino, ed. 1986, pp. 261, 263.
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of the Cdmara de Su Majestad, included works by Francisco Ribalta, Pieter van Laer,
and painted sketches (“borron”) by Caxés and Veronese, as well as six copies after
Titian and a copy after Correggio, copies of hunting scenes by Frans Snyders and
landscapes by Francisco Collantes, and a copy of a St. Onofre by Ribera.!'0 In the
appraisal of the paintings of Antonio de Mardones in 1666, Juan Carrefio de Miranda
recognised copies after Titian and Annibale Carracci, but also copies after Vicencio
Carducho, Eugenio Caxés, and Antonio de Pereda (Doc. 80). Frustratingly, however,
many anonymous paintings in inventories were listed as “copies,” without specifying
the original author; one such salient document is the inventory of the Duque de Arcos
of 1693 (Doc. 118).

Collectors’ demand for images from a recognised canon of great art probably
explains the eclectic nature of some of their collections, which apparently disregard
prevailing academic stylistic distinctions between drawing and colour. Such demands
also meant that, despite of their own stylistic persuasion, Spanish artists might be
required to copy works as diverse as those of Raphael, Fra Bartolomeo, and the Vene-
tians. The copy was a surrogate for an admired original; for many collectors, it main-
tained the aura of the original image despite differences in style. Surprising as it may
seem, then, Palomino admired a copy of Titian’s Danae by Antonio Mor, which he
believed improved on the original.!'t Equally, the copies after Titian and Caravaggio
listed in the studio of Bartolomé Gonzdlez in 1627 might be considered a surprising
aspect of his activity.''? Inventories only rarely specify the hand of the copyist, but
examples include Antonio Ricci’s copy of a painting by Correggio of the Virgin Suck-
ling the Infant Christ in the collection of Sebastian Diaz de Ontiveros (Doc. 26, no.
21). In his appraisal of the collection of Don Luis de Hurtado in 1658, Juan Carrefio
de Miranda recognised a copy of Correggio’s Mystic Marriage of St. Catherine by
Angelo Nardi and copies of Titian’s Ecce Homo and Mater Dolorosa and Eugenio
Caxés’s Immaculate Conception, all from the royal collection and copied by Barto-
lomé Romén.''3 Carrefio de Miranda’s own copy after a St. Onofre by Ribera was
recognised by Palomino in his valuation of the collection of Andrés de Villardn in
1683 (Doc. 110, no. 6). We can see numerous other such examples of Spanish artists
copying Italians in the documents in this publication, among them: Mazo copying
Titian and Veronese, Carrefio de Miranda copying Rubens, Francisco Ribalta copying
Raphael, Alonso Cano copying Correggio, Carrefio de Miranda copying Eugenio
Caxés, Jer6nimo Antonio Ezquerra copying Murillo, Francisco Ribalta copying Leo-
nardo da Vinci, Luca Giordano imitating Filippo Napoletano, Antonio Ricci copying
Correggio, Sebastidn de Herrera Barnuevo copying Tintoretto, and Francisco de Bur-
gos Mantilla copying Titian.

Francisco Pacheco recounted that in 1605 he judged a copy of a painting of Pedro
de Campaiia’s Cructfixion superior to the original, because, he said, the copy’s colour-
ing was softer and more beautiful and the drawing more graceful.'!* The esteem in
which some copies were held is reflected in the remarkably high values of some of
these in estate valuations: some copies could be worth more than original paintings in

110. AHPM, Prot. 6.766, unfoliated. The collection was valued on 20 July 1651 by the painter Santiago Morén.
111. Palomino, ed. 1986, p. 33.

112. Cherry 1993.
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114. Pacheco, ed. 1990, p. 549.
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the same collections. For example, a copy after Raphael was the most highly valued
painting in the collection of Cristobal Gonzélez Cossio in 1636 (Doc. 22); in Diego
de Altamirano’s collection in 1642, Antonio Puga’s copy after Rubens’ Wolf Hunt was
also the most valuable picture in the collection (Doc. 35, no. 55). In the collection of
Andrés de Villardn in 1683, Palomino valued a copy of a painting by Van Dyck as
highly as an original work by this artist (and more highly than many other pictures in
the collection) (Doc. 110, no. 31). In the same collection, Palomino valued Carrefio de
Miranda’s copy after Ribera’s St. Onofre more highly than another anonymous copy
after the same artist.

Connoisseurship of the period set a premium on accuracy of copies.''> Palomino
remarked on the difficulty of copying the works of Luis de Morales, and the ease with
which copies could be detected.!!® Carrefio de Miranda was embarrassed on seeing
again in the collection of Pedro de Arce a poor copy after Titian that he had painted in
his youth."'” But one of the triumphs of an artist’s suppression of his own style in a
copy is Carrefio de Miranda’s accurate and famous copy of Raphael’s Fall on the Road
to Calvary for the high altar of the Carmelitas Descalzas of Madrid.''® According to
Don Vincencio Juan de Lastanosa’s description of his own collection in 1662, in the
oratory hung a Holy Family with Angels by Guido Reni, which, the author pointed out,
“es copia, pero de excelente mano™."!? Palomino admired Juan de Alfaro’s copies for
being just like originals, and the uncanny skill with which Luca Giorano imitated the
styles of other artists made him famous throughout Europe.'*® However, Palomino
reserved the greatest praise for Juan Bautista del Mazo as a copyist of the works of
Rubens, Titian, and Venetian art. These were considered so good as to pass for origi-
nals in Italy itself, and painted with such “mastery and freedom” (magisterio y liber-
tad) that they even surpassed their models.'?!

Spanish Taste

On his first visit to Spain in 1603, Rubens was surprised by the undistinguished nature
of painting at Philip III’s court, and the courtiers’ inability to tell originals from copies
among the pictures he had brought from Mantua. For Rubens, only the cultivated
Duque de Lerma had sufficient interest in and understanding of painting to be the wor-
thy recipient of Rubens’ most ambitious and thrilling portrait to date.'?? Astutely,
Rubens noted that Lerma’s good taste was nourished by daily contact with the inher-
ited treasures of the Spanish royal collection, which acted as a model of taste in paint-
ing throughout the seventeenth century.

In 1617, it was noticed that members of the lower nobility were beginning to
decorate their rooms after the fashion of Spanish grandees.'>* Within 35 years of

115. See, for instance, the remarks of Fray Hortensio Félix de Paravicino on copies and originals in his Ora-
ciones evangélicas (Madrid, 1640, f. 1550) in Herrero Garcia 1943, pp. 199-200. On the question of copies
and their status, see J.M. Muller, “Measures of Authenticity: The Detection of Copies in the Early Litcrature on
Connoisseurship,” Studies in the History of Art, 20, Washington, D.C., 1989, pp. 141 -149.

116. Palomino, ed. 1986, p. 57.

117. Palomino, ¢d. 1986, p. 289.

118. Palomino, ed. 1986, p. 287.

119. Lastanosa, ed. Sanchez Cantén 1941, p. 296.

120. Palomino, ed. 1986, p. 262. Two documents in this volume include Giordano imitating Tintoretto, Titian,
and Filippo Napoletano; see Doc. 124, nos. 3 and 17, and Doc. 109, no. 699.

121. Palomino, ed. 1986, p. 223; Cherry 1990.

122. The full extent of Lerma’s remarkable art collection has been studied in Scroth 1990.

123. Moran Turina 1989, pp. 163-164.

SEVENTEENTH-CENTURY SPANISH TASTE 17



18

Rubens’ first visit to Spain, there had developed a widespread interest in collecting
paintings, led by the king and followed by noble courtiers, which became one of the
most distinctive features of the reign of Philip IV. Sir Arthur Hopton, the English
ambassador, noted this in 1638 on the occasion of an exchange of royal portraits
between the crowns of England and Spain. When the portraits of Charles I and Queen
Henrietta Maria, said to be by Van Dyck, were found not to be originals they were
beld in very low esteem, because, as Hopton commented, the Spanish court was “now
more discerning and more affectioned unto the art of painting than they were or than
the rest of the world imagines.” '?* Hopton had probably watched with amazement
the rounding up of hundreds of quality paintings for the rapid decoration of the new
royal palace of the Buen Retiro.'>> Hopton’s observation on the connoisseurship of the
Spanish court is further proved by the rejection of the Ecce Homo of Ludovico Cardi,
11 Cigoli (1607), sent to Madrid between 1650 and 1652 as a state gift from the Grand
Duke of Tuscany for the king’s privado, Don Luis de Haro.'?6

Florentine artists customarily exported devotional pictures to Spain, and this
trade was particularly important during the reign of Philip III, whose Florentine court
painter, Bartolomé Carducho, appears to have coordinated such imports and also to
have dealt in Italian paintings.'?’ During this period, a veritable flood of copies of the
miraculous fresco of the Annunciation in SS. Annunziata in Florence were sent by the
Medici to the Spanish court, and some examples of this famous image are listed in
the documents reproduced in this volume.'?® On the occasion of the commission of
two paintings from Florence as gifts for the Duque de Lerma’s wife, the Marquesa de
Denia, and the Marquesa del Valle in 1599, the Florentine agent at the Spanish court
wrote a memorandum advising the prospective painters, Ligozzi and Passignano, in
matters of Spanish taste. Therefore, in painting the subject of the Adoration of the
Kings, the painter was advised that in Spain paintings were well received that showed
a “tranquil bearing” (attitudini quiete) and without elaborations (svolgimenti) and that
the depiction of the Virgin should be decent in visage (con viso honesto), with a blue
mantle covering her head or at least both shoulders and above all revealing no bare
feet.'? In 1590 the Florentine ambassador advised a painter on the style of two pic-
tures for the Conde de Chinchén, pointing out that “in Spain they like devotional
paintings with quiet attitudes and without elaboration,” with due decorum observed in
the Madonna’s “honest expression,” and covered head, shoulders and feet.'3 In the
painting of the Agony in the Garden, the painter was advised to observe decorum in
the poses of the sleeping Apostles, sleeping “in easy and decent postures” (con attitu-
dini commode et honeste). In the case of an altarpiece painting of the Assumption
of the Virgin for the dowager Duquesa de Alba ordered from Florence in 1599, she
expressed the common prejudices regarding art from abroad; Alba observed that the
best painters in Italy were to be found in Florence and showed a disdain for native
painters in saying that “nothing done with the brush here in Spain would turn out

124. Brown and Elliot 1980, p. 115.

125. For the collecting of paintings for the decoration of the Buen Retiro, see Brown and Elliott 1986,

pp. 105-140.

126. See Goldberg 1992.

127. AE. Pérez Sanchez 1965, pp. S08—-513; idem, “Crisis en la pintura espafiola,” 1968, pp. 173175, citing
the export to Spain of paintings by Domenico Cresti de Pasignano, Pietro Sorri, and Gregorio Pagani. See also
Schroth 1990, pp. 105-107.

128. Goldberg 1996 [1}, pp. 109, 110.

129. Goldberg, “Circa 1600,” 1996 [in press]

130. Brown 1991, p. 307.
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right” (vendria conforme).'®' Strictures in her instructions included beautiful faces,
effects of relief, and a brake on the display of too much of the painter’s art. In 1604
Bartolomé Carducho wrote a note clarifying Alba’s requirements which included
showing the Apostles in “good and easy poses (in buone attitudini, et facile) and with
faces observed from life, pleasing colour (vago colorito) and beautiful, devout faces
(volti belli et devoti).'3?

At the beginning of the seventeenth century, José de Sigiienza criticised a desire
for excessive sweetness and “veiled” suavity in Spanish painting.'*? The paintings and
repaintings at the Escorial by the mediocre artist Juan Gémez was driven by Philip I’s
overriding concern with propriety and orthodoxy in religious painting, but also epi-
tomised for Sigiienza in 1605 an aspect of Spanish taste in religious art, pleasing and
of much devotion, and which was painted with sweet and smooth colours (“el gusto de
los espafioles que aman dulzura y lisura en los colores, harto apacible y de mucha
devocién”).!3* Indeed, for Sigiienza, the spiritual dimension of religious representa-
tions was paramount, and his adamant belief — following the opinion of the painter
Juan Ferndndez de Navarrete — that “the saints must be painted in such a way that
they do not take away the desire to pray, but inspire devotion” surely found an echo
among many collectors in the first quarter of the seventeenth century.!* When Bernini
was in France in 1665, he satirized the apparent naiveté and literalness of a Spanish
patron who commissioned an ex voto from a painter in Naples.!?¢ His telling of the
story, however, would appear to reflect the extent to which Italians underestimated the
importance of an unambiguous representation of the subject matter, and the priority of
pictorial veracity over beauty, for instance, in the minds of Spaniards.

This taste may help to explain the success on the Spanish market of the paintings
of Marcello Venusti, a Mantuan follower of Perino del Vaga, “perche il suo modo di
dipingere era assai devoto, diligente, e vago,” in the words of his biographer Giovanni
Baglione.!?7 Indeed, paintings of the Holy Family attributed to “mateo de margelo” in
the collection of the Duque de Lerma'3® and his sister, the Condesa de Lemos (Doc.
11), confirm a taste for his paintings among collectors at the court of Philip III. In his
Life of the sixteenth-century painter Luis de Morales, “El Divino,” Palomino men-
tioned that the devotional qualities of this artist’s images meant that they were still
commonly placed in oratories, which is supported by at least one seventeenth-century
inventory from Madrid (Doc. 8)."3 However, in the case of religious paintings for the
galleries of discerning private collectors of the calibre of Don Luis de Haro, it was not
enough that these should inspire devotion and be well painted. In the opinion of the
Florentine ambassador in Madrid in 1650-52, Cigoli’s Ecce Homo ran the risk of
demeaning both giver and recipient, since its author was considered a minor Tuscan
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132. Ibid.
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artist in Spain and the painting itself was simply not good enough.'4® Angelo Nardi,
the Italian-born royal painter and respected connoisseur at court, said that since the
Cigoli was a modern painting it would not have held its own against the Italian old
master originals being sought by the king and aristocratic coliectors.'*! In short, it was
not deemed to be worth anything, since by this date in Madrid only the best old mas-
ters and the best moderns would do.

In the context of a heightened awareness of what constituted good taste in Spain,
José Antolinez conceived his genre painting known today as the Poor Painter (Fig. 1),
a humorous inversion of Veldzquez’s Las Meninas (Fig. 2). Perhaps the painting
makes an ironic reference to the abiding issue of the liberal status of painting in Spain
by representing the opposite social extreme to that to which artists aspired. Antolinez
was notoriously proud and vain, well known for his biting, saritirical wit.'#? The paint-
ing could be an ironic self-portrait, like Luis Tristdn’s earlier self-portrait showing the
artist as a poor picaro.'®® The setting is the studio of a young painter, who stands in a
doorway in the background, and who appears to enjoy a degree of complicity with the
viewer. Prints displayed on the studio wall would have functioned as artistic aids and
could have been copied on request.'** Perhaps there is a reference here to the plight of
native Spanish painters who were forced to manufacture reproductions of popular for-
eign models. Apparently the client rather than the young painter is satirized in the
painting. The picture does seem to articulate the plight of artists grubbing a living by
painting simple devotional images for poor, unenlightened patrons, even picture deal-
ers. Such an “enslavement” to the popular market is implicitly contrasted with practi-
tioners of the liberal art who are given commissions more suited to their talents and
the dignity of painting. This artist’s client is ragged and clearly poor, a peasant from
out of town or a picture dealer perhaps, who grins stupidly and hawks a small devo-
tional image at the viewer. This is a copy of Scipione Pulzone’s Madonna with a
Rose, a painting which by this date may have appeared old fashioned and naive to the
sophisticated audience of connoisseurs to whom Antolinez appealed in his painting.

Antolinez’s own picture may be read as a pictorial equivalent of the stories and
jokes that pepper Palomino’s biographies and the texts of Jusepe Martinez in the
1670s. Antolinez may have been satirizing a kind of kitsch of his day, images which
were popular but of little real artistic value in this artist’s eyes. The Pulzone picture
may therefore stand for the mass of piously sentimental devotional images produced
by the legion of humble “madonnieri” painters who worked in Madrid. A popular,
“low” taste of the artisan class for simple devotional images of relatively little aes-
thetic merit would appear to be mocked here.'*’ However, seventeenth-century Span-

140. See Lodovico Incontri’s comment on the painting of 7 October 1650 in Goldberg 1992, p. 105.

141. Sec Nardi’s comments in Incontri’s report of 11 February 1651 in Goldberg 1992, p. 106. Incontri added
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ish inventories characteristically list large numbers of apparently mediocre religious
pictures that nevertheless satisfied the devotional needs of their owners, who could
even include some discerning and prominent individuals.'#® Two paintings owned by
the Duque de Lerma, for instance, were inventoried in his collection as “malo aunque
devoto™.!%7 An early example is the the collection of the Patriarch of Valencia, San
Juan de Ribera (d. 1611), whose collection comprised some 350 pictures, mostly of
devotional subjects, and included a picture by Pulzone. As the surviving works in the
Colegio del Patriarca show, the majority of these were pious representations of very
modest artistic quality.'*® The diffusion in Spain of the Pulzone Madonna represented
by Antolinez is proved by the existence of a number of copies.'* One of these was
painted by Blas de Ledesma. Two other anonymous copies are in the Prado Museum
and Huesca Cathedral.!’® Two copies of this painting were listed in the studio of Fran-
cisco de Burgos Mantilla in 1646.'5! Paintings that appear to have been copies of this
image were listed in the 1619 inventory of Jusepe Bolero, Contador of the Conde de
Casarubios, and the Condesa de Lemos in 1628.'5? The image of Virgin of the Rose is
listed frequently in seventeenth-century inventories, and the extent of the market for
the type is reflected in the “seis ymaxenes de las rrossas™ which Francisco de Morales
agreed to paint among a lot of 100 paintings for sale by another artist in 1610.153

A culture of connoisseurship and exclusive good taste made it posible to mock
the ignorance of those who did not possess a real understanding of art.'>* Only an
audience who could discriminate between good art and bad provincial painting was
equipped to fully enjoy the humour of one episode in Doctor Jerénimo de Alcald
Yafiez’s picaresque novel Alonso mozo de muchos amos, el donado hablador (1625—
26). Here, the eponymous hero, who has been identified with the young man in the
background of Antolinez’s painting,'>3 is apprenticed for six months to a painter in
Toro. The author jokes about an Immaculate Conception whose symbols are difficult
to read even with their “labels,” a painting in which St. Jerome’s lion looks like a
domestic cat (“gato, aun no tan malo, cerca voy para que sea leén” exclaims the artist),
and paintings of saints whose hands are so badly rendered that it would require a miracle

Escorial, for instance, was a particular favourite with “la gente ordinaria,” according to Padre Sigiicnza
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for them to actually hold their attributes.!3® The humble artist also enjoys a lucrative
trade in images with monsters, for example Hercules and the Seven-Headed Dragon and
St. Bartholomew with the Chained Devil, which are sold for a mere four reales and
which his simple rural clients appreciate as if they were the works of Apelles.!?’

Taste for Venetian Painting

Spanish connoisseurs esteemed Venetian painters above all others. The works of this
school, particularly those of Titian, exemplified the aesthetic value of colorido, or
colore in the familiar parlance of Italian theoretical writing.!>® The art treatises of
Vicencio Carducho and Francisco Pacheco, however, elevated dibujo (Italian disegno)
as the supreme artistic value and Pacheco advocated a high degree of finish (“‘aca-
bado”) in painting.!* The style of painters admired at court during the reign of Philip
III, such as Bartolomé and Vicencio Carducho, Eugenio Caxés, and Bartolomé Gonzé-
lez, is in accordance with a drawing-based art promoted in the treatises of Carducho
and Pacheco. The principle of drawing was the foundation of humanistic “learned
painting” (docta pintura), suitable for elevated religious and historical subject matter
and characterised by its scientific and ideal qualities. It was argued that this could be
appreciated only by cultivated connoisseurs who possessed a real understanding of the
liberal art of painting. In contrast, the debate associated the use of colour with an
appeal to the senses and the vulgate.'6Y

The ideal art postulated in theoretical texts was inconsistent with the admiration
for Venetian painting among people of taste in the first part of the seventeenth century.
This fact may have been of little significance to most connoisseurs, who were eclectic
in their tastes and who collected art irrespective of the academic contradiction between
the values of drawing and colour. The status of Venetian painting in Spain meant that
Spanish connoisseurs had been long accustomed to attending to the facture and finish
of paintings.'! Despite the Tuscan bias of Carducho’s treatise, even he asserts that
painterly painting in the Venetian manner is more worthy of admiration than a pol-
ished and finished manner, in this respect differing dramatically from the opinions of
Pacheco, and Jusepe Martinez satirizes a “prolix” style, overburdened with detail.'¢>
But only the connoisseur could appreciate the skill involved in this style and be able to
distinguish between good and bad paintings made in this way. An awareness of the
potential of painterly painting, so-called manchas and borrones, probably increased
by the middle of the seventeenth century in response to the innovations evolved by
Veldazquez, a new kind of “sketchy” painting made up of economical blotches of
pigment and open brushwork. By the mid-seventeenth century, an expectation of
spontaneous, painterly handling of colour, deriving from Spanish experience of Ti-
tian’s work, was an established alternative to the admiration for detail, the creation of
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smooth surfaces with blended brushstrokes and high finish that typified Spanish taste
earlier in the century. And this neo-Venetian aesthetic eventually reigned supreme in
Madrid in the second half of the seventeenth century.

The optical style of painting exploited by Veldzquez in its most consummate
form was regarded as deriving from Venetian art, and was appreciated by Spanish con-
noisseurs in analogous terms for conferring on the painted image both verismilitude
and beauty.'®* Such paintings could not be appreciated according to the conventions of
drawing that underlay the art of the court painters of the reign of Philip III. In painterly
paintings the facture, open brushwork, and seemingly random blotches of colour made
different demands on the eyes and the intellects of viewers and led to the development
of another form of exclusive connoisseurship. Thus, Fray Hortensio Felix de Paravi-
cino, an admirer of El Greco, distinguished between seeing and looking at a painting,
thereby raising the issue of the viewer’s informed perception and appreciation of art.
With Venetian-style painting, it became particularly important to know kow to look
and, for instance, how to judge the proper distance and the correct lighting conditions
for pictures. Thus Paravicino advised examining paintings from a proper distance in
order to appreciate their full illusionistic effect, to find the point at which the blobs of
pigment resolved into a naturalistic image: “‘examinar de lejos; cosa que ha introdu-
cido en los aficionados a este gran arte mirar y juzgar en las distancias las valentias”
(1640).1%* He also explained the necessity of looking at Venetian painting in its right
light; otherwise it would appear a mess (“‘una batalla de borrones™).!¢> Francisco de
Quevedo referred to this idea in praising the ‘““manchas distantes” of Veldzquez'’s opti-
cal style of painting.'®® And when discussing colour, Jusepe Martinez illustrates the
importance of viewing conditions for painterly painting by the instructive story of one
artist’s paintings looking “finished” only when set up in the respective positions in the
chapel for which they were designed.'®” However, it is also the case that cabinet paint-
ings for the galleries of private collectors and even miniatures were painted in a neo-
Venetian painterly style by the most admired artists in Madrid in the second half of the
seventeenth century. This suggests that among connoisseurs, there developed a wide-
spread admiration of the painterly style for its own sake, in which the handling of the
pigment and colours was of primary visual and aesthetic appeal.

Where a free, open execution was considered suitable to express the artist’s
imagination and creative genius, a tight style was associated with those who merely
copied from nature.'® This latter approach Jusepe Martinez characterises negatively
as “prolix” and “pedantic,” and cites the case of Lupicini, a Florentine artist in Zara-
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ed. 1990, p. 417 for his dislike of loosely painted works, which had to be seen from a distance only and were
confusing from nearby.

165. McKim-Smith 1988, p. 22, quoting a sermon delivered in the Royal Chapel in the Madrid Alcdzar in the
king’s presence in 1638.

166. For Quevedo’s sitva, Al pincel (1629) see Varia Velazqueria 1960, 11, pp. 21-22. For Juan Francisco
Andrés de Ustarroz’s response to Veldzquez's technique, see McKim-Smith 1988, pp. 17, 33.

167. Martinez (ed. 1988, pp. 90-91) tells how, on seeing the pictures close to, the patron complained of the
pictures being unfinished and sketchy (*“no esperaba ... de sus manos obra tan basta, y poco concluida, pues
todo es borrones™). The artist promised to finish the pictures within a month. Without any retouching at all,
however, he hung the works in their place in the chapel. The fact that the patron was duly astonished at the way
in which the artist had seemingly improved the pictures in so little time illustrates his lack of understanding of
the requirements of the site and proper viewing conditions for art. McKim-Smith (1988, p. 21) also notes this
story, which may derive from topoi in Italian writing about art from the time of Vasari.

168. Martincz, ed. 1988, pp. 148-152.

SEVENTEENTH-CENTURY SPANISH TASTE 23



24

goza, who became celebrated among the vulgate for his highly detailed and punctili-
ous paintings.'® In Palomino’s Life of Juan Carrefio de Miranda, provincial religious
clients in Pamplona are disappointed that they cannot “see” the subject in the artist’s
open brushwork, until the local artist Vicente Berdusdn obligingly explains the true
artistic worth of the picture.!” Jusepe Martinez relates an instructive story about the
annoyance of a mother who could not “see” in sufficient detail the Flemish lace worn
by her daughter in a portrait commissioned from Veldzquez.'”! The point is not so
much a contrast between the earlier style of court portraiture and the style of Veldz-
quez, since artists such as Antonis Mor and Alonso Sanchez Coello occupied positions
of the highest prestige for seventeenth-century connoisseurs. Rather, it underlines how
Veldzquez’s innovations in optical painting could be fully appreciated only by an elite
of sophisiticated aficionados of painting who understood the merits of this style.

The Royal Collection and Taste for Venetian Painting

For the individual collectors who made up the stratified, aristocratic society of the
Spanish seventeenth century, the Spanish royal collection represented the paradigm
of good taste, in which was enshrined the esteem of Titian and Venetian art. The
Emperor Charles V had knighted Titian, and he and Philip II had been the artist’s most
distinguished patrons. Venetian painting continued to occupy a privileged place in the
affections of Spanish Habsburg monarchs. The Escorial effectively became a great
museum of religious painting, in which Philip IV augmented its holdings of Venetian
pictures donated by his grandfather, as well as adding works by Rubens and Van Dyck.! ">
Religious paintings, mythologies, and portraits by Titian and other Venetian artists
were also prominent in the pictorial decoration of the Madrid Alcdzar and Pardo pal-
ace.'”? It was, therefore, perfectly in keeping with this traditional admiration of Vene-
tian art that L.dzaro Diaz del Valle should include a biography of Titian, as well as
Rubens, in his notes on painting at mid-century, and that these painters appear in Palo-
mino’s Lives of the Spanish Artists (1724).174

Venetian painting, and particularly the work of Veronese, was highly valued as
the decoration of princely halls throughout Europe in the seventeenth century and the
currency of princely exchange, admired for its sheer visual splendour, colour, sensu-
ality, and legibility from a distance. The Spanish Crown owned the largest holding of
Venetian sixteenth-century masterpieces outside Venice, which enjoyed great interna-
tional renown. By 1686, there were a staggering 77 Titians in the Madrid Alcdzar
alone.'” In Vicencio Carducho’s “guided tour” of the royal collection, published in
his Didlogos de la pintura, the works of Titian were listed, and singled out as the most
highly regarded pictures, “las mds estimadas de todas,” and a highlight of the visits of

169. Martinez, ed. 1988, pp. 226~228. Lupicini was promoted by his brother in Zaragoza, and his Italian
nationality helped him become celebrated. However, “Adquirid esta fama y opinién entre frailes y gente poco
entendida en esta arte, porque Ja manera que €| trafa era tan prolija y cansada que en hacer sélo una cabeza
gastaba ocho dias,” despite the fact that his drawing, colouring, and composition were weak.

170. Palomino, ed. 1986, p. 287.

171. Martinez, ed. 1988, p. 212.

172. Checa 1994, pp. 148-167.

173. Ibid., pp. 129-130, 130-148.

174. Diaz del Valle, ed. 1933, pp. 330, 345-347; Palomino, ¢d. 1986, pp. 47—53, who records the belief that
Titian had actually come to Spain.

175. For a breakdown of the numbers of Venetian paintings in the Alcazar collections, see Bottineau 1956,
p. 437; Orso 1986, p. 88; Brown 1987, pp. 17-18.
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foreign dignitaries.'’® A number of Philip’s grandees demonstrated their loyalty to the
crown with gifts of Venetian paintings: one such was the Marqués of Leganés, who
had received two Titian portraits from the king, and later presented him a number

of others from his collection.!”” Among the Titians that Philip [V acquired from the
sale of the English royal collection were pictures that he himself had given to Prince
Charles in Madrid in 1623, such as the portrait of Charles V with a Hound (Prado,
Madrid). One he did not reacquire, however, was Titian’s Venus and Antiope, the so-
called “Pardo Venus” (Louvre, Paris) that he had given to the Prince of Wales in 1623,
possibly because of its profane subject matter. This was despite the fact that the pic-
ture had been saved from the disastrous Pardo fire in 1604 and which, for Philip II,
redeemed the loss of all of the other masterpieces of the portrait collection.'”®

By the seventeenth century, ownership of so many famous Titian paintings
reflected the prestige, even the greatness, of the monarchy. Titian had portrayed Phi-
lip’s great ancestors, the Emperor Charles V and Philip II, who had ruled Spain when
it was at its most powerful. In the Hall of Mirrors of the Madrid Alcdzar, the ruling
king Philip IV received embassies before Titian’s equestrian portrait of Charles V at
Miihlberg, brought from the Pardo at the beginning of his reign, a clear declaration of
dynastic continuity and the Spanish king’s role of defender of the Catholic faith. Philip
II’s famous mythological pictures by Titian, the poesie, were considered appropriate
gifts for the Prince of Wales on his visit to Madrid in 1623, and were crated up and
ready to leave Spain, saved only by the cancellation of his marriage to the Infanta. At
the end of the seventeenth century, king Charles II personally intervened to prevent the
loss of Veronese’s Christ Among the Doctors (Prado) from the royal collection, by
arguing that it was an integral part of the decoration of the Alcdzar’s Hall of Mirrors
and consequently inalienable royal patrimony.'??

In the seventeenth century, Titian’s religious paintings at the Escorial continued to
serve the devotional needs of the Spanish Habsburgs.'8? Some of the famous, promi-
nently displayed Venetian paintings of the royal collection also maintained a political
and programmatic meaning, as was clearly the case with Titian’s Allegory of Philip 11
and the Battle of Lepanto (Prado) and Spain Coming to the Aid of Religion (Prado).
These pictures hung in the Hall of Mirrors and may have influenced the conception of
Veldzquez’s lost history piece of the Expulsion of the Moors for the same room, which
contained a personification of Spain alongside a portrait of Philip IIl. Titian’s set of
Twelve Roman Emperors, bought from the collection of Charles I of England and
hung along with portraits of Habsburg royals in the Alcdzar’s Galerfa de Mediodfa, set
an ancient imperial tenor to the exaltation of the dynasty.'8! Philip II's state room in
the Alcdzar, called the Sala de las Furias, was named after the four large paintings by
Titian depicting the four eternally condemned mortals in Hades: Tityus, Sisyphus,
Tantalus, and Ixion, who had defied the gods. Philip IV hung these in the New Room
(later Hall of Mirrors), where they probably maintained their admonitory significance
and where, for instance, the eagle eternally gnawing at the liver of Tityus could have

176. Carducho, ed. 1979, pp. 433-436.

177. Checa 1994, pp. 186-187.

178. Carducho, ed. 1979, p. 436 and Diaz del Valle (ed. 1933, pp. 347, 349) tell the story of Philip HI exclaim-
ing that the rest of the Pardo paintings did not matter, which is construed as evidence of this king's good taste.
After the fire, Philip II initiated a programme of reconstructing the portrait collection on the basis of copies.
179. Checa 1994, p. 188.

180). Ibid., pp. 60-87.

181. For the Caesars, sce Checa 1994, pp. 139, 317,
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appeared an emblematic lesson in the punishment of transgressors of Habsburg
authority.'#?

During the seventeenth century, however, the Venetian pictures of the royal col-
lection became regarded primarily as museum masterpieces, admired for their aes-
thetic qualities rather than purely for their devotional or emblematic meanings.'8?
Philip IV inherited pictures that his ancestors had acquired from Titian himself and
that counted among the most famous in the world. One such picture was Charles V’s
Gloria (Prado), which Philip II had transferred to the Escorial, where it was one of the
monastery’s main attractions and where the painter Luis Tristdn thought it was worth
more than the whole palace put together.'®* Philip IV also actively continued Habs-
burg tradition by adding more Titians to the Spanish royal collection. Among his most
celebrated acquisitions were the Bacchanal of the Andrians (Prado) and the Worship
of Venus (Prado) given to the king by Nicolo Ludovisi, Prince of Piombino, which
were brought to Madrid in 1638 by the returning Viceroy of Naples, the Conde de
Monterrey, who himself owned a fine collection of Venetian paintings. Even at the end
of his life Philip IV continued to seek works by Titian. In 1664, he made his last major
acquisition of old master paintings from the collection of the Genoese general, the
Marquis Giovan Francesco Serra. Of the 40 paintings in the lot, half were by six-
teenth-century painters and 10 were Venetian. These included another version of
Titian’s Venus and Adonis, and a version by Annibale Carracci painted in emulation
of Titian.'®>

One brief autograph statement of Philip IV regarding the acquisition of pictures
bluntly reveals his priorities. In 1645 Philip instructed his agent in London, Alonso de
Cérdenas, to acquire paintings from the collections of Charles I and the Duke of Buck-
ingham, telling him simply to buy “only originals by Titian, Paulo Veronese or other
esteemed old masters”.'®¢ In 1649, Veldzquez’s mission in Italy also involved the buy-
ing of Venetian old masters, which were the most sought-after paintings of the king
and his agents.

Although the Madrid Alcazar lacked a picture gallery built specifically for the
purpose, the collection of paintings and works of art in the Galerfa de Mediodfa, for
instance, effectively made it a collector’s gallery.'®” Indeed, most of the fine paintings
hanging thoughout the palace were displayed primarily for their visual and aesthetic
qualities, and the relative importance of their authors. The sheer numbers of Philip’s
Titians allowed the king the unique luxury of “specialist” hangs in the Alcdzar. The
bdvedas de Ticiano was an area of the Alcdzar so named in the seventeenth century
from the mythological paintings by Titian that hung there.'®® This was a suite of 15
ground-floor rooms in Philip I'V’s summer apartments at the northeast corner of the
palace, which gave onto a small, intimate “secret garden” where the king sought
respite from the Madrid summer heat. In 1626, when Cassiano dal Pozzo visited the
suite, six rooms were decorated with Titian’s Ovidian poesie for Philip II and other

182. For the Four Condemned, sce Checa 1994, pp. 91-92,263-265, nos. 33-34.

183. This evolution in taste is documented by Checa 1994,

184. This statement is an annotation to Vasari’s Life of Titian and signed by Tristdn as if to emphasise his
personal conviction. He had been to Venice and knew Titian’s works there. He also noted the existence of
Cornelius Cort’s print after the Gloria. See Salas and Marfas 1992, p. 141.

185. A. Vannugli, “La coleccién del Marqués Giovan Francesco Serra,” Boletin del Museo del Prado, IX, nos.
25, 26, 27 (1988), pp. 33-43; A. Vannugli, La collezione Serra di Cassano, Salerno 1989.

186. Brown 1987, p. 12.

187. Checa 1994, pp. 135-139.

188. For Titian’s mythologics for the Spanish court, see Checa 1994, pp. 89-125.
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mythologies, the Tarquin and Lucretia (Cambridge, Fitzwilliam Museum) and royal
portraits.’® In this essentially intimate and private area of the palace, the king’s recrea-
tion appears to have involved his admiration for these supreme examples of Titian’s
profane subjects.

Visitors fortunate enough to visit the bdvedas could not fail to be impressed by
the overwhelming display of painted nudes in the mythological pictures that made the
suite famous. When Cassiano visited the rooms in 1626, Titian’s poesie hung in pairs
throughout the suite and comprised the most famous series of erotic mythologies by
the artist considered to be the greatest master of the painting of human flesh, espe-
cially that of women. At the sight of the painting of Diana and Acteon (Edinburgh,
National Galleries of Scotland) Cassiano was stupefied by Titian’s skill in this respect,
noting in his diary “non si pu6 cred™ la morbideza di quelle figure”."*° He also noted
the custom of covering all of the paintings depicting nude figures when the queen
passed through the apartments.

After the visit of Rubens in 1628, Philip redecorated the apartments with paint-
ings by Rubens and Flemish masters, with the tast room of the suite devoted to Titian.'”!
The window in this room faced east and opened onto the small orchard garden, the
Jardin de la Priora, and in 1636 was described as the room to which Philip retired
after eating. The king brought together in this room the series of his grandfather’s
mythological poesie, and hung his two “new” Ludovisi Titians here, along with
Titian’s Reclining Venus with a Dog (Prado) and a lost Venus and Cupid by the artist.
Titian’s Rape of Lucretia was also displayed here, perhaps owing to a perceived par-
allel between the theme of the “loves of the gods™ and the sexual violence of this
historical subject. The general theme of the nude meant that Titian’s Adam and Eve
(Prado, Fig. 3) was not out of place here and it was entirely fitting that Rubens’ Three
Graces (Prado), a monumental erotic fantasy that Philip purchased from the artist’s
own collection on Rubens’ death in 1640, should also hang in this suite.'??

Rubens himself had felt entirely at home in the bdvedas in 1628 and is said to
have made copies of most of the Spanish royal Titians, which he took back to Antwerp
to nourish him for the rest of his life. Pacheco’s list of copies is headed by four of
Philip II’s poesie, the Venus and Cupid, and Adam and Eve.'*3 This must have been
a profoundly reinvigorating experience for the Flemish master, then at the height of
his powers, in which he drank deeply from the Venetian sources of his art. After
Rubens’ death in 1640 Philip bought some of these Titian copies, which he had prob-
ably watched being painted over twenty years before, among a lot of 29 pictures
acquired from Rubens’ estate by private sale and hung them at the Pardo.'** For a con-
noisseur of the intelligence and sensitivity of Philip, the excitement of these pictures
lay in their ideal combination of two of the artists he most admired. In some cases
Rubens “improved” the original, as Palomino noted, by changing the composition,

189. Cassiano, Diarium, 8 July 1626; Checa 1994, p. 143.

190. Cassiano, Diarium 8 July 1626.

191. For the suite in 1636, sce Crawford Votk 1981; Orso 1986, pp. 23-30. Checa (1994, pp. 143-147) gives a
good general account of the later Venetian pictorial decoration of the bdvedas, which came to contain 52 paint-
ings, mostly mythologies and pictures with nudes.

192. Philip’s continued interest in the decoration of the bdvedas is suggested by the fact that he caught cold
here while supervising the hanging of works in winter 1658, as familiarly reported in Veldzquez's letter to
Camilo Massimi. Harris, “*A Letter from Veldzquez to Camillo Massimi,” The Burlington Magazine, no. 102
(1960), p. 166.

193. Pacheco, cd. 1990, pp. 198199

194. Muller, The Artist as Collector, Princeton 1989.
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as with Titian’s Adam and Eve (Figs.3 and 4) The Rape of the Europa was perhaps
beyond improvement. However, even in this case, as with all the other copies by
Rubens, the Flemish artist changed and modernised them through his own neo-
Venetian style, facture, and luminosity.'®* Rather than purely copies, Rubens’ versions
invoke Titian in seventeenth-century terms. It was perhaps Rubens’ copies more than
anything else that reawakened painters and connoisseurs’ interest in “‘sketchy” paint-
ing."%¢ Indeed, it is these paintings, perhaps more than the original Titians, which
Spanish court artists regularly copied, that were most influential for the painterly high-
Baroque style of Madrid painters of the second half of the century.

The sixteenth-century Venetian paintings in the royal collection had a profound
and lasting effect on the development of art and taste in the seventeenth century.'®’
While the paintings of Titian were consistently and widely admired by cultivated
Spanish artists and connoisseurs, many painters of rank in the first half of the seven-
teenth century continued to practice a prevailing “Spanish” style of high finish and
detail. The high status in Spain of Venetian old masters was not enough in itself to
cause a radical change of style. It has been noted above that the Spanish theorists of art
Carducho and Pacheco held up the work of Titian as a paradigm of colorido, but they
adhered to Tuscan theoretical values, which elevated the importance of drawing over
colour. Carducho and Caxés, and their many pupils at the Madrid court, therefore,
propagated a style of painting oriented toward the values of disegno over colore, in the
language of debate current at the time.!*® The influence of sixteenth-century Venetian
paintings was probably strongest when the contemporary painting of Velazquez, and
imported works by Rubens and Van Dyck, awakened the “new” aesthetic of painterly
painting in Spain.'?? It is perhaps this which explains the fact that the general trend in
painting at court of the period toward a neo-Venetian, high-baroque style developed in
the later Seventeenth century, rather than the fact that in the second half of the century
more collectors sought Venetian paintings or that more artists may have had access to
the paintings in the royal collection.

The royal collection appears to have acted as a normative model for the collecting
of art in seventeenth-century Spain, and royal pictures were regarded as paradigms of
good and proper taste.?° Palomino noted that the paintings by Titian in the royal col-
lection and in the homes of collectors in Spain were too numerous to list.?0! Standards
in taste were set by the king, were shared by his aristocracy and the highest echelons
of society, and were in turn widely followed by individuals from more modest back-
grounds. In the sixteenth century, Antonio Pérez directly imitated Philip II’s collection
of paintings by Titian.202 In 1603 the Duque de Lerma owned an original painting by
Titian, and 19 copies after Titian, including some of the works from the royal collec-
tion.2%3 The Marqués del Carpio had Miguel Colonna fresco a gallery of his palace

195. For these, see Madrid, Prado 1987; Checa 1994, pp. 190-194.

196. On Rubens’ influence on painting in Madrid, see Pérez Sanchez, “Rubens y la pintura barroca espaiiola,”
Goya, 140-141 (1977), pp. 86— 109. Sce also Brown 1991, p. 229.

197. This subject is analyzed by Pérez Sdnchez, ““Presencia de Tiziano en la Espaiia del Siglo de Oro,” Goya,
no. 135 (1976), pp. 140-159 and Checa 1994, pp. 169-194.

198. Thus it was perfectly possible for Carducho to be chosen to restore and enlarge Titian’s allegories for the
New Room of the Alcézar in 1625 (Orso 1986, pp. 45-46) or for a painter such as Bartolomé Gonzalez, working
in a tencbrist style with tentative naturalism, to paint copies of the Titians in the royal collection (Cherry 1993).
199. On Spanish attitudes to Titian’s colour and open brushwork, see Checa 1994, pp. 169-185.

200. For noble collectors and Venetian paintings, see Checa 1994, pp. 186-188.
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with a fictive collection of paintings by famous masters, including Titian, Raphael,
Rubens, Van Dyck, and Veldzquez.?* Juan de Pifia’s novel, Casos prodigiosos y cueva
encantada, describes the house of Don Antonio de Sotomayor at El Espinar, whose
gallery contained copies of Titian’s mythological paintings and other works in the
Alcéazar’s bovedas de Ticiano.?® Imitation in matters of taste was to be expected in a
hierarchical, pyramidical society in which the king was the focus for the aspirations of
the many at court and the ultimate source of favour, distinction, and revenue. Shared
cultural values in fact manifest individuals’ adherence to the monarchical-seigniorial
social system of which they were a part.

Taste for paintings among court collectors in seventeenth-century Spain appears
to have been remarkably conformist. The documents presented in this volume repre-
sent only a fraction of the large number of pictures attributed to Titian and his Vene-
tian contemporaries in seventeenth-century inventories, and this phenomenon of the
reproduction and dissemination of royal works throughout Madrid collections is
symptomatic of the conservative, imitative taste of the period. Most of these “Titians”
were school works and copies that endorsed the the royal canon of good taste. Copies
after the famous originals by Titian in the royal collection were always in demand
among collectors of all classes, even permeating down to comparatively modest
homes, and perhaps retaining something of the “aura” surrounding works owned by
the Habsburg monarchs.

A painting by Titian was at the centre of a scandal concerning the royal architect,
Juan Gémez de Mora. In 1636, Gémez de Mora, who had earlier been accused by Juan
Bautista Crescenzi of stealing a Titian from the royal collection and replacing it with a
copy, was relieved of his palace duties. In his apology to Olivares, the architect blamed
his own ignorance, without elaborating on the nature of this lapse, and in his defence
claimed to have removed the picture only in order to have a copy made for the promi-
nent lawyer, Don Lorenzo Ramirez de Prado. However, he was disgraced, as was
Ramirez de Prado for receiving the picture, and the incident necessitated the appoint-
ment of a new aposentador and an inventory of the Alcdzar collection.?® The incident
was seen as a fraudulent abuse of Gémez de Mora’s office of aposentador and ayuda
de la furriera, with responsibility for palace furnishings, and the gravity of the offence
may have been all the greater given that it involved a royal Titian.

On the home market discerning and affluent collectors pursued a limited number
of old master paintings by more orthodox means, especially pictures which were sold
out of collections by public almoneda. Out of necessity, many collectors made do with
copies. Copying represented an elementary stage of artistic education and was consid-
ered a relatively menial activity for professional master painters in the business of
producing original works of their own invention. However, in the memorial for the
foundation of an academy presented by Madrid painters to Philip III ca. 1619, it
was recommended that a special certificate be given to graduates of the academy who
only wished to copy; realistically speaking, it appears to have been necessary for the
livelihoods of many painters in Spain.?*” The studios of master painters usually
included a number of apprentices and oficiales to whom copying tasks could have
been delegated.?®® There were professional copyists, who were usually affiliated with

204. Checa 1994, p. 186.

205. Ibid.

206. For the incident, see V. Tovar Martin, Juan Gémez de Mora, 1986, pp. 25-26, 31-32; Orso 1986, p. 25.
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the studio of another master and who were held in very low esteem by the artistic
establishment.??® However, the thriving market for copies among collectors meant that
it was a lucrative practice to which even artists of the distinction of Juan Carreiio de
Miranda regularly turned; it was possible to attain a high reputation as a talented copy-
ist, as did Juan Bautista Martinez del Mazo and Juan de Alfaro.

At the lowest end of the market would have been copies of copies, and the low
values of some of these must reflect the poor aesthetic quality of reproductions that
brought the originals down to the level of kitsch. Copies from black and white prints
may also have been common; these may have captured something of Titian and
Rubens’ invention, if nothing of their colour and facture. In 1598, the royal painter
Juan Gémez agreed to make for Don Gaspar de Hinestrosa an Annunciation, copying
it from a print after Titian.?'® Matias Ximeno’s copy of Titian’s S2. Margaret, painted
for an altarpiece at Pastrana in the 1630s, reverses the image and bears so little rela-
tionship to the facture of the original that it must derive from Luca Bertelli’s well-
known print after the work in the Spanish royal collection.?!!

Given the prevalence of copies on the art market, there appears to have existed a
highly developed connoisseurship of copies in the period.?!? Jusepe Martinez, for
instance, speaks of the Fleming Pablo Esquert, brought to Spain by the Duque de
Villahermosa, who became famous and rich for making small and full-size copies of
Titian’s paintings, painted in the “delgada y muy gentil” Flemish style.?!® Artist-
valuers frequently identified copies in collections and sometimes remarked on the
quality of these. In 1618, Gil Ramirez de Arellano’s pride in the quality of his Titian
copies was noted in his inventory (Doc. 3). Francisco de Burgos Mantilla, himself
a copyist, remarked that a painting in the collection of Antonio Carnero in 1662
“appeared to be by Titian,” that one of his two pairs of copies of the Ecce Homo and
Dolorosa was better than the other, and that a copy after Rubens was “well done”
(Doc. 72, no. 47). Palomino recounts an occasion when he and Juan Carrefio de
Miranda were looking at paintings in the home of Pedro de Arce (Docs. 38 and 75, see
also Docs. 66 and 82), and studying a “copia muy indigna” of Titian’s St. Margaret
from the Alcézar collection, which Carrefio de Miranda admitted was an early work of
his own.?!

Unfortunately, Palomino does not say why the copy was so execrable, but it was
a salutory example of bad art to all present. Then, as now, according to Fray Felix
Hortensio de Paravicino, an aficionado of painting portrayed by El Greco, the difficult
activity of connoisseurship in distinguishing originals from copies was based on close

3

stylistic analysis of the artists’ “manera de pintar”. Although the original is prized

over the copy, he admits that the best copies are those that are hard to distinguish from
originals, “tan puntuales y tan efectivamente trabajadas de una mano valiente”.?!> One
of the most intriguing “mistakes” in attribution was Veldzquez and Nardi’s rejection

209. In 1598, the painter Juan de Altamirano Moreno contracted to work for 14 months as a copyist in the
studio of Francisco Ruiz Aguado. He was to copy all he was asked to do and even to travel outside Madrid,
probably to the Escorial. Ruiz promised to suppy him with good things to copy in order to exercise his art, and
to allow him to copy Ruiz’s own painting of Christ Carrying the Cross after six months working for him.
AHPM, Prot. 2.357, ff. 19-20, Madrid, 16 January 1598.
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of Correggio’s Education of Cupid ( Fig. 5) as an original worthy of the royal collec-
tion, mentioned above.

The demand for high-grade reproductions of royal pictures was monopolised by
royal painters. These were artists who were able to exploit the cachet of their position
and, in the best cases, could work directly from the originals in the royal collection to
produce “official” copies. These reproductions, in turn, conferred ever greater esteem
on the originals. On his death in 1627, the studio inventory of the royal portraitist
Bartolomé Gonzilez listed copies of some of the most famous works by Titian in the
royal collection.?!® While these may have been for the artists” own education, it is also
likely that they served as models for reproduction. As with Antonio Mor and Alonso
Sénchez Coello before him, Gonzélez’s own tight style was clearly not an impediment
to such an activity.?!” Juan Bautista del Mazo was the most distinguished copyist of
paintings in the royal collection, and his full-size, expensive copies of royal Titians
and Rubens are documented in the very best collections of the day, including that of
the Marqués del Carpio (see Docs. 49, 109, 114 and 115) and the Duque de Arcos
(Doc. 118). His copies after Rubens’ mythologies at the Torre de la Parada appear on
the background wall in Veldzquez’s Las Meninas (Fig. 2). Mazo’s copies were greatly
admired for their closeness to the original image and Titian’s facture. Palomino said
that they would pass for originals even in Italy, where some of them may have been
exported, and even went as far as to say that they surpassed the originals. He was
equally enthusiastic about Juan de Alfaro’s copies after Titian, which are unknown
today.?'8

Collection inventories in Spain sometimes list copies of Titian’s portraits, but
more often these are of his religious subjects and profane paintings, particularly Philip
II’s poesie. It is possible that Spanish collectors sought copies of Venetian and Flemish
mythological paintings from the royal collection because they sidestepped the prob-
lematic depiction of the female nude, discussed below. Thus, Juan Sdnchez Cotdn, an
artist who became a lay Carthusian monk, painted a copy of Titian’s Rape of Europa.?!”
Effectively, the Venetian copy followed an existing image that was itself sanctioned
by its royal provenance. It is worth noting that copies of Venetian mythologies were
the sole representations of the nude in some picture collections, such as Cristébal
Gonzélez Cossio’s copy of Veronese’s Birth of Venus in his inventory of 1636 (Doc.
22, no. 3).

The proliferation of copies after Titian’s religious paintings was perhaps even
greater in the period. While Titian’s religious paintings were admired in the seven-
teenth century for their aesthetic qualities, their devotional function was also para-
mount; they were regarded as naturalistic images which were powerful inspirations
to devotion and prayer.??” In 1634 Francisco de Tejada, for instance, willed that an
Adoration of the Kings by Titian from his collection (mi Galeria) form part of the
ensemble of pictures in the altarpiece of his chapel in the Jesuit Colegio Imperial in
Madrid.?*' Palomino mentions that Titian’s paired paintings of the Ecce Homo and
Mater Dolorosa, which were in the private oratory of the Alcdzar in the early seven-
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teenth century, were much copied.??? This is supported by the numbers of such copies
listed in inventories of private collections in the seventeenth century. Other much
reproduced religious paintings by Titian were the Entombment and St. Margaret from
the Escorial. Some of these copies could be among the most distinguished pictures in
collections, such as Francisco Prado Bravo de Mendoza’s copy of Titian’s Gloria
(Doc. 48, no. 4), valued by Angelo Nardi and Juan Bautista Martinez del Mazo at
1,400 reales.

The normative nature of this taste among the picture-collecting classes through-
out Spain is illustrated by the early example of the Sevillian collector, Don Melchor
de Maldonado, treasurer of the Casa de Contratacion, which regulated Spain’s trade
with its American colonies.?? Maldonado’s select collection comprised 54 pictures,
the best pieces of which were Venetian originals and copies, as well as pictures by
Navarrete (subject unspecified), El Greco (St. Francis), and Cambiaso (St. Jerome).??*
The document specifies that the Venetian paintings ~ originals and copies, and an
Adam and Eve by one Gregorio Passano, and four landscapes (“quatro liencos de lejos
originales ecelentes”) — were sold as a lot to the Marqués del Aula for the large sum of
4,050 ducats.??’ It is perhaps significant with regard to Maldonado’s conservative taste
that none of these were mythological subjects. Six paintings were listed as Titian orig-
inals (Entombment of Christ, Tribute Money, Ecce Homo, St. Margaret, St. Casilda,
and a Portrait of Rosa Soliman). The Entombment of Christ was confirmed as an origi-
nal Titian by Luis Tristdn, who had seen it.??6 Maldonado also owned six Titian cop-
ies: a painting of a Turkish lady, The Four Condemned from the royal collection (Z7an-
talus, Tityus, Sisyphus, and Ixion), and a copy of the Allegory of the Marqués del
Vasto (Paris, Louvre), nicknamed “the ball of Titian” (“otro que llamase de la bola
copia de ticiano”) from the glass sphere depicted in the painting.??” This latter paint-
ing had been acquired by the Prince of Wales in Madrid in 1623 and was copied by
Bartolomé Gonzilez before 1614.228 Maldonado also owned a copy of a Tintoretto
painting of St. John the Baptist, an original Veronese of Noah'’s Ark, and paintings
by the Bassano family. His collection represented an important holding of Venetian
paintings to which artists in Seville may have had access at the beginning of the cen-
tury. His six original paintings inventoried as works by Bassano the Elder, or Jacopo
Bassano, were famous in Seville and were mentioned by Pacheco, who particularly
admired the painting of the Flood.??

222, Palomino (ed. 1986, p. 51) mentions these, as well as a lost half-length Mary Magdalene at the Escorial,
of which there were many copies; this observation is borne out by the evidence of seventeenth-century invento-
ries. For these paintings, sce Checa 1994, p. 247, no. 4; p. 249, no. 9.

223. See APS, Oficio 10, 1608, libro 4, ff. 73-83, for the inventory of capital of Maldonado on his marriage to
Clara Maria de Avila, dated in Seville, 16 May 1608.

224. El Greco shipped a number of paintings to be sold in Seville in the spring of 1597. See San Romdn 1927,
p. 163.

225. The total value of Maldonado’s collection was a staggering 53,116 reales. This Marqués de Aula was
probably Adan Centurion y Cérdoba, 111 Marqués del Aula (1582-1658), whose palace at Estepa contained an
important collection of Roman antiquities and whom Pacheco (ed. 1990, p. 217) described as an amateur
painter. See also A. Aguilar y Cano, El Marqués del Aula, Seville, 1897.

226. In the early seventeenth century, Luis Tristan said he had seen four Titian Entombments in Spain: two in
the royal collection at the Escorial and Aranjuez, and two in private collections ~ those of the Conde de Villa-
mediana and Don Melchor Maldonado. See Salas and Marias 1992, p. 141.

227.In 1601, Pacheco valued a set of the Four Condemned in the Seville collection of Hernando Diaz de
Medina. See Lépez Martinez 1932, p. 194.

228. For la bola de Ticiano and other copies in Madrid, see Cherry 1993, p. 8, no. 36. See also Checa 1994,

p. 269, no. 42 bis.

229. Pacheco, ed. 1990, p. 517, “los famosos seis lienzos originales que tuvo en esta ciudad don Melchor Mal-
donado”. The fact that Pacheco used the past tense would appear to confirm their sale to the Marqués del Aula.
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Some of the [talian paintings may have been acquired in Madrid, where Maldo-
nado was in 1593, and some through the offices of the Tuscan royal painter, Bartolomé
Carducho, who imported Italian works via Florence. Carducho also copied Venetian
paintings for a living, and Maldonado had evidently commissioned from Carducho
copies of a set of Twelve Months after Francesco (II) Bassano, for which the artist
was paid in 1596.2% In the context of this taste for Venetian artists among aristocratic
collectors, it is worth citing a document of 1593 in which Don Francisco de Mercado y
Pefialosa, a citizen of Segovia, commissioned the painter Diego Pérez Mexfa to copy
twelve pictures of the Twelve Months (3 x 2 varas in size) in the collection of Don
Pedro de Medici at the court of Madrid. The contract specified that these were to be
painted from the originals themselves, rather than copies of them, and were to be as
good as a set of copies by Mexia in the collection of Don Carlos de Eraso.??' Although
the name of Bassano is not mentioned, the document suggests the means in which
shared taste for paintings was disseminated among collectors through copies. A number
of Bassano paintings were later listed in the collection of Don Francisco de Eraso,
Conde de Umanes in 1635, including an Agony in the Garden, which was probably cop-
ied from the famous painting from the royal collection at the Escorial (Doc. 21, no. 14).

A widespread admiration for the Bassani as painters of religious histories, espe-
cially nocturnal scenes, is reflected in the large numbers of copies of these in Spanish
collections in the seventeenth century.?*? Two of the most popular were the Crowning
with Thorns and the Descent from the Cross painted as night scenes, which hung in
the Escorial sacristy.??3 Giorgio Vasari had been very dismissive of the maniera pic-
cola of Jacopo da Ponte Bassano (ca. 1518-1592), mentioned in his life of Titian.
However, in his annotations to this passage, El Greco launched into an impassioned
defence of his colouring in small-scale paintings and calls him the best painter of ani-
mals, adding “‘y asf todo el mundo pretende imitarle” 234

Paintings of the Bassano “type” were extremely popular in Spain, and copies of
thetr paintings were also common in private collections, as inventories show.>** Some-
times in these documents, the paintings of Jacopo Bassano’s sons are distinguished
from his own.23¢ Sometimes the Bassano name was given in the inventories in lieu
of the pictures’ subject. This suggests that this was akin to a “label” for a type of

The entry in Maldonado’s inventory gives the subject of the six paintings: “Seis originales del Vasan el viejo
que son ¢l diluvio y otro de quando echo christo los que vendian del tenplo y otro quando mosien saco el agua
de la piedra y otro del ijo prodigo y otro del rico avariento y otro de jacob y dina [sic]”.

230. Pérez Pastor 1914, vol. 11, no. 332. The paintings were inventoried in Maldonado's collection as “Los
doze meses del hijo de vasanes copias del carducho™.

231, Martin Ortega 1991; AHPM, Prot. 2.157, ff. 114115, Madrid, 20 May 1593. Don Francisco de Mercado
was also to receive from Mexia a genre painting (**otro quadro de la rrisa™) and two further paintings — one a
copy after Titian (“otro del hijo prodigo and otro quadro de la fama de ticiano™). The artist was to receive 40
ducats for each of the copies. It is also worth noting that Antonio Ricci had opened a workshop in Madrid by
1582, when the Archbishop of Valencia bought Ricci's copy of Leandro Bassano’s Lazarus and Dives. See
Benito Domenech 1980, p. 309, no. 209.

232. Pacheco, ed. 1990, p. 517, mentions Bassano’s celebrated nocturnes.

233. Cf. Margarita Caxesi, 1657; F. Diaz de la Hoz, 1656. For these paintings by Bassano, sece Checa 1994,

p. 305, nos. 157 and 158, also no. 149. For Titian’s famous nocturnal religious paintings at the Escorial, the
Agony in the Garden and St. Jerome, see ibid., pp. 82-86.

234, Salas and Marias 1992, p. 115. The Carracci also defended the Bassano family of painters against Vasari’s
criticisms. Sec Dempsey 1986. It is worth noting that Cardinal Borromeo also admired the Bassani as history
painters, praising the aferti of their figures. Jones 1993, pp. 112-113.

235. Ca. 4 percent of all attributed pictures in the Getty Provenance Index database of Spanish inventories are
ascribed to or copies after a member of the Bassano family.

236. See, for instance, the collection of Don Diego de Angulo in 1640 (Doc. 29), which listed a copy of a
Bassano picture of the Supper at Emmaus as well as an Expulsion from the Temple and Four Seasons that were
signed by “the son of Bassano™ (yjo de Bagan).
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picture which was easily recognised and popular in Spain, comprising Old Testament
subjects painted in a pastoral mode with animals and religious subjects in the form

of night scenes, landscapes and rustic genre scenes and allegories of the Seasons,
Months, and Elements. The skill with which the Bassano family painted animals was
widely admired, and many copies of Bassano rural subjects and Noah’s Ark are listed
in Spanish inventories. Paintings of the seasons and the months by the Bassani were
among the most widely copied pictures in Spain, and their quality must have been
extremely variable. Some of these were listed among the series paintings decorating
La Ribera, sold to Philip III by the Duque de Lerma in 1606, and they remained popu-
lar decorative images throughout the century.?3” A routine practice of Madrid painters
may well be reflected in a document of 1620 in which a painter Bartolomé Sanz con-
tracted with Don Alonso de Perea to paint an Annunciation, a St. John, four landscapes
with hunts, and four Seasons by Bassano (““liengos del tiempo del bassa™ [sic]).??®
The studio of the court painter Angelo Nardi in 1623 listed works attributed to the
Bassano, which clearly influenced his style of painting, and many other painters at
court must also have made copies of Bassano prototypes for sale to collectors.?* Only
occasionally, however, were these copies attributed in collection inventories.

Pacheco thought Bassani paintings easy to imitate.?** However, the expertise of
the Bassani in animal painting was universally recognised and was acknowledged by
Pacheco as well as a host of artists and connoisseurs.?*! In his own marginal note to
Vasari’s comments on the Bassani, Luis Tristdn concurred with El Greco’s opinion and
further exposed the fallacy of the Vasarian disegno-colore polarity for Spanish tastes.
He recalled that during his time in Rome (1606—1611) Bassano was held in the high-
est esteem, since an unnamed nephew of Paul V had placed a Bassano picture “en un
salén lleno de todos los mayores ... recibido por el mejor quadro de todos,” and voted
so by all members of the Academia de Disegno.?*? This is matched by Philip IV’s
hanging of a Forge of Vulcan by Bassano in the Alcdzar’s Hall of Mirrors, the show-
case for masterpieces from the royal collection, or the Almirante de Castilla dedicating
a whole room to their paintings in his own palace (Doc. 117, ff. 52v—57v).243

Throughout the seventeenth century, Bassano paintings continued to be highly
valued by connoisseurs and collectors, and inventories list large numbers of copies.
Indeed, the enduring popularity of the Bassani among Spanish connoisseurs accounts
for the highly successful career of Pedro Orrente (1580-1645), the “Spanish Bas-
sano,” who had worked in the Bassano studio. Sometimes their works appeared
together in the same collection, as in the case of the paintings of Don Pedro Pacheco
in 1662 (Doc. 71). It was actually a form of praise to suggest that in the collection of
Don Suero de Quiiiones in the later seventeenth century, paintings by Orrente were
said to pass for Bassanos.?** It is, however, an oversimplification to suggest that the

237. Florit 1906. For Bassano paintings in Lerma’s collection, see Schroth 1990, pp. 107-108; Checa 1994,
p. 130.

238. AHPM, Prot. 3.475, ff. 231-232v (1621). The Bassano Seasons measured 2% x 1% varas, and all of the
paintings were to be delivered within six months, for a total of 1,650 reales.

239. Angulo and Pérez Sanchez 1969, p. 275. Nardi’s studio also included works attributed to Tittan and
Correggio.

240. Pacheco, ed. 1990, pp. 414, 415.

241. 1bid, p. S17.

242. Salas and Marias 1992, p. 142.

243. Orso 1986, p. 72; Checa 1994, pp. 133, 147148, Philip II had admired the work of the Bassani, but had
hung their paintings in less prominent parts of the Escorial than his Titians. Ibid., pp. 67-71.

244. Pérez Sanchez 1965, p. 66, n. 13.
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success of Orrente’s paintings with collectors depended solely on their similarity to
Venetian prototypes. While Orrente’s paintings of Old Testament subjects with small
figures and genre settings derived from a type made familiar by the Bassano family of
painters, his works were never pastiches and have their own distinctive qualities. The
appearance of Orrente’s paintings with large figures in Spanish collection inventories
throughout the seventeenth century also suggest that he was among the most consis-
tently admired and valued Spanish painters. Orrente’s works of the Bassanesque type
were also in turn copied and inspired their own imitations from the hand of Cristébal
Garcia Salmerén (ca. 1603 -ca. 1666).2*5

Aficionados of Painting

The period saw the rise of a type of enlightened individual who enjoyed a reputation
as a connoisseur, an aficionado, or entendido de la pintura, one who was able to dis-
criminate in the matter of paintings and who fully appreciated the aesthetic pleasures
afforded by them.?*¢ Of course, many individuals continued the traditional pattern of
patronising artists for devotional images for chapels and oratories, and may never have
formed private collections of paintings to any significant degree. Tomas Fermat, for
instance, a secretary in the Consejo de Aragon, placed a large San Orencio signed
and dated by Pedro Nitfiez in 1623 in the altarpiece of his chapel in the church of
San Lorenzo, Huesca.?*” However, his postmortem inventory of 1641 shows that his
Madrid residence did not hold a distinguished picture collection.?*® Many of these
gentlemen of good taste were cultivated individuals from non-aristocratic sections of
society who shared a common interest in and understanding of painting. Indeed, Palo-
mino claimed that in his home town of Cérdoba, anyone who did not own a painting
by Antonio del Castillo could not call himself a man of good taste (“buen gusto™),
implying a considerable conformity of taste.?*® One of the most important was Pedro
de Arce, whose collection is discussed below (Docs. 38 and 75, see also Docs. 66 and
82). Another was Lazaro Diaz del Valle, royal chronicler (Coronista general de Su
Majestad) and singer in the Royal Chapel. In his testament, Diaz del Valle ordered that
his tomb be decorated with a Pieta by Antonio Arias painted in 1658 and a Resurrec-
tion of Lazarus by Juan Antonio de Escalanate of 1669.2%° His apparent disregard of a
stylistic clash between the works of two artists he admired perhaps reflects the catholic
tastes of a true connoisseur. Diaz del Valle was an intimate friend of Veldzquez and
appears to have known personally some of the artists whose biographies he wrote
between 165659, such as Juan de Ricalde, Eugenio de las Cuevas, Jusepe Leonardo,
and Antonio Arias; he was also a friend and a confessed admirer (“‘aficionado”) of the
work of Antonio de Pereda, whom he knew from his beginnings in Madrid.?*'

The terminology Diaz del Valle used to characterise the works of painters in
Madrid may offer us some clues as to ways in which contemporary connoisseurs dis-

245. Palomino, ed. 1986, p. 204.

246. Pacheco (ed. 1990, pp. 542-549) spoke of the “Difucultad en conocer y jusgar la pintura”. On appreci-
ation of painting in the seventeenth century, sec Moran Turina 19911992,

247. Angulo and Pérez Sanchez 1969, p. 331, nos. 1-4.

248. AHPM, Prot. 3.525, ff. 263-266v, 9 Fcbruary 1641. Fermat’s pictures comprised two religious subjects,
sixteen royal portraits, three flowerpieces, eight tempera hunting landscapes, and a picture of Venus and Cupid.
249. Palomino, ed. 1986, p. 214.

250. Diaz del Valle, ed. 1933, p. 326. For Diaz del Valle’s testament, sece AHPM, Prot. 11.431, {f. 426~430v,
26 February 1669.

251. Diaz del Valle, ed. 1933, pp. 374-376.
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criminated between the skills and stylistic qualities of artists in the mid-seventeenth
century.>>? In his biography of one of his favourite painters, Antonio Pereda, Dfaz del
Valle expressed particular admiration for two of the artist’s early works: the Relief of
Genoa (Prado), in which he noted especially the colouring of the draperies and heads,
and the Vaniras (Vienna, Kunsthistorisches Museum) which, he claimed, “is every-
thing the art of painting can achieve” and especially appreciated for its naturalism and
fresh touch (“muy al natural, tierno y fresco”). Indeed, Pereda’s works exemplified a
painterly manner that was clearly to the connoisseur’s taste and that he associated with
the Venetian school (“su dibujo, disposicién y pincel es de la escuela veneciana’).2>3
Other artists in the biographies also possessed analogous qualities of handling and
style for Diaz del Valle; Jusepe Leonardo painted with freshness and softness (*“Pint6
con mucha frescura y suavidad”),>>* Don Francisco Caro composed his figures well
and his style was “sweet and soft” (“su modo de pintar es dulce y blando™),% and
Don Simén de Leén Leal, who was a follower of the style of Van Dyck, painted with a
fresh touch (“‘con mucha ternura y frescura”).2%¢ For Dfaz del Valle, Juan Antonio de
Escalante possessed great natural talent and showed particular gifts for colouring
(“grande natural, en particular, ingenio en el colorir”), as well as excellent draftsman-
ship (“buen dibujante”).>>” Antonio Arias was characterised as a draughtsman (“de
excelentismo Pronto y valiente dibujante”) and his works were distinguished for their
lively colour and firm contours (*“Su manera de pintar es vivisima con admirable
colorido alegre y bien perfilado”).>® More obscure, however, is his characterisation of
Arias as a painter of “long brushes” (“pintor muy diestro y de largo pincel”), as is his
remark on the “elegant brushes” (“‘elegantes pinceles’’) of Juan Bautista del Mazo.?%°
For Diaz del Valle, some artists possessed an admirable balance of qualities, especially
combined skills in colour and drawing, the “parts which make up good painting,”
which included Pedro Orrente, Juan de Roelas, Diego Polo.?%” In the case of Juan
Carrefio de Miranda, however, Diaz del Valle highlights only his colouring as a much
praised and envied quality of his style, which is also the distinguishing feature of the
style of Diego Polo.?®! Antonio del Castillo is characterised as a great painter and
“draughtsman-colourist” (““gran pintor y dibujante colorista’), with equal skills in
drawing and colour, like Pedro de Raxes the Elder.?®? Eugenio Caxés displayed a
range of skills in a single painting of the Finding of the True Cross, which showed his
abilities in drawing and colour and other aspects of the “science” of art, such as com-
position and perspective (“‘en la disposicion, dibujo, colorido y prospectiva es admir-
able’”).293 However, the most lavish praise is reserved for the talents of Francisco
Camilo, whom Diaz del Valle described as one of the most gifted (““aventajados”)
painters of Spain: a great draughtsman and colourist, whose style is sweet and fresh; a

252. K. Hellwig, “Diego Veldzquez y los escritos sobre artistas de Lézaro Diaz del Valle,” Archivo Espariol de
Arte, 265, 1994, p. 37, reviews this writer’s critical terminology and notes, perhaps unfairly, the arbitrariness of
his use of some terms.

253. Diaz del Valle, ed. 1933, p. 375.

254, Ibid., p. 370.

255. Ibid., p. 386.

256. Tbid., p. 383.

257. Ibid,, p. 366.

258. Ibid., p. 384.

259.Ibid., p. 374.

260. Ibid., p. 369, referring to the style of Pedro de Raxes the Elder.

261.Ibid., pp. 343344, 367-368, 381.

262. Ibid., pp. 368-369.

263. Ibid., pp. 344-345.
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painter who is aware of the “scientific” aspects of his art, such as proportion and mea-
sure; a great narrative painter who is well informed of mythological subjects, and one
who is able to paint on both a large and a small scale.?%*

Vicencio Carducho’s Didlogos de la pintura (Madrid 1633) and Francisco Pache-
co’s Arte de la pintura (Seville 1649) were important in the formation of a clientele
whose patronage and support was essential to the livelihoods of artists and the devel-
opment of painting. Both authors argued that cultivated gentlemen should understand
and perhaps even practise painting.2%® In this way, the noble, and liberal, art of paint-
ing was cast as an appropriate pastime of the socially elevated. They also cite promi-
nent contemporaries who were amateur artists. This group was headed by King Philip
IV himself and members of the royal family, hailed as the very model of enlightened
protection and patronage of artists, and included some prominent aristocrats, such as
the Duque de Alcald and Conde de Tula, knights of the military orders and even mem-
bers of the royal household and administration.?*® Giovanni Battista Crescenzi, Roman
nobleman, architect, and amateur painter, was at the Spanish court from 1617 until his
death in 1635, and was a recognised connoisseur of painting who himself painted still
lifes and promoted Antonio de Pereda and Juan Ferndndez El Labrador.?6”

Although Carducho mentioned that the gentleman Don Francisco Veldzquez
Minaya, Cavallerizo de la Reina, was an amateur painter, his postmortem inventory
of 1657 listed all his paintings anonymously.2%8 The 1618 inventory of the jurado of
Baeza, Don Gaspar de Ledesma Meriiio, listed one of his own paintings, a Head of
Christ (Doc. 4, no. 66). Carducho also claimed that the royal Council of Castile was
full of aficionados of painting, including Don Francisco de Tejada, whose “discreto
Museo” testified to his “afecto a este Arte, y su acertado entendimiento” .2%° His
“guided tour” of so many private collections of art in the capital is the first of its kind
in a Spanish treatise. Carducho recounts the names of collectors in classical antiquity
and the high prices they were willing to pay for works of art.?’0 Likewise, his list of
prominent contemporary collectors, noble and non-noble alike, emphasises the impor-
tance of such individuals for the prosperity of art and its practitioners in the capital,
and serve as exemplars to other readers of his treatise. Later, in the Lives of Antonio
Palomino, the names of aristocratic and non-noble patrons and collectors appear in the
biographies of artists they supported or collected. Among these non-noble individuals,
mention is made of Don Francisco Mezcorta, “muy aficionado a la pintura,” who
owned a famous Martyrdom of St. Sebastian by Don Sebastian Mufioz; 2! Pedro de

264. For Diaz del Valle (ed. 1933, pp. 378), Camilo “es uno de los mayores dibujantes q© hay en toda Espaiia,
famoso pintor con admirable colorido tierno, fresco, dulce, no le faltando la parte de ser muy observante de la
simetria q© es proporcién y medida, ademas de ser grande historiador y muy noticioso de Jas fabulas, come me
consta y muy general en la pintura asi de grande como de chico”.

265. Pacheco, ed. 1990, p. 67.

266. For amateur artists, see Carducho, ed. 1979, pp. 445-446; Pacheco, ed. 1990, pp. 213-227; Dfaz del
Valle, ed. 1933, pp. 334, 338 ff. Palomino’s Lives also includes amateur artists, such as the lawyer and painter
Don Francisco Ochoa y Antolinez (ed. 1986, p. 339).

267. Carducho {ed. 1979, pp. 420—421) cited Crescenzi as an important amateur in Madrid of his own time.
Pacheco (ed. 1990, p. 206) said that Crescenzi and Juan Bautista Mayno, both “de gran conocimiento en la
pintura,” were judges of the competition of the royal painters for a painting of the Expulsion of the Moors in
1627. For Crescenzi, see Pérez Sanchez 1965, p. 45; Cherry 1991, pp. 236-241; Jordan and Cherry 1995,

pp- 70-76. For paintings and books from Crescenzi’s collection in two inventories in 1635, sec Cherry 1991,
pp- 516-518.

268. Carducho, ed. 1979, p. 445. For Veldzquez Minaya’s inventory, see AHPM, Prot. 8042, unfoliated.

269. Ibid., pp. 445-446.

270. Ibid., pp. 299-300.

271. Palomino, ed. 1986, p. 308.
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Abadia “muy amante de la pintura,” who was a collector of the works of Carrefio de
Miranda and owned a late Ecce Homo by him.?”2 Don Juan de Montufar, who owned
an outstanding St. Jerome by Francisco Collantes; 2’ Don Francisco Artier, who
owned five Murillos in Madrid, which came from the collection of Don Juan Francisco
Eminente; 2”4 and Don Cristobal Ontafion, who owned original paintings by Andrea
Vaccaro, protected the sculptor Luisa Roldan, was a friend of Claudio Coello and Luca
Giordano, and bought paintings by contemporary artists in Madrid, including Pedro
Atanasio de Bocanegra, visiting from Granada.?”

In 1627, a significant lawsuit led by the royal painter Vicencio Carducho was
won by painters at court against a 1 percent sales tax on their products.’’® The wider
significance of the painters’ victory was the implicit recognition that theirs was a lib-
eral rather than a mechanical art, that painters were like poets rather than artisans. The
lawsuit must have focused the attention of the court on painting early in the reign of
Philip IV. The support of important individuals at court contributed to the success of
the painters’ campaign, and the statements of those who testified in their favour were
printed as an appendix in the first edition of Carducho’s Didlogos de la pintura of
1633.277 A revealing new document records the names and opinions of a further six
of these aficionados who rallied to the painters’ cause.

The document is a notarised testimony (““‘informacién”) of Carducho’s lawsuit
drawn up by Andrés Carreno, alcalde of the Valladolid painters guild and Cofradia del
Glorioso San Lucas.””® All six witnesses attributed the success of the painters’ lawsuit
of the previous year to the intervention of King Philip IV, and two witnesses stressed
that he not only understood painting but practised it. Somewhat improbably, Antonio
de Araoz claimed that in 1627 all of the Spanish nobility petitioned the king in favour
of the painters’ case. Two of the witnesses were gentlemen-courtiers with access to the
king who must be numbered among those connoisseurs who were committed to the
liberal status of painting. Don Fernando de la Hoz was 32 years old and Gentilhombre
de la Casa del Rey, who ended his testimony by saying that he had been brought up
with painters. The oldest and most distinguished witness was Don Gerénimo Fures y
Muiioz, 52 years old, Knight of the Order of Santiago, Gentilhombre de la Boca de Su
Magestad and a member of the Supreme Council of Italy. He swore with his hand on
the cross of his habit of Santiago, that he was “muy aficionado a la pintura” and knew
all the masters who practiced at court. In his brief testimony he merely stated that he
had been amazed at the attempt to tax painters in 1627, since the art is “muy noble”
and has always been “muy Preballelgiada y estimada” by all of the kings of the world.

Judging from the evidence of the inventories of the private collections of other
councillors, it appears that an interest in painting was not unusual among members of

272. Ibid., p. 289.

273. Ibid., p. 145.

274. Ibid., p. 292.

275. Ibid., pp. 262, 303, 321, 348.

276. Géllego 1977, pp. 119ff.

277. Carducho, ed. 1979, pp. 447-449. The “Memorial informatorio” of the painters was already published as
a separate pamphlet in 1629. For extracts, see Calvo Serraller 1981, pp. 339-366.

278. AHPM, Prot. 5927, ff. 170~176v, “Inform " fecha a Pedimiento de andres Carrefio pintor por si y los
demas pintores, afio, 1627,” dated Madrid, 4 February 1628. The witnesses, in order of appearance, were as
follows: Pedro det Rio Troyano, who lived in the house of the painter Antonio de Monrreal, Alonso Carbonel,
Aparejador Mayor de las Obras Reales, Don Fernando de la Hoz, Gentilhombre de la Casa del Reyv, Antonio
de Araoz, Don Gerénimo Funes y Mufioz, of the Consejo Supremo de Italia, and Juan Gémez de Mora, Traza-
dor y Maestro Mayor de las Obras de Su Majestad.
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the Council of Italy.?’® Fures y Mufioz in particular may have been an important and
influential supporter and promoter of painting among the courtier class in the reign of
Philip IV. Carducho warmly praised Fures y Mufioz as an exemplary friend of paint-
ing. He also mentioned he was an amateur artist, with a taste for emblems, and also
recounts a visit to his collection of Italian drawings. Prince Charles visited his collec-
tion in Madrid in 1623 and was given eight paintings and gifts of arms.?®® Many years
later, at the great age of 83, Fures y Muiloz testified in favour of Veldzquez’s knight-
hood in 1659, and said that he had known the artist since 1629.28!

Two witnesses to Andrés Carrefio’s testimony were royal architects, Alonso
Carbonel and Juan Gémez de Mora. Gémez de Mora was the son of of the painter
Juan Gémez (d. 1597), who had worked at the Escorial, and himself had learned paint-
ing with Bartolomé Carducho. Eugenio Caxés praised his “muy grande conocimiento
del arte de la pintura” ca. 1620, and he had been a central figure in Carducho’s law-
suit.?82 Gémez de Mora’s contribution to the 1628 document is a humanistic definition
of the liberal art of painting, a “ciencia de tanto honor y estima” which is “arte noble
y menesterosso para El culto dibino y ques alcangado a fuerza de estudio y de ynxenio
y Por tal a sido estimado en todas Las partes del mundo y honrrado Los Profesores
della ansi en Ytalia Como por Los ss*™ Reyes de Castilla”.

Gdmez de Mora was Aposentador del palacio and directly responsible for royal
furnishings, including the collection of paintings. It was Gémez de Mora, in fact, who
accompanied Cassiano dal Pozzo on his tour of the Alcazar in 1626. Not suprisingly,
he himself owned a painting collection; such a taste for pictures may not have been
altogether unusual among the many individuals who were directly attached to the royal
household.?®? Carducho, for example, mentions the collection of a guardajoyas, Don
Jerénimo de Villafuerte Zapata, whose palace was visited by the Prince of Wales in
1623.784 While Villafuerte’s collection inventory is unknown, Hernando de Espejo was
another prominent courtier of the reign of Philip III who was made Cavallerizo de la
reina and Guardajoyas de Su Majestad (Doc. 23). Given Espejo’s close involvement
with the royal household in his capacity of guardajoyas, it was natural that he should
turn to salaried royal painters for his own collection. The inventory drawn up on his
death in 1637 includes a Crucifixion painted by Pedro Guzmdn and Virgin Suckling
the Infant Christ by the royal portraitist Bartolomé Gonzdlez. Indeed, on 14 February
1620, Espejo paid 3,200 reales to Gonzilez for nine pictures, including six saints (SS.

279. See, for instance, the inventory of the Regente Montoya, which listed mythological paintings by Titian and
Lucas Cambtaso (Mordn and Checa 1985, pp. 234—235). See Agulldé y Cobo 1994, pp. 143144, for the paint-
ings owned by Don Tomds Brandolino (d. 1654), Regente del Consejo Supremo de Italia. Also see the follow-
ing documents included in this publication: Francisco de Prado Bravo de Mendoza, Secretario en el Supremo
de Italia, 1651 (Doc. 48); Manuel Monje, of the Consejo de Italia, 1677 (Doc. 96); and Bartolomé de Legasa,
Secretario de Estado de la Parte de ltalia (Doc. 100). Some other inventories of council members of Italy that
reside at the Getty Provenance Index: Lorenzo de Aguirre, of the Consejo Supremo de Italia, 1636; Doctor
Juan Ruiz de Laguna, Fiscal en el Supremo Consejo de Italia, 1640; Juan Enriquez, Marqués de Campi, of the
Consejo de Italia, 1636; Iiiigo Lopez de Zdrate, Secretario del Consejo de Italia, 1641; Alonso de Oca y
Ziiiiga, of the Consejo de Italia; Ifiigo de Aguirre, Secretario del Consejo de ltalia; Licenciado Lorenzo Polo,
Regente en el Consejo Supremo de [talia, 1611; Pedro Carlos de Aragon, Regente en el Supremo Consejo de
Italia, 1619; Miguel de Gobeo, Secretario en el Consejo de Italia, 1680.

280. Carducho ed. 1979, pp. 421-422.

281. Varia Velazqueria 1960, vol. 11, p. 328, testigo 82.

282. V. Tovar Martin, Juan Gémez de Mora (1586 1648), 1986, p. 19.

283. For Gémez de Mora’s inventory in 1613, M. Agullo y Cobo, *‘Documentos para la biograffa de Juan
Gomez de Mora,” Anales del Instituto de Estudios Madrilerios, 1X, 1973, pp. 55~80, and for the postmortem
partition of his estate, Tovar Martin 1986, p. 38.

284. Carducho ed. 1979, p. 423.
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Bernardino, James, Luis as Bishop, John Capistrano, Julian, and an unidentified saint)
and three portraits, one of Espejo himself, and two others of his first wife Ana Maria
de Bustos and his second wife Catalina de Maldonado.?®> These full-length portraits of
Espejo and his wives, along with one of his father-in-law, Don Juan de Maldonado,
were inventoried in 1637 at Espejo’s casa de campo at Olias (probably Olias del Rey
in the province of Toledo). The pictorial decoration of this property recalls the Duque
de Lerma’s La Ribera at Valladolid from the beginning of the century. It is telling that
Espejo also owned a copy of the miraculous Annunciation from S. Annunziata, Flor-
ence, which was one of Lerma’s most important works and in keeping with the devout
taste of Philip II’s reign.?8¢

However, the case of José Nieto (d. 21 July 1685), Aposentador y tapicero mayor
de la reina, is a salutary one. Nieto is thought to be the sitter in Veldzquez’s Portrait of
a Man at Apsley House and was immortalised in the doorway of Las Meninas. While
we might expect Nieto to have had a strong interest in painting, his postmortem inven-
tory does not support this view.?8” He owned a half-length portrait of Philip IV as a
young man, but no portrait of the queen or himself.?®® His small collection included
religious subjects, some of which were large works and two were torn canvases, land-
scapes of the Seasons, six paintings of Sibyls, and still lifes. No works were attributed
in the inventory and, judging from this document at least, Nieto’s collection does not
appear to have been distinguished in any way. It is worth noting here that the collec-
tion of documents at the Getty Provenance Index includes references for a large num-
ber of individuals whose social position, court occupation, or professional qualifica-
tions might imply an interest in collecting paintings, but whose inventories do not
substantiate this.

The Importance of Non-Aristocratic Collectors

The ongoing publication of inventories of picture collections has emphasised the
importance of the collections of the non-aristocratic classes in seventeenth-century
Spain. The inventories of gentlemen-courtiers, court functionaries, merchants, silver-
smiths, and religious presented in this volume reinforce this finding. The royal chap-
1ain Don Juan de Fonseca (d. 1627) owned Veldzquez’s Water Carrier at the beginning
of the reign of Philip IV and Don Pedro de Arce (1607 -aft. 1678) was the owner of
one of Veldzquez’s most sophisticated late paintings, The Fable of Arachne (1658),
which has suggested for some time now that non-noble courtiers were able to acquire
the most distinguished paintings from contemporary artists. Vicencio Carducho
recounts the names of exemplary collectors of classical antiquity who were willing to
pay high prices for works of art they desired, and lists those of his seventeenth-century
Spanish peers who were distinguished collectors of art.?8° While the contemporary
models for such enlightened conduct were the king and his grandees, some other

285. AHPM, Prot. 4.631, unfoliated, 14 February 1620. The document lists eight framed paintings, all said to
measure 2V x 2 varas, and valued at 400 reales each. While the document suggests that the portrait of Espejo
and his second wife was a single image, this is contradicted by the evidence of the inventory of 1637, when
four paintings were listed hanging at Olias del Rey.

286. Schroth 1990, p. 25; Goldberg 1996 (), p. 110.

287. AHPM, Prot. 9.872, ff. 421-426v, Madrid, 1 August 1685, drawn up by Nieto’s son-in-law, Licenciado
Tomds de Valdés, of the Consejo y Cdmara de Indias.

288. No pictures of this kind were listed in the inventory of Nieto’s son-in-law, Tomds de Valdés, drawn up on
28 September 1685 (Prot. 9.872, ff. 760-774; Getty Provenance Index No. E-751).

289. Carducho, ed. 1979, pp. 299-300.
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individuals of lesser social standing were distinguished by their protection and patron-
age of artists, and as collectors of paintings. Some of these men, Juan de Fonseca
included, were themselves amateur painters, an activity sanctioned by the practice of
the Habsburg royal family; many of their names are immortalised by those literate
painters who promoted the liberal status of their profession: Pacheco, Carducho, and
Antonio Palomino.?®® Beyond these, there was also a vast majority of anonymous
non-aristocratic private individuals (particulares) who bought paintings from the stu-
dios and shops of local painters, who relied on the patronage of these men for their
livelihoods.?!

Lazaro Diaz del Valle, chronicler to Philip IV, wrote biographies of contemporary
artists at court (1656—59) and knew many of them personally. In his notes, he con-
fessed himself to be an admirer of the painting of Antonio de Pereda and was a protec-
tor of Juan Francisco de Escalante. He also clearly knew the owners of good examples
of the works of Madrid artists, citing an outstanding picture by Eugenio Caxés of the
Finding of the True Cross in the collection of the Contador Obregén and Diego Polo’s
famous Fall of Manna (Fig. 6) owned by a notary Alonso Portero, this painting alone
showing him to have been an important patron of artists.?*2 Portero is also documented
in 1643 commissioning an Annunciation from Antonio de Pereda to form a pair with
another painting of the Adoration of the Kings by the same artist in his private collec-
tion.??3 Like most collectors at court, Portero also acquired paintings in estate sales; in
1639, for instance, he paid 800 reales for four pictures of the Four Seasons from the
collection of Don Juan de Quifiones y Prado.?®* It is unclear to what extent Portero
typified an enlightened non-artistocratic clientele. Rather than forming collections of
paintings as such, many individuals may have invested in only a few high-quality pic-
tures, usually of religious subjects. The inventory of Licenciado Pedro Miguel de
Ysar in 1651, for instance, listed only one attributed painting, a Mystic Marriage of
St. Catherine by Antonio de Pereda, among an otherwise undistinguished number of
works; this may have been entirely typical of many small collectors of the time.??*

While many individuals like Portero may have commissioned works directly from
artists, the relative scarcity of notarised contracts for single paintings suggests that cli-

290. For amateur artists, sce Pacheco, ed. 1990, pp. 213-233 and Diaz del Valle ed. 1933, pp. 334, 338-341.
Carducho (ed. 1979, pp. 417ff) mentions amateurs among collectors whose houses are visited by the Muestro
and Discipulo.

291. The number of artists whose works are cited in *‘casas particulares” is telling in this respect. Many of
these may never have won a commission for a public work, such as an altarpicce. Thus, Diaz del Valle cites
works by Francisco Caro (ed. 1933, p. 386) in private collections and those of Manuel de Molina (ibid., p. 373).
Palomino (ed. 1986, p. 110) said that there was no notable painting in public by Pedro de las Cuevas, although
there were many in private houses, and also noted the importance of the private market for Antonio de Contreras
(p. 133), Francisco Varela (p. 145), Pedro de Obregén (p. 146), Bartolomé Romdn (p. 148), Angelo Nardi (p. 151),
Don Francisco de Caro (p. 208), Sebastidn Martinez (pp. 209-210), José de Ledesma (p. 227), Andrés de Var-
gas (p. 237), Francisco de Palacios (p. 246), Francisco Solis (p. 272), and Antonio de Castrején (p. 307).

292. Diaz del Valle, ed. 1933, p. 343, who also cites a St. John the Buptist and St. Roque and a St. John the
Baptist by Polo, which Palomino (cd. 1986, p. 136) also mentions in Portero’s collection.

293. A. Martin Ortega, “Testamentos de pintores,” Boletin del Seminario de Estudios de Arte y Arqueologia,
Universidad de Valladolid, 1966, p. 432, citing AHPM, Prot. 7.672, ff. 492-492v, Madrid, 29 October 1643,
The contract stipulated that the form of painting was entirely the choice of the artist, but must merit the satis-
faction of two painters nominated by each of the parties, be finished in 10 months’ time and cost the patron 550
reales. The contract also mentioned 2,000 ducats that Pereda apparently owed Portero for four framed paintings
Portero gave to the artist, listed as Judith, St. Susanna, St. Roque, and St. Anton, which reflects extensive deal-
ings between the two.

294. AHPM, Prot. 4.484, unfoliated. Quifiones y Prado’s inventory was drawn up on 15 May 1639, and his
paintings valued by Jerénimo Mdrquez on 22 May. Portero bought the Four Seasons along with a bed at his
sale on 20 October for 2,000 reales.

295. AHPM, Prot. 7.837, ff.599v—624v; Getty Provenance Index No. E-521.
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ents’ orders were often verbal, with the transaction recorded in both parties’ account
books, the libro de memoria referred to in many artists’ testaments. Although rare,
notarised direct orders from non-noble clients to artists are not unknown; two signi-
ficant examples concern the painter Francisco de Collantes, who was known as a
landscape specialist and who relied on the private market for his livelihood. In 1628,
Collantes received payment from Don Francisco Merchant de la Cerda for a painting
of the Assumption of the Virgin and contracted to paint a pair of landscapes with fig-
ures for him.?¢ These paintings were listed among his remarkable collection of paint-
ings by contemporary Madrid artists in 1662.2%7 In 1632, Collantes contracted with
another client, Don Francisco de la Hoz Villegas, to paint for him paintings of St.
Jerome and St. Peter.?%

In the litigious society of the Spanish seventeenth century, recourse to notaries
was more common when an agreement was broken, and both parties showed remark-
able willingness to sue one another.?” The merchant Juan de Segovia, for instance,
sued Juan Carrefio de Miranda over an agreement of May 1647 for a large painting of
Belshazzar’s Feast. Since this painting was more than a year late, the artist and patron
drew up a document specifying an extended delivery date. Assuming that Carrefio de
Miranda’s finished work was the large painting now in the Bowes Museum, Barnard
Castle, which is dependent upon print sources for figures and setting, the clause in the
agreement emphasising that the picture was to be an original by Carrefio de Miranda
appears to have referred only to the execution, rather than the conception, of the work.?™

Artists’ wills can provide a revealing index to their range of activities for a pri-
vate clientele, when these list the names of individuals whose accounts were outstand-
ing at the time. The clients listed in Eugenio Caxes’s will of 1634 are, not surprisingly,
from the upper echelons of society; thus the artist painted an apostolado for Don
Alonso de Arias, a Christ Appearing to the Magdalene for Don Diego de Abarca,
many paintings for Don Jerénimo Mifioz, and for the Conde de Osorno a St. Anne, for
which the parties agreed on the high price of 3,000 reales, and a painting on copper of

296. AHPM, Prot. 5.247, {f. 105-106v, Madrid, 10 March 1628. By this document, Collantes agreed to repay
Merchant de la Cerda a loan of 220 reales and a further 59 reales that he had overpaid him for “un lienzo de
nuestra ss? de la asunzion con los doce apostoles™ (2%2 x 1%2 varas). He was also to paint him “dos liencos de
dos paysses uno de Ruinas y otro de Arboles y Penas” (2V2 x 1% varas) “que Cada uno tenga su ystoria dife-
rente hechas de mi mano a satisfacion y Contento del dho fran® de la cerda”. The paintings were to be com-
pleted within two months and were to cost 40 ducats for the pair. Collantes was unable to sign the document,
and his age was given as twenty-four years.

297. Agullo y Cobo 1981, pp. 214, 215.

298. On 18 January 1632, Collantes contracted with Don Francisco de la Hoz Villegas to paint a St. Jerome and
a St. Peter (14 varas), within one and a half months, for 300 reales. This document bears the comparatively
crude signature of the artist (AHPM, Prot. 5.248, unfoliated). Curiously, when, a year later, Collantes appraised
the small number of religous paintings left on the death of one Francisca Gonzdlez de Sepiilveda (widow of
Pedro Gonzdlez de Scpilveda, Inquisitional notary) he did not sign the document as he said he could not write.
AHPM, Prot. 5.956, ff. 1 -14v, with paintings at ff. 8v—9, 29 December 1633. These are the only known archi-
val documents dircetly relating to this artist published to date. The presence of Collante’s paintings in many
inventories of private collections testifics to his popularity among collectors. In the inventory of capital of
Diego Ferndndcz, a linen draper, in 1633, for instance, a large painting of the Nativity by Collantes was said to
have cost him 300 reales. AHPM, Prot. 5.031, f. 254.

299, Francisco de Herrera was sued by a silversmith Diego de Segura over a painting of David (Agullé y Cobo
1978, p. 77), and there was a lawsuit between Francisco Palacios and one Jerénimo Gonzilez over a painting of
St. John in 1647 (Ibid., p. 125). In 1669, the painter Pedro de Obregén sued his client Don Joseph Lariz for a
substantial amount of money which he owed for unspecified paintings (Ibid., pp. 119-120).

300. For this document, which specified that the painting was to be by Carrefio de Miranda “without appear-
ing like any copy or original by another but that it had to be a very clevated thing which he himself undertook,”
see Agullé y Cobo 1981, pp. 54-55. For the Bowes Museum Balshazzar’s Feast, see Pérez Sanchez 1986,

pp. 30-31.

MADRID, 1601-1755



the Martyrdom of St. Stephen “de gran estudio y trabaxo,” all of which may have been
commissioned works.?®! In many cases, popular devotional images, such those of the
Immaculate Conception and St. Francis, were painted on speculation, and their sale
did not necessitate any contractual agreement between painter and his client.

Many individuals who patronised artists and collected pictures, to a greater or
lesser extent, formed the courtier class in Madrid and were frequently educated letra-
dos who held palace appointments and offices in the administration. In a drive against
corruption, Philip IV attempted to have all officeholders draw up an inventory of their
estates, which would have provided a fascinating cross section of their tastes.**> Men
such as these numbered among the connoisseurs of the capital, the entendidos de la
pintura of the court. Early in Philip IV’s reign, Carducho had claimed that the Council
of Castille was full of aficionados of painting, men like Don Francisco de Tejada, a
councillor of Castille since 1619 and the first protector of Antonio de Pereda.3** The
recent exhaustive study of this institution by Janine Fayard has demonstrated that
indeed its members included some significant collectors and patrons of art. Fayard
documented the estates of 27 councillors of Castille between 16231752, 17 of which
contained significant collections of pictures and included works of contemporary mas-
ters.’** The documents reflect the diverse scope and quality of collections and the
eclectic tastes of individual owners, who identified with a particular social class rather
than a particular bureaucratic institution.

Almonedas ensured that paintings circulated on the open market in Madrid and
were often the source of important acquisitions. Some of the Marqués de Solre’s paint-
ings auctioned in 1638, for instance, entered the royal collection, and the Marqués de
Leganés acquired large hunting pieces by Frans Snyders from the Madrid sale of the
Duc d’ Aarschot’s collection. The sales of important collections, which were often
major social occasions, allowed middle-class collectors who never left Spain to pur-
chase art from abroad, particularly paintings from Italy and the Netherlands, as well
as old masters and high-quality modern works.3® The Getty Provenance Index has a
large body of data from almonedas documenting the dispersal of many collections and
which would repay study in itself.

As Fayard has observed, the nobility at court generally lived in rented and unpre-
possessing houses, and invested more in their decoration and furnishings, coaches, and
mules than in property in town.>¢ Luxury items and works of art were tokens in the
cult of nobility which was such a driving force in the “society of honour” of seven-
teenth-century Spain. Therefore many noble members of the Council of Castile con-
sidered coaches, Flemish tapestries and carpets from the East, pictures, and silver as
the appropriate and necessary appurtenances of a noble lifestyle.**” For other individ-
nals who did not enjoy the distinction of a knighthood, the ownership of paintings
appears to have had an important social value. It is remarkable that even comparatively
humble members of the palace bureaucracy imitated their social superiors in forming

301. Agullé y Cobo 1978, p. 37.

302. Elliot, Olivares, 1986, pp. 105-107.

303. Carducho, ed. 1979, p. 54.

304. J. Fayard, Los miembros del Consejo de Castilla (1621—1746), Madrid, 1982, pp. 423—-430. This was first
published in French (Geneva 1979).

305. Pinheiro da Veiga, a Portuguese visitor to the court of Philip 11, noted that visits to almonedas wete one of
the most distinctive and enjoyable activities of life at court. See Moran and Checa 1985, p. 214; Mordn 1989,
pp. 164-165.

306. Fayard 1982, pp. 416-419.

307. Fayard 1982, pp. 419-438.
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picture collections and even sought to appropriate the same pictures in the form of
copies, particularly Venetian old masters as well as those contemporary artists who
worked outside Spain who were the preserve of only the most wealthy and socially
distinguished collectors, such as Rubens, Ribera, and Frans Snyders.*%® This led to a
remarkable degree of conformity in taste among Madrid collectors.

Since external signs of nobility conferred status in the eyes of others and bol-
stered claims to be “noble,” paintings could be used to give the appearance of living
nobly, and to conspicuously reflect the social standing, taste, and wealth of individ-
uals. An extreme case is that of the common-born José Gonzalez, the hechura of the
Conde-Duque de Olivares, who amassed an immense fortune. A record of his own pic-
ture collection has not been found, but that of his daughter-in-law Maria de Vera,
widow of Don Juan Gonzalez de Uzqueta, was drawn up in 1692.3% This spectacu-
lar, noble-scale collection comprised over 750 works, valued by Palomino at nearly
150,000 reales, and included old masters and works by some of the best contemporary
painters, such as the royal painter Diego Veldzquez.

Included in this publication are inventories drawn up in the 1670s of the picture
collections of three successive Secretaries of State, all of whom were knights of the
Order of Santiago: Blasco de Loyola (d. 1670, Doc. 85), Diego de 1a Torre (d. 1674,
Docs. 91 and 92), and Bartolomé de Legasa (d. 1679, Doc. 100). Loyola, who had
been Secretary of State for the North between 1662 -1665, and Legasa shared a taste
for Flemish pictures, like many of their contemporaries. A Judgement of Solomon
attributed to Rubens headed the valuation of Loyola’s pictures and was the only attrib-
uted work as well as one of the most valuable.?'? Loyola’s evident taste for biblical
images of the execution of justice (his collection included paintings of Judith and
Holofernes, Jael and Sisera, and David) perhaps reflected of the probity of this indi-
vidual in high office.

Loyola owned a Flemish Tavern Scene, a subject that was very common in
Madrid collections by the second half of the century, where it is sometimes listed as a
bamboche, a term derived from the Italian bamboccianti that denoted a small northern
genre picture. Bartolomé de Legasa’s larger collection of pictures included the tradi-
tional northern subject matter of Flemish market scenes, which had been particularly
popular among collectors in Spain since the late sixteenth century. His set of ten hunt-
ing scenes after Frans Snyders had been copied in Flanders, perhaps even in Snyders’
studio, and were worth an impressive 10,000 reales. Legasa’s copies were probably the
next best thing to the large, expensive, and much-sought-after original Snyders paint-
ings of hunts and still lifes that distinguished the royal collection and the exclusive
collections of Spanish grandees.

Legasa’s large Venus and Adonis had also been painted in Flanders and was val-
ued at an impressive 3,300 reales. However, Legasa’s valuation was headed, perhaps
deliberately, by a very ““Spanish” image, a tall Immaculate Conception painted by
Angelo Nardi. Nardi’s prestige as a painter and connoisseur seems to have increased
over his long life, and although his style of painting remained essentially the timid

308. The postmortem inventory of the notary Francisco Frechel in 1663 included, for instance, a painting of the
Immaculate Conception which was said to be a copy of one owned by the Almirante de Castilla (AHPM, Prot.
8.231, ff. 100—121v); Cascades y Mufioz 1911.

309. Fayard 1982, pp. 394, 424, 429; Flores Martin 198S.

310. A painting of this subject by the school of Rubens in the Prado came to Spain in the cighteenth century.
See Diaz Padrén 1975, pp. 340~341, no. 1543. A composition of this subject by Rubens was also engraved by
Boetius y Bolswert.
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naturalism of the first third of the century, Legasa’s six pictures by Nardi suggests that
he particularly liked his work.

The collection of Diego de la Torre (Docs. 91 and 92) was the largest and most
distinguished of the three. While in Naples, De 1a Torre took into his household the
painter D. Francisco Pérez Sierra (ca. 1627-1709), who began painting battle pictures
in the style of Annielo Falcone and, in Madrid, worked with Juan de Toledo.?'! De la
Torre continued to protect the artist in Madrid and commissioned from him paintings
for his family chapel. He also arranged for Pérez Sierra to take up the post of Agente
general de los presidios de Espafia, which may have afforded the artist a regular
income at a time when many members of the profession appear to have suffered finan-
cial hardship.?'? At the time of his death, De la Torre’s collection inventory listed two
battle paintings and a St. Michael by the artist, who was also noted for his landscapes
and still lifes.

De la Torre had married into the aristocracy, and his titled wife, the Marquesa de
Casaliche, also brought pictures to the marriage.3'3 He owned a portrait of Philip IV,
the ultimate source of favour in his court career, as well as a set of four pictures of the
sack of Antwerp, the “Spanish Fury” that related to his office of Secretary of State
for the North (1669—-1674). De la Torre’s pictures included works by Jan “Velvet”
Brueghel and Daniel Seghers and a copy of Van Dyck’s Descent from the Cross. A
more significant painting of Judith by Rubens was entailed to the estate, and a copy
of the same picture was itself valued at 1,000 reales.

Diego de la Torre’s choice of copies of paintings by Jusepe de Ribera for his
family chapel in the Madrid convent of Los Angeles reflects the esteem in which he
held this artist.>'* Ten paintings of religious subjects and single saints by Jusepe de
Ribera were listed in De la Torre’s collection and may have been acquired while he
lived in Naples. All of these pictures were entailed to the estate by mayorazgo, reflect-
ing the great value attached to them.?'> For members of the nobility, the foundation of
a mayorazgo guaranteed the direct inheritance of inalienable goods to the eldest male
descendant (or eldest female if there were no males), who would, in this way, inherit a
“core” collection of valuable works by great masters with which to decorate his or her
house. De la Torre and the Marquesa de Casaliche’s pictures, therefore, became part of
the material means by which their heir would maintain the family’s noble lifestyle. A
Virgin attributed to Raphael was also entailed to the Casaliche estate. De la Torre
owned three other small pictures attributed to Raphael, a copy of the Madonna of the
Fish (Fig. 7), and a Christ on the Way to Calvary. The relationship of this latter work
to the painting in the royal collection (Fig. 8), and indeed Juan Carrefio de Miranda’s
copy, is unclear. However, it was framed in a gilded and faux tortoise-shell frame, pro-
tected with a red taffeta curtain, and valued at the large sum of 6,000 reales. This,
however, was only half of the value of an Ecce Homo attributed to Titian in the same
collection, which was valued at 11,000 reales.

311. Palomino, ed. 1986, p. 375.

312. Ibid,, p. 376.

313. In the estate documents, De la Torre’s widow, Maria de Saraoz declared (12 September 1674) that during
their marriage she inherited goods from her mother, Micaela de Trasmiera, including 83 paintings. Among
these were the copies of Van Dyck’s Deposition and Rubens’ Judith mentioned below.

314. Palomino, ed. 1986, p. 375.

315. Some entailed paintings could be analagous to luxury items such as tapestries in terms of value. In the
case of the estate of Antonio de Avila, Marqués de las Navas in 1658, for instance, a large painting of Judith
which formed part of his mayorazgo was said to be worth over 10,000 ducats and had been pawned to the
Almirante de Castilla (AHPM, Prot. 5.971, f. 1179).
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Another copy of Raphael’s Madonna of the Fish was listed in the collection of
Antonio Carnero on 1662, where it was valued at 500 reales (Doc. 72, no. 2). The
pictures were copies after Raphael’s famous original in the royal collection, which
arrived in Spain in 1638 and which Philip IV housed in the Escorial in 1645 (Museo
del Prado, Madrid). If Carnero and De la Torre’s pictures were in fact the same picture,
then its value had increased considerably in a decade, even allowing for inflation. If
the two paintings were different copies, then it is a telling marker of a consensus of
taste for old masters at the time. Other attributed pictures in Carnero’s collection were
a good copy after Rubens’ Christ and St. John the Baptist, and two pairs of copies
after Titian’s Ecce Homo and Mater Dolorosa; the Rubens and the better pair of Titian
copies hung in Carnero’s oratory.

Seven inventories included in this volume list the pictures of contadores,
accountants in the administration, and two in particular are remarkable examples of
important “middle-class” collections: those of Jer6nimo de Alviz (Doc. 27) and
Domingo de Soria Arteaga (Doc. 40). Domingo de Soria Arteaga’s collection, valued
in 1644 on the death of his wife, is unusual for the range and number of attributed
pictures — 60 percent of the works are attributed. This high rate of attribution is prob-
ably due to the intervention of the collector himself, who oversaw the drawing up of
the documents. The roll call of Soria Arteaga’s artists includes many of the major
contemporary painters active at court: Francisco Collantes, Juan de la Corte, Juan de
Espinosa, Juan Ferniandez “El Labrador,” Juan van der Hamen, Jusepe Leonardo,
Teodisio Mingot, Pedro Nufiez, Pedro Orrente, Antonio Ponce, and Francisco (?)
Rémulo, as well as some artists who are unknown today, such as Don Gaspar de Chiri-
boga. All of these works could have been acquired directly from the artists Soria
Arteaga may have patronised, while pictures by older masters such as Alonso Sdnchez
Coello, Juan Ferndndez de Navarette, Juan de Riafio, and El Greco were perhaps
bought on the art market. The names of Vicencio Carducho and Eugenio Caxés are
conspicuous by their absence from the Soria Arteaga collection; perhaps he did not
like their work. He appears to have collected younger artists, at least two of whom,
Pedro Nifiez and Jusepe Leonardo, were pupils of Carducho and Caxés, respectively.

Unlike his peers, Soria Arteaga was a significant collector of still-life paintings
by different contemporary artists active at the court; he appears to have been particu-
larly keen on still lifes by Juan Ferndndez, “‘El Labrador”. In the hanging of his col-
lection he made one very pertinent comparison of a grape picture by Labrador with an
carlier Roman grape painting by Pietro Paolo Bonzi — in this way, perhaps, acknowl-
edging Labrador’s sources in early Italian Caravaggesque still-life painting. He also
owned landscapes by a number of different hands, which was less unusual, and history
paintings with small figures, including 11 works by Juan de la Corte, one of which
was a valuable picture of a nocturnal masque.

Soria Arteaga owned works attributed to revered Venetian old masters such as
Titian and Bassano, portraits by Alonso Sanchez Coello and Antonio Mor, as well as
old master copies. Madrid artists depending on copying for a livelihood may have pro-
vided his copies after Titian, Bassano, and Leonardo da Vinci. Rubens, one of the
most famous contemporaries in Soria Arteaga’s collection, was represented by a St.
Catherine. However, this picture, worth 500 reales, was not as highly valued as some
of the works by less famous Madrid painters of his day.

One of the most important figure subjects in the collection was Jusepe Leonardo’s
Moses and the Plague of Serpents, which was a relatively rare theme in Spanish col-
lections; this painting, probably the picture now in the Academia de San Fernando
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(Fig. 9), perhaps represented a recent commission from the artist.>'® Soria Arteaga’s
Moses and Pharaoh’s Crown by Pedro Niifiez may have been commissioned as a com-
panion piece to this work. Jusepe Leonardo was a protegé of Veldzquez who made his
name with two battle pictures for the Buen Retiro’s Hall of Realms. The high value of
his Moses and the Brazen Serpent, if it is the painting in the Real Academia de San
Fernando, Madrid, would have been due to its size and large number of figures, espe-
cially the skillfully foreshortened cadavers of the foreground based on study of the live
model, and the “frescura y suavidad™ of the painter’s style.*'”

In 1633 Carducho mentioned the collection of the contador Jerénimo de Alviz
as among the most outstanding of the capital. While his inventory in 1639 listed only
some 50 pictures, made up entirely of religious subjects, still lifes, and landscapes
(Doc. 27), all of the attributed works were by contemporary hands, and most were art-
ists active at court. Alviz shared a taste for some of same artists as Soria Arteaga, such
as Collantes, Juan de la Corte, Juan van der Hamen, and Orrente. As shown below, all
of these were among the most popular names at court and particularly associated with
their “specialties” of landscape and still lifes. However, there were no fewer than 10
religious figure subjects by Eugenio Caxés and by his colleague Vicencio Carducho,
most of which appear to have been large, expensive easel pictures. Although the means
by which Alviz acquired his paintings is unknown, he may be considered a major
patron of these important royal painters, and for this reason alone it is not surprising
that he earned a mention in Carducho’s treatise.

Carducho and Caxés were the the most famous painters at court in the first quar-
ter of the century, royal painters who also worked for religious foundations. Palomino
noted that there were more paintings by Carducho in public places than any other emi-
nent artist, and Jusepe Martinez said that the artist was esteemed by his peers and
courted by great men.?'® Clearly, artists of such high reputations attracted a large pri-
vate clientele.?' In 1641, for instance, the dowry of Isabel Ramirez de Vargas, the
daughter of Don Diego Ramirez de Vargas, included nineteen religious pictures by
Caxés (Doc. 32). It was common for the value of paintings in dowries to be somewhat
inflated over those of estate valuations, and the total value of Ramirez de Vargas’s pic-
tures (worth 15,730 reales) appears to have been no exception. This dowry was drawn
up on her marriage to a Florentine gentleman, Don Jerénimo Bifi, and perhaps paint-
ings by a Florentine artist were thought appropriate. Some of these were pendant
pictures (Doc. 32, nos. 1, 2, 19, 20) and there were two cases of repeated subjects
(nos. 1 and 5, 4 and 8). In light of the popularity of Carducho and Caxés among a
whole generation of civil servants, Soria Arteaga’s apparent lack of interest in their
work is unusual. The rather undistinguished collection of pictures inventoried in 1654
in the possession of Luis Fernandez de Vega, a contador of the Council of the Indies,
was relieved by at least one valuable work of high quality, an Immaculate Conception
by Eugenio Caxés (Doc. 60, no. 2). Pictures by Carducho and Caxés also appeared in
1636 in the collection of Cristébal Gonzalez Cossio, a knight of the Order of Alcdn-
tara, royal secretary and contador (Doc. 22).

316. Angulo and Pérez Sanchez 1983, pp. 91-92, no. 27.

317. Diaz del Valle (ed. 1933, p. 370) identified this characteristic of Leonardo.

318. Palomino, ed. 1986, p. 112; Martinez, ed. 1988, pp. 190—-191.

319. Surprisingly, the postmortem inventory of Margarita Caxesi Giliogis, daughter of Eugenio Caxés, did not
list any works by her father. An anonymous pen drawing of a young man may have been by Caxdés. In the
valuation of her paintings by José Antolinez, however, a painting of St. Jerome by Carducho was listed. AHPM,
Prot. 6.056, unfoliated; Getty Provenance Index No. E-166; Madrid 1657.
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Cristobal Gonzélez Cossio’s collection included copies after Venetian artists
and the Virgin and Child with St. John after Raphael. In 1636, this latter copy was
placed at the head of the valuation of his collection, and at 550 reales was the most
valuable painting in the appraisal (Doc. 22). In 1666 the collection was revalued by
Juan Carrefio de Miranda on the death of Catalina Velasco de Villarin, Gonzalez
Cossio’s widow, who appears to have added one important picture by a younger art-
ist, an Immaculate Conception by Jusepe Leonardo (Doc. 81, no. 23). Compared to
Andrés Lopez’ valuation of the collection in 1636, Carrefio de Miranda’s valuation of
thirty years later shows his greater discernment in this exercise. Thus, a Caxés copy
(Doc. 81, no. 6) was worth 330 reales, and an original (Doc. 81, no. 7) was double
this amount, which in 1636 had been listed as anonymous and valued at 150 reales.

A painting of Hagar by Pedro Orrente, listed as “Jacob’s slave” in 1636 and worth

88 reales, was given its correct title, “Abraham’s slave” by Carrefio de Miranda and
its value raised to 550 reales. A triptych by Luis de Morales, worth 80 reales in 1636,
was appraised at 500 reales thirty years later. Carrefio de Miranda recognised the hand
of Francisco Ribalta in a copy of Leonardo’s Last Supper. The value of the Raphael
copy, however, was lowered to 300 reales (Doc. 81, no. 28), implying that Carrefio

de Miranda, who himself copied Raphael’s Fall on the Way to Calvary, was not so
impressed by its quality or condition. The most remarkable change in values relates

to pictures by the Roman Caravaggist painter, Antiveduto Gramatica, whose works
may have become rare in Spain by the second half of the seventeenth century. In 1636
an example of this artist’s work was worth 300 reales (Doc. 22, nos. 51, 52), while
Carrefio de Miranda in 1666 valued his Flight into Egypt at 2,200 reales and an Incar-
nation by his school at 1,500 reales (Doc. 81, nos. 4 and 5).

Two collections inventoried in the late seventeenth century, both of which were
appraised by Antonio Palomino, typify the taste of the period for hanging together
old master paintings, Flemish works, and contemporary Spanish paintings. Andrés de
Villardn was a knight of Santiago and a member of the powerful Council of the Royal
Treasury (Consejo de Hacienda), whose large collection was valued on his death in
1683 (Doc. 110). This included a painting by Van Dyck of the Incredulity of St. Tho-
mas, and four copies after this artist, one of the Mystic Marriage of St. Catherine
which was so well painted as to be worth the same amount as the former original.
There were also copies after Titian and Correggio. Villaran’s Spanish artists included
Orrente and paintings by the landscape specialists Benito Manuel Agiiero and Juan de
Toledo. Of two pictures by Juan Carrefio de Miranda, one was a copy of a St. Onofre
by Ribera, which Palomino valued highly at 1,100 reales. Villaran was also an impor-
tant client of Antonio de Pereda, since his collection included four religious subjects
and a Vanitas picture depicting artists” equipment.

The collection of Don Juan de Castafieda, Maestro mayor de la ciencia de las
armas de caballeros pajes de Su Majestad, was valued by Palomino in 1694 (Doc.
119). In Castafieda’s inventory, the pictures are listed anonymously, while in Palomi-
no’s valuation of the collection 60 percent of the works are attributed, and no fewer
than 21 different hands are acknowledged in the document. The collection included
old master copies: paintings after Titian, Correggio, and Andrea del Sarto, as well as
copies after Flemish modern artists: Rubens and Van Dyck. The works of 13 Spanish
artists active in Madrid are listed. These included a Zurbardn painting of a bound
lamb, an Agnus Dei type perhaps from the artist’s late period in Madrid. A painting of
St. Jerome by Mateo Cerezo was the most valuable picture in Palomino’s appraisal.
Castaiieda’s taste for the painterly baroque style of his own day is also reflected in
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works by Francisco de Herrera (probably the Younger), Escalante, Matias de Torres,
and Antolinez. This, however, did not prevent Castafieda from owning a picture of
Christ Carrying the Cross by Antonio Arias, an artist who painted in a tight, neo-
Florentine disegno. Palomino himself was represented in the collection with a Guard-
ian Angel, paired with an image of St. Michael by Antolinez. Like Andrés de Villardn,
Castefieda also owned a Vanitas Still Life by Antonio de Pereda.

The status of the many-faceted artist Alonso Cano appears always to have been
high among artists and connoisseurs. Painter to the Conde-Duque de Olivares, Cano
was in Madrid from 1638 and occupied a privileged position at court as a friend of
Velazquez and a member of group of Sevillian artists ascendant in the early part of
Philip’s reign. Lazaro Diaz del Valle’s long biography of Cano, written between 1656
and 1659, some years after the artist had left Madrid, reflects the esteem he enjoyed.??"
The author claimed that in his painting Cano “se aventaja a todos los grandes artifices
de este tiempo,” saying that his hand was recognisable to even uncultivated viewers,
and using adjectives such as “divino,” “sublime,” and “milagrosa” to describe a style
that also reflected the artist-priest’s piety.

The work of Alonso Cano appears in the inventories of three silk and cloth mer-
chants included in this volume. The collection of the mercader de pafios Antonio
Cruzat y Villanueva, inventoried in 1659, included a small Entombment of Christ by
Cano, which he had protected with a curtain (Doc. 70, no. 8). If the figure of the saint
in his painting of St. Catherine by Cano was dressed in rich draperies, this subject
might have held particular appeal to an individual who dealt in cloth, as could also
have been the case with the copy of Correggio’s Mystic Marriage of St. Catherine
in the collection of the silk merchant Francisco Diaz de la Hoz (Doc. 64). The first
painting listed in the inventory of Diaz de la Hoz drawn up in 1656 and the most valu-
able work in his collection was a Christ of the Passion with an Angel by Cano, worth
650 reales. Another unfinished version of this subject was in the collection of José de
Lezcana, tasador de joyas in 1681. Two versions of this subject, representing the dead
Christ supported by an angel, are today in the Prado Museum. Works by Cano are also
listed in the collections of Martin Fernandez Hidalgo, mercader, in 1656+?! and Juana
Alvarez de Pedrosa, wife of Francisco Ruiz de Miranda, mercader de sedas, in 1671
(Doc. 86). Francisco Horcasitas (d.1672), Contador mayor de fiangas de rentas reales,
a Vizcayan merchant who traded in iron and wool and later became a member of the
administration, owned two Canos, Christ and the Samaritan Woman and Christ’s
Descent into Limbo, which are the same subjects as paintings in the Academia de San
Fernando, Madrid, and the Los Angeles County Museum (Fig. 10).322 Eight flower
paintings Vin the collection of Antonio Proano, panadero de corte, in 1663, show that
even an artist as famous as Cano occasionally turned his hand to the “minor” genres.'2?

320. Diaz del Valle, ed. 1933, pp. 377, 387~389.

321. AHPM, Prot. 8.223, ff. 117-122; Getty Provenance Index No. E-604.

322. Bravo Lozano 1981, p. 202, citing AHPM, Prot. 10.409, unfoliated. The whole volume comprises Horcas-
itas’ estate accounts and partition. Horcasitas’ paintings were sold by public auction. However, his executors had
a number of unsold works reappraised for sale at lower values by the painter Jerénimo Gallardo, which included
the two paintings by Cano: “Lo primero una pintura de la samaritana de Alonso Cano de dos baras de afto y una
de largo poco mas o menos tasada su echura en nobecientos Reales; otra pintura de christo nro sefior del dho

This last was followed by another anonymous painting of Christ’s Descent into Limbo, valued at 1,300 reales.
Horcasitas’ collection also included copies after paintings by Titian (Entombment) and Ribera (St. Peter).

323. AHPM, Prot. 6.700, unfoliated, with paintings appraised on 10 March 1663 by Pedro de Noriega, painter:
“mas ocho floreros de cano con sus marcos negros,” which were valued at 330 reales each and which repre-
sented the most valuable group of paintings in the collection.
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The royal painter Francisco Rizi’s valuation of the paintings of Don Pedro de
Vallejo in 1678 opened with a large painting (over 168 x 126 cm.) of Christ at the
Column by Cano. This had also headed Vallejo’s inventory, where it had pride of place
in the main reception room of his home (“en la Pieca principal del recivim®©””) (Doc.
98). Indeed, this picture was valued at 5,500 reales, which, along with a large
Immaculate Conception by Juan Carrefio de Miranda, made them the most valuable
works in the entire collection, and worth more than religious subjects by such artists
as Juan Antonio de Escalante (Rest on the Flight into Egypt) and Mateo Cerezo (Mys-
tic Marriage of St. Catherine). Some of these paintings may have been acquired a few
months earlier from the distinguished collection of works by Madrid artists owned by
the wealthy silversmith Luis de Zabalza in 1678 (Doc. 97).

The inventories of the picture collections of a number of silversmiths and jewel-
lers in Madrid reflect the importance of such wealthy artisans for the collecting of con-
temporary painters. In the distinguished collection of the platero de cdmara, Luis de
Zabalza (d. 1677) there was a half-length portrait of Philip IV by Veldzquez in an
ebony frame, paintings of religious subjects by Pedro Nufiez and Alonso Cano, and
the works of younger contemporaries; three paintings by Juan Carrefio de Miranda and
Mateo Cerezo, two by Juan Bautista de Escalante, and a picture by Francisco Camilo.?**
Zabalza owned some pictures of the same subject by different hands, such as versions
of the Mystic Marriage of St. Catherine by Niifiez and Mateo Cerezo, Immaculate
Conceptions by Juan Carrefio de Miranda and Mateo Cerezo (as well as four other
representations of this subject listed). A Carrefio de Miranda copy of Titian’s Lucretia
could be viewed alongside originals by Carrefio de Miranda. Perhaps this reflected a
deliberate policy, focusing discussion of the relative merits of each artist among visi-
tors to the collection. Certainly, Zabalza’s taste was for contemporary artists noted for
their ability as colourists; thus Diaz del Valle admired Escalante for his good drawing
and genius in colour, Camilo for his admirable colour, “‘soft, fresh, and sweet,” and
Carrefio de Miranda for his superior handling of colour. The work of Francisco Rizi is
conspicuous by its absence; this artist does not appear to have enjoyed the same degree
of popularity on the private art market as his colleague Carrefio de Miranda. Zabalza’s
most valuable painting in Smidt’s valuation was, however, Alonso Cano’s Christ at the
Column. This important picture was bought from Zavalza’s estate by Don Sebastfan de
Soria, who may have sold it almost immediately to Don Pedro de Vallejo.32® Diaz del
Valle remarked on Cano’s having studied anatomy, an unusual and distinguishing fac-
ulty among Spanish artists, which would have undoubtedly been a factor contributing
to the high status of this painting among collectors.*?¢

The inventory of Cristdbal de Alfaro, goldsmith (platero de oro), in 1681
included works by Pedro Niiiez and J.F. de Escalante. The collection of Joseph de
Lezcana, tasador de joyas, inventoried in 1681 was unusual in containing unfinished
paintings. One was an unfinished painting by Alonso Cano of a Dead Christ Sup-

324, Zavalza’s exceutors, his widow Maria de Aguilar and Licenciado Don Tomas Rosete, were responsible for
the attributions of the pictures in the inventory, which are not noted in the appraisal by the painter Andrés Smidt.
325. Zavalza’s sale began on 7 February 1678, and one Francisco Sierra bought many of his paintings. Don
Sebastian de Soria bought Cano’s Christ at the Column for 3,300 reales on 9 February. He also acquired for
2,700 reales an Immaculate Conception which measured 2% x 1% varas and, which was probably the work by
Carrefo de Miranda, and which may have been the same picture as the one recorded in Vallejo’s collection.
326. Two paintings by Alonso Cano of Christ at the Column are relevant here. One, painted ca. 1660, has been
at Avila since the cighteenth century and is now in the Carmelitas Descalzas de San José. Wethey, cd. 1983,

p. 116, no. 8. An earlier painting, painted ca. 164650, is now at Bucharest, National Museum, and has an
unknown provenance. Wethey, ed. 1983, p. 116, no. 9.
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ported by an Angel, and six others were religious subjects by Mateo Cerezo, four of
which were described as unfinished. One of these, the Nativity of Christ, was displayed
in a pine frame, while the others were unframed. Mateo Cerezo’s works were compara-
tively rare, as he died prematurely in 1666. The unfinished Cerezos were not com-
pleted by another artist, as was customary, and Lezcana could have acquired them
from the deceased artist’s estate sale, displaying them in their unfinished state for over
fifteen years. Indeed, given the aesthetic of “sketchy” painting in the art of the later
seventeenth century in Spain, Lezcana may even have admired these works precisely
for their “unfinished” qualities.

The royal silversmith Andrés de Villaroel, platero de cdmara del Rey and tasador
de las reales joyas, included a holograph valuation of his own capital appended to a
codicil of 1656 (Doc. 62). At this time his picture collection was not large, numbering
only some 43 pictures. However, he clearly liked the work of Pedro Niifiez, 14 of
whose pictures he owned. Two of these were religious subjects, including an Immacu-
late Conception. A pair of originals seem to have been classicizing allegories on the
theme of love, with cupids restraining a lion and chastising a satyr, symbolising the
restraint of the passions, perhaps, and reflecting a degree of learning and sophisti-
cation in their owner.??” Villaroel also owned a number of mythological subjects
painted as landscapes with small figures, which were said to be originals of Pedro
Niiiiez. He owned a view of Madrid by Niifiez and a townscape of Rome, where the
artist had lived. Villaroel appears to have enjoyed landscape painting, since his collec-
tion included a Pedro Orrente, a scene of classical ruins by Paul Bril, and other Flem-
ish landscapes. Villaroel’s other attributed pictures were fruit still lifes by Juan van der
Hamen, some of which depicted silverware, a copy of a St. Francis by El Greco, and a
copy after Titian of a painting of the Virgin.

The biographies of Diaz del Valle and Palomino make clear that many Madrid
artists depended on sales to private collectors for their livelihoods. These were artists
whose works were to be found in ““casas particulares” rather than in public places.??®
The range of attributions contained in inventories included in this volume prove the
importance of the private market for artists active at court. The artists named in the
above documents include some of the most distinguished and famous of the “Golden
Age”. Some documents, furthermore, list pictures attributed to artists who were
clearly well known to contemporaries in their day, but whose fame has sometimes
dimmed to complete obscurity today. Works by one Don Gaspar de Chiriboga were
recognised in the Soria Arteaga collection in 1644. And who was the Francisco de
Pedraza whose works are mentioned in the collection of Don Juan de Castaneda (Doc.
119, nos. 5, 27, 44) and even so distingushed a collection as that of the Marqués del
Carpio?3?° In 1669 Don Juan de Torres y Barrantes, a familiar of the Inquisition, drew

327. Two paintings with cupids in landscapes, in one scene bullfighting, have been attributed to Juan Sanchez
Cotén (E. Orozco Diaz, El pintor Fray Juan Sdnchez Cotdn, Granada 1993, pp. 308-309, nos. 8-9) and José
Antolinez (Angulo 1957, p. 43, no. 48). For an anonymous Madrid school painting of Cupids playing, see
Loépez Torrijos 1985, fig. 169.

328. Diaz del Valle (ed. 1933, pp. 373, 386) mentions Francisco Caro and Manuel de Molina in this way. Palo-
mino cites the works of the following painters in many casas particulares: Pedro de las Cuevas, Antonio de
Contreras, Francisco Varela, Pedro de Obregdn, Bartolomé Romadn, Angelo Nardi, Don Francisco de Caro,
Sebastidn Martinez, José de Ledesma, Andrés de Vargas, Francisco de Palacios, Francisco Solis, and Antonio
de Castrejon.

329. Paintings of the Virgin and St. Jerome by Pedraza were also inventoried among the paintings of Juana
Morano, wife of Cristobal de Alfaro in 1684 (AHPM, Prot. 8.134, unfoliated; Getty Provenance Index No. E-
243).
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up a detailed inventory of goods on the death of his wife, Catalina de Alvarado (Doc.
84). It cited works by different hands, and even discriminated between the contribu-
tions of artists in collaborative pictures, in the case, for instance, of a garland painted
by Juan de Arellano containing a Virgin and Sleeping Child by Mateo Cerezo. While
Torres y Barrantes boasted works by the best-known Spanish artists, for instance El
Greco, Zurbardn, and Eugenio Caxés, he also owned pictures by Juan de Toledo, San-
tiago (?7) Mordn, and the Valencian artist Pedro Garcia Ferrer (1583 -1660), as well as
by Diego Gonzdlez de Vega (ca. 1628—1697), a pupil of Francisco Rizi.

In 1665 Tomds Sanchez drew up an inventory of his estate on the death of his
wife Ana Maria de Pefiaranda (Doc. 76). The paintings were valued by Francisco
Gutiérrez Cavello, a popular painter of “perspectives” praised by Dfaz del Valle, and
included two of his own works, the Marriage of the Virgin and the Meeting of Solo-
mon and the Queen of Sheba, which were the most highly valued works in the collec-
tion. The collection included six religious subjects by Escalante, one of which was a
Virgin with a Sleeping Christ Child, a version of which Palomino mentioned in the
house of an unnamed aficionado. However, the collection also included a large num-
ber of works by two painters whose works are unknown today. The obscure artist Juan
Bautista de la Cotera appears to have been a respected member of the artistic commu-
nity at court; he was represented by six religious paintings and seven “perspectives”
and battles.?*® Manuel de Molina was represented by no fewer than 17 religious sub-
jects. Diaz del Valle knew this artist, who was from Burgos and seventy years old in
1658, and noted that he was a prolific painter whose works were to be found in private
houses in Madrid.>*' Molina would appear to have typified the host of minor artists
active at court who must have relied totally on the patronage of private collectors and
the open market for their livelihood. While the inventory reproduced here testifies to
the degree of popularity his works enjoyed among collectors in his lifetime, by the
time Palomino came to write his biographies of Spanish artists, Molina’s reputation
had sunk into obscurity.33?

Painter-Appraisers

In 1652 Veldzquez was made Aposentador and took an active role in the display of
pictures in the royal collection in the Hall of Mirrors of the Madrid Alcazar, and was
responsible for the framing and the hanging of major religious paintings by Italian old
masters in the sacristy of the Escorial. By the 1630s Velazquez was already reputed to
be “a man of great judgement,” who became the foremost artist-connoisseur in Spain
and who was sent to Italy in 1649 to buy art and antiquities for the king.?*} Veldzquez
and Angelo Nardi, an aged Italian royal painter who was a favourite of the king,
assessed old master pictures bought from the English royal collection as they arrived
in Madrid, taking care to atlow only originals to reach royal eyes.?** Thus Raphael’s

330. Cotera was one of the supporters of Carducho’s lawsuit against the alcabala sales tax, found in his favour
in 1633. See Gallego 1977, pp. 146147,

331. Diaz del Valle, ed. 1933, p. 373.

332. Palomino, ed. 1986, pp. 259~260, includes one Fray Manuel de Molina, who is a different artist.

333. Harris, JWCL, 30, 1967, 414-419.

334. Harris, “Veldzquez as Connoisseur,” The Burlington Magazine, 124, 1982, pp. 436-440. See also AL.
Loomie, “New Light on the Spanish Ambassador’s Purchases from Charles I's Collection, 1649~1653, IWCI,
52 (1989), pp. 257-267. The paintings were bought by the Spanish ambassador in London, Alonso de Cérde-
nas. The precedent of Philip II was important in this respect, since he had only hung original paintings at the
Escorial. Diego de Niseno (£l Fénix de la Grecia, Madrid 1643, p. 83) claimed “El Salomén catdlico, Felipe
11, no quiso admitir en aquella su éctava maravilla del mundo un cuadro como para el gusto de tal rey, tal
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Holy Family (Fig. 11), reputed to be one of the greatest pictures in the world, was
imported into Spain, and became the “pearl” of Philip’s collection and the famed cen-
trepiece of Veldzquez’s 1656 hang of some of Philip’s finest religious paintings in the
Escorial sacristy. Tintoretto’s Washing of the Feet (Fig. 12) was “a great original”
according to Veldzquez and Nardi. In a curious lapse of attention on the part of these
artists, Correggio’s Education of Cupid (Fig. 5) was not deemed good enough and was
taken by the prime minister Don Luis de Haro, who magnanimously declared that he
would hang it in his own gallery and pretend it was an original!333

Royal painters were themselves numbered among the most respected connois-
seurs of their day. Diaz del Valle owned a certificate of authenticity written by Rubens
in 1635, concerning an original painting by Lucas Craen in the collection of Thomas
Camayori, and which, Rubens wrote, was so well preserved “as if it had just left the
hands of the artist” and of such value that it could be presented to the king.>*¢ The
opinion of Angelo Nardi was sought by the Florentine ambassador over the affair of
Cigoli’s Ecce Homo, discussed above, who also said the painter had advised “many
gentlemen” with regard to their paintings. In 1627, the competition for a painting of
the Expulsion of the Moors, won by Veldzquez, was judged by two other Italians: the
Roman aristocrat and amateur Juan Bautista Crescenzi, Marqués de 1a Torre, and the
Dominican painter and drawing master to the king, Juan Bautista Mayno, who “both
had a great understanding of painting” according to Pacheco.?37 Later, Mayno infor-
mally expressed his opinion on the work of another court painter, and said that Alonso
Cano’s Miracle of St. Isidore at the Well (1646—48) (Museo del Prado, Madrid,
Fig. 13) was one of the best pictures he had ever seen.33® Veldzquez is said to have
expressed great admiration for Diego Polo’s Fall of Manna (Fig. 6), perhaps lending
his seal of approval to this young artist’s neo-Venetian painting style.?*° The visiting
Italian frescoist Angelo Michele Colonna told Philip IV that Juan Carrefio de Miranda
was the best painter at court on the strength of his frescoes in the Colegio de Atocha.*

While there are only very scant notices of the informed opinions of painters on
the works of their colleagues, artists were employed in the traditional role of expert
(perito) in the valuation of works of art. In Seville and Toledo, the commissioning
bodies of altarpieces set the artists’ final fee after completion of the work, according
to an appraisal (tasacidn) by third parties, consisting of one or more professional art-
ists. El Greco’s litigations with his corporate patrons over remuneration for his art
exposed the ideological and practical shortcomings inherent in this system, which
was weighted in favour of patrons.’*! At court, it was normal for painters in the royal

fébrica: porque preguntando si era original, y respondiéndole que no, replic ¢l prudente monarcha: Pues para
qué 1o han traido? Y pagando el trabajo del pintor se lo hizo volver a su casa, juzgando, como tan avisado y
discreto que el imitar, el trasladar y ¢l copiar no es mucho de estimar ni agradecer”. Quoted in Mordn Turina,
“Felipe IV, Veldzquez y las Antigiiedades,” Academia, 1992, p. 257, note 65.

335. Harris 1982, p. 436, quoting Haro’s fragmentary despatch to Cardenas of 17 December 1654. Haro speaks
of his “disgusto™ on finding that some of the paintings were not originals and thus not suitable for the king's
quarters, although he was convinced that the painters in England knew better than their Spanish counterparts in
the matter of the authenticity of Correggio’s Education of Cupid. In order to ameliorate this, *“se colgardn el el
mio con la buena fe en que se deben tener segun el conocim. © que ticnen de cllas los pintores de alld ... y los
tendré por originales.”

336. Diaz del Valle, ed. 1933, p. 352,

337. Pacheco, ed. 1990, p. 206.

338. Diaz del Valle, ed. 1933, p. 389.

339. Ibid, p. 343.

340. Palomino, ed. 1986, p. 288.

34}, Kagan 1982. Palomino (ed. 1986, p. 95) cites the unusual case of an altarpiece by Juan de Roelas of the
Martyrdom of St. Andrew, patron of the Flemish community, which was said to have been sent to Flanders for a
fair appraisal.
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employ to value one another’s work when necessary; thus Pedro Niifiez set the price
for Caxés’ Agamemnon and Chryses for the Alcdzar’s New Room.*? Carducho’s
Scipio Africanus Addressing the Romans, commissioned for the same room, was
appraised posthumously by Felix Castelo (representing Carducho’s heirs) and Velaz-
quez (on behalf of the king).** In most cases the criteria on which such appraisals
were based are unknown. However, Juan Bautista Mayno’s notarised appraisal of the
fresco painting of Vicencio Carducho and Eugenio Caxés in the sacristy of Toledo
Cathedral in 1615 is unusual in its detail and gives a good idea of the features of the
painting that his valuation took into account.’*4

It is difficult to assess the degree of artists’ involvement with the collecting
activities of private collectors. Bartolomé Carducho appears to have acted almost in
a curatorial capacity with regard to the collection of the Duque de Lerma, importing
Iralian pictures for his patron, repairing paintings, and drawing up an inventory-
appraisal of the entire collection in 1603.3% It was usual for artists attached to a col-
lector’s household to undertake a wide range of painting tasks, including decorative
work; the Almirante de Castilla employed Juan de Alfaro, for instance, as portraitist
and restorer.**¢ Just as Veldzquez and Angelo Nardi were called on to assess the qual-
ity and originality of paintings destined for the royal collection, private collectors
sometimes solicited the informed opinions of prominent painters. The Conde-Duque
de Olivares, heir of Philip IV’s famous privado, commissioned Francisco de Herrera
the younger to choose the best paintings from an estate auction.*’ José Antolinez
made a painting of Doubting Thomas in vindication of his opinion against that of other
painters regarding the originality of an unspecified Spanish painting in the Almirante
de Castilla’s collection.>#®

Apart from painting itself, the single most important activity of artists at court
as documented in notarial archives is their appraisal of paintings for estate sales (almo-
nedas) and estate partitions (particiones).**° In such documents, the paintings were
separated from the estate for valuation by an expert who was himself involved in the
profession, just as the silverware was valued by silversmiths, furniture by cabinet-
makers, books by booksellers, and clothing by tailors.?>® Poorer-quality paintings
were sometimes appraised by picture dealers (tratantes en pinturas). And occasion-
ally amateurs (e.g., a notary, a priest, and a royal functionary) undertook such valua-

342. Angulo liiguez and Pérez Sanchez 1969, p. 329.

343. Orso 1986, pp. 49—50. The valuations of the paintings of Philip JII's renovated Pardo palace were particu-
larly fraught. Difficulties could begin with the choice of appraiser; one of these was Licenciado Juan de Roelas,
but Vicencio Carducho protested at the low valuations given to his frescoes by another northern artist, Pedro
Horfelin de Poultiers, saying, with just cause, “‘es ordinario pintor y de ningtin nombre y experiencia”. Martin
Gonzalez 1958, pp. 132, 136.

344. See F. Marias, *‘Nuevos documentos de pintura toledana de la primera mitad del siglo XVIIL,”" Archivo
Espariol de Arte, 204 (1978), pp. 423424, who points out that Mayno’s criteria are difficulty of execution, artful
composition, rich use of gold, fresh colouring and care, discretion, good taste, greatness, majesty, and authority.
345. Schroth 1990, pp. 22-36.

346. Palomino, ed. 1986, p. 263.

347. 1bid., p. 282.

348. Ibid., p. 244.

349. A wide selection of such documents is included in the published archival research of Mercedes Agullé y
Cobo.

350. In Madrid, painters usually included in their valuations picture frames, prints and works on paper, screens,
works of art and furnishings from oratorics, and exotica. Since painters in Spain gilded and polychromed wood
sculptures, these were also normally included in their valuations and the names of their authors sometimes
given. In Seville, a more strict division of areas of expertise existed, and sculptors usually valued picture frames
and works of sculpture. This was less common in appraisals at court. For example, see the collection of Pedro
van Vucht (Doc. 34}, in which a cabinetmaker, Abraham Lers, valued the picture frames; also the valuation of
the collection of the Condesa de Oiiate in 1685 (Doc. 112), in which the frames were again valued separately.
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tions.*! In most cases, paintings were inventoried in the same way as other items of
furniture and generally given no more attention than these. Indeed, paintings in these
documents are often described in less detail than other moveable goods, such as pre-
cious objects, clothing, and books. While the literal physical descriptions of paintings
usually comprised size, support, frame, medium, and subject matter, their authorship
was a rare discretional refinement to the normal formula.

Postmortem estate inventories had to take place within thirty days of the death of
the individual in question. Paintings, like other furnishings from the estate were item-
ised and identified goods for legal reasons; these documents did not function as artistic
records. In the same way, notarised estate appratsals (tasaciones) served a purely utili-
tarian purpose. Goods from the estate of a deceased individual were valued for their
division (particion) among relatives and prior to their sale (almoneda) in order to fund
the bequests and masses itemised in the last will and testament. Painter-appraisers
were nominated by the executors of the estate and swore on the sign of the cross that
they were disinterested parties who would value items fairly, according to their knowl-
edge and understanding (“saber y entender’). Like other appraisers, painters were
required to establish the “fair price” (justo precio) of items to be sold in a public
estate sale.’? This meant setting the mean value (el mediano) of the painting, which
could be sold for no less than half this value (el mds bajo) and no more than one-and-
a-half times the same (el mds alto). Thus, a painting valued at 100 reales could be
sold within the range of 50— 150 reales ; if it were sold for less than 50 reales, the
vendor could legally demand restitution, and if it were sold for more than 150 reales,
the same legal recourse was available to the buyer. In a number of cases, the values
assigned to the paintings were considered too high for auction and sometimes pictures
simply did not sell, which necessitated lowering their reserve values by a notarised
document of reappraisal - normally, but not always, undertaken by a different artist.’>
No document of this kind is known that raised the values of paintings intended for
public auction. During times of acute currency fluctuation in the later seventeenth cen-
tury, the appraised values of paintings could be reduced by one-third, and even one-
half, to ensure their sale at auction.?%*

351. In 1640, the small number of paintings of Bernarda de Paz del Rio were valued by the royal notary Juan
Bautista de Ulpite, described in the document as “escrivano de su mag.? y de su infanterfa en espafia personna
practica ¢ yntelijente en el conogimiento de la pintura” (AHPM, Prot. 5.758, {f. 65-86). In 1646, the paintings
of D. Pedro Ordonez, a knight of the Order of Santiago and member of the royal Consejo de Ordenes, were
valued by Matheo de Pino, “Clerigo presbitcro ombre piritu en el arte de pinturas’ (AHPM, Prot. 6.010, ff.
927v~928), and in 1629 the pictures of D. Juan Matienzo de Peralta were appraised by Simdn de Alcdntara,
“criado de su mag.¢ ... ques persona que sabc y entiende del dho arte” (AHPM, Prot. 2.682, ff. 1058~ 1065).
In 1651, the paintings of Joseph de Trujillo, royal accountant, were appraised by Roque Antonio de Palacios,
“perssona que entiende de pinturas” (AHPM, Prot. 7.140, ff. 812-812v). None of the above individuals was
described as a professional painter.

352. This account of the justo precio in estate sales is from Francisco Garcfa, Tratado utilisimo y muy general
de todos los contractos, quantos en los negocios humanos se suelen ofrecer, Valencia 1583, pp. 572-585, "De
la venta que se haze en almoneda,” esp. pp. 574-578. See also Tomds de Mercado, Suma de Tratos y Contra-
tos, 1569; ed. Seville 1587, pp. 63v—-68v.

353. For example, on 5 January 1685, Juan de Vega valued the paintings of Josefa Lozano de Arroyo, deceased
widow of Benito de Tapia. The first painting listed was a large Nativity, attributed to Angelo Nardi in the inven-
tory, but which Vega thought was painted by Ribera and consequently valued at 200 ducats (2,200 reales). The
second picture valued was an Immaculate Conception, also thought to be by Ribera and consequently worth
1,100 reales. In a revaluation of the paintings by another artist, Francisco Lopano, on 18 May 1688, the values
of almost all of the paintings in the collection were lowered, the first painting drastically reduced to a more
realistic 800 reales and the second to 600 reales. In this case, both Vega’s connoisseurship and his knowledge
of the market appear to have been faulty. AHPM, Prot. 8.109, unfoliated.

354. See, for example, the collection of Luis de Zabalza (Doc. 97), which was valued in 1678 by Andrés Smidt,
with the condition that the values could be reduced by a third, and cven a half, if they were to fail to sell at
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Painters’ appraisals normally followed the order and even the wording of the
inventory written by the same notary’s hand. They are usually as inscrutable as these
documents regarding attributions, even when they were written in the artist’s own
hand.?> Some documents listed the paintings collection in order of subject matter,
although this seems to have been a practice more common in the first half of the sev-
enteenth century than in the latter part of the century. Thus, religious paintings, images
from oratories, profane works, and portraits could be listed separately.’*® Generally
speaking, the artist-appraiser, accompanied by a notary, toured the collection while the
paintings were still on the wall, and, as noted above, some documents mentioned the
different rooms in which these were found (e.g., Comte de Solre, Doc. 24). While still
in situ, many paintings may have been difficult to see. It was probably more common
that paintings were taken down from the wall and the artist-appraiser was shown indi-
vidual works in succession.?*”7 Although some artists appear to have made a specialty
of this activity, they appear to have been paid relatively little, their fees reflecting the
number of paintings valued and the length of time taken in appraising them.*® Palo-

auction: “considerando el poco valor y estimacion que al press. ' se hace de la Pintura aunque le tiene dado

su Valor yntrinsico le parege que en cada Una de las Pinturas se puede perder el tercio y en caso necesario

y no haviendo persona que las compre perdiendo ¢l tercio es de parecer se de perdiendo la mitad por hacerse
tampoca estimazion de la Pintura y pasarse tan mal.” In Antonio de Pereda’s reappraisal of the values of the
paintings of the Conde de Molina originally set by Francisco de Herrera and Andrés Smidt, in most cases

he reduced them by a third to ensure their sale (Doc. 93). In 1683, the collection of Don Francisco de

Altamira Angulo was appraised by Francisco Rizi, and the paintings’ sale prices were reduced by a third
because of currency shortages. (AHPM, Prot. 9.868, ff. 312322, 2 August 1683, with the salc beginning

on 27 September 1683, ff. 330-382). See also the discussion of the dowry of Pedro de Arce’s second wife
(Doc. 82).

355. In June 1632, for instance, the painter Francisco Barrera, who undertook many cstate appraisals through-
out his long career, wrote in his own hand his valuation of the paintings and single sculpture of Doctor Pedro
de Barcena Carrasa. This document, which follows the conventional format for appraisals, was notarised and
bound into the protocol with the other papers pertaining to Carrasa’s estate. AHPM, Prot. 4.469, ff. 903-903v.
356. The Duke of Lerma’s inventory of 1603 was divided between religious subjects and “Retratos y pinturas
a lo humano,” comprising portraits, mythologies, and sceular works. (Schroth 1990, p. 27). Examples repro-
duced here include the collections of Gil Ramirez de Arellano (Doc. 3), the Marqués de Montesclaros (Doc.
13), and Gaspar de Borja (Doc. 42). In 1641, the paintings collection of Don Pedro Marmolejo Ponce de Ledn
was inventoried in two sections; religious images and “pinturas profanas,” mostly portraits. In 1644, the inven-
tory of the collection of the Conde de Ofate was divided up between “retratos,”
mythologies, and “ldminas,” all of which were religious subjects.

357. Two artists, Francisco de Zurbardn and Francisco Rizi, valued the paintings of the notary Francisco Fre-
chel in 1664, and “hicieron la tasacion de las Pinturas q les fue mostradas”. The fact that the names of the
rooms arce entered in the margin of the document suggests that these painters were taken through the house and
shown works that were still hanging on walls. AHPM, Prot. 8.231, ff. 171—174v, 28 February 1664 (Cascales y
Murioz 1911). In the case of the collection of Don Francisco de Prado Bravo de Mendoza (valuation, Doc. 48),
the paintings were inventoried hanging on the wall, while others were listed as brought down and leaning
against the wall. In a typical example, the painter Alonso del Arco valued the paintings of the regidor Don Juan
Diaz de la Mora by being shown the paintings (“pinturas que le fueren mostradas tocantes a su oficio™) and
examining them in great detail (“aviendolas visto mui por menor Con todo ciudado las taso en las candidades
siguicntes”). AHPM, Prot. 11.434, ff. 56-58v, 4 June 1672.

358. The following sample gives some idea of the fees to painters for appraisals, which were in linc with the
remuneration of other experts in estate valuations. In 1609, Alonso del Moral reccived 6 reales for valuing the
paintings collection and oratory furnishings of Don Francisco de Velasco, Gentilhombre de boca de Su Majes-
tad (AHPM, Prot. 2.284, ff. 699-701). In 1635 Francisco de Burgos Mantilla received 6 reales for valuing the
small collection of paintings of the contador Domingo Garan de Allande (AHPM, Prot. 6.612, ff. 167v— 168,
237v), but only one real for appraising the paintings of Luisa Tenorio in 1650 (AHPM, Prot. 4.499, ff. 168 -
169). In 1636 Jerénimo Marquez received 8 reales for appraising a small number of undistinguished religious
paintings of a baker, Francisco Pérez (AHPM, Prot. 5.963, ff. 131133, 224). In 1638, Domingo Guerra Coro-
nel received 12 reales for his valuation of the paintings of Don Teofilo Faustino (AHPM, Prot. 6.196, ff. 941~
942), and in 1650 he again received 12 reales for valuing a collection (Agulld y Cobo 1981, p. 100). One Isidro
de Castillo y Aguilar received 36 reales for valuing the collection of Doctor Juan de Villaroel on the death of
his wife in 1656 (AHPM, Prot. 7.843, ff. 1169-1170v) and in 1660, Bartolomé Sanz received 50 reales for his

pinturas dc historias,” mostly
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mino recounts the story of Carrefio de Miranda and Herrera the Elder acting as joint
appraisers of an altarpiece for Alcala de Henares for which they received only verbal
thanks and no fee at all.*°

Painters’ appraisals do not give the criteria by which individual paintings were
judged, nor the opinions of the artists concerned. The appraised values of pictures
listed in inventories, as well as fluctuations in these throughout the period, may be
linked to the authorship of paintings and taste for these.** In a number of cases,
painter-appraisers valued their own works most highly of all, as in the case of Fran-
cisco Gutiérrez’s appraisal of the collection of Ana Maria de Pefiaranda in 1665
(Doc. 76).%¢' In some documents, an inflated attribution is belied by the low valuation
assigned to the work in the appraisal. Documents occasionally refer to the aesthetic
quality and physical condition of pictures in the most general manner, “de buena
mano,
twelve flowerpieces in the collection of Diego de Angulo in 1640, the appraisers,

LIS

pintura ordinaria” or “maltratado,” for instance.?? In the case of a set of

Alonso Cano and Andrés Lépez Polanco, frankly thought they were “mala pintura,”
valuing the works at only five reales each (Doc. 29). Exceptions to such formulaic
responses, however, sometimes occur when the collector himself was involved in
drawing up the document. When the canon of Granada cathedral, Doctor Juan de
Matute, drew up the inventory of his paintings collection in 1628 (Doc. 14), his pride
in their quality and his own good taste is communicated across the centuries. He
enthuses about his pictures (“‘muy alta pintura,” “extraordinaria pintura,” “valiente
mano,” “gran pintor”’) and boasts about the amounts he paid for these and the fact that
other collectors had offered to buy them from him. In some cases where the collector
oversaw the inventory of his own collection, the number of attributed works listed is
high; examples include the collection of Domingo de Soria Arteaga (Doc. 40), Andrés
de Villaroel (Doc. 62), and Nicolds de Omazur in Seville.’¢? Don Miguel de Sala-
manca supervised his wife’s postmortem inventory in 1655 (Doc. 63) that included
paintings attributed to Flemish hands; these were dropped from his postmortem inven-
tory of 1658, and their authorship probably went unrecognised by his heirs and execu-
tors.>® The case of Don Vincenio Juan de Lastanosa, who wrote two descriptions of
the furnishings and collections in his own house at Huesca in 1634 and 1662, appears
to be unique for the period in Spain.3%°

Occasionally, inventories specify that paintings were signed, and sometimes pic-
tures were labelled with the names of famous artists.**® In some cases, the attributions

[T

appraisal of the large collection of pantings of Don Ramiro de Quifiones (AHPM, Prot. 6.689, ff. 11081111,
1169). The highest fee known to this author is Francisco Barrera’s fee of 142 reales received for his appraisal of
the large collection of the Condesa-Duquesa de Olivares in 1648. AHPM, Prot. 6.239, {. 534. For equivalent
fees paid to painter-appraisers in Murcia, see Agiiero Ros 1994, p. 76.

359. Palomino, ed. 1986, pp. 286-287.

360. There has not been any analytical study of the prices of works of art in seventeenth-century Spain.

361. A famous case is Veldzquez’s appraisal of the collection of Don Juan de Fonseca in 1627, in which his
own Waterseller (Apsley House, London) was Jisted along with the artist’s name and the most highly valued
work. Lopez Navio 1961.

362. See Schroth 1990, p. 61, for qualitative comments (such as “bueno,
inventory of the collection of the Duque de Lerma at Valladolid in 1607.
363. D. Kinkead, “The picture collection of Don Nicolds Omazur,” The Burlington Magazine, no. 995, 128
(1986), pp. 132~ 144,

364. AHPM, Prot. 7.151, unfoliated; Getty Provenance Index No. E-599.

365. Sdnchez Cantén 1941, pp. 294-297.

366. In the spectacular collection of the Marqués de Leganés, one painting of a Holy Family had “el Correg-
gio” written in gold on it. Lépez Navio 1962, p. 316, no. 1021. For examples of signed paintings in inventories
reproduced here, see paintings signed by Bassano in the collection of Diego de Angulo in 1640 (Doc. 29, nos. §

razonable,” and “malo”) in the
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to paintings in inventories and valuations were changed; thus, for instance, the painter
Mateo Gallardo attributed a painting to Vicencio Carducho in the collection of Fer-
nando de Tinoco in 1652 and subsequently changed this to Angelo Nardi (Doc. 54,

no. 4). While the authorship of paintings would be reasonably expected to affect their
evaluation, attributions were not a requirement of inventories or appraisals and are
assigned extremely inconsistently to paintings in these documents. In the case of the
modest collection of Juan Moreno, wife of the goldsmith Cristobal de Alfaro, the
appraisal was headed by a painting of the Adoration of the Kings by Pedro Niifiez and
a St. Joseph from the school of Andrea Vaccaro, which were also the two most highly
valued paintings in the document. Other highly valued paintings in the same document
were not attributed, however, while works by Escalante and one Francisco de Pedraza
were recognised by the painter-appraiser, one Diego de Salazar.>®” In the case of the
collection of Luis de Zabalza in 1678 (Doc. 97), his postmortem inventory listed many
attributed paintings, while the appraisal by the painter Andrés Smidt did not contain
any. Francisco de Herrera’s valuation of the paintings in the collection of Juan Bautista
Zavala in 1682 (Doc. 108) not only omitted mentioning their authors but, in some
cases, did not even specify their subject matter.>5® Collections appraised by two paint-
ers did not necessarily result in an increased number of attributed works, and, in the
case of the collection of Don Francisco Prado Bravo de Mendoza, for instance, some
of the entries in the valuation are extremely cursory (Doc. 48).3% Indeed, a tendency
to specify authorship appears to have borne no relation to the quality of the collection,
the importance of the owner, or the expertise of the artist, as is shown by inventories
and appraisals of great collections such as those of the Duc d’ Aarschot (Docs. 30 and
31), the Duques del Infantado (Docs. 1, 9, and 10) and the Almirantes de Castilla
(Docs. 18,43, 74, and 117).

Generally speaking, however, in our sample of documents the incidence of attrib-
uted paintings increases in inventories and valuations from the second half of the sev-
enteenth century, and appears to reach a peak in the third quarter of the century.?”°
Given the interest in paintings that distinguished Philip I'V and his reign, this broad
tendency may reflect a greater diffusion of connoisseurship by this time. And although
estate appraisals did always require connoisseurship, often artist-valuers did note attri-
butions. Vicencio Carducho attributed paintings to Italian artists in his valuation of
the collection of Doctor Alonso Cortés in 1632, although the paintings were anony-
mous in the inventory, and assigned high values to the pictures perhaps to reflect the
high status of the art of painting in his eyes (Doc. 17). While no attributed paintings
were listed in the inventories of Eugenio Caxés’s daughter Margarita in 1657 and
D. Antonio Carnero in 1662 (Doc. 72), the respective appraisals by José Antolinez and
Francisco de Burgos Mantilla identified a number of their hands.?”! In the case of the

and 7), and flowerpieces signed by Juan de Arellano in the cotlection of Catalina de Alvarado in 1669 (Doc. 84,
no. 96) and the collection of Francisco Gonzalez de la Hoz in 1671 (Doc. 88, no. 9).

367. AHPM, Prot. 8.143. unfohated, 12 January 1685.

368. In the case of a painting depicting a woman with an arrow and a half moon on her head, for instance, her
probable identity as the goddess Diana was not mentioned (Doc. 108, no. 2).

369. For example, see Cherry 1991, pp. 113114, for the remarkably uninformative joint appraisal of the col-
lection of Don Andrés de Losada y Prada in 1625 by Veldzquez and Francisco Pacheco.

370. In the Spanish inventories included in the Getty Provenance Index database, 8 percent of pictures invento-
ried between 1600— 1625 are attributed, 15 percent between 1626— 1650, 19 percent between 16511675, and
35 percent between 1676~ 1700. Three Carpio inventories (Docs. 109, 114, and 115) fall into the last time
period and make up 80 percent of the number of attributed pictures.

371. Margarita Caxesi Giliogis, AHPM, Prot. 6.056, unfoliated; Getty Provenance Index No. E-166.

Margarita Caxés’s inventory was drawn up by her husband, beginning in Madrid, 13 June 1657, and included a
number of mythological subjects, discussed below.
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small collection of Diego Pérez Dévila, Abbot of Santa Maria de Astorga in 1638, the
fact that Angelo Nardi did not repeat the attribution of paintings to El Greco estab-
lished in the inventory might imply his disagreement with these claims (Doc. 25).
Antonio de Pereda made a number of significant attributions in his valuation of the
important collection of the Conde de Monterrey in 1653, although he did not repeat
this exercise in his valuation of the pictures on the death of the Duquesa de Monterrey
in 1655 (Doc. 61).

Juan Carrefio de Miranda and Antonio Palomino are distinguished among all
other painter-appraisers in Madrid for most consistently exercising their considerable
connoisseurship in the attribution of pictures for estate valuations, assigning works to
native and foreign artists alike, sometimes specifying the different hands in collabora-
tive works, and distinguishing originals from copies.?”? Significant examples include
Carrefio de Miranda’s appraisal of the collection of Catalina Velasco de Villarin in
1666 (Doc. 81) and Palomino’s valuation of the paintings of Andrés Villaran in 1683
(Doc. 110). While the paintings owned by Don Juan de Castafieda were listed anony-
mously in his postmortem inventory, Palomino’s appraisal of the 70 paintings in 1694
attributed over half of these (39 paintings) and acknowledged 21 different hands
(Doc. 119). These painters’ real interest in painting took their appraisals of collections
beyond the utility of establishing the precio justo of pictures for public sale. They
seem to have gone out of their way to ensure that the documents are detailed records of
the contents of Madrid collections whose dispersal by auction was imminent, and they
remain as testimonies to the taste of collectors who could be numbered among the true
friends of Painting. It is not surprising then that in 1724, Palomino vehemently sup-
ported a move by the Consejo de Castilla to nominate official appraisers of paintings
in private collection. He suggested that these be selected from the among the corps of
royal painters, to which he himself belonged, and was duly nominated for such an
office.?”?

Antonio Palomino himself owned a collection of pictures and drawings by other
artists, and in his Lives of the Artists occasionally refers to works in his own possession.
Unfortunately, no inventory has been found for the artist. On the death of his wife Cata-
lina Pérez, Palomino ordered an inventory and valuation of their estate to be drawn up.*7*
However, this was not undertaken. On Palomino’s death, his children, Francisco, Isi-
doro, and Rafaela Palomino, ordered that an inventory, valuation, and partition of the

372. For a number of valuations by Carrefio de Miranda, sec Barrio Moya 1985.

373. See J. Simén Diaz, “Palomino y otros tasadores oficiales de pinturas,” Archivo Espariol de Arte, XX
(1947), pp. 121128, citing a document from AHN, Consejos leg. 4.000/ 12. In this document, the fiscal of the
Consejo drew attention to the practice of painters appraising at low values the best works from private collec-
tions, “sin préctica, ni inteligencia y sin conocimiento de sus autores,” in order to buy them cheaply and export
them, while at the same time inflating the values of low-quality works. It was proposed, therefore, to nominate
one or two “pintores inteligentes en el Arte y de conocida experiencia, que con inteligencia de los Autores de
las Pinturas, su calidad y vondad, las tasen y aprecian,” and that they alone should appraise private collections
for public sale. The royal painter and architect Teodoro Ardemans concurred with this proposal, stating that
appraisers valued many originals as copies, and vice versa, and blamed the Genoese in particular for exporting
“las mas cldsicas” works from Spain for over thirty years. Palomino suggested that the official appraisers be
chosen from among royal painters “respecto de que estos tienen ya la califacién de su ynteligencia en el arte
por el titulo que obtienen del Rey™. On 16 May 1724, Palomino and Don Juan de Miranda were nominated as
official appraisers of paintings by the Consejo de Castilla. However, Jerénino Ezquerra and other painters in
Madrid protested against this monopoly, which directly infringed upon their expertise (““sciencia y havilidad™)
and practice as appraisers of collections. They also argued against reducing the number of appraisers to only
two, in the light of the diversity and subjectivity of opinions on art (*"por vinicndo todo esto de ser esta arte sin
nidmero, peso, ni medida, por donde se puede estimar, apreciar, quadrar, cubicar, ni ajustar su valor por ser
interminable su conocimiento’) and since this also denied the traditional freedom of all patnters practicing at
court to value paintings.

374. AHPM, Prot.15,557, unfoliated, Madrid, 9 April 1725.
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estate be undertaken, but this too appears not to have taken place.*”> However, inven-
tories are known of the paintings in the possessions of Palomino’s son, Francisco, and
his son-in-law, Sebastian de Arze. Sebastian de Arze was the husband of Palomino’s
daughter Rafaela, and on his death drew up an inventory and valuation of their estate,
beginning on 17 May, 1725.37 Among their pictures were portraits of Sebastian de
Arze and Rafaela Palomino painted by Antonio Palomino. Indeed, most of the attrib-
uted pictures in the document were painted by Palomino, comprising religious subjects
as well as eleven landscapes by the artist.?”7 It is unclear whether the copies of paint-
ings by Palomino were by the artist himself.*’® However, there was also a copy of Van
Dyck’s painting of St. Rosalia, and in the valuation there was listed a painting of the
Samaritan Woman by Raphael copied by Claudio Coello, although this entry was
crossed out in the document. Other paintings attributed in the document were a small
landscape by Pedro Cotto, a flowerpiece by Gabriel de 1a Corte, and two circular
Dutch marine paintings.’”°

Francisco Palomino was a painter, trained in the art of painting by his father,
from whom he had evidently inherited some of the artist’s materials and paintings
listed in his postmortem inventory drawn up by his widow, Maria Felipa del Corral.*#°
There were, for instance, 40 packets with 20 unbound copies each of Antonio Palo-
mino’s El Museo pictérico y escala dptica.’®' A painting of St. Catherine attributed to
“Castillo” in the appraisal, for instance, is likely to refer to the work of Antonio del
Castillo y Saavedra (1616—1668).%2 This painter from Cérdoba is much praised in
Antonio Palomino’s Lives of the Artists, where the author describes what must be the
same painting in Palomino’s own collection as a single figure of the saint, with her
martyrdom in the background.*®! Some of the important paintings in Francisco’s pos-
session were by his father; a series of four paintings of the Life of the Virgin, Flight

375. AHPM, Prot. 15,557, unfoliated, Madrid, 14 August 1726. The heirs said that the inventory of their moth-
er's estate was never taken, but they did not proceed with Palominoe’s inventory because Isidoro was not present.
On 18 August 1726, it was decided to transfer the paperwork from the office of the escribano Manuel Merlo to
that of Bernardo de Castro Rodriguez. It was not possible to locate the documents in the protocolos for the
relevant years of these notaries.

376. AHPM, Prot. 15,557, unfoliated. Rafaela ordered the inventory on 14th May 1725, which began three
days later with the collection of pictures. The following valuation of the estate is undated, with the pictures
appraised first, apparently by Don Pedro de Arze.

377. The religious paintings listed as originals by Antonio Palomino in the document are as follows: Immacu-
late Conception; a pair of the Nativity of Christ and Adoration of the Kings; Tobias and the Angel Raphael; St.
Paul Hermit, Mystic Marriage of St. Catherine; two paintings of the Assumption of the Virgin, Archangel St.
Michael; St. Sebastian; four paintings of the Story of David; the Virgin; a head of St. Anastasio; a pair of §S.
Gertrudis and Theresa.

378. Works described as copies of Palomino were as follows: a pair of paintings of the Child Jesus and St. John
the Baptist; Christ the Saviour, Christ at Calvary before being nailed to the Cross.

379. The collection also included a small wax statuette of Nuestra Sefora de las Mercedes “'de mano de
Callexo.”

380. AHPM, Prot.15.559, fols.1-13v, for Francisco’s inventory, beginning on 22 October, 1726. The valuation
of the estate began with the appraisal of the paintings and studio (Ibid., fols.19-22v), undertaken by Juan Del-
gado, painter and Pintor de los Serenissimos Infantes, on 19 July 1726.

381. AHPM, Prot. 15.559, fols.11-11v, “quarenta paquettes de libros sin enquadernar practica de Pinttores su
Auttor Dn Anttonio Palomino de la primera y segunda Impresion, y cada paquette de los menzionados com-
pone veintte libros.” There were also five bound books of the same and six bronze plates for the prints of the
volume, the other six plates belonging to Francisco’s brother Isidoro Palomino, Abogado de los Reales
Consejos.

382. AHPM, Prot. 15.559, fol.19, “Itt. una santa catalina de dos varas de Alto y vara y tercia de Ancho poco
mas o menos de mano de Castillo con su marco negro de pino y Moldura dorada en quinientos Rs. 500.”

383. Palomino, ed. 1986, p. 213. N. Ayala Mailory (ibid., p. 215, n. 26) identifies the work with one now in the
Warsaw Muscum.
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into Egypt, a painting in black and white of the Agony in the Garden, an Immaculate
Conception, and a black and white painted sketch (borronzitto) of the same subject,
the Virgin of Sorrows, two paintings of St. Theresa, a head of St. Peter, a pair of game
still lifes, a painting of a bunch of lilies, and a landscape. There were also various
studies; a painted academic study of a reclining figure (una figura de academia que
esta echada) and another of a nude figure standing up, a painting of some children,
one of the head of a poor man, and a picture of two turkeys. Most of the paintings
described as sketched in (borrones) were most probably painted by Francisco Palo-
mino himself. The appraisal also listed a painting of St. Bartholomew by a follower
of Ribera, a head of an old man by Francisco de Herrera the Younger, portraits of

an unidentified queen and a marchioness by Carrefio de Miranda, and a painting of
Santiago in black and white by Luca Giordano, which may have come from Antonio
Palomino’s collection. Surely inherited from Palomino’s own collection were a series
of portraits of famous painters, which form a visual counterpart to his Lives of the
Artists and included some of the artists he admired most. The estate documents of
Francisco Palomino, then, listed two portraits of Titian, a portrait of Raphael, and one
of a Ferri another of a half-length portrait of Juan Carrefio de Miranda, one of Luca
Giordano and a half-length portrait of Veldzquez, which was probably a version of the
self-portrait now in the Museo de Valencia.38

The Hanging of Pictures in Private Residences in Madrid

By the time Philip IV ascended the throne, paintings rather than tapestries and leather
hangings were becoming fashionable decoration of homes in Madrid.? It was cus-
tomary for visitors to be shown paintings in private houses; Cassiano dal Pozzo, on his
afternoon visits to Madrid residences in 1626, recorded in his diary his impressions of
some interiors.?86 The decoration of rooms with paintings had come to reflect the
wealth and social standing of private individuals.’®? Paintings were also an essential
consideration in properties rented to more distinguished clients, such as 15 “rretablos
y Pinturas” that the painter Antonio Ricci rented to Jacome de Gracia in 1598, or the
works that the painter Eugenio de las Cuevas rented to Don Agustin Spinola in 1646388

384. The portraits were listed in the following order in the appraisal document: “otro quadro de tres quartas de
Alto.y media vara de Ancho retrato de el Tiziano,” 90 reales; “un quadritto de tres quartas de alto y dos de
Ancho de un retrato de Carifio,” 60 reales; “‘otro quadro de Vara de alto y tres quartas de Ancho de un retrato
de velazquez,” 120 reales; (described as ‘‘de medio cuerpo” in the inventory); “otro quadrito de dos quartas de
Ancho y tres de alto de un retrato de Jordan,” 20 reales; “‘otro quadro de tres quartas de Alto y dos de Ancho
de un retratto de el Tiziano,” 20 reales; **otro quadro de tres quartas de Alto y dos de Ancho retrato de rafacl
de urbina,” 30 reales. The portrait of Ferri was listed in the inventory only; “Un rettratto de Zirus ferri de tres
.quartas de largo y dos de ancho.”

385. Mordn and Checa 1985, p. 234, n.17; Checa 1994, p. 23, for a comment of Ferndndez de Navarrete, who
in 1626 noted the trend for hanging paintings: “for rooms in which hangings are not placed extraordinary
paintings are made, which are valued only for the fame of their authors,” many of which he classed as “dishon-
est”. Palomino (ed. 1988, p. 99), in the Life of Antonio de Mohedano, tells how the artist began by painting
sargas (fabrics painted in distemper, sometimes in imitation of tapestry) and guadamecies (embossed Icather),
which the middle classes (*“gente mediana’) used to hang.

386. Moran Turina 1991 -92, pp. 162164 for the showing of paintings to visitors, based on literary sources.
For Cassiano dal Pozzo on Madrid collections, sce Simén Diaz 1980.

387. Morén Turina 199192, pp. 164—166. Ibid., p. 165, n.31, on paintings as esteemed gifts among private
individuals.

388. The rental of 1598 is mentioned in a document which Ricci drew up in Madrid on 23 June, 1604. AHPM,
Prot. 1.738, ff. 189-190v. For the rental to Spinola, Aguilé y Cobo 1981, p. 64.

SEVENTEENTH-CENTURY SPANISH TASTE 61



62

Pictures were rented to decorate the quarters of the Duca di Modena on his visit to
Madrid in 1638,%%? and paintings were included by the Duque de Pastrana in his rental
of houses to Miguel de Norofia, Conde de Linares in 1641.39° While travellers to the
Spanish capital remarked on the comparative modesty of the exteriors of family pal-
aces, all were dazzled by the richness of their interior decor.’? Despite its unpre-
possessing exterior, the Buen Retiro Palace epitomised this taste for lavish interior
decoration, including large numbers of fine paintings.?*? In his Madrid diary entry

for 26 June 1626, Cassiano dal Pozzo remarked on the modernity of the Princess of
Esquilache’s Madrid house, but the oddity of the lack of hangings in the rooms, the
bare walls relieved only by landscape paintings and still lifes.?*? However, this was
customary in Spain during this time of the year. Many foreign visitors to Spain in the
seventeenth century noted the seasonal Spanish custom of hanging pictures in summer
months and tapestries in winter, owing to the thermal properties of the latter in cold
weather.3%

Spanish seventeenth-century inventories of private residences rarely listed the
different rooms of the house in which the paintings were to be found. Pictures were
inventoried along with other goods and furnishings in a continuous list, or grouped
together and appraised as a separate category, although rarely with any reference to
their physical location in the house. Sometimes pictures were inventoried according to

3 <

their broad subject matter such as “cosas de retrato,” ““pinturas de devocidn,” and “a
lo humano”. In inventories of larger residences the decoration of the oratory chapel
was commonly identified. When the documents specify rooms, their function was only
occasionally defined.*®’ Despite their relative lack of detail regarding the physical
characteristics of the pictorial decoration, notarial inventories suggest that the paint-
ings in Spanish seventeenth-century private houses were often hung very densely, in
marked contrast to the minimalist aesthetic that governs the display of individual
paintings in the spare environments of homes and galleries today.

Large numbers of differently sized paintings were commonly listed in single
rooms. Fine-quality paintings would have been shown to advantage, and special gal-
leries in some aristocratic houses contained some of the owner’s best works, the most
famous of which were those of the Conde de Monterrey and Marqués del Carpio.
Series paintings (Roman Emperors, Casa de Austria, Hermit Saints, Months, Seasons,
and Elements, for instance) would have occupied large expanses of wall space. The
1628 inventory of the Granadan canon Don Juan de Matute (Doc. 14) specified that
six paintings from his set of Thebaid hermits be hung in a corridor leading to the
courtyard, four in a room overlooking the garden, and two in a room where water was
stored in his house at Pulianas. A set of twelve Virgin Saints was said to have hung
as a frieze around the upper wall of the main room of Matute’s house at Granada. In
the collection of Blasco de Loyola in 1670 (Doc. 85), paintings of the Four Seasons

389. Brown and Elliott 1980. p. 205.

390. AHPM, Prot. 7.471, unfoliated; Getty Provenance Index No. E-191.

391. Simén Dfaz 1980, for Cassiano’s visits to noble houses in Madrid, and his remarks on the unassuming
aspect and old-fashioned architecture of some of these. See also accounts in J.M. Diez Borque, La sociedad
espafiola y los viajeros del siglo XVII, Madrid, 1975.

392. Brown and Elliott 1980, pp. 71-72, 82-83, 105.

393. Diarium, 1626, p. 96; Simén Diaz 1980, p. 202.

394. For references to this custom, see Brown and Elliott 1980, p. 105; Orso 1986, p. 124; Brown 1991,

pp. 204-206; Goldberg 1992, p. 106. Philip IV’s love of painting transcended such utilitarian concerns; Veldz-
quez reported to Camillo Massimi in February 1658 that the king had caught a cold while supervising the hang-
ing of pictures in summer apartments of the Alcdzar (Orso 1986, p. 183).

395. See, for example, Mordn and Checa 1985, pp. 247-249.
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hung in the entrance hall of his house (“Reg¢ivimiento”), and Antonio de Mardones in
1666 (Doc. 80) had also hung four landscapes in this location. In his will of 1652, the
painter and dealer Francisco Berjes mentioned landscapes by Francisco Collantes that
he had sold to the contador Manuel L.opez Salcedo, some of which hung in the recivi-
miento of his house.??® Landscapes, a ubiquitous subject, hung everywhere, often
alongside other nature subjects. Still lifes, flowerpieces, and landscapes, examples of
minor, decorative genres, frequently filled in spaces beween figurative pictures and
occupied peripheral locations, especially over windows and doors. However, religious
subjects could also be hung in these locations; for instance, the Condesa de Paredes
hung a painting of Mary and Joseph over a door in 1679 (Doc. 101, no. 139). The
existence of especially painted pictures for the spaces over windows and doors, and
even those between windows, reflects the taste of the period: filling the entirety of a
room’s walls with paintings.*®” There is also some evidence that painted decorative
friezes were used in private houses of the early seventeenth century; these were per-
haps made from continuous strips of painted canvas, as in the “frisos de follaxe™
listed in the inventory of Gaspar de Ledesma Merifio in 1618 (Doc. 4, no. 59), Her-
nando de Espejo in 1637 (Doc. 23, nos.35 and 36), and Gil Ramirez de Arellano
(Doc 3, no. 77).

Advice on the decorum of hanging paintings in private homes is given in some
Italian art treatises, but is not a central concern of seventeenth-century Spanish art
writing.**® It is hard to detect, from the evidence of inventories at least, any speci-
fic programmatic arrangements of easel paintings in private homes.**® The unique
descriptions of the collections of Don Vicencio Juan de Lastanosa in his palace at
Huesca, written by Juan Andrés de Uztarroz ca. 1650 and Lastanosa himself ca. 1662,
confirm this observation, and reflect the great richness of interior furnishings that
many collectors of the period enjoyed.**® When inventories identify rooms, there
appears to be no clear relationship between the range of subjects of the pictorial deco-
ration and the function of the space, although we do not know the visual considera-
tions that may have been a factor in the choice of images in an ensemble. The palace
interior represented in Juan Garcia de Hidalgo’s Principios para estudiar el nobili-
simo y real arte de la pintura (1693) (Fig. 14) and a painting of a Neapolitan interior
ca. 1670 by Michele Regolia (Naples, Colectién Pisani) show rooms in which paint-
ings cover the wall space almost entirely, and which are grouped according to a strict
sense of symmetry, with larger works over smaller ones, and with complementary
frames. 40!

Portraits of exemplary individuals were considered suitable for decorating librar-
ies.*92 Obviously, religious subjects and devotional paintings were concentrated in ora-

396. Agullé y Cobo 1978, p. 30.

397. These paintings were known as sobreventanas and sobrepuertas. Twelve paintings of hunts designed to
hang between windows (“doce liencos que Haman entreventanas de monteria y fieras’™) were listed in the
inventory of Jorge de Bande in 1643. AHPM, Prot. 6.219, ff. 103-104.

398. Carducho (ed. 1979, pp. 326-333) discusses the decorum of subject matter and setting in decorative
schemes, as does Palomino (ed. 1988, vol. 11, pp. 385-386).

399. This is also one of the findings of Agiicro Ros (1994, pp. 372-379) in his analysis of inventorics of Mur-
cian private collections from the seventeenth century.

400. Sanchez Cantdn 1941, pp. 282-297. For galleries of paintings described in literary reunions at Zaragoza,
see A, Egido, “Las academias literarias de Zaragoza en ¢l siglo XVII™ in La literatura de Aragon, A. Egido,
ed., Zaragoza, 1984.

401. For the Regolia painting, Musco del Prado, Pintura napolitana de Caravaggio a Giordano, Madrid, 1985,
no. 107, pp. 260-261.

402. Moran and Checa 1985, pp. 160163, 205, 246. Nicolas de Cardona in 1643 (see Doc. 37) had a figure of
Justice in his office, perhaps to be guided by her in the conduct of his affairs.
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tories and devotional areas of homes.** However, inventories show the prevalence of
religious paintings in all parts of private houses. Devotional pictures, often precious
works of art, were frequently hung in bedrooms. An image of the Crucifixion or cross
was standard for the bedhead, for protection during sleep, confinement, or illness.**
Many of these may have been of a type painted by artists in Madrid, in which a figure
of Christ is painted onto a wooden cross.*®> Appropriately enough, still lifes, genre
subjects, and hunting scenes hung in dining rooms in some homes of the period; in
more distinguished houses conversation among guests must have frequently turned to
hunting.*% However, mythologies were also hung alongside religious subjects in din-
ing rooms, where they could be admired by guests.*?” Family portraits and royal por-
traits, also hung conspicuously, were an important public expression of filial and polit-
ical allegiances to all visitors.

Some published documents give an impression of random selection of subject
matter to decorate private houses in seventeenth-century Madrid. In the case of the
large collection of the notary Francisco Frechel, appraised in 1664 by Francisco de
Zurbaran and Francisco Rizi, the most highly valued religious paintings (probably
among his best works) hung in the oratory.**® The dining room was also decorated
with religious subjects, including one of a Vanitas with the Last Judgement, land-
scapes, a battle painting and flowerpiece, although no still lifes were listed here. Other
documents published here, the inventories of the Conde de Solre in 1638 (Doc. 24),
Nicolds de Cardona in 1643 (Doc. 37), and Francisco Gonzalez de la Hoz in 1671
(Doc. 88), fail to establish a discernible pattern in the thematic arrangement of figura-
tive narratives in these collections.

In 1651 the royal painters Angelo Nardi and Juan Bautista del Mazo valued the
important picture collection of Don Francisco de Prado Bravo de Mendoza, Knight of
the Order of Santiago and a member of the Supreme Council of Italy (Doc. 48).4%° In
this document, the function of rooms was not given, and paintings of religious and
profane subjects are mixed together. The first room inventoried (“‘sala baxa questa
Junto al patio”) contained three large paintings — St. John the Baptist, the Triumph of
Scipio, and Caesar’s Tribute — along with three religious subjects, six fruit still lifes, a
still life with a porcelain vessel, and the head of an old man. Two other small rooms
(*“las dos alcobitas”) were decorated with religious paintings, a mythology of Cupid

403. The collection of the notary Francisco Frechel in 1664 was made up mostly of religious subjects, with the
most highly valued paintings listed in the oratory, where the altarpiece of the Crucifixion alone was worth 2.000
reales (AHPM, Prot. 8.231, ff. 100-121v; Getty Provenance Index No. E-564); see Cascales y Munoz, Fran-
cisco de Zurbardn: su época, su vida y sus obras, Madrid, 1911.

404. See, for instance, the crucified Christ listed in the inventory of Sebastidn Gutiérrez de Pdrraga in 1652
(Doc. 53, no. 23 “Una pintura de Un santo christo en Un crucifixo Para la Cavecera de la cama”).

405. A number of these images attributed to Juan Ferndndez del Navarrete, El Mudo, are listed in seventeenth-
century inventories. For one by Diego Polo, see the inventory of Gregorio Diaz de Quevedo of 1680 (Doc. 104,
no. 19). Extant examples are known by Vicencio Carducho, Pedro Nuifiez del Valle and Angelo Nardi. See also
in this publication: Doc. 18, no. 171; Doc. 59, nos. 83 (on a bronze cross) and 84; Doc. 104, no. 20; and Doc.
125, no. 263.

406. Fayard 1982, p. 446, n41.

407. Collection of Nicolas de Cardona, 1643 (Doc. 37). See below for the collection of Don Felipe de Porres in
1652. The dining room of Francisco Frechel in 1664, however, was decorated with four landscapes, two of
which were overwindows, a battle picture, and paintings of the Immaculate Conception, Nativity, and Mary
Magdalene. A moralising Vanitas painting (“desengafio y Ju.? final”) was the most valuable work here, worth
300 reales; see Cascales y Mufioz 1911.

408. Cascales y Muioz 1911, pp. 223-229.

409. AHPM, Prot. 6.944, ff. 382--428v, 15 September 1650, for Prado Bravo de Mendoza’s postmortem inven-
tory, with the large painting collection at ff. 389—-393v, 404v—-405. A part of the collection destined for sale
was appraised by Nardi and Mazo on 3 April 1651 (Ibid., ff. 447-448) (Doc. 48).
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and Psyche, a portrait of Queen Isabella, and fruit still lifes. There was, however, some
thematic consistency to the decoration of two other rooms: one was a small room (“la
alcobilla questa cerca de la pieca grande de la calle”) that was decorated entirely with
fruit and flower paintings, and another room before a gallery (“la pieca antes de entrar
en la galeria”) contained a large Flemish bodegon, four paintings of the Creation, and
four small fruit still lifes. The paintings in the gallery itself (“en la galeria que sale al
patio de la fuente”’) contained some of the best works, attributed to famous artists in
the inventory; a large painting of Melaeagar and Atalanta by Rubens (probably a ver-
sion or copy of the work from the Torre de la Parada in the Prado), four paintings
depicting three Apostles in each by El Mudo, and the Tribute Money said to be by
Titian (possibly a version of this subject from the Escorial, now in the National Gal-
lery, London), as well as a Virgin and Child and 13 landscapes and fruit still lifes.

Another document of 25 May 1652, concerning the enlargement of the mayo-
razgo of Don Felipe de Porres, Knight, comendador and vistitador of the Order of
Alcéntara, and Gentilhombre de la boca de Su Majestad, included an inventory of his
paintings collection (“pinturas y fabulas™) in his house on the calle de Atocha in
Madrid that specified the rooms in which they were hanging.*'° The first section of the
inventory is Porres’ oratory, furnished with religious paintings and images of sculp-
ture, with the principal painting of the Immaculate Conception in an altar, covered
with a crimson curtain. A second room was entirely decorated with a series of portraits
of members of the Habsburg dynasty up to and including Philip IV, the House of Aus-
tria, made up of 14 full-lengths of kings and queens, three half-lengths and six small
portraits of princes, infantes, and infantas. Seven other full lengths of Habsburg kings
and queens decorated Porres’ office (“scritorio”). One gallery (“galeria”) was deco-
rated with large paintings of the Elements and 13 medium-sized landscapes and flower
paintings. A second gallery was hung with 13 paintings of fables (“fabulas™), 18
small paintings of the same type and thirteen landscapes. Here there were also maps
and a painting of Madrid, a painting of South American Indians in native dress, a curi-
ous painting of a Roman madman (““Un quadro grande de Un loco que andava en roma
aporreando los ytalianos”) and portraits. Four of the portraits depicted Habsburg roy-
als, two were royal secretaries (Don Juan de Villela and Andrés de Prada), and another
two were of Porres and his wife. Porres’ dining room was decorated with nine mytho-
logical paintings, listed only as “fabulas,” a genre painting of a shopkeeper selling
things, a portrait of a soldier, and a small unidentified image over the window. The
bedroom of Porres and his wife was decorated with religious images, and included a
retable with sculpted figures of Christ and the Virgin, two crosses, and a holy water
font, a large mirror, and a portrait of the Infanta Isabelia Clara Eugenia.

Recreational palaces in the countryside, casas de campo, were commonly deco-
rated with nature subjects, city views, and mythologies, as was recommended by
Vicencio Carducho, who regarded the royal palace of El Pardo as exemplary in this
respect.*!! Philip II had decorated the Pardo with a portrait gallery, mythological sub-

410. AHPM, Prot. 4502, ff. 189-201, with an inventory at ff. 193-198v.

411. Carducho (ed. 1979, p. 330) recommended “Si fuere Casa de campo de recreacién serdn mui a proposito
pintar cazas, bolaterfas, pescas, paises, frutas, animales diversos, trages de las naciones diferentes, Ciudades y
Provincias: y si fucre compuesto todo debaxo de alguna ingeniosa fabula, metafora, 6 historia ... serd de

mayor alabanza y estimacién.” In the case of the decoration of Philip ['V’s hunting palace, the Torre de la
Parada, the king provided a memoria of the paintings. This was not, however, a blueprint of a decorative pro-
gramme. Instead, mythological paintings, hunting scenes, and portraits formed a loose association of subject
matter appropriate to a casa de campo and place of royal recreation. See S. Alpers, The Decoration of the Torre
de la Parada, Corpus Rubenianum Ludwig Burchard, 9, London, 1971; Moran and Checa 1985, pp. 266267,
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Jjects, hunting pictures, and city views, and this “archetypal” range of subjects was
amplified by Philip III’s redecoration of the palace after the fire of 1604.#'> Another
precedent may have been the famous collection of mythological paintings owned by
Philip IT’s Secretary of State, Antonio Pérez, which hung at La Casilla, his suburban
house in the area of Atocha in Madrid.*'® Mythologies, portraits, allegories of nature,
genre paintings, landscapes, still lifes, and flower paintings were the prevalent themes
in the hanging of easel paintings in a number of rural houses owned by private individ-
uals in the first half of the seventeenth century.** These include the rural palace La
Ribera of the Duque de Lerma outside Valladolid (1606),*'> Don Francsico Enriquez
de Almanza, Conde de Niebla (1618),*¢ the country residence of Don Pedro de Océn
at Baeza (1618),*!7 that of Hernando de Espejo at Olias del Rey (Toledo) (Doc. 23).
The knight and asentista Julio César Scazuola’s country residence at Tielmes, near
Chinchén, was decorated with a large collection of paintings, most of which were
of middling quality, and made up of landscapes, among which were paintings from
Flanders and “ordinary” copies of Old Testament subjects by Pedro de Orrente, the
only attributed works in the inventory, hunting scenes, seascapes, still lifes and flower-
pieces, bird paintings, mythological subjects, and some religious paintings.*'8

This range of subjects was also appropriate for the pictorial decoration of garden
loggie, and courtyards and patios of urban properties, although they were not exclusive
to these settings and were to be found throughout the rooms of townhouses. One of the
most famous gardens in early seventeenth-century Madrid was that of the regidor Juan
Ferndndez, which was celebrated in Tirso da Molina’s La huerta de Juan Ferndndez
(1634) and is clearly marked on Pedro Texeira’s map of the capital (1656).4!° An
inventory of the huerta made in 1625 comprised mythologies, allegories of the Sea-
sons and Elements, hunting scenes, landscapes, still lifes, and maps.#?°

M. Morén and F. Checa, Las casas del rey. Casas de campo, cazaderos y jardines. Siglos XVI y XVII, Madrid
1986, pp. 151-159.

412. Moréan Turina 1989, pp. 170-171.

413. Delaforce 1982.

414. For the importance of genre, still-life, and flower paintings in this context, see Cherry 1991, pp. 22-23,
139.

415. Schroth 1990, pp. 47-51. Of the 631 pictures inventoried at La Ribera, only fourteen were of religious
subjects.

416. Nicbla’s “huerta” was decorated with 24 portraits of Turks, 24 Roman emperors, 10 Flemish landscapes
(**boscaxes™), 19 paintings after Hieronymous Bosch (*liencos finos de flandes de geronimo de bosque™), and
11 family portraits. AHPM, Prot. 4.442, fols. 51-51v, 20 September 1618.

417. Oc6n was a canon of Toledo cathedral and mayordomo of the Archbishop, Cardinal Bernardo de Sandoval
y Rojas, both of whom died in 1618. The April 1618 inventory of Ocdn’s casa de campo on the outskirts of
Bacza (Jaén) listed almost 100 paintings. The upstairs rooms were decorated with religious subjects, portraits,
pictures of foreign dandies and ladies, and landscapes. Downstairs rooms were decorated with three large hunt-
ing scenes, a large still life (*“bodegon de frutas™), and a set of 12 small still lifes. AHPM, Prot. 2.308, ff. 968
972v, 7 April 1618; Cherry 1991, p. 79.

418. The inventory listed more than 70 landscapes, 12 hunting landscapes, 12 hermit landscapes, six seascapes,
19 still lifes and flowerpieces, 24 bird pictures, seven mythologics (representing the stories of Bacchus, Diana,
Diuna and Actaeon, Venus and Adonis, and Cephalus). The 21 religious paintings on copper (“laminas™) were
among the more highly valued pictures and, along with 15 religious subjects on canvas, probably hung in the
devotional areas of the property. AHPM, Prot. 7.805, ff. 1142-1144, Tielmes, 15 May 1640.

419. For Ferndndez’s collection on his death in 1632, sce Marqués de Saltillo, “La huerta de Juan Ferndndez y
otras casas de recreo madrilefas,” Boletin de la Real Academia de la Historia, 134 (1954), pp. 1323, citing
his estate inventory in AHPM, Prot. 6.418.

420. For Fernandez’s inventory on the death of his wife, Marfa de Olalde, with the paintings valued by the
painter Diego Pérez de Mejia, see AHPM, Prot. 2.678, unfoliated, 6 September 1625. Those at the huerta con-
stituted nine Flemish battles, four paintings of the Elements and four of the Seasons, the Death of Abel, Venus
and Adonis, six canvases of fables (““fabulas™), three large landscapes “a lo divino,” ten hunting scenes, two
still lifes, a picture of Milan, one of Sardinia and a map of Madrid on paper.
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Mythological Paintings and the Nude

The Spanish royal collection was exceptional in that it contained so many fine paint-
ings of mythological subjects depicting female nudes by Italian and Flemish artists.

A taste for such images was followed by aristocratic collectors, who had traditionally
owned tapestries that commonly depicted classical history and mythological themes.*?!
However, the lack of Spanish artists who painted mythological subjects with large
figures is notorious in the lore of art history.*?2 Mythological themes, depicting, for
instance, the Ovidian loves of the gods, were problematic in Spain because of the real
fear that the concomitant display of nude figures in this context could morally damage
the viewer. Indeed, symptomatic of these inhibitions regarding painted erotic mytholo-
gies is the inquest on these undertaken in 1632 by academics from the universities of
Salamanca and Alcald,*?? in which it was also acknowledged that certain religious nar-
ratives required the depiction of the nude, including, for instance, Adam and Eve, St.
Sebastian, and St. Laurence, and that this nudity was in fact necessary for painters to
be able to demonstrate their artistic skill. There are, therefore, a number of notable
female nudes painted in the guise of saints, such as Mary Magdalene by Diego Polo
(Escorial) and Juan Carrefio de Miranda (Real Academia de San Fernando, Madrid)
and a St. Mary of Egypt like a sacred Venus painted in 1641 by Antonio Arias Ferndn-
dez (Collection José Saldafia, sotogrande, Cddiz). Consequently, the academic tribun-
als condemned only those nudes in religious paintings that were represented with an
imprudent display of nudity or in ugly poses.

While it is generally believed that it was uncommon to see mythological paint-
ings in seventeenth-century Spanish private collections, the Getty Provenance Index
database lists some 925 pictures (5 percent of paintings for which the subject is given)
with mythological subjects in inventories from Madrid. Many of these depicted nude
female figures of goddesses and nymphs; there are, for instance, as many paintings
depicting Venus (175) listed in the database as the Immaculate Conception (163).

The high incidence of such profane subjects is not surprising in court collections,
which followed the example of the famous works of this type found in the royal
collection and aristocratic collections.*?* One statistical survey of collections in

the rich, cosmopolitan city of Seville, on the other hand, sampled more than 200
inventories of picture collections taken between 1600—-1670 and found that of the
5,180 paintings listed in these documents, only 17 were classical subjects which prob-
ably depicted female nudes, and a mere eight of these were representations of Venus. >
Not surprisingly, all of these pictures were owned by educated and upper-class individ-
uals who were familiar with and able to appreciate the literary and humanistic content

421. Typical in this regard is the picture collection of Don Enrique de Aragén, Conde de Sastago in 1651 (Doc.
50), which, although modest in size, included paintings of Venus, Nude Venus, Venus and Adonis, Venus and
Mars, Venus with dancing cupids, Europa, Diana and Acteon, Andromeda, two Bacchanals, and The Death of
Cleopatra.

422. For the best discussion of the taste for mythological paintings in Spain, sce Lle6 Caiial 1979; and Lopez
Torrijos 1985, who discusses the patronage and collecting of mythological subjects at court (pp. 69—-87).

423. Calvo Scrraller 1981, pp. 2451f.

424. Two such collections are those of the royal secretary Juan Enriquez de Villacorta (inventoried in 1628)
and Gregorio de Salazar y Salzedo, regidor of Madrid in 1629.

425. Martin Morales 1986, p. 159, table 12. Duncan Kinkead’s survey of Sevillian 158 inventories between
165565 already adumbrated these findings. He found only 25 mythological subjects, which included depic-
tions of nude female figures. However, some 154 paintings listed merely as fdbulas in these documents, many
of which were Flemish paintings, could have been mythological subjects of this type. See Kinkead, “Artistic
Inventories in Seville, 16501699, Boletin de Bellas Artes de la Real Academia de Santa Isabel de Hungria,
2nd ed., no. XVII (1989).
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of such images. There was an inversely proportional increase in the number of reli-
gious images in the inventories of the more conservative lower social classes.*?¢ It was
probably in recognition of his erudition, as well for “safekeeping,” then, that Fran-
cisco Pacheco willed a large painting on copper of Venus framed in pearwood to his
friend Francisco de Rioja, the learned cleric and Inquisitor of the Holy Office of
Seville.*?’

The collection of paintings of Don Rodrigo de Herrera (1578 —1641), illegitimate
son of the 1st Marqués de Auiidén, was remarkable even at court for the number of
mythological paintings with nude female figures it contained (Doc. 33). On Herrera’s
death in 1641 his collection of 66 paintings included only 12 with religious subjects,
a surprising inversion of the normal proportions of subject matter in contemporary
collections. And one of these was a depiction of Lot and his Daughters, which, in the
hands of Italian artists, was sometimes a vehicle for the depiction of eroticised femaie
nudes.*?8 Herrera owned a picture of Apelles Painting the Nude Campaspe, which set
the tone of the whole collection. Many of the pictures were mythological subjects
depicting nude women, the stories of Venus, Danide, Diana, and Leda. Three pictures
were listed merely as women reclining on beds and in a landscape (nos. 46, 47, 51),
another depicted a nude woman bathing in a pool (no. 30).

Surprisingly, perhaps, only copies after Bassano works were recognised in the
appraisal of Herrera’s paintings made by the artists Antonio de Puga and Diego Polo.
Moreover, comparatively few of the images were assigned their correct mythologi-
cal subject. Of the three versions of Leda and the Swan in the collection, one was
described in the inventory as a woman lying with a goose! (See nos. 42, 43, and 57.)
This could have been a very poor quality picture or had proved difficult to see when
the inventory was drawn up. While laconic descriptions of subjects are common in
seventeenth-century inventories, perhaps the mistake in this case also betrays the
notary’s sheer unfamiliarity with this kind of subject matter.#?° Only one mythology
was listed as an “original” (no. 37), and this was the most valuable work in the inven-
tory of its type. Although not always specified in the inventory entries, many of the
mythologies may have been copies, perhaps after Rubens, Titian, and Correggio. As
noted above, Spanish artists’ copying of Italian and Flemish models in mythological
painting was perhaps a means of circumventing some of the mores attached to this
genre in Spain. Some of the comparatively cheap pictures may even have derived from
print sources.*3°

The last will and testament of the sixty-three-year-old Herrera made the custom-

426. Bennassar 1967; Lleo Carial 1979; Martin Morales 1986, pp. 146147, 152. For religious paintings
owned by the artisan class in sixtcenth-century Valladolid, sce B. Bennassar, Valladolid au Siecle d’Or; une
ville de Castille et sa campagne au XVlle siecle, Paris, 1967, pp. 45360, S06-510. For pictures owned by the
lower classes in seventeenth-century Madrid, see Bravo Lozano 1981.

427. See Varia velazqueria 1960, 11, doc.75, for the last will and testament of Francisco Pacheco, 10 May 1639.
428. On the marriage of Philip IV to Mariana of Austria (1649), Furini’s Lot and his Daughters (Prado,
Madrid) was given as a gift for the “alegria” of its nudes. While its subject matter might not be considered
most suitable for the occasion, it remained in the collection owing to its artistic value.

429. For instance, in the inventory of the Marqués de Taracena in 1643 (AHPM, Prot. 6.215, ff. 16-31; Getty
Provenance Index No. E-49), the mythological subject matter or identities of the gods (if indeed they were
gods) arc not given in the case of paintings representing “‘una muger desnuda y un satiro y un Cupido,” “‘un
bencciano y una muger desnuda con un perillo,” *‘una muger desnuda™ and “‘una muger desnuda y un satiro y
un ang.’ q le tiene de los cavellos.” In the collection of Sebastidn Diaz de Ontiveros in 1639, a painting of
Narcissus was listed as Adonis: “adonis mirandosc en la fuente” (Doc. 26, no. 68).

430. See, for example, the large collection of modestly valued paintings owned by the notary Juan Gonzilez
Truxeque in 1643 (AHPM, Prot. 6.227, ff. 660-663v; Getty Provenance Index No. E-55), which included “una
fabula de figuras en queros” worth only 10 reales and probably of little artistic merit.
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ary arrangements for the welfare of his soul on death.*3' However, in one clause he
stated that he owned 180 pictures, more than 30 on loan to the Duque de Osuna, and
others hanging in a gallery in his own house on the fashionable calle de Alcald. He
said that he owned some very valuable pictures, but since these were “dishonest,”
claimed not to have hung them. Perhaps it was fear of the collection being confiscated
by the Inquisition, or perhaps it was a deeper fear for the state of his soul that made
Herrera stipulate that the collection be sold in Italy, where some of his mythological
paintings may have originated and more liberal tastes prevailed.**? Here, perhaps, his
heir, the Marqués de Aufion, could expect better prices. However, Herrera’s pictures
were sold in Madrid where they were, not surprisingly, avidly snapped up by court
collectors.

There is some evidence that individuals who had travelled abroad or who came
from Italian backgrounds had more liberal tastes when it came to owning mythological
subjects.**3 Thus, the inventory of Margarita Caxesi Giliogis and her husband Don
Joseph de Cisneros in 1657 included two small copies of Titian mythologies and other
unattributed pictures, as well as pictures of Icarus, Pallas, and Apollo by Alonso Cano
and a “fable” of Venus and Cupid ascribed to “Jusepe Cano’ *3* Margarita’s taste for
such subjects could have derived from her father, the royal painter Eugenio Caxés,
who, in 1604, had copied the famous Correggio mythologies once owned by Antonio
Pérez, Leda and the Swan and the Rape of Ganymede *>°

While Titian’s mythological poesie were among the most famous and admired
paintings of the Spanish royal collection, their depiction of nudes made them problem-
atic. And even in royal circles there may have existed a degree of tension between the
admiration of Titian’s art and the “immorality” of his subject matter in Spain. Luis
Tristan noted that the saintly Philip II1, “por su modestia y gran virtud,” had taken
down these paintings and had his guardajoyas, Hernando de Espejo, store them out of
sight.#36 On Cassiano dal Pozzo’s visit in 1626, he noted the custom of covering these
paintings in the presence of the queen.

The reign of Philip III was marked by a particularly pious form of “official”
Counter-Reformation court taste, during which time it was possible for Queen Marga-
rita to be portrayed as St. Margaret and the Virgin Annunciate.**” In 1603 Rudolph 11
bought the famous Correggio mythologies Leda and the Swan and the Rape of Gany-
mede that had been acquired for the Spanish royal collection from Antonio Pérez’s col-
fection, but not before Philip IIT had Eugenio Caxés copy them. The importance of
decorum, which was central to religious imagery in Counter-Reformation Spain,
touched on the issue of nudity and helps to explain Philip II’s apparently contradic-
tory response to paintings by Titian on two occasions. Titian’s St. Susan at his Valla-

431. This document was published by Saltillo (“Casas madrileiias del pasado,” Revista de la Biblioteca,
Archivo y Museo 1945, p. 82) and discussed by Lépez Torrijos (1985, p. 21).

432. See below for the disapproval of the ecclesiastical authorities towards mythological painting. One of the
virtuous acts of one “great lady” cited in this context was to burn over 30,000 reales worth of “pinturas lasci-
vas” to avoid their public display (at auction perhaps?). Calvo Serraller 1981, p. 249.

433. During the Duque de Pastrana’s embassy to Rome between 162326, he acquired three paintings of a
nude Venus. Burke, 2.16, a—e.

434. AHPM, Prot. 6.056, unfoliated; Getty Provenance Index No. E-166. Aguilé y Cobo 1981, p. 35, for a
synopsis of this document from a copy of 1665.

435. Angulo and Pérez Sanchez 1969, pp. 252253, nos.191--192. The Leda and the Swan later hung in Philip
1V’s bévedas de Tiziano (see Boitineau, p. 318, nos. 516 and 855).

436. Salas and Marias 1992, p. 142. Hernando de Espejo’s own collection (Doc. 23) was particularly pious in
theme and included only one mythological picture which depicted Cupid.

437. On the piety of Philip III and the arts, see Mordn Turina 1989; Goldberg, “Circa 1600, 1996 [in press).
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dolid quarters probably prompted the curt remark “I do not like nude paintings,”
because it depicted the saint too scantily dressed.**® This response is in keeping with
the counter-reformatory zeal which led to the covering of the bared knee of Titian’s
St. Margaret at the Escorial.*3® However, there is nothing inconsistent in the saintly
Philip IIT’s delight that the mythological painting Venus and Antiope, the “Pardo
Venus” (Paris, Louvre), should have been saved from the Pardo fire in 1603, since the
admiration of nudes was intrinsic to the meaning and appeal of this profane genre.**0

While the court of Philip I'V witnessed a shift of mood, this was only a matter of
degree, and Spanish inhibitions regarding mythological subjects continued to prevail.
Titian's Venus and Antiope left Spain as a gift to the Prince of Wales in 1623. How-
ever, in 1649, Alonso de Cédrdenas passed over the painting, choosing instead Correg-
gio’s Mercury Instructing Cupid before Venus (*‘School of Love ") (Fig. 5), from other
erotic mythologies on offer from Charles I's collection because it was less immodest
than the Pardo Venus, “no es tan profana como la otra, Venus dormida y el Satyro” 44!
The Cardinal Infante Don Fernando, Governor of the Netherlands, especially com-
missioned for his brother Philip Rubens’ Judgement of Paris, and while he confessed
that he admired the picture greatly, he found the three goddesses “too nude,” although
this showed the beauty (valentia) of the painting.*? This response was despite the fact
that the picture was directly commissioned from the artist and that its very meaning
depended on the discerning admiration of ideal female nudity, on the part of Paris and
the viewer. While Philip’s response to the arrival of the painting is unknown, he had it
covered with a small curtain in deference to its subject, and perhaps also owing to its
supreme artistic quality. There was nothing unusual in the fact that the finest pictures
in a collection were covered, if only to protect them from dust and damage. However,
a curtain in front of a painting could offer more than protection. In this way the collec-
tor could restrict viewing of a picture to an exclusive group of intimates and connois-
seurs, and add a note of theatricality to its unveiling.*43

In Antonio Pérez’s great collection of mythological paintings, three of them were
covered with coloured silk curtains; one was Parmigianino’s Cupid, and the others
Danae and Lucretia.*** The inventory of the Genoese merchant and banker Antonio
Balbi in 1643 lists a painting of a nude Cleopatra that was covered with a crimson
taffeta curtain, as were two pictures of nude male figures, a St. John the Baptist and
another listed as St. John in the Desert.**> Traditionally, the representation of the
nude was a vehicle for the demonstration of artistic skill. It was acknowledged that
mythologies, like religious paintings, could therefore embody the greatest artistic
ambition and the highest aesthetic content. Consequently, it was not uncommon for
them to be hung in the most public rooms of houses and galleries, and a number of
Golden Age plays describe grand and beautiful rooms decorated with mythologies.*¢
Don Nicolds de Cardona in 1643, for instance, was able to display his cultivation and
taste by hanging mythologies in his dining room, where they could be admired by visi-

438. Calvo Serraller 1981, p. 243,

439, Checa 1994, pp. 174, 248249, nos. 7, 22 and 256.

440. Carducho, ed. 1979, p. 436. Philip I said that the rest of the paintings at the Pardo lost in the fire could be
repainted, thus implying that the Titian was a unique and irreplaceable masterpiece.

441. Harris 1982, p. 436.

442, Didz Padrén 1975, p. 271.

443. This is clear from the description of a painter in 1607 quoted by Mordn, 1991-92, p. 182, n.105.

444. Delaforce 1982, pp. 747, 748, 750, 758.

445. See Doc. 39 for the subsequent valuation, which makes no mention of the curtains.

446. Lépez Torrijos 1985, pp. 85—86, n. 80.
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tors and guests in his house. Although Italian treatises on art suggested that subjects
pertaining to Venus and Cupid were also appropriate to the bedroom, where they
stimulated desire and the conception of beautiful children, Spanish writing is notice-
ably silent on this matter, and inventories do not suggest that such subjects were com-
mon in bedrooms.

In seventeenth-century Spain, fine paintings with nude female figures provoked
an ambivalent response. Clearly, there were many connoisseurs and collectors who
acknowledged that a function of painting was to delight, as well as instruct, and
who appreciated the fact that in the best erotic mythologies an intrinsic aspect of the
image’s aesthetic merit was its ability to evoke sensual pleasure. However, it is prob-
ably difficult today to appreciate the impact of such paintings in a severely orthodox
and restrictive society, in which women went covered in public and the public dis-
play of nudity was taboo. In the treatises on art of Pacheco and Carducho, it is the
religious painter who is elevated to the highest plane. Indeed, Carducho’s concern
with the morality of art led him to suppress from some editions of the Didlogos his
regret at Fra Bartolomeo’s destruction of his drawings of nudes on the instigation of
Savonarola.4?

Generally speaking, the vicarious sensual pleasure afforded by painted nudes was
considered pornographic, morally corrupting, and sinful, and appears to have been
frowned upon in wider, conservative sections of society. The erotic content of some
mythological representations was considered damaging, irrespective of aesthetic merit;
therefore a poorly painted Venus was dangerous, and a well-painted one much more
dangerous. There were positive and negative sides to the power of painting to affect
the viewer; just as religious images were stimulants to devotion, and were even
endowed with miraculous properties, so there was an inverse potential to corrupt in
profane works, especially among the uneducated classes.**® Concern centred on the
potential for social damage that resulted from the open, public display of paintings
with nudes. While ecclesiastical authorities recognised the need for beautiful nudes in
some religious paintings, and indeed for the glory of art itself, all were agreed on the
dangers of the public display of such paintings in churches, although less clear on their
presence in private collections.**® At best it was felt that hedonistic depictions of this
type were simply unedifying, and at worst that mythological paintings with nudes
were morally dangerous and the potential cause of the degeneration of the republic,
the more damaging the better painted they were.

Clearly, however, mythologies were desired by private collectors. An anonymous
seventeenth-century poem describes Mercury’s visit to a painter’s shop, full of mytho-
logical paintings (“lena la oficina de tablas artificiosas todas de dioses y diosas de
belleza peregrina”), in which a painting of Juno cost twice the amount of another
of Jupiter, “‘por ser de muger”.4°% In Alcald Yafiez’ picaresque novel, Alonso is
amazed by the popularity of his master’s paintings of “la casa otomana, los Empera-

447. Glendinning 1988, p. 74.

448. The Carthusian monk who removed an image of the Virgin from his cell because its great beauty provoked
impure thoughts would appear to be an extreme case. Moran 1990-1992, p. 172.

449. On the religious and moral objections to mythological paintings according to a survey carried out at the
Universities of Salamanca and Alcald in 1632, see Calvo Serraller 1981, p. 39, n. 23, and pp. 235-258. See
also Lépez Torrijos 1985, pp. 271-274.

450. Lle6 Cafial 1979, p. 57, citing BN Ms.3290, ff. 344v—345v. The values of the paintings, ¥ and one real,
respectively, were so low as to give the poem a burlesque tone and the painter is ironically called “un insigne
imaginario™. This is a moralising poem against overweening self esteem; Mercury sought out his own image on
earth, only to find that it came free with cheap paintings of Juno and Jupiter.
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dores Romanos, los Dioses de los antiguos,” and particularly the myths of Jupiter and
Venus, which he calls “tizones del infierno, exemplo de maldad, la misma sobervia,
deshonestidad y torpega™.*! Instructive alternatives to these destructive images are
offered, and Alonso suggests paintings of martyrs, hermits, apostles, and virgins, por-
traits of Habsburg monarchs and other Christian princes. Indeed, this was the opinion
of the academic commission on “el abuso de las figuras y pinturas lascivas y desho-
nestas” of 1632, who recommended portraits of famous men and representations of
their heroic virtues and actions.*>? These recall the portrait series of famous men
which were still common in collections during the reign of Philip III, but which gradu-
ally went out of fashion in the next reign.

Many orthodox Catholic painters and collectors must have been torn between the
seemingly irreconcilable demands of art and conventional morality. Given the degree
of cultivation of many members of the clergy, it is not surprising that they too owned
mythological subjects with nude females depicted.*>? And the fact that painters ran the
risk of committing a mortal sin in painting nudes must have given many of them pause
before representing mythological subjects.*3* This also helps to explain their reticence
in painting erotic themes in genre paintings and the comparative restraint in depictions
of the female nude in such subjects as Mary Magdalene, Temptation of St. Jerome,
and The Prodigal Son. A painting of Andromeda attributed to Juan Antonio Escalante
is also revealing in this regard (Fig. 15), since this is a faithful copy of a print by
Agostino Carracci, with the significant difference of the voluminous drapery which
covers her nudity.*>> In the case of a painting of The Judgement of Paris by Juan de la
Corte, the artist copied the group of the three goddesses from a print by Marcantonio
Raimondi but prudently dressed them 43¢

Effectively, prohibitions prevailed when it came to mythological paintings, and
inhibited native artists from painting such subjects with large nude figures in the Ital-
ian or Flemish manner. Little is known about the activity of the Inquisition in the con-
trol of painting in this sphere, and the active suppression of paintings with nudes.
Most of its attention appears to have been directed toward monitoring religious paint-
ings, especially those sold publicly through shops.#” However, in this context it is
worth citing one bizarre incident which ocurred in Seville in 1601, and which involved
an indecent picture and a prostitute, as related in a letter of the Marqués de Montes-
claros, the king’s viceroy or asistente of Seville (1600—1603). Montesclaros ratded the
house of a prostitute (“muger de amores’’) and in the bedroom in front of the bed

451. Jerénimo de Alcald Yafez, *“Alonso Mozo de muchos amos,” 1625-1626, pp. 215-217.

452. Calvo Serraller 1981, p. 242.

453. See, for instance, the collection of Don Antonio de Solis, a Galician abbot, Licenciado Don Francisco Cea
in 1652, with many paintings from Italy, Joseph Mdrquez de Escalante in 1680, and even the wife of a familiar
of the Inquisition, Catalina de Alvarado in 1669.

454. Carducho, ed. 1979, pp. 359-365.

455. Madrid, Museo del Prado 1986, p. 309, no. 142.

456. Lopez Torrijos 1985, p. 208.

457. The 1632 inquest of the Universities of Salamanca and Alcald recommended inquisitional controls and
censorship for paintings in Spain, as happened in Portugal. Calvo Serraller 1981, p. 245. In 1618, for instance,
Francisco Pacheco was made censor (veedor) of paintings for the Seville Inquisition, with “particular ciudado
de mirar y visitar las pinturas de cosas sagradas que estuviesen en tiendas y lugares piblicos”. Pacheco, ed.
1990, p. 561. Antonio Palomino also occupied this post in Madrid. For the denunciation of paintings of archan-
gels exhibited in the Madrid shop of Francisco de Barrera in 1634, see Jordan and Cherry 1995, p. 64. Lépez
Torrijos (1985, p. 21) cites a proposal of 1640 that painters in Pamplona nominate a veedor to monitor
imported paintings coming through France, “porque algunas de cllas estdn prohibidas por la Inquisicién o
provocan a deshonestidad”. The office of the Portuguese Inquisition also operated a prohibition on such paint-
ings entering and leaving the country.
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discovered a painting representing Villegas, a theatre director (“autor de comedias™),
in Moorish costume, with his hands bound by a rope held by the prostitute, his concu-
bine, nude with Cupid’s wings. Most disturbing and offensive of all, perhaps, was the
fact that the obscene image was disguised with a mechanical frame and by a picture
of the Immaculate Conception, which appears to have covered it like the lid of a shal-
low box.438

The shortfall of mythological subjects painted in Spain was made up by foreign
works, which were able to avoid import restrictions and which were also exempted
from the moral objections that inhibited the practice of native painters. The paintings
with nudes in the royal collection were almost all made outside Spain, and those in the
collections of Spanish grandees were either imports or copies rather than original
works of art. Although the collection of Catalina de Alvarado, wife of a familiar of
the Inquisition, in 1669 included two mythologies, these were attributed to Italian old
masters: a Perseus and Andromeda atiributed to Parmigianino and a Venus and Cupid
from the school of Titian.** Ironic as it may seem, it was probably copying Italian and
Flemish originals that gave most opportunities to Spanish artists in painting the female
nude, as had been the case with Engenio Caxés’ excellent copy of Correggio’s Leda
and the Swan of 1604. A remarkable nomber of mythologies in private collections
at court were copies of royal paintings, and must have been painted by local artists. In
the case of the Flemish artist Pablo Schepers’ commissions from the Duque de Villa-
hermosa, he was ordered to copy mythologies of Titan as well as others of his own
invention.**® The 1656 inventory of Don Francisco de Haro,*’ for instance, included a
copy of Correggio’s Leda and the Swan which was paired with a copy of Titian’s
Danae from the royal collection. A large number of mythological subjects in private
collections were also probably copied after Italian and northern prints.*¢> Another
method in which Spanish artists could paint mythological subjects, but circumvent
restrictions and ameliorate their potentially damaging impact, was to include them
as small figures in a landscape setting. This format was exploited by artists such as
Juan de la Corte, Pedro Niinez del Valle, Juan Bautista del Mazo, and Benito Manuel
Agiiero, and the numbers of such paintings listed in inventories testify to their popu-
larity among private collections. One such collection was that of Andrés de Villarroel
in 1656, whose landscapes with erotic mythologies by Pedro Nifiez were probably of
small figures (Doc. 62, nos. 6 and 7).

Velazquez’s Toilet of Venus (Fig. 16) is the most famous nude in Spanish paint-
ing of the seventeenth century and is one of the most beautiful painted anywhere.
Veldzquez’s display of subtle poetic wit includes the detail of a white cloth which
looks like the foam of a wave breaking over Venus’ hip, and which may refer to her
birth in the sea. It was probably painted for the young nobleman, Don Gaspar de Haro,

458. See N. Cabrillana, “Un noble de la decadencia: El virrey Marqués de Montesclaros,” Revista de Indias,
115-116, 1969, p. 121, citing Biblioteca Nacional, Ms. 3207. Montesclaros wrote that “Habiendo tenido noti-
cia que cierta muger de amores tenia un retrato suyo deshonesto y junto a €1 otro su amigo, y una imagen con €l
puesta indecentemente, fui a su casa una noche de ronda, y haciendo diligencias y pesquiza hallé que en frente
de la cama estaba una imagen de nuestra Sefiora de la Concepcidn, y dentro de ella un retrato de un hombre
vestido de moro y atados los brazos con una cuerda, que tenia en la mano otra figura de mujer en cueros y con
unas alas en figura de Cupido, de suerte que todo estaba cubierta con la dicha imagen, en la misma forma que
una tapa de espejo cubre 1a luna de ¢l, aunque tan disimulado que fue menester itle a buscar para acertar con el
secreto.”

459. For the sought-after social position of familiar of the Inquisition, see Bennassar 1976.

460. Mordn and Checa 1985, p. 160.

461. AHPM, Prot. 8.041, unfoliated; Getty Provenance Index No. E-306.

462. Lépez Torrijos 1985, pp. 49-54.
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future 7th Marqués del Carpio, in whose inventory it is first recorded in 1651. The
Venus was recorded in 1677 placed on the ceiling of a gallery in Carpio’s Madrid
palace, where it was paired with a Venetian old master painting of a Venus Reclining
in a Landscape (Fig. 17).%* The latter painting is representative of the type of Vene-
tian picture that was most sought after by discerning collectors in Madrid by mid-
seventeenth century. 464

Even if the picture were painted during Velazquez’s visit to Italy (1649-51), its
idiosyncrasy might be seen as a direct response to inhibitions with regard to depictions
of the female nude which prevailed in Spain. The view from the back is perhaps a
concession to modesty, another twist to the theme of the Venus pudica.*s® Unlike
Titian’s lost Toilet of Venus from the Alcazar collection, in Velazquez’s version of the
subject the mirror reveals neither the model’s features nor a frontal view of the figure,
which is left entirely to the viewer’s imagination. Carpio’s juxtaposition of paintings of
the female nude may have been meant to increase their erotic appeal, just as in Titian’s
poesie for Philip 11, where different versions of the nude were represented in different
pictures of the series. But Carpio’s two paintings also invited connoisseurs of painting
to compare them and to speculate on the obvious differences between them, not least
of which was the qualitative stylistic differences between the “naturalism” of Venetian
old masters and Veldzquez’s own version of reality.

The fact that Veldzquez’s Venus is painted from a live model may have been one
of its most distinguishing and exciting aspects to contemporary eyes. The practice of
wsing nude female models may have been common among artists of the Veneto, but
was virtually nonexistent in Spain. Francisco Pacheco recommended that only the
heads and hands of chaste women were to be painted from life, and that female bod-
ies should be based on prints and classical sculpture. Agostino Mitelli and Angelo
Michele Colonna, the Italian frescoists recruited by Veldzquez in Italy to fresco rooms
in the Alcdzar with mythological scenes, complained in 1659 that they could not find
female models anywhere in Madrid, a remark that perhaps also includes an ironical
twist to the topos of Zuexis and the maidens of Croton.*¢ They had been employed
not only for their technical expertise as quadraturisti, painters of illusionistic dec-
orations, but also to replace some earlier Spanish mythological frescoes which had
not been to Philip’s liking. Between 1641 and 1642, Francisco Camilo had painted
14 scenes from Ovid’s Metamorphoses, the traditional source for the “loves of the
gods” series, on the ceiling of a corridor in the West wing of the palace. Camilo was,
however, a Spanish religious painter and was probably unused to such subjects, in
Palomino’s words “era su genio tan inclinado a lo dulce y devoto.” 467 Philip com-
plained that Camilo’s Jupiter looked like Christ and his Juno the Virgin Mary.468
Clearly, this artist had not understood nor observed the demands of decorum in myth-
ology, since his figures were neither classical nor erotic enough.

463. In the Madrid Carpio inventories of 1677 and 1689 this picture was called Danae and was attributed to
Tintoretto.

464. Harris and Bull 1990.

465. It may be a reminiscence of his teacher Francisco Pacheco’s figure of Venus tn the ceiling painting of The
Apotheosis of Hercules in the Seville Casa de Pilatos (1604). In Pacheco’s preliminary drawing Venus’s face is
shown in profile and is turned away in the finished painting.

466. Harris, Archivo Espaniol de Arte, 1960.

467. Palomino, ed. 1986, p. 233.

468. Ibid.
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Religious Paintings

In the context of the Counter Reformation, images of Catholic militancy, such as the
two paintings of the Triumph of the Church in the collection of Francisco de Prado
Bravo de Mendoza in 1651 (Doc. 48, no. 39), werc much rarer than straightforward
pictures of Christ, the Virgin and the saints. As is clear from Pacheco’s Arte de la
pintura (1649), the highest calling of the Spanish artist was in the service of the
Catholic faith.*6® Indeed, in Seville, painters were entitled pintores de imagineria,
which encompassed the practice of polychroming religious statues, as well as painting
pictures of religious subjects. In the case of pictures of religious narrative subjects,
these “historias”™ represented the greatest of artistic challenges to the painter. By vir-
tue of their subject matter, paintings of religious themes carried a great moral author-
ity, sometimes irrespective of their aesthetic qualities. Indeed, the exalted image of the
Christian artist in art theory was somewhat different in practice, with many artists
obliged to produce and reproduce stereotyped devotional paintings of limited artistic
value for the private market, as Antolinez’s Poor Fainter implies (Fig. 1).

An impression gained from reading large numbers of seventeenth-century inven-
tories of picture collections in Madrid is that pictures of religious subjects hung in
almost all of the rooms of contemporary homes. The pictures in plain black frames
that decorate the entrance hall of a noble house in Juan Garcia Hidalgo’s Principios
para estudiar el nobilisimo y real arte de la pintura (1693) are, as far as can be made
out, exclusively religious in subject (Fig. 14). They are, moreover, large paintings with
religious narratives, and thus the type of picture which occupied an elevated status
within the hierarchy of images. A large Crucifixion hangs over the central door, a
series of three paintings of Christ’s Passion (Christ at the Column, The Mocking of
Christ, and The Road to Calvary) is placed on the right wall, with a pair of smaller
pictures of Christ Washing the Feet and the Last Supper on the same wall, and the
vision of a cleric on the left.470

Among paintings of narrative religious subjects sampled in the Getty database,
scenes of the Passion of Christ in fact occupy a significant place, reflecting the central
importance of Christ as the Redeemer. All of the subjects of Christ’s Passion could be
the focus of prayer, and the Ecce Homo and the Crucifixion were particularly impor-
tant devotional images. (See the Index of Subjects.) The numbers of images of the
Ecce Homo, or Man of Sorrows, are truly remarkable. It was common to pair the
Ecce Homo with paintings of the sorrowing Virgin, the Mater Dolorosa, the precedent
for such pairings being the prototypes by Titian in the royal collection. This linkage
depended upon the emotional rapport between the subjects and appeal to the emotions
of the viewer. These were often bust or half-length images, which made appropriate
pendants.

The most popular religious subjects found in inventories of picture collections in
Madrid are devotional images of the Virgin, Christ, and the Saints. Paintings of the
Virgin and Child were a vital focus for the devotional life of their owners, owing to the

469. Pacheco’s account (ed. 1990, pp. 248—-265) of the moral aims of painting and the authority it has in the
Catholic church is closely based on one of the main texts of the Counter-Reformation concerning art, Cardinal
Gabriel Paleotti’s Discorso intorno le immagini sacre e profane (Bologna, 1582). See also Carducho’s Didlogos
de la pintura, V11 didlogo (ed. 1979, pp. 326-376) on religious painting.

470. The plate illustrates a perspective exercise in Garcia Hidalgo’s treatise, and is most probably an imaginary
interior. The mirrors with eagle frames recall those from the Salén de Espejos of the Madrid Alcdzar, and the
luxuriousness of the interior furnishings in this palatial setting, as well as the presence of servants, evoke a
noble lifestyle.
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Virgin’s role as Mother of God and mediatrix, chosen by God to intercede for mankind
before her Son on the Day of Judgement. Statistics underline the importance of the
image of the Immaculate Conception, a particularly “Spanish” devotion painted by
nearly all Spanish painters.#’! The fact that Spanish society was united in devotion to
this particular mystery is shown by the fact that paintings of this subject were owned
by all classes in Madrid.*”> Among connoisseurs, this image may have become a locus
for the discussion of the relative merits of different artists. It is difficult to know, how-
ever, the exact reasons that led collectors to prefer, for instance, an Immaculate Con-
ception by Juan Carrefio de Miranda over one by Francisco Antolinez, a choice that
could depend on quite subtle aesthetic factors and perception of the specific artistic
qualities of different painters.*”? In a number of cases, an image of the Immaculate
Conception was paired with a painting of the Annunciation, a correspondence that
depended on the dual nature of Mary as immaculately conceived and as Virgin-Mother
of Christ.47#

There were numerous images and legends of the Virgin Mary depicted in
seventeenth-century Spanish painting as the iconographic index of this publication
attests. In the case of some of these paintings, the religious and mystical properties of
the image may have frequently outweighed aesthetic factors. The Virgen del Carmen,
for instance, had the power to redeein souls in purgatory. Another popular subject was
the Virgin dressed as a gypsy, despite the orthodox view that such attire was indeco-
rous and, indeed, despite the discrimination against gypsies in real life.

A genre of religious painting that enjoyed a considerable degree of popularity in
the period, but which is little appreciated today, is of famous devotional images of
sculpture in important Spanish shrines.*’> Owners of these paintings could, therefore,
invoke the powers of these miracle-working images for the protection of the home and
its occupants. Foremost among these was the image of the Virgin of Atocha, which
was the centrepiece of the Madrid convent of Atocha; paintings of this image exist by
Juan Carreiio de Miranda (Museo del Prado, Madrid) and Andrés Smidt (Museo del
Prado, Madrid). Others listed in Madrid collections included the Toledan Virgin of the
Sagrario, Extramaduran Virgin of Guadalupe, the Catalonian Virgin of Monserrate,
and the Valencian Virgin of Los Desamparados. Paintings of the Santo Cristo de Bur-
gos, a Crucifixion in Burgos Cathedral, were also listed, and an example of this devo-
tion was also painted by Carrefio de Miranda (Museo del Prado, Madrid).*7¢

Given the status of religious art as promoted in art theory of the time, it is a sur-
prising fact, perhaps, that many paintings of religious subjects listed in seventeenth-
century collection appraisals were valued at relatively little 477 Indeed, the intrinsically

471. In the inventorics between 1601 ~1699 in the Getty database, ca. 120 pictures of the Immaculate Concep-
tion are listed, with a further ca. 40 pictures listed as the “Incarnation™ (a similar composition type that is the
devotional image of Christ’s conception, as opposed to the narrative image of thc Annunciation).

472. Bravo Lozano 1981.

473. The collection of Luis de Zabalza in 1678 (Doc. 97), for instance, included pictures of the Immaculate
Conception by Juan Carrefio de Miranda, as well as Mateco Cerezo the Younger.

474. In the Soria Arteaga collection of 1644 (Doc. 40, nos. 4 and 5) a pair of paintings by Jusepe Lconardo
represented the two divine conceptions, the Immaculate Conception and the Incarnation. This pairing was also
listed in the cotlection of Juan de Echauz in 1687 (Doc. 113, no. 36).

475. On these, see A E. Pérez Sanchez, “Trampantojos a lo divino,” Lecturas de Historia del Arte, 111, Vitoria,
1992, pp. 139--155.

476. Palomino (ed. 1986, p. 239) noted that Mateo Cerezo the Elder was responsible for many of these, which
he signed, rather than his son, Mateo Cerezo the Younger.

477. The sclection of documents include many such instances. In the case of Ana Maria de Lezama in 1678
(Doc. 99, no. 37) a painting of the Holy Family was worth far less than its frame.
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elevated subject matter of these paintings alone was not sufficient to guarantee their
high valuation if they were badly painted. It appears to have been common for images
to be owned for their devotional value, in which the image and the particular devotion
represented could matter more to clients and take precedence over exclusively aes-
thetic factors.*”® It should be borne in mind, therefore, that the low appraised values
of religious paintings in collection inventories may not have compromised the devo-
tional value that these may have had for their original owner. Put another way, for
some collectors, clearly a copy or a badly painted saint could be an equally efficacious
devotional image as a well-painted one. In the case of paintings owned by the lowest
classes in Madrid, these were almost exclusively religious in nature, although of little
artistic merit.*”® In terms of the mass taste to which artisan-painters of the period
catered, the most common images among the lower classes were paintings of the Vir-
gin, with the image of Nuestra Seriora de la Soledad, depicting the sorrowing Virgin
after the death of Christ, a particular focus for popular piety.**¢ According to one sur-
vey, among members of the upper classes in Madrid this image was eclipsed in favour
of the Madonna and Child around 1670.45!

Images of the saints, the focus of prayer and meditation, reflected the devotional
“taste” of their owners, especially in the case of their name saints. The importance of
the saints lay in their role as intercessors and mediators, advocates (abogados) on
behalf of the devout in the court of Heaven. They were prayed to in order to obtain
salvation for oneself and the deceased; efficacy of images was increased in those cases
of images empowered with indulgences, or the remission from penitence. Images of
guardian angels, invoked in wills of the period, were also popular.*%? Paintings of
saints were also representations of exemplary individuals, whose lives were devoted to
the service of God, and, in the case of penitent saints, who exemplified the devotional
practice of penance. More immediately, their presence in the domestic context was
also due to the importance of saints as protectors against illnesses and misfortune.
Paintings of St. John the Baptist, for instance, which were common in Madrid collec-
tions, can be accounted for by the privileged status of this saint in the saintly hierarchy
and his traditional role as intercessor before Christ, in which he was second only to the
Virgin. He also protected against epilepsy. St. Catherine, protector of the dying, was
celebrated in the role of intercessor before Christ in the popular scene of her mystic
marriage. Paintings of the visions and mystical experiences of saints and laypersons,
such as St. Francis receiving the Stigmata and the Mystic Marriage of St. Catherine,
enjoyed popularity among private collectors, since such subjects represented models
of the individual’s spiritual ascent and the efficacy of prayer for union with the divine.

The most common saint listed in the inventories in the Getty Provenance Index
database is St. Francis. As their wills make clear, laypersons in Madrid were com-

478. In the case of the paintings of Francisca Maria Vicente de Borja, valued in 1681, a number of religious
prints included there were expressly said to be not worth anything in the appraisal (AHPM, Prot. 11.533, {f.
121-126; Getty Provenance Index No. E-615).

479. See Bravo Lozano 1981 for an analysis of paintings owned by the lower classes at court around 1670,
which sampled small holdings of paintings owned by 92 individuals (only ten of whom owned over 30 works).
and which showed the predominance of religious subjects, estimated at as much as 70 percent (p. 217). See
Martin Morales 1986, pp. 146 - 148 for a similar finding for seventeenth-century Seville.

480. The great popularity of the Soledad among the lower classes is demonstrated by Bravo Lozano 1981,
481. Ibid., pp. 201-202.

482. In his collection in 1694, Don Juan de Castafieda, for instance, owned a Guardian Angel by Palomino and
a St. Michael by José Antolinez (Doc. 119).
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monly buried in habits of St. Francis for the sake of indulgences.*83 St. Francis was the
most popular saint represented in one survey of inventories of the lower classes around
1670.%%4 The Franciscan St. Anthony of Padua was also a common representation in
homes in Madrid. The second most popular male saint recorded in our inventory
sample was St. Jerome, the subject of some 250 paintings. St. Jerome, a father of the
Church who translated the Bible into the Vulgate, was founder of the Hieronymites,
the favoured order of the kings of Spain, whose distinguished royal houses included
the Escorial, Guadalupe, and Yuste. Representations of St. James the Great (Santiago)
and St. Theresa were not among the most numerous images listed in the documents,
but enjoyed a prestigious position as patron saints of Spain and the dedication of the
military order to Santiago. St. Joseph was also popular and made titular saint of Spain
in 1679. Pictures depicting St. Isidore, the patron saint of Madrid, number slightly less
than those of St. James the Great.

Among the female saints listed in the inventories, the most prevalent were Mary
Magdalene and St. Catherine. The inventories testify to the particulary popularity of
the penitent saints, St. Peter, St. Jerome, and Mary Magdalene, who represented the
virtue of repentance and the sacrament of Penance, a vital prerequisite for salvation
and a particular emphasis of the Counter-Reformation church. The importance of the
Magdalene is owing to her proximity to Christ and to her being the most prominent of
female penitent saints. The popularity of St. Peter is also to be explained by his special
status among Christ’s Apostles as the “rock” on which His Church was founded, and,
perhaps more pertinently, for his role as protector against fever and other illnesses. In
a number of cases paintings of Saint Peter and the Magdalene formed pairs.*®> Many
more paintings were probably made into pairs in seventeenth-century Spanish collec-
tions than are imagined today, by virtue of their subject matter or visual and physical
factors, such as colour, number and size of figures, and size of paintings. From the
documents alone it is possible in only a few cases to establish such relationships of
subject matter; it is likely, for instance, that Antonio Balbi’s paintings of Judith and
Holofernes and Samson and Delilah were paired images of Jewish heroes of the Old
Testament. 3¢

Pintura Ordinaria

Inventories from the 1640s onward discovered in AHPM frequently list more than 100
anonymous pictures of comparatively low value in the estates of middle-class individ-
uals. Such data reflects the great popularity of collecting at court and the demand on
painters, and suggests that there was an appreciable pool of collectors for whom the
factor of quantity and copiousness in the decoration of their houses overrode the
connoisseurs’ concern with artistic quality. The Getty Provenance Index database
includes a number of such documents, including, for instance, the inventories of Don
Francisco de Calatayud and the regidor Pedro de Rodriguez de Villarroel, both 1638,
and the pictures of Juan Gonzilez Truxeque, escribano de cdmara, and Don Antonio

483. As shown by Marina Pinto in a conference paper, “From this Life to the Next: Human Agency, Cultural
Context and the Social Practice of Burial” at the 60th Annual Mecting of the Society for American Archaeol-
ogy. Minneapolis, 3~7 May 1995. See also Fayard 1982, p. 481.

484. Bravo Lozano 1981, p. 208. This finding is also consistent with a survey of seventeenth-century invento-
ries from Murcia (Agiiera Ros 1994, p. 395).

485. See, for instance, the collection of Fernando de Tinoco in 1652 (Doc. 54, no. 13).

486. Doc. 39, nos. 7, 8.
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de Robles y Guzman, aposentador and gentilhombre de Su Majestad, both from 1643487
Some of the pictures in the collection of Tomas de Cardona in 16428 were desig-
nated “pintura muy comun,” and Alonso Cano called “mala pintura” 12 flower paint-
ings in the collection of Don Diego de Angulo in 1640 (Doc 29, no. 14).

Artists of modest talent were legion in the capital, earning their livelihoods from
the patronage of the artisan class and less discerning collectors. They survived by
painting popular devotional images and reproductions and were probably versatile and
humble enough to undertake any sort of task involving painting and decoration at the
request of clients. This type of enterprise is satirized in Antolinez’s Poor Painter
(Fig. 1). The religious paintings.and modest clientele mentioned in the will of the
painter Juan Andrés de Roble in 1614 typifies this level of activity.*®® Works of this ilk
are usually listed anonymously in inventories, often given low evaluations, and could
even be among those characterised by the pejorative label pintura ordinaria.

Painting dealers (tratantes en pintura) were the middlemen of the art market.*%°
Francisco Berjes, for instance, was a painter-dealer who appears to have had some
relatively distinguished clients on his books, such as Don José de Rosales, chaplain of
the Reyes Nuevos of Toledo, to whom he sold seven landscapes by Francisco Collan-
tes.*”! However, most painting dealers operated at the lower end of the market and
sold inexpensive paintings to the least demanding clients in the cities and provinces.

A report drawn up by the painter Diego Gonzalez in Madrid in 1627, for instance,
described how, for the past twelve years, he had been occupied in buying paintings
from artists in Madrid and taking them for resale in provincial towns.**? They supplied
primed canvases and artists’ materials, and maintained their stock of pictures by regu-
larly recruiting artists to work for piece rates much of the time copying best-selling
prototypes. In 1633, the painter Reymundo Martinez agreed to pay off a dept to the
“tratante de pinturas” Lorenzo Recio for five original paintings given to to him, by
copying any picture with four figures or fewer which Recio should supply, at a weekly
rate of two canvases measuring 1% varas, and for seven reales per copy.*** In 1628,
the painter Sebastidn Gémez contracted to repay in paintings a loan of money from the
painting dealer Juan de Argiielles.*** In 1634, Argiielles drew up an inventory of his
estate, occasioned by the death of his wife. His stock of paintings was first to be inven-
toried and was headed by 336 paintings of fruit still lifes, flowerpieces, and “heads,”
as well as a set of 12 paintings of the Months, all of which were described as “ordina-
rios” 495 Argiielles also stocked 13 landscape paintings, a picture of a crossbowman,

487. Francisco de Calatayud: AHPM, Prot. 6.197, f. 144 -145; Getty Provenance Index No. E-21. Pedro Rod-
riguez de Villarroel: AHPM, Prot. 6.215, ff. 103 -104; Getty Provenance Index No. E-46. Juan Gonzélez Tru-
xeque: AHPM, Prot. 6.227, ff. 660—663v; Getty Provenance Index No. E-55. Antonio de Robles y Guzman:
AHPM, Prot. 6.219, ff. 46-56; Getty Provenance Index No. E-53.

488. AHPM, Prot. 6.932, ff. 369377, Getty Provenance Index No. E-78.

489. Agullé y Cobo 1978, pp. 136-138.

490. On these, see Matilla Tascén 1984; Martin Gonzdlez 1984, p. 179; Mordn 199192, pp. 178 ~181.

491. Agull6 y Cobo 1978, pp. 30, 32.

492. AHPM, Prot. 5.925, ff. 14721474, 30 October 1627. Two witnesses testified on behalf of Gonzdlez: the
painter-gilder Sebastian de Mena, who supplied Gonzélez with paintings, and Baltasar de Manzano, who was
also a picture dealer (““tratante en pinturas” ).

493. AHPM. Prot. 5.520, unfoliated.

494. AHPM, Prot. 5.533, ff. 317--318, Madrid, 30 June 1628. Argiiclles loaned Gémez 105 ducats, and the
latter agreed to repay this by painting works worth 500 reales per month. The document was witnessed by Juan
Carrefio de Miranda and his father.

495. AHPM, Prot. 6.439, f. 1444ff., Madrid, 19 December 1634; ““Veinte y ocho dogenas de liencos ordinarios
pintados de diferentes [sic] Los unos de frutas y otros de rramilletes y otras cavegas pintadas que por ser todas
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two dozen primed canvases, and 22 religious subjects, which included seven paintings
of the Virgin, three Ecce Homos, three of St. John, and three pictures of St. Francis.
Some of these dealers were artisans involved in the production of art, including
goldbeaters, gilders, and carpenters, who also furnished the inexpensive paintings they
sold with pine frames. One such individual was Sebastidn de Mena, a gilder, who was
active in the 1620s and 1630s.4°® Mena sold landscapes and other pictures at Albacete,
where he was required to pay tax on his sales.*”? Jorge de Tineo, whose profession
was given in the documents as “supplier of prepared canvases” (““aparejador de liengo
en que se pinta”) sold primed canvases and was a supplier of religious paintings, fre-
quently shipping works to be sold in the provinces.**® He commissioned copies from
artists, sold to other dealers, supplied pictures to merchants, and even gave a Madrid
waterseller, Pedro Gonzélez, a number of frames and paintings for him to sell on his
behalf. 4% In 1622, Tineo, Mena and a painter Juan Bautista Sdnchez, provided another
picture dealer, Juan de Tores, 200 small framed paintings “que llaman ordinarios”
and 100 larger framed paintings of unspecified subjects.>® A painter and dealer
from Madrid, one Bartolomé de Gamarra, was documented in Murcia in 1623 with
as many as 500 paintings for sale.’! Bartolomé de Salazar (d. 1632) was another
important dealer operating from Madrid, who sold paintings in Getafe, Valdepefias,
and Almagro.>*? He is recorded directly commissioning pictures from artist for resale.
In 1613, for instance, Francisco de Romulo agreed to paint for Salazar three sets of 12
Sybils for the value of a writing cabinet he bought from him.>3 In 1627 the painter
Bartolomé de Céardenas contracted to paint for Salazar three sets of Sybils, following
the design of those sold by Francisco Barrera, and eight religious subjects.”® Mem-
bers of other professions may also have occasionally dealt in paintings. In 1620, one
Lorenzo Aguado, who was a tailor, commissioned a painter, Felipe de Bau, to paint
ten pictures; two of the Supper at Emaus and two of Doubting Thomas, which
were copies of works he owned, two Annunciations, two paintings of the Virgin
with the Sleeping Christ Child and two paintings described as the “Virgin of the

de un precio se ponen todas juntas. Y son de tres quartas de largo y media bara de ancho poco mas o menos
excepto la una docena que son los doce meses del afio que son de a bara de largo™.

496. Matilla Tascon 1984, p. 180. Like Mena, another gilder-dealer was Blas de Castillo, described in a docu-
ment of 1635 as dorador y tratante en pintura (AHPM Prot. 5.505, {. 12, Madrid 2 February 1635).

497. Matilla Tascén 1984, p. 180.

498. Agullé y Cobo 1978, p. 48; Matilla Tascén 1978, p. 180. In 1621, for instance, Tinco gave power of attor-
ney to the painter Juan Baptista Sdnchez to recover money owed to him by the merchant Francisco de Guadala-
jara for a lot of 80 paintings of saints (“*por rracon de ochenta Liencos de Vara y quarta Con sus marcos dora-
dos Pintados de Pincea [sic] de diferentes Santos e ymaxenes a veinte y ocho reales cada marco™) and a further
lot of 50 paintings of saints (“y de cinquenta marcos ordinarios Con sus molduras doradas de diferentes santos
a diez y seis reales”). AHPM Prot. 5.064, ff. 473-474v, Madrid 6 April 1621.

499. Matilla Tascon 1984, p. 180.

500. Ibid.

501. Agiiera Ros 1994, p. 383.

502. Agullé y Cobo 1981, p. 136.

503. AHPM, Prot. 4.100, ff. 571-571v, Madrid 12 December 1613. Rémulo had received “‘un escritorio de
nogal con sus gavetas™ and agreed to paint for Salazar “tres Jucgos de sivilas que azen treinta y seis piezas,”
for the price of eight reales each (288 reales total).

504. AHPM, Prot. 4.567, {f. 1728~ 1729, Madrid, 11 December 1627. Cirdenas agreed to paint “tres Juegos de
sibilas con las insignias de lo q Cada uno profitizaren al modo y traga de la que bendio barreda Pintor que Las
hizo nabarro y se entiende Los Liencos de bara y ter? de alto y de a bara de Ancho,” unframed and for 40
reales each. Within three months, Cdrdenas was also to paint two Immaculate Conceptions, two Coronations of
the Virgin, two Marriages of the Virgin, a Holy Trinity and one of the “Ofrecimiento de Nra Sefiora” on can-
vases of 2 x 1% varas for 150 reales each. On 23 March 1628, the contract was renegotiated and Cardenas
contracted to paint only two Immaculate Conceptions (2 x 1'4 varas), one Holy Trinity, and a Coronation of the
Virgin, within a month and a half (AHPM Prot. 4.568, ff. 493—-494). For four unfinished paintings by Cérdenas
sold to another painter from Salazar’s estate in 1632, sce Agullé y Cobo 1981, p. 136.
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Flowers” . It is not inconceivable that in placing this order Aguado had particular cli-
ents in mind.>%

Not surprisingly, many of these dealers were themselves painters who may have
had more commercial success in trading in pictures than painting them. In 1628, the
painter Pedro de San Martin signed a contract with another painter, Juan de Riafio, to
supply the latter with flowerpieces, fruit still lifes, and pictures of saints paid at piece
rates of a mere 9, 6, and 16 reales, respectively, until his advance of 1,200 reales had
been paid.>’® The will of the painter Cristobal de Heras shows that in 1644 he took a
cartload of paintings, worth 1,600 reales, to sell at the August fair at Ocafia.>*’ Simén
de Cienfuegos (or Fogos), a Neapolitan painter, began business in Madrid as a dealer
in prints and later turned to paintings. In 1620, he rented for four years an outside wall
of the convent of Nuestra Sefiora de la Victoria in the centre of Madrid to exhibit and
sell pictures directly to passersby on the street.’*® Andrés Carrefio de Miranda sold
paintings in Valladolid at the beginning of the century, and his son Juan Carrefio de
Miranda evidently dealt in pictures at the beginning of his career.’*® While young art-
ists might well sell their works in this way, as Murillo apparently did in his youth, this
was regarded as demeaning and reduced painting to the level of trade. In his Lives,
Palomino recalls the cases of talented artists such as Gabriel de la Corte or Don Lo-
renzo de Soto, whose declining powers or personal circumstances reduced them to
marketing their work in this way.>'® Don Francisco de Ochoa y Antolinez, however,
made a decent living from selling small landscapes from the market in the courtyard
of the Alcdzar and other public places.>!!

The generally lowly social class of dealers, hawking their wares in public, made
them despised by the artistic establishment in Spain, as in Italy; the nature of their
retail activities was satirized by Lope de Vega.’'? In Cédiz, the painters’ guild took
action against a painter, Francisco Niifiez, who had employed a mulatto to hawk his
paintings around the city.>'* And in Madrid ~ as mentioned earlier — the influential
court painter and theorist Vicencio Carducho had orchestrated a lawsuit against the
payment of a 1 percent sales tax on paintings, which was found in the painters’ favour
in 1633, and which struck a blow in the ideological battle for the recognition of paint-
ing as a liberal art. While painters were found to be free from paying the tax on their
own works, it had to be paid for the sale of others’ paintings.>** He was naturally

505. AHPM, Prot. 4.234, ff. 283284, Madrid, 15 February 1620. All of the paintings measured 1Y2 x | varas,
and were to be finished within twenty four days for a total price of 224 reales, which was to be paid in clothing.
506. Cherry 1991, pp. 502-503, citing AHPM, Prot. 3.987, ff. 696--699. San Martin was obliged to paint smali
flowerpicces and fruit still lifes of V2 x 2 vara and paintings of saiats of 1% x 1 varas and to sign these with his
name. Riafio was to supply all canvases and pay four reales per day towards materials, and he reserved the right
to specify which saints San Martin should paint and any other paintings he might request. San Martin agreed 1o
work only for Riafio and to spend less than thirty days on any private commission that might arise during his
year-long contract.

507. Agullé y Cobo 1981, p. 104.

508. Matilla Tascon 1984, p. 182.

509. Caturla 1966.

510. Palomino, ed. 1986, p. 326 for the flower painter Gabriel de la Corte and ibid., p. 302 for the landscape
painter Don Lorenzo de Soto, who sold poor-quality paintings in the courtyard of the Royal Patace and the
Puerta de Guadalajara. Don Matias de Torres, who Icarned his art in his uncle’s painting shop, sold battle paint-
ings at the Royal Palace (ibid., p. 380).

511. Palomino, ed. 1986, p. 339.

512. Lopez Torrijos 1985, p. 86, n. 81. For dealers in ltaly, F. Haskell, Patrons and Painters, 1980, pp. 120~125.
513. PA. Sole, “El gremio gaditano de pintores en la segunda mitad del siglo XVII (Notas histéricos sobre un
grupo social gaditano),” Archivo Hispalense, LVII, no. 175 (1974).

514. Gallego 1979, p. 119. Juan Alonso de Butron (ibid., p. 143) distinguished between the noble profession of
the painters and the “‘regatones y chalanes, que tratan de vender los que otros hazen™. However, the dealers

SEVENTEENTH-CENTURY SPANISH TASTE 81



82

outraged by retail activities that reduced the art of painting to the level of trade and
expressly blamed painters’ shops (obradores, ¢ tiendas piiblicas) for bringing the art
of painting into ill repute.>'?

For many years Francisco de Barrera and Juan de Arellano ran painting shops
in front of the church of San Felipe in central Madrid, and Arellano’s was well enough
known to be mentioned by Palomino, who recounts how Juan de Alfaro’s loss of
the protection of his patron, the Almirante de Castilla, forced him into the extreme
humiliation of seeking work in the painting shops.'® At the end of his career, Gabriele
de la Corte was reported to live in great poverty, and turned to supplying the painting
shops for his livelihood.?'” Although Palomino recalled many such public outlets
when he came to court in 1678, these shops had all disappeared by the time he pub-
lished his Lives (1724), a fact which he considered beneficial for the profession of
painting.®'®

Despite demeaning the art of painting, trade at the lower level of the art market
appears to have flourished at court. Documents from the first half of the century give
the impression of huge numbers of easily sold religious images and popular profane
subjects such as still lifes, landscapes, sybils, and Roman emperors being reproduced
in almost industrial quantities for the popular end of the market and for sale in the
provinces. In 1634, the majority of the stock of the dealer Juan de Argiielles, cited
above, comprised fruit still lifes, flowerpieces, and *“painted heads™.>'” In Madrid in
1616, Antonio Batalla and Miguel Lépez contracted to paint for Lorenzo Sanchez, a
painter-gilder, 66 religious subjects whose prices were set according to the size of the
picture: 6% reales for the smaller and 12 reales for the larger works.*?® Some degree
of quality control was built into the contract in that the figures had to be to the satis-
faction of the client, inspectors (‘‘veedores™), and master painters. There is, however,
no documentary evidence of paintings returned to artists because they were “‘badly
painted”.

While the court was at Valladolid, on 7 May 1611, the painter Andrés Carrefio de
Miranda and Juan Crespo, jewellery merchant, contracted with three different artists
for a large stock of pictures, providing them with all the necessary primed canvases on
their stretchers and paying set rates per picture. Thus Pedro Duarte agreed to paint 50
pictures for 16 reales each of the following subjects: 12 half-length Dominican friars,
eight Saint Catherines of Siena, eight images of the Virgin with the Sleeping Christ
Child, St. Joseph and St. John, four of the Virgin with the Suckling Christ Child, four
images of St. John the Baptist in Prison, four half-lengths of St. Anthony of Padua,
six Virgins “del Populo,” two of St. Francis, and two images of St. James.>®' Pedro
de la Fuente was to paint 42 pictures, comprising 24 portraits of Roman emperors and
two sets of the Nine Infantes de Lara at 14"/ reales each.”?? Pedro Esteban agreed to
paint 190 pictures for 4' reales each of the following subjects: five sets of fourteen
pictures of the story of the apostles, five sets of twelve pictures of Virgin Martyrs, and

Diego de Salazar and Simén Fogos (called regatdn) were listed among the plaintifs in Carducho’s lawsuit
(ibid., pp. 146-147).

515. Carducho, ed. 1979, p. 440.

§516. Palomino, ed. 1986, p. 264.

517. Ibid., p. 326.

518. Ibid., p. 226.

519. See n. 495 above.

520. Agulié y Cobo 1978, pp. 28-29.

521. AHPM, Prot. 3.819, ff. 332-332v, Valladolid 7 May 1611.

522. Agullé y Cobo 1981, p. 87, under “Pedro de Fuertes”.
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five sets of twelve pictures of heads of Sybils.>?* Many of these inexpensive pictures
may have been sold to other middlemen for distribution, as suggested by a document
of 1609, in which Marcos Lépez, joyero, bought from Carrefio de Miranda and Miguel
de Saldafia 476 paintings at half a ducat each.>2*

The sheer numbers of pictures in less distinguished collections did not always
imply a diversity of hands. In the early part of the century, it was possible to order a
large number of series paintings from a single non-specialist artist.52° It was com-
mon practice of patrons ordering a juego or a lot of pictures from one artist rather
than commissioning single pieces. Elsewhere it is shown that during the Duque de
Pastrana’s Roman embassy (1623-26) he purchased a large number of small devo-
tional images by one Segismundo, perhaps a Northern artist in Rome.52% A number
of documents testify to this practice among non-specialist Spanish painters active in
Madrid. The case of Hernando de Espejo ordering portraits and religious subjects
from Bartolomé de Gonzélez has been cited above. On 3 October 1620, Alonso de la
Paz contracted with a silversmith, Antonio de Flores, to paint for him four landscapes
within twelve days and within one month four religious subjects (Christ Carrying the
Cross, Incredulity of St. Thomas, Virgin of Atocha and a Child Jesus).’”’ Another
document from this year details an order from Don Alonso de Perea to the painter
Bartolomé Sanz for two religious paintings of the Visitation (Salutacion) and a St.
John, four landscapes of hunts, and four copies of pictures of the Seasons by Bassano.3%8
In 1623 Francisco Barrera was paid for painting two sets of pictures for the household
of Don Francisco de Valdés y Cardona, which comprised 12 fruit still lifes and 12
landscapes.>?° In 1635, a painter Juan Martinez signed a receipt for 1,446 reales from
Licenciado Matias de Erbas for ten religious paintings, listed as a Nativity of Christ
(“Lienco grande de figuras al natural y muchas”), the Taking of Christ, Descent from
the Cross, Beheading of St. John the Baptist, the Two Trinities, the Mystic Marriage of
St. Catherine, St. John the Baptist in the Wilderness, Mary Magdalene in the Wilder-
ness, the Penitent St. Jerome, and St. Sebastian.>*° In 1640, a painter Benito Ruiz con-
tracted with one Juan Martinez to paint five pictures of the Passion of Christ and to
deliver them within the short space of two months, for 650 reales.>*' In these cases the
image itself would appear to have taken precedence over the authorship of the paint-
ing, or the distinctive style of the painter himself.

The small collection of the Flemish archero Matias Carlos in 1637 comprised 17

523. Ibid., pp. 77-78.

524. 1bid., pp. 53~54.

525. See Mordn and Checa 1985, p. 160 (citing Lopez Martinez 1932, p. 218) for 1,000 portraits commissioned
in Seville from Miguel Vazquez at a rate of twenty-five per week.

526. Checa and Mordan 1985, p. 236; Burke 1984, doc. 2.16, a—e.

527. AHPM, 4234, ff. 659-660v. The landscapes were to be delivered within 12 days and the religious paint-
ings within one month from the date of the contract, for some 350 reales. In the same docuraent, the gilder
Sebastian de Mena contracted to supply frames for the landscapes and a further 36 gilded frames for Flores.
528. AHPM, Prot. 3.475, ff. 231-232v, Madrid, 4 November 1620. The paintings were to be finished within
six months, to be painted by the hand of Sanz and to the satisfaction of Perea, for a total of 1,650 reales. This
price also included the frames, which Sanz agreed to supply, along with 24 other ungilded frames.

529. For Barrera’s receipt of 757 reales paid by Don Alonso Tellez Girén, guardian of Valdés y Cardona, for
“veinte y quatro Liencos con sus molduras doradas Los doce de frutas y Los otros doce de paises a rragon de
treynta y un rreales y medio cada uno™ sec AHPM, Prot. 4.563, {. 1625-1625v, Madrid, 19 December 1623.
530. AHPM, Prot. 5.371, f. 1106-1106v, Madrid, 12 September 1635.

531. Agullé y Cobo 1981, p. 176. In an unfinished document of 1636, the painter Jeronimo de Sos drew up a
receipt for 22 “liencos pintados de la ciu.9 de Roma for Francisco de la Concha, Repostero de plata of Cardi-
nal Borja (Doc. 42). The subjects of the paintings were listed as 14 half-lengths of Apostles, Christ at the Col-
umn, a Crucifixion, two paintings of Mary Magdalene and SS. Anthony, Ines, Stephen, and Sebastian. The
document is unsigned. AHPM, Prot. 4.580, f. 1027v, Madrid, 5 May 1636.

SEVENTEENTH-CENTURY SPANISH TASTE 83



84

religious subjects, three royal portraits, and six Flemish landscapes, and was valued by
the archer-painter Felipe Diriksen, probably a friend and “como perssona que hi¢o Las
mas dellos y que lo entiende”.>*2 In the 1640s Juan de Clavijo, secretary of the Coun-
cil of the Inquisition, owned an Entombment of Christ, St. John the Baptist, the Virgin
Dressed as a Gypsy, the Four Seasons, and four paintings of the Story of Jacob, which
were all said to be by the hand of Angelo Nardi**}. While it is likely then that collec-
tions included many different works by the same hand, it is an unfortunate fact that the
documents only rarely identify them. Identification may have been difficult in the case
of imported works and pictures by lowly painters of little artistic personality. Thus,

for instance, 12 pictures in the collection of the contador Gregorio Diaz de Quevedo
in 1680 are said to be merely “de una mano todas” (Doc. 104).

Sheer numbers of paintings in collections were often swelled by the great popu-
larity of thematic series of images. Painters’ inventories show that artists kept large
stocks of such ready-painted series in their studios, which implies a steady demand
from anonymous clients.’* Among these were Christ and the Twelve Apostles, por-
traits of the Spanish Habsburgs; among the most popular were the four seasons and
twelve months in landscape and still-life paintings. The collection of paintings with
which the Duque de Lerma had decorated his Valladolid palace of La Ribera by 1606
included many portraits and series paintings, including Roman Emperors, Sibyls,
Apollo and the Muses, the Creation, Elements, Seasons, and Months.>* Sets of images
of the sibyls were popular subjects among educated collectors in the earlier part of the
seventeenth century.>¢ Although the sibyls of pagan antiquity were important as hav-
ing partially revealed the coming of the Saviour to the Gentile world, their appeal was
also that of a set of images of ideally beautiful women in fantastic costumes.*’” How-
ever, they rarely achieved high valuations, and many of these images were probably
copied from prints.>3® Veldzquez’s Sibyl (Prado, Madrid), which does not appear to
have been part of a set, is perhaps unique among Spanish examples in terms of its
supreme quality.

Sets of portraits of Roman emperors, epitomising a Renaissance taste for the clas-
sical and heroic, were still common in many collections of the earlier seventeenth cen-
tury, including those of the middle classes, who clearly enjoyed the lustre of ancient
imperial grandeur these images lent to a family. While such paintings gradually disap-
pear from seventeenth-century inventories, in 1685 the Infantado Palace still displayed
a set of 12 Roman emperors in the Salén Grande.** Inventories list groups of 6, 10,
12, and 15 images, either half-lengths or the even more imposing equestrian type.>*®
Very few of these works were probably original inventions by Spanish artists; most

532. Agullé y Cobo 1978, p. 56.

533. For Clavijo’s capital see AHPM, Prot. 4.781, ff. 518 -520v; Getty Provenance Index No. E-63. Interest-
ingly, his wife’s death inventory of 1642, included here as Doc. 36, was appraised by Nardi but does not
include a single attribution to him.

534. Moréan and Checa 1985, p. 239, for Pedro Ximénez inventory, 1611,

535. Florit 1906.

536. For paintings of the sibyls in other collections, Mordn and Checa 1985, p. 247, n. 72.

537. For series of Zurbardnesque Sibyls, see P. Guinard, “Espafia, Flandes y Francia en el siglo XVIL Las
sibilas zurbaranescas y sus fuentes grabadas,” Archivo Espaiiol de Arte, 43; 176 (1970), pp. 105-116.

538. Licenciado Don Francisco de Alzedo, 1641, all religious, with 24 unframed sibyls worth 10 reales cach.
539. Morén and Checa 1985, p. 306.

540. Don Pedro de Vivanco Villagomez (AHPM, Prot. 6.217, ff. 524~548v; Getty Provenance Index No. E-52;
Madrid 1642), for instance, owned two sets of six portraits, one of which was of the half-length format, and
hung a further set of 12 equestrian images in the principal room of his house. The famous collector Juan de
Lastanosa’s villa at Huesca had a round room housing the family archive which was decorated with images of
emperors, which lent it its name, pieza de los emperadores. Moran and Checa 1985, p. 199.
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were likely to have been copies after well-known prototypes by Italian and Flemish
artists.>*! Prints by Antonio Tempesta were the source, for instance, of a set painted by
the studio of Francisco de Zurbaran, who painted such works for collectors and the
export trade with the South American colonies.>*? Vicencio Carducho painted a series
of 141 heads of Emperors that hung in the Duque de Lerma’s Valladolid palace of La
Ribera and that were sold to Philip III with the collection in 1606.>* Lerma’s collec-
tion also included a set of 12 Roman emperors on horseback, which had been painted
in Flanders “by a good hand” .5 These images were probably copied from print
sources, perhaps those of P.G. Stradanus and Adrain Collaert.54° The collection of the
Duque de Lerma may have been influential in establishing this taste among collectors
of his regime, such as Gil Ramirez de Arellano inventoried in 1618 (Doc. 3). By 1603
Lerma’s collection included copies of Titian’s 11 Roman Emperors in the Gabinetto
dei Cesari of the ducal palace in Mantua, sent to Lerma by the Duca di Mantova.?
Earlier, a fine set of copies of the same images by Ghisoni had been in Antonio Pérez’s
famous collection.>*” Philip IV eventually came to acquire the originals from the sale
of the collection of Charles I of England, and these were exhibited in the portrait gal-
lery of the Madrid Alcédzar until their destruction in the fire of 1734,

Portraits

In Spain in the sixteenth century, a gallery of portraits of famous men (hombres ilus-
tres) was an essential dimension to important art collections and regarded as particu-
larly appropriate for the decoration of libraries.’*® These portraits were frequently
inscribed with the name or title of the sitter, and depicted exemplary individuals, often
of Spanish nationality, noted for their outstanding virtue, wisdom, and learning, and
prowess in arms and the arts; they included Popes, cardinals and saints, kings, cap-
tains, scholars, poets, and artists, as well as illustrious family members.>*? Many of
these images were probably copies of authenticated likenesses and could have been
painted by a single hand.>>°

Generally speaking, during the next century such encyclopaedic pantheons of
exemplary historical individuals became less common, although they were maintained
intact by inheritance in some noble families.>>' Aristocratic collections still frequently
included portraits of their peers, which were collected for their historical significance,

541. In a document of 1588, the painter Jerénimo de Mora agreed to paint Four Scasons and Four Emperors to
decorate the corridors of the house of Bautista Spinola (Moran and Checa 1985, p. 238). It is unlikely that these
sets of images, for a relatively unimportant area of Spinola’s house, were original creations of Mora.

542. See most recently, B. Navarrete Prieto, “Génesis y descendencia de ‘Las doce tribus de Israel’ y otras
series zurbaranescas’ in Museo del Prado, Zurbardn. Las Doce Tribus de Israel. Madrid, 1995, pp. 81-83.
543. Schroth 1990, p. 208, nos. 244-268.

544. 1bid., pp. 32-33.

545. In 1638, the collection of Teéfilo Faustino, a preshyter, included a set of illuminated prints of this type;
“Los doge emperadores a Cavallo de papel yL.uminados a Real cada Uno” (AHPM, Prot. 6.196, {. 942).

546. Schroth 1990, p. 29.

547. Delaforce 1982, pp. 748, 752, no. 68.

548. Moran and Checa 1985, pp. 95-97, 102, 114.

549. Ibid., pp. 158, 160-163.

550. In 1596, for instance, Pedro Calderén sold to a merchant, Juan Esteban de Giles, 50 “‘retratos de ystorias y
figuras profanas”. C. Lépez Martinez, Desde Martinez Montariés, 1932, p. 172. An extreme case is that of
Miguel Vdzquez painting 1,000 “retratos de pinturas profanas” for a Toledan patron, Gonzalo de a Palma
Hurtado in 1600 (Moréan and Checa 1985, p. 160). Juan Bautista de Espinosa, who styled himself Painter to the
Duke of El Infantado, appears to have been employed to paint portraits of Infantado’s ancestors for a portrait
gallery (Cherry 1991, p. 68). For the Infantado collection of portraits, see Moran and Checa 1985, p. 187.

551. Mordn and Checa 1985, pp. 245--246.
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for their family connections, and, perhaps, as a manifestation of class distinction. On
his death in 1659, for instance, the rooms of the Madrid residence of the Marqués de
Valparaiso were almost entirely decorated with portraits of aristocratic sitters, past and
present, as well as a set of royal portraits.>? Perhaps in imitation of his social supe-
riors, the portrait collection of Gil Ramirez de Arellano (Doc. 3), like many of its
time, was an expression of pride in his bloodline, and was made up of portraits of his
predecessors and illustrious relatives, which culminated in his own portrait.

The numbers of portraits of non-noble sitters and their families listed in seven-
teenth-century inventories testify to the extent of the practice of sitting to artists,
although very few can be identified today. Early in the seventeenth century, individuals
could commission their own portraits from local painters for, perhaps, around 100
reales, and portraiture must have been a mainstay of many artists at court.>>> The
fashion for portraiture even prompted Carducho’s criticism of sitters from the lower
classes being portrayed in an aristocratic manner.>>* A case in point may have been
Francisco de Avila, the Duque de Lerma’s barber, who commissioned his portrait
from the painter Andrés Ruiz around 1622.5% The painting of the steward of the
Duc d’ Aarschot butchering meat that was listed in the Duc’s collection, however, is a
remarkable example of a genre portrait in a collection in Spain of the period but may
not have been a Spanish picture (Doc. 31, no. 36). A number of pictures in collections
depicted painters painting portraits.

Although sitters were frequently identified in pictures listed in seventeenth-
century Spanish inventories, it was, unfortunately, not the norm to identify their
authors. Indeed, the identities of both are extremely difficult to establish today in the
case of a number of seventeenth-century Spanish portraits of private individuals. In the
case of the collector Domingo de Soria Arteaga, for instance, one sixteenth-century
portrait was said to be by Antonio Moro (Doc. 40, no. 61), while those of Soria
Arteaga himself and his wife were unattributed. The countryside house of the courtier
Hernando de Espejo (Doc. 23 is the inventory of his Madrid house) was decorated
with a set of portraits of Habsburg royalty, along with his own portraits and those of
his two wives and father-in-law. The latter portraits were also listed anonymously in
the inventory, and it is only an earlier document of payment for these that informs us
that they were by the hand of the royal portraitist Bartolomé Gonzalez. Many collec-
tors, it appears were willing to invest substantial sums in their portraits. Pedro de
Tapia owned a large collection of apparently undistinguished paintings (many valued
under 100 reales), which included a set of 55 portraits of famous men, but which
included a portrait of Philip III and Queen Margarita valued at the considerable sum
of 500 reales, and portraits of Tapia and his wife valued at 400 reales.’>® On the other
hand, the collection of Juan Oswaldo Brito, a secretary in the Consejo de Flandes

552. AHPM, Prot. 7.153, unfoliated inventory of Valparaiso’s collection of pictures taken between 7-8 October
1659. In cases where portraits were missing their inscription (rdtulo), the identity of the sitter was not given.
The rooms in which the portraits hung were also decorated with landscapes, still lifes, and battles. Valparaiso’s
collection of religious images was concentrated in the oratory chapel. See also the 1643 inventory of the Mar-
qués de Campotejar and that of his wife in 1651; AHPM, Prot. 8.213, ff. 103-104; Getty Provenance Index

No. E-252; and AHPM, Prot. 6.253, ff.412-438v; Getty Provenance Index No. E-836.

553. This sum of 100 reales is an approximation based on the value of private portraits listed in artists’ wills
and collection appraisals.

554. Carducho, ed. 1979, pp. 336-337.

555. This information comes from Ruiz’s last will and testament of 15 September 1622. The artist was paid 100
reales for the work. AHPM, Prot. 4.323, ff. 168-177.

556. AHPM, Prot. 2.042, ff. 112]1-1192v; Getty Provenance Index No. E-110; Madrid 1627.
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who died in 1637, included portraits of himself and his family whose modest value
(appraised at 66 reales each) suggests that they were the work of a local hand.>>’

Portraits of dwarves and clowns comprise one of the more intriguing facets of
Spanish court portraiture, and seventeenth-century inventories of collections in
Madrid list pictures of dwarves (enanos), clowns (bufones), dranks (borrachos), and
madmen (locos).>>® Some of these paintings were burlesque images, such as a picture
of a concert of dwarves and a series of 15 paintings of dwarves “in different postures”
in the collection of the royal secretary Bernardo Gonzélez in 1646, or a picture of a
wedding of dwarves in the collection of Gabriel de Ocafia in 1666.7%° Many paintings
of this type listed as “portraits” (retratos) in the collections of nobles and non-nobles
alike were probably imaginary generic images rather than portraits of particular indi-
viduals in the strict sense of the term, and the names of the sitters were not specified.
Some were probably comic images, which derived from a type of painting frequentty
listed in sixteenth-century inventory simply by the generic term “la risa,” referring
to the humorous nature of the subject matter. In 1639, for instance, the inventory of
Juan Ox, the German secretary to the king %0, listed a portrait of a fool (“un retrato de
una caveza de un bobo”’) and a comic portrait (“otro Retrato de la Risa”), and the
latter painting was probably similar to another in the collection of one Juan Pérez de
Caviedes in 1641 described as a “ridiculous” portrait (“Un Retrato Ridiculo de un
ombre™).%¢!

Paintings described as portraits of clowns (bufones) were listed in a wide range of
seventeenth-century collections, including, for instance, those of Don Antonio de
Robles y Guzman, aposentador and Gentilhombre de Su Majestad, and Julio César
Scazuola.’®? In 1633, the collection of the Marqués de Villanueva del Fresno included
paintings of drunks and madmen (Doc. 20), while Don Fernando de Borja owned
paintings of male and female clowns (Doc. 78). Cristébal Gonzalez Cossio owned
paintings both of drunks and clowns (Doc. 22).

However, it is also clear from the documents that some of these images were
indeed portraits of real sitters.*** One of the most famous individuals of the period was
Brigida del Rio, called the Bearded Lady of Pefiaranda, who was portrayed by Juan San-
chez Cotdn (Museo del Prado, Madrid); portraits of this woman were listed in the col-
lection of the Patriarch San Juan de Ribera.’** A painting of a Roman madman who was
noted for beating passersby was listed in the collection of Felipe de Porres cited above.?53

557. AHPM, Prot. 6.193, ff. 176v~179; Getty Provenance Index No. E-14 for the appraisal of Brito’s paintings
by the painter Gaspar de los Reyes on 27 August 1637, Madrid. The portraits of Brito’s children were worth
even less, vatued at 22 reales and 8 reales, respectively.

558. Museo del Prado, Monstruos, enanos y bufones en la Corte de los Austrias, Madrid 1986.

559. Bernardo Gonzilez, AHPM, Prot. 6.229, ff, 65-70; Getty Provenance Index No. E-64. Gabriel de Ocafia,
AHPM,; Prot. 9.810, ff. 749-756v; Getty Provenance Index No. E-698. The inventory of Gonzalez also listed
“una tabla de la Risa con cinco figuras”™.

560. AHPM, Prot. 5.981, ff. 462—466v; Getty Provenance Index No. E-140.

561. AHPM, Prot. 6.202, ff. 272v—273v; Getty Provenance Index No. E-30.

562. The inventory of Robles y Guzmadn in 1643 listed a “retrato de un bufdn,” three small pictures of clowns
(“bufones™), and two “quadros largos de burlescos” (AHPM, Prot. 6.219, ff. 46 -56; Getty Provenance Index
No. E-53). The inventory of Scazuola in 1639 included four “cavezas de retratos de bufones” (AHPM, Prot.
7.805, ff. 1103~ 1125; Getty Provenance Index No. E-589).

563. See Kinkead 1986, p. 137, for the suggestion that some genre by Murillo and Pedro Nitfiez de Villavicen-
cio could have represented real persons.

564. Benito Domenech 1980, pp. 27-29.

565. “Un loco que andava en roma aporreando los ytalianos,” AHPM, Prot. 4.502, ff. 193-198v; Getty Prove-
nance Index No. E-582.
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The inventory of the Duque de Alcald in Seville in 1637 listed a painting of an indi-
vidual who ate everything that was placed in front of him.3¢® The inventory of the
royal notary Juan Gonzilez Truxeque in 1643 included a portrait of a sitter nicknamed
Pablos the Sweet-toothed.>*” The inventory of Francisco de Galarreta Osarez included
a portrait of a moorish dwarf (Doc. 69, no. 2). The inventory of the Duque de Arcos in
1693 listed a portrait of a dwarf holding a crossbow (Doc. 118, no. 97). Two invento-
ries from the eighteenth century listed portraits of dwarves by known artists, without
1dentifying the sitters; Julidn Moreno de Villodas in 1751 owned a portrait of a dwarf
by Veldzquez (Doc. 137, no. 7) and in the collection of the Duquesa de Atrisco in
1752 there was another by Ezquerra (Doc. 124, no. 125).

Royal portraits made up one of the most common type of portrait that hung in
homes of private individuals in Madrid in the seventeenth century. Charles V had
formed a gallery of portraits of the Habsburg royal family and, by the end of the six-
teenth century, an extensive and comprehensive pantheon of royal portraits at the
Pardo Palace and Madrid Alcdzar exalted the Habsurg dynasty from Ferdinand and
Isabella to the children of the reigning monarch.”%8 It was natural then that so promi-
nent an individual in royal service as Antonio Pérez should own royal portraits; his
inventory of 1585 listed four portraits of Pérez and his family, and eight royal por-
traits.*®® In the seventeenth century, mini-galleries comprising sets of portraits of the
Habsburgs, the so-called House of Austria (Casa de Austria), became standard in col-
lections of nobles, courtiers, and a wide variety of private individuals in Spain. Royal
portraits were de rigueur in the homes of courtiers and royal officials in Madrid, and
also proliferated in collections in the provinces.”’° In the same way that historical
portraits of famous men were viewed as edifying exemplars, able to influence the
conduct of one’s own life, so portraits of His Most Catholic Majesty and his wider
family were seen as contemporary paragons of virtue of quasi-divine status. The
eponymous hero of the picaresque novel Alonso, mozo de muchos amos (1624/25)
who was apprenticed to a painter in Toro proposed portraits of the Habsburg royal
family and other Christian princes as beneficial, instructive images in lieu of mislead-
ing profane mythologies and portraits of Roman emperors and Turks which were
popular in the previous century.’’!

Such portraits were a real and conspicuous expression of citizens’ political alle-
giances, testifying to their loyalty to crown, state, and the wider Habsburg empire.5"2
Royal portraits were sometimes hung with images of Roman emperors to evoke the
idea of modern Spain as successor to the imperial greatness of Ancient Rome, as in the
case of the collection of Gil Ramirez de Arellano (Doc. 3). The will of the painter

566. “Un rretrato del bufon que se come todo 1o que tiene pintado en ¢l plato hico le rretratar su Ex.? el afo de
1625. es de Diego de Romulo.” See J. Brown and R. Kagan, “The Duke of Alcala: His Collection and its
Evolution,” Art Bulletin, LXIX, 2 (1987), pp. 231255, no. 23.

567. “Un Retrato entero de Pablos de La Golosa,” AHPM, Prot. 6.227, ff. 660-663v; Getty Provenance Index
No. E-55.

568. Moran and Checa 1985, pp. 51-52, 121, 124-125; Mordn 1989, p. 172. On the collection of portraits at
the Pardo, see M. Kusche, “l.a antigua galeria de retratos del Pardo,” Archivo Espariol de Arte, 257 (1992),
pp. 1-36.

569. Delaforce 1982, p. 747.

570. The fact that not all royal officials may have owned royal portraits, however, is shown by the case of Philip
1V’s Secretary of State Blasco de Loyola, whose inventory of 1670 listed no portraits (Doc. 85).

571. Alonso, mozo de muchos amos, 1624, p. 216.

572. In 1678 the collection of the Councillor of Castile, Don Joseph Pardo de Figucroa, contained no portraits,
except a Philip 1V attributed 10 Veldzquez, which was undoubtedly a clear demonstration of loyalty to the mon-
arch he served (AHPM, Prot. 9.851, unfoliated).
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Eugenio de las Cuevas in 1646 shows that he had rented six paintings of saints and
four full-length royal portraits for the decoration of Don Agustin de Spinola, who was
perhaps visiting the Spanish court.””® It was common for ambassadors to the Spanish
court to return to their country with portraits of the royal family.>”* In the case of the
inventory of the Dutch ambassador in Madrid, Enrique Rehede, taken in 1669, the
portraits of Habsburg royals in his collection probably demonstrated the probity of his
political affiliations.>”> Earlier, in 1628, the inventory of the royal secretary Juan Enri-
quez de Villacorta listed two life-sized equestrian portraits of Philip III and Philip IV,
and respective portraits of Queen Margarita and Isabella of Bourbon, as well as “three
pictures of hunts and in them the portraits of the royal family hunting”.>7¢ The royal
secretary Antonio Carnero (Doc. 72) owned two pairs of portraits of Philip IV and
Queen Isabella of Bourbon, and two portraits of his patron the Conde-Duque de Oliva-
res. Jusepe Gémez de Arratia (1645) had served in the household of the Cardinal-
Infante Don Ferdinand and owned two portraits of his patron, one of which was a print
on white satin (Doc. 41, print not included in the transcription here). However, few
courtiers celebrated their royal office with such aplomb as Diego Jaraba, an organist of
the Royal Chapel, who possessed a portrait of himself teaching the queen to play the
clavichord (Doc. 122, no. 56).

The great popularity of paintings of the royal family meant that House of Austria
sets became a staple of the rank and file of painters in the capital and provinces alike.’”’
They were also an important commodity in the export trade with Spanish colonies in
South America. Although artists would have been expected to reproduce a reasonable
likeness of the royal subject, none of the rank and file could have remotely hoped to
paint such portraits from the life. Diego Veldzquez enjoyed a monopoly on portraits of
Philip IV, and portraits of the Spanish royal family were the preserve of a small, privi-
leged number of royal painters who painted the master images that were subject to
reproduction by others. Most royal portraits in private collections, then, would have
derived from older images in the royal collection and officially sanctioned likenesses
by royal portraitists such as Bartolomé Gonzalez and Veldzquez. The collection of the
Archbishop of Valencia in 1611, for instance, included a set of 12 Habsburg portraits
painted by Antonio Ricci and deriving from prototypes in the famous collection at the
Pardo, some of which still exist.>’® The inventory of the military captain Don Jerén-
imo de Soto in 1630 also listed a full-length portrait of Philip III by Ricci.’”® Rubens
painted portraits of the Spanish royal family in Madrid in 1628 specifically to generate
copies and as the basis for prints which may also have served as protoypes for Spanish

573. Agullé y Cobo 1981, p. 65.

574. For some of these, see M. Moran Turina, “Importaciones y exportaciones de pinturas en el siglo XVII a
través de los registros de los libros de pasos,” Madrid en el contexto de lo hispdnico, Departamento de Historia
del Arte, Universidad Complutense de Madrid, 1994, 1, pp. 543-561.

575. AHPM, Prot. 8.373, unfoliated, 2 October 1669, for the valuation of Rehede’s paintings by the painter
Francisco Verges. which included a Casa de Austria set of eleven portraits and a further eleven royal portraits,
which included two pairs of images of Philip 1V and his queen and a portrait of Prince Baltasar Carlos. There
was also a set of 12 paintings of royal hunts (*“‘casserias de los reyes”).

576. AHPM, Prot. 2.140, ff. 805-807v, Madrid, 27 April 1628, for the valuation of Enriquez de Villacorta’s
collection by the royal painter Antonio de Salazar. The royal hunting portraits are listed as “tres quadros de
Caza y En ellos Los rretratos de los Reyes cagando™.

577. The testament of the Madrid painter Andrés Ruiz in 1622, for instance, mentioned a set of six small Casa
de Austria portraits in ebony and ivory frames ordered from him by Fernando Gonzdlez de Madrid for 600
reales, and another set of six full-lengths for the royal notary Francisco de Benavides. AHPM, Prot. 4.323, {f.
168-177.

578. Benito Domenech 1980, pp. 141143,

579. Barrio Moya, “‘La libreria y otros bienes del capitdn don Jerénimo de Soto,” 1985, p. 113.

SEVENTEENTH-CENTURY SPANISH TASTE 89



90

artists.*®® Indeed, full-length portraits of Philip IV and his queen Isabella of Bourbon
after Rubens now at Stratfield Saye, Reading, England, and the Hispanic Society of
New York originally formed part of the portrait gallery of the Marqués de Leganés.8!
An effort to control versions of the royal likeness led to the issue of some painters with
a licence to paint the king, which raised a now-obscure painter such as Antonio de
Salazar to the level of an “official” copyist.”®? In the painters’ proposal for the founda-
tion of an Academy ca. 1619, the painting of religious subjects and portraits of the
royal family were defined as the supreme duties of artists, with the consequent need
for absolute propriety in their execution.’® Many portraits may have been painted at
great remove from accepted prototypes, and concern with the quality of portraits of
Philip IV that proliferated in Madrid prompted an official survey of the studios of six
painters in Madrid in 1633 and the censorship of a number of their portraits.”®*
Individuals who occupied posts in royal service almost invariably owned portraits
of the king, his family, and the vdlido. Indeed, portaits of the privados the Duque
de Lerma (whose privanza ran from 1598 -1618) and the Conde-Duque de Lerma
(1621-1643), proliferated in the collections of courtiers. Veldzquez and his studio,
and the workshops of other royal painters, probably capitalised on the demand for the
royal image and appear to have produced reproductions of officially sanctioned proto-
types for private collectors, some of which could be of considerable artistic quality.®>
This fact alone was enough to distinguish these images from the majority of the more
popular “mass-produced” Casa de Austria reproductions.’®*¢ Entries in collections
inventories, however, do not distinguish between the different grades of reproduction,
from autograph replicas by the master himself to those produced by the studio assis-
tants and copyists. The collection of Don Miguel de Salamanca, for instance, included
three full-length portraits of Philip IV, Isabella of Bourbon, and Prince Baltasar Carlos
which were described as copies after originals by Veldzquez, although the relatively
low appraised value of these, six ducats each, suggests that they were studio replicas
rather by the hand of the master (Doc. 63). In the same collection, however, a small
portrait of the Conde-Duque de Olivares was attributed to Veldzquez himself and val-
ued at 200 reales, and this case is paralleled by that of Francisco Gonzilez Cossio de
la Hoz, whose collection in 1671 also included a portrait of Olivares attributed to
Velazquez (Doc. 88). And what are we to make of the half-length portrait of Philip IV
in an ebony frame which was said to be by Veldzquez in the collection of the royal

580. In 1655, the Madrid shopkeeper Mateo Guerra agreed to sell a number of prints on behalf of two Flemish
merchants which included twelve emperors of the House of Austria after Rubens (Agullé y Cobo 1981, p. 211).
581. Mary Crawford Volk, “Of Connoisseurs and Kings: Veldzquez's ‘Philip IV' at Fenway Court” in Fenway
Court, Isabella Stewart Gardner Museum, Boston, 1985, p. 30.

582. For Salazar’s licence, see J. Martin Gonzdlez, “Sobre las relaciones entre Nardi, Carducho, y Veldzquez,”
Archivo Espafiol de Arte, 31 (1958), p. 60.

583. Calvo Scrraller 1981, p. 170.

584. Veldzquez and Vicencio Carducho examined two lots of 36 and 46 portraits of the king, queen, and royal
family by six different painters and sanctioned a number of these. See Varia Velazqueria, 1960, vol. 11,

pp. 236-237. For further references in the literature of the period to poor-quality royal portraits sold in Madrid
shops, see Mordn 199192, p. 176, n. 78.

585. Paintings from the portrait collection formed in the seventeenth century by Don Pedro Lasso, Conde de los
Arcos, exist in the Instituto de Valencia de Don Juan in Madrid, and those of the kings of Spain are of variable
quality. See F.J. Sdnchez Cantén, Catdlogo de las pinturas del Instituto de Valencia de Don Juan, Madrid,
1923.

586. An instructive case is provided by the appraisal of the collection of the Genoese Nicoleta Gentil Espinola,
widow of Juan Jerénimo Espinola, by the painters Juan de la Corte and Gaspar Rodriguez. While a portrait of
her brother Juan Esteban Gentil that she willed to him was valued at 2,000 reales, the set of 13 Casa de Austria
portraits from Philip I to Philip IV, and that of the Conde-Duque de Olivares, were worth a mere 12 reales each.
AHPM, Prot. 6.052, unfoliated appraisal of paintings on 17 June 1656.
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silversmith Luis de Zabalza in 1677 (Doc. 97)7 It is impossible to verify these claims
today in the absence of the portraits themselves. The individuals who compiled the
inventories clearly considered such images of a quality consistent with the royal por-
traitist. While it is possible that such definite attributions to the hand of Veldzquez
himself simply designated the high quality of the pictures in question, it may also have
been the case that these were indeed autograph reproductions of his portraits.

It appears from the inventory of Jerénimo de Villanueva (Doc. 59) that he owned
reproductions of Velazquez'’s equestrian portraits of the Spanish royal family from
the Salén de los Reinos of the Buen Retiro, and might have been the owner of a
high-quality reproduction of Veldzquez’s equestrian portrait of the Conde-Duque de
Olivares. It is not impossible that some of Villanueva’s paintings entered the collection
of Fernando Gonzalez de Madrid Cavallerizo de la Reina and Regidor of Madrid,
whose collection was inventoried in 1668.5%7 The appraisal of Gonzélez de Madrid’s
collection by the painter Alonso del Arco included an equestrian portrait of Philip IV
which measured some 105 x 147 cm. (“una vara y tres quartas de alto y vara y quarta
de ancho”), which was said to be painted “by the hand of Diego Veldzquez” and was
paired by an equestrian portrait of Queen Isabella by the same hand, both valued at
550 reales.>®® There were further unattributed equestrian portraits of the same size
representing Philip III and Queen Margarita, and the Cardinal-Infante Don Ferdinand.
A portrait of Prince Baltasar Carlos on horseback “by Veldzquez” measured 126 x
168 cm. (“‘dos varas de alto y vara y media de ancho”) and was valued at 400 reales.*°
The “family” of portraits was completed with two portraits of the Conde-Duque de
Olivares, one of which was an equestrian portrait measuring some 126 cm. (“varay
media de alto”) and, at 600 reales, was the most highly appraised of the group.’®
None, however, came near to the appraised value of Gonzdlez de Madrid’s portrait of
the Duque de Alcald by Van Dyck, which was specified as an original and which Arco
valued at 1,100 reales.>®! In the sale of Gonzdlez de Madrid’s collection, remarkably,
the equestrian portrait of Olivares was sold as an original by Veldzquez and for more
than its appraised value, bought by the painter Juan Antonio Escalante.’*> Escalante
also bought the two equestrian portraits of Philip IV and Queen Isabella attributed to
Velazquez for 400 reales.”?

Another intriguing case is that of the collection of the councillor of Castile Don
Jerénimo de Cuellar inventoried in 1674 (Doc. 90). Cuellar was evidently a connois-
seur of some distinction and this fact, combined with his high state office, made it

587. AHPM, Prot. 8.159, unfoliated. Gonzélez de Madrid is documented buying a Casa de Austria set of por-
traits from the now obscure painter Andrés de Ruiz before 1622 (sce footnote 577 above), although these were
not listed in the inventory of 1668,

588. Ibid., “Otra Pintura del Rey Nro S.r Philippe quarto (que Dios aya) a cavallo de hasta Una vara y tres
quartas de alto y vara y quarta de ancho de mano de Diego Velazquez La tasso Con marco en quinicntos y
cinquenta Reales 550,” **Otra Pintura de La Reyna D.? Isabel a caballo igual a la del Rey en mano y marco La
tasso en quinientos y cing.'2 r.% 550”. Alonso del Arco reappraised for sale most of the paintings in Gonzélez
de Madrid’s collection on 28 September 1678, when the original values of the portraits were reduced by
between 100 and 220 reales.

589. Ibid., “Otro retrato del Principe Don Baltazar de Belazquez de dos Varas de alto y Vara y media de ancho
en quatrocientos R.5 4007,

590. Ibid., “otro retrato del conde Duque a cavallo con marco realcado negro de hasta Vara y media de alto en
seiscientos R.* 600”.

591. Ibid., “otro retrato del Duque de Alcala original de Bandique con marco dorado en cien ducados, mill y
cien R.* 1100”. In the revaluation of 28 September, this was reduced for sale to 550 reales.

592. AHPM, Prot. 8.159, unfoliated, 15 October 1668, ““Una pintura del conde duque orig' de belazquez num®
18 a Juan Antontio escalante en ochocientos y cinquenta R¥ 850.”

593. Ibid. Escalante also bought a portrait of two children, a portrait on panel, a painting of the Descent from
the Cross and a copy of a Bassano landscape.
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natural that he should own portraits of the Spanish royal family of the highest quality.
In the appraisal of his paintings by Matfas de Torres, this artist concurred that a pair
of half-length portraits of Philip IV and Queen Mariana in festive costume were by
Veldzquez, and the high appraised values supported this belief (Doc. 90, no. 64). Two
further portraits of Philip’s daughters, the infantas Marfa Teresa and Margarita, were
also by Veldzquez and worth even more, as was a half-length of the king in hunting
costume, evidently a replica of the portrait which Veldzquez painted for the Torre de la
Parada in the mid-1630s (Musco del Prado, Madrid). The large equestrian portrait of
the Cardinal-Infante Don Ferdinand (which was given an appraised value higher than
any of these) was listed anonymously, but may have been a copy or version of Rubens’
farnous image now in the Prado, Madrid.

The practice of a small number of prominent courtiers commissioning replicas
of Veldzquez portraits from the artist himself can be documented in a few cases. In
1624, Antonia de Ipefiarrieta, wife of the jurist Diego del Corral (1570~ 1632), paid
Veldzquez for the portrait of Philip IV which is now in the Metropolitan Muscum,
New York.>* This portrait is a replica of a prototype painted by the artist which was
remodelled ca. 1627, but of which a number of other replicas exist, including one by
another hand in the Museum of Fine Arts, Boston.>®® The Marqués de Leganés com-
missioned from Veldzquez a replica of the later Prado Portrait of Philip 1V, now at the
Isabella Stewart Gardner Museum, Boston, which is perhaps by the artist’s own hand
and which formed a part of Leganés’ gallery of full-length portraits of Habsburg rul-
ers, their families, and allies.’*® Leganés also owned a Portrait of the Conde-Duque de
Olivares, which is today in the Hispanic Society of New York and which could be an
original by Veldzquez.>®” Moreover, it has been shown recently that before his death in
1628 the Marqués de Montesclaros (Doc. 13) commissioned a replica of the portrait of
Olivares for his own collection of Habsburg portraits, which is probably the painting
in the Varez-Fisa collection in Madrid.>®® It is significant in this context that in a por-
trait of Philip IV dating from the 1660s and attributed to Pedro de Villafranca (Museo
del Prado, Madrid), the king holds a petition which is inscribed “Sefior D. Juan de
Gongora,” in all likelihood the name of the individual who commissioned the work,
Don Juan de Géngora, who was appointed President of the Council of Finance in the
mid-1640s. By this simple means, sitter and patron are brought into a decorous recip-
rocal relationship; the king is properly shown as the pivotal centre of the state bureau-
cracy, holding a petition which at once signifies Géngora’s own zeal in royal service
and acknowledges his sovereign as the source of all preferment.

The Minor Genres

During the boom in picture collecting during the reign of Philip IV, many of the

more famous artists were collected for their distinctiveness of style or subject matter.
The rank and file of painters in Madrid, however, were generally non-specialists who
worked in all of the genres and for whom versatility was essential in order to maintain
a share in the competitive market for paintings at court. In Lazaro Diaz del Valle’s

594. JR. Mélida, *“Un recibo de Veldzquez,” Revista de Archivos, Bibliotecas y Museos, XIV (1906), pp. 173 -
198; Lopez-Rey 1963, pp. 207208, no. 236.
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notes on painting (1656 -59), he frequently praised artists who were general, mean-
ing that they worked in different mediums or painted a range subject matters in differ-
ent styles. Thus, for instance, Francisco Camilo was “muy general en la pintura asi
de grande como de chico”.% Others who were “general en ejercitar los pinceles,”
according to this author, were Juan de Cdrdenas, Luis Ferniandez, Sebastian de Her-
rera, Jusepe Leonardo, Felipe de Liafto and Juan Bautista del Mazo.%° By the later
seventeenth century, a changing and shrinking art market perhaps increased the need
for artists to diversify their production. In his Lives of the Artists, Palomino (1724)
refers to “the poverty of these times” and cites cases of skilled painters actually dying
in penury.®®! He recounts, for instance, the case of a Cddiz painter, Enrique de las
Marinas, a specialist in seascapes who preferred to work in Rome, since in Spain his
exclusive concentration on this branch of painting would have been his downfall.t®
Gabriel de 1a Corte (1648 -1694) is said to have remained poor because he did not
know how to paint anything but flowers.%* And when a client who had admired some
battle pictures by Don Matias de Torres on the market called at his house and asked
for “the battle painter,” the affronted artist pointed out that he also worked in the
higher genres: ““My dear Sir, I do not paint only battle scenes; I also paint history
paintings, saints and portraits (even if they are of the devil) and will portray your
honor, if he so desires” .60

While religious art was a fundamental dimension of Spanish culture in the seven-
teenth century, this was relieved by the essentially decorative genres of landscape and
still life. The concentration of artists and collectors on genres such as landscape and
still-life paintings by the mid-seventeenth century may have been a natural conse-
quence of a restrictive artistic climate in Spain. Religious paintings were monitored by
the Inquisition, and mythological subjects depicting female nudes were regarded as
morally corrupting. In an artistic culture in which orthodoxy and decorum were para-
mount criteria, innocuous decorative paintings of landscapes and still lifes were guar-
anteed success. A large number of still-life paintings are recorded in the Getty Prove-
nance Index sample.®® Many of these made up pairs and sets, most often of four, six,
and of up to 12 paintings, and of these examples of this minor genre only a fraction of
works were attributed. Juan van der Hamen, who painted religious subjects, portraits,
landscapes, still lifes, and flowerpieces, enjoyed the highest reputation among collec-
tors as a still-life and flower painter, and he may have capitalised on his Flemish back-
ground in marketing genres that were associated with northern painting in the minds
of many collectors. He was also quick to respond to the vogue for Flemish still lifes;
he copied a still life by Frans Snyders within a year of its being painted and, through-
out his career, painted versions of still lifes deriving from northern prototypes, such as
the garland picture and serving-table still life.5%¢ As a result, the artist was commis-
sioned to paint pendants to Flemish garland paintings for the Madrid Alcdzar.5

Francisco Pacheco (1649) noted the phenomenon of the popularity of landscape
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painting in his day, and attributed paintings in seventeenth-century inventories from
Madrid show that landscape was an important sideline for many artists at court.®08
Pacheco gave comprehensive instructions for the painting of landscapes, as did
another anonymous Andalusian treatise of the mid-seventeenth century.®% In the
memorial for the foundation of an Academy of painting presented by the painters of
Madrid to Philip III ca. 1619, it was recognised that landscapes were essential to the
adornment of galleries and royal palaces, and proposed that a certificate be given to
graduates of the academy who wished to specialise in this branch of painting.6'® In
his treatise on painting, Carducho acknowledged the landscape specialist (paisista)
and gave the terminology associated with this field of expertise.®'! These paintings,
like still lifes, were painted on speculation and were probably easy to sell as they ap-
pear to have been always popular among all classes of collectors. Diaz del Valle, for
instance, noted that Francisco Collantes was an excellent painter and particularly in
landscapes, which were esteemed in many private houses in Madrid.5'2 From the
evidence of Palomino’s biographies, landscapes, battle pictures, and still lifes
were commonly sold through shops and on public markets, often for relatively small
sums of money, which would account for their availability to even the most modest
collectors.5'3

Landscapes hung in all rooms of Madrid houses, and the typical oblong land-
scape format (apaisado) made such pictures ideal for hanging as overdoors and over-
windows. They also frequently hung in sets on the walls of Spanish homes, in which
cumulative decorative effects were enjoyed. The inventory of Francisco Prado Bravo
de Mendoza in 1651 shows that still lifes too hung in almost all of the rooms listed,
and is perhaps a measure of the strength of the private market in such “minor” genres
for practicing painters at court. The inventories testify to the common practice of
mixing the complementary genres of landscape and still life, sometimes on the same
theme of the Seasons or the Months, in the decoration of private houses in the seven-
teenth century. Pacheco discussed still life, flower painting, and landscape in the same
chapter, as did Palomino, under the rubric of “argumento histérico vegatativo,” since
these genres depicted nature themes and were related in artistic terms by the idea of
the painter’s imitation of nature.®'4

608. Pacheco, ed. 1990, p. 512; “Cosa muy usada es en este tiempo, con cuya parte se han contentado muchos,
¢l exercicio de pintar paises...” On Spanish landscape, see A.E. Pérez Sanchez, “El paisaje en la pintura
espafiola del siglo XVIL,” Los paisajes del Prado, Fundacién Amigos del Museo del Prado, Madrid 1993,

pp- 161-189.

609. Pacheco, ed. 1990, pp. 513-514; Veliz 1986, pp. 120-123. Antonio Palomino (ed. 1947; 1980, pp. 163—
167, pp. 170—-172) also gave practical advice to painters in this genre.

610. Calvo Serraller 1981, p. 175.

611. Carducho, ed. 1979, pp. 386-387. Diaz del Valle (ed. 1933, pp. 365, 368) called Cristobal de Acevedo
and Antonio del Castillo “paisistas™ or expert specialists in this genre.

612. Diaz del Valle, ed. 1933, p. 365; Collantes "fue excelente pintor y singular en hacer paises como ve en
muchos ¢.° estan con grande estimacién en muchas casas particulares”.

613. Don Matias de Torres is reported to have sold battle paintings on market stalls (Palomino, ed. 1986,

p. 380). Don Francisco Ochoa y Antolinez offered sets of 6, 8, and 12 landscapes with religious scenes in this
way, which were snapped up by passing clients (Ibid., p. 339). Juan de Arellano sold flower paintings from his
shop, and Gabriel de la Corte sold his flower pictures on markets (Ibid., p. 326). The 1646 will of the painter
Eugenio de las Cuevas shows that he had sold two landscapes to Marfa Madalena, a servant of the Inguisitor
General, for only 30 reales cach (Agullé y Cobo 1981, p. 64). In the survey of the collections of lower-class
individuals in Madrid around 1670 undertaken by Bravo Lozano (1981, pp. 214-216), landscapes made up the
most numerous category of paintings.

614. Pacheco, ed. 1990, pp. 509-516: Palomino, ed. 1988, vol. I, p. 152; vol. I, pp. 163—177. In his donation
of paintings to the Milan Ambrosiana in 1618, Cardinal Borromeo included still lifes in the category of “Origi-
nal Landscapes”. See Jones 1993, p. 52.
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In their biographies of landscape painters, Diaz del Valle and Palomino say that
most of their works were found in private collections, and statistical surveys testify to
the remarkable popularity of landscapes in Spanish homes of the period.®’> Duncan
Kinkead studied the contents of 158 Sevillian collection inventories between 1655~
1665. Of the 8,471 pictures listed, 7,005 were of identified subjects, more than half of
which were of secular subjects. Landscapes made up over half of the number of pic-
tures within this secular category (2,149 works), followed by still lifes, Roman emper-
ors, and portraits. Although most were listed anonymously, Flemish pictures (169
works) were far more numerous than Italian examples (21 works), and Spanish hands
included the landscape specialist Ignacio de Iriarte and (more interestingly) Bartolomé
Murillo. Another study of 224 Sevillian inventories sampled between 16001670 by
Francisco Manuel Martin Morales confirmed the numerical importance of profane
subject matter.5'® A total of 711 landscapes also made this the most numerous secular
genre of painting in these collections. Moreover, landscapes, along with still lifes (185
works), represented truly popular images in that examples were owned by individuals
from all classes of Sevillian society. A study of 92 inventories drawn up in Madrid
between 1668 and 1672 resulted in analogous findings regarding the popular taste for
landscape paintings.®'” In the case of our own database, from the sample of 169 docu-
ments drawn up over the seventeenth century (1601 -1700), landscape paintings, com-
prising 1,200 works, made up the most numerous single category of picture, followed
by still lifes (860 works).

Duncan Kinkead’s pioneering survey proved the importance of secular subject
matter in Spanish taste of the period and laid to rest popular assumptions about the
predominantly religious nature of collections. However, the bald statistical results
of such surveys can be misleading, since the most numerous subjects may not neces-
sarily have been the most significant pictures. Sheer numbers of landscape and still-
life paintings in inventories should not suggest that such profane subject matters
were of greater importance than religious images. The lowly status in the hierarchy of
the genres that theorists assigned to landscapes and still lifes does not seem to have
affected their popularity with painters or collectors. Pacheco mentioned landscape
murals in classical antiquity, which were not as highly regarded as easel paintings.®'®
In the seventeenth century, landscape painting also fulfilled a purely decorative func-
tion. Spanish documents sometimes mention the negligible aesthetic quality of pic-
tures or the fact that they were painted in tempera, the least durable medium.®'” In
Seville in 1635 and 1636, the painter Baltasar de Figueroa contracted to paint two
lots of 100 landscapes for a client in nine months, for prices between 8'2 and 24 reales
depending on their size, an enterprise which would appear to militate against quality.®2
In the postmortem inventory of a royal notary Melchor de Rivera in 1638, four old
Flemish landscapes without frames or stretchers were simply nailed directly onto the

615. Moran and Checa (1985, pp. 241-243) also document this phenomenon.

616. Martin Morales 1986, p. 152. See also the analogous findings for seventcenth-century collectors in Mur-
cia, in Agiiera Ros 1994, pp. 424-426.

617. Bravo Lozano 1981, p. 214.

618. Pacheco, ed. 1990, pp. 515-516.

619. The inventory of the widow of a bookseller, Manuel de Campo, in 1668, for instance, listed 63 “Paises de
flandes pintados al temple sin marcos ni bastidores,” worth 18 reales apiece. These, like the stock of 860 “vite-
las de diferentes ymagenes y santos” worth 40 reales per 100, may have been sold through Campo’s shop.
AHPM, Prot. 6.722, ff. 410v-412, Madrid, 11 February 1668, with the paintings valued by the painter Andrés
de la Torre.

620. C. Lépez Martinez, Arquitectos, escultores y pintores vecinos de Sevilla, Seville 1928, p. 43.
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wall.®?! Kinkead’s survey of Sevillian collections in the mid-seventeenth century
found that the most frequent locations for landscapes were the courtyards of houses,
over windows and doors and along corridors. Their customary placement in subordi-
nate Jocations over doors and windows in Madrid also prevented too close attention
to images of lesser quality. The fact that such pictures frequently hung as part of a set
of images in corridors, for instance, also meant that mediocre works of art could still
form an effective decorative ensemble.

Without doubt, some Spanish collectors were aware of classical precedents
for landscape paintings, and the quality of these works may have been rhetorically
assessed with reference to the fabled works of antiquity mentioned in ancient texts.522
Pastoral landscape paintings were essentially a recreational genre, delighting the eyes
and refreshing the spirits of urban viewers by evoking the pleasures of a “locus amoe-
nus” in the countryside or garden.®?* A “secular” classification of all pure landscapes
listed in the inventories of seventeenth-century collections, however, does not acknowl-
edge the fact that these could have a religious dimension. Indeed, for many devout
viewers landscape paintings may have been regarded as celebrations of divinely sancti-
fied nature, the world seen as a reflection of God’s wisdom and His benign and gener-
ous hand.®%*

One interesting term used to describe landscape paintings in seventeenth-century
inventories is “paintings of distances” (lejos), which refers to the primary concern of
creating the illusion of distant recession in landscape painting.5>> Most landscapes are
listed merely as paises. Although inventories frequently seem to ignore any figurative
subject matter that landscape paintings may have contained, the documents also distin-
guish different landscapes in a collection by reference to the figurative incident rather
than the “type” of landscape itself.526 The pastoral vignettes of many landscapes may
be considered idyllic staffage, but viewers probably attended to religious narratives
and figures of saints and hermits as the historia, or real subject of the picture.5?7 Flem-
ish landscape paintings with religious subjects were imported into Spain in the six-
teenth century, and in 1574 Philip II hung a number of these with religious and alle-
gorical subjects, some painted on copper, in the Galeria del Rey of the Escorial.5%% In
1593, another 143 *“paises de Flandes” for the Galeria Real were made over to the

621. AHPM, Prot. 6.201, f. 271, “mas quattro Payses Viejos de flandes clavados en la pared sin molduras ni
bastidor que estan al press.'® en un aposento ms adentro de la sala principal”. ‘Even these negligible works
found a buyer at Rivera’s auction, sold to one Juan de Santamaria for 20 reales. Idem, f. 296, 18 August 1638.
622. On this question, sce Marias 1989, p. 580; F. Marias, “El Greco y el paisaje espafiol del siglo XVI” in Los
paisajes del Prado, Fundacién del Musco del Prado, Madrid, 1993, pp. 89-104.

623. On the range of commonplaces associated with landscapes in Spain, see P. Martinez-Burgos Garcia, “Los
topicos del paisaje en la pintura espaiiola del siglo XV1,” Fragmentos, 7 (1986), pp. 66—~83. On landscape
painting in Spain, sc¢e, most recently, Pérez Sdnchez 1993.

624. Jones 1993, pp. 76—84. The view of nature as a reflection of God’s perfection is a topos of Spanish trea-
tises on gardening and agriculture. See, for instance, Fray Juan de Pifieda, Didlogos familiares de la agricultura
cristiana (Salamanca, 1589), and Gregorio de los Rios, Agricultura de jardines (Zaragoza, 1592).

625. For instance, four “l¢jos™ were listed in the Seville collection of Don Melchor de Maldonado in 1608.
626. See, for instance, the collections of Jerénimo Valle de la Cerda in 1671 (Doc. 87, nos. 75-79), Arenberg
in 1641 (Doc. 31, no. 71), and Rodrigo de Herrera in 1641 (Doc. 119, no. 32). The landscape paintings in the
collection of Gaspar de¢ Borja in 1646 include detailed descriptions of figurative incident (Doc. 42, nos. 197 and
267-268) and some description of the features of the landscape itself (nos. 178-186).

627. Doctor Benito Carlos Quintero (Templo de la elocuencia castellana, Salamanca 1620) used the analogy of
a landscape with hermit to illustrate the indecorum of over-rhetorical speeches with little substance; “Como el
pintor que, faltando al aprovechamicnto, se entrega al regalo de los ojos, y pintando un pais de arboledas, rios,
celajes, la menor parte de su obra ¢s un anacorcta que pone en una cueva” (Herrero Garefa 1943, p. 209). It is
significant that Pacheco (ed. 1990, p. 513), in his instructions regarding the painting of landscapes, recom-
mends that “the figure or Saint” be placed in the foreground.

628. Morén and Checa 1985, pp. 108-109, 114.
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Escorial collections.5? A famous painting of the Flight into Egypt by Adam Elsheimer
was in the possession of Giovanni Battista Crescenzi in Madrid in the 1620s.5% Fran-
cisco Collantes and Juan de la Corte made a specialty of landscapes with religious
narratives and hermit saints in small figures. The versatile artist Pedro Nuiiez painted
landscape pictures with small figures in religious and mythological scenes, and the
mention of these in seventeenth-century inventories reflects the esteem they enjoyed
among collectors.

One very popular type of religious painting in private collections was the
landscape with hermit saints, called hermitasios. Palomino mentions the landscape
painter Don Lorenzo de Soto, whose series of of landscapes with anchorite saints were
particularly esteemed by private collectors.®*! The collection of the jurado Gaspar
de Ledesma Merifio, inventoried on his death early in 1618 (Doc. 4), for instance,
included landscapes with saints and hermits, while paintings of hermit saints deco-
rated the oratory of Gil Ramirez de Arellano in his inventory of the same year (Doc. 3,
no. 46). In our selection of inventories, 481 paintings were listed as landscapes with
hermits, and 33 of these were sets that comprised 448 paintings, one set alone number-
ing some 48 pictures.53? The fact that only 28 images of hermits were documented in
Martin Morales’ survey of Sevillian collections suggests that the genre was much less
popular in the Andalusian capital %3}

Images of this type are genreally listed anonymously in the inventories, although
signed examples are known by Juan de Solis (ca. 1595-1654).5%* A proportion of pic-
tures of this type mentioned in the documents were most probably imported from
Flanders and Italy.®*> However, the only Spanish artist named for painting landscapes
with hermit saints in this database is Eugenio Caxés.®*® Some of the paintings could
have been imported, but it is likely that many were painted in Spain by local hands and
they could have been reproduced from or based on the popular print series by Jan and
Raphael Sadeler after drawings by Marten de Vos published between 1588 -1600.5%7
These images of hermits and saints in a landscape carry inscriptions that claritfy the
exemplary qualities of the figures represented and celebrate an idealised period of
early Christianity, before the construction of monasteries and convents, when an Eden-
like natural environment was the realm of the religious ascetic. The natural landscape
was God’s creation and provided solitude necessary for contemplation, soothed, com-
forted, and inspired virtue. The eremitical values expressed in such pictures — of asce-

629. Ibid., pp. 116-117.

630. P. Shakeshaft, “Elsheimer and G.B. Crescenzi,” The Burlington Magazine, 123 (1981}, pp. 550-551.

631. Palomino, ed. 1986, p. 301.

632. Two scts were paired pictures: one set comprised 30 named hermits, reminiscent of the older Thebaid image.
633. Martin Morales 1986, p. 158.

634, Angulo and Pérez Sdncherz 1983, p. 335.

635. For example, the paintings of Nicolas Mufioz, appraised by Pedro Perret in 1616, included “ocho payses
con figuras de debocion al olio con sus bastidores™ of different sizes “vinieron de milan,” and worth 30 reales
each (AHPM, Prot. 1.999, . 953v, Madrid, 28 November 1616). In the holograph inventory of the collector
Don Juan de Matute in 1628, he noted that his set of 12 Thebaid landscapes had been bought in Rome and that
these depicted “very beautiful landscapes™ (Doc. 14, no. 8).

636. For four paintings of landscapes with hermits by Caxés, see the inventory of Isabel Ramirez de Vargas
(Doc. 32, no. 20). Another set of eight “paises con sus ermitafios” by Caxés were listed alongside six small
fruit still lifes in 1635 in the collection of Francisco Peralta y Paternina at Corella (Angulo and Pérez Sanchez
1969, p. 234, nos.71-78).

637. The Sadeler Solitudo series comprised 108 landscapes, mostly of hermits with some saints, published in
four popular editions. Although these tmages were not linked to any specific text, they carried inscriptions illus-
trating the exemplary qualities represented by the figures. For a set of pictures depicting hermitarios specitically
described as being copied after de Vos, see the 1650 inventory of Agustin de Arellano and Francisca de la Torre
(AHPM, Prot. 7.009, 864v—871v; Getty Provenance Index No. E-322).
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ticism, prayer, study and contemplation — were particularly relevant to monastic view-
ers, as illustrated by the series of paintings of the history of the Carthusian order by
Séanchez Cotdn and Carducho.5*® But the vogue for images of pastoral religion among
private individuals implies that they were regarded as beneficial to the wider lay audi-
ence.®* Indeed, the idea of pastoral Christianity found one of its most surprising
public expressions in the series of hermitages built in the 1630s in the grounds of

the Buen Retiro Palace of Madrid, complete with live-in “hermits” and chapels.®*°
These were decorated with paintings, one of whose altars contained Veldzquez’s Land-
scape with SS. Paul the Hermit and Anthony Abbot (Museo del Prado, Madrid), and a
remarkable series of paintings of anchorite subjects from painters in Rome hung in the
Buen Retiro Landscape Gallery.#!

In 1613, Juan Bautista Mayno painted two landscapes with St. John the Evange-
list and St. John the Baptist for the predella of the altar of San Pedro Mrtir (Toledo).542
A further two landscapes with Mary Magdalene and St. Anthony Abbot are known
and were perhaps painted for a collector.®* Mayno’s landscapes are original works and
are significant early Spanish examples of the “classical” landscape type being painted
in Rome by artists such as the Carracci, Domenichino, and Agostino Tassi. Pedro
Niifiez had lived in Rome between 1613~ 14, where he was elected to the Academy,
and may have continued the Italianate form of classical landscape in his paintings with
small figures. Certainly this is implied by the extensive landscape background of
Nufiez’s Hagar and Ismael of 1630.5%

A significant impetus was given to the vogue for landscape paintings among col-
lectors by the pictorial decoration of the new Buen Retiro Palace in Madrid. Land-
scapes of the Italian and Flemish schools were prominently displayed in the palace,
alongside works by Spanish artists. The 1701 inventory of the Retiro listed more than
270 landscapes of all schools, some of which decorated entire rooms.*** In the Retiro
were concentrated examples by three of the best-known Spanish specialists of the day,
33 pictures by Pedro de Orrente and 22 works by Francisco de Collantes in the private
quarters and others by Juan de la Corte; this royal example probably enhanced the
reputation and popularity of these artists among collectors at court.®¢ The Almirante
de Castilla dedicated a room in his palace to the paintings of Orrente and had another
entirely decorated with landscapes.®*” The paintings inventoried at the Buen Retiro
included works by Juan Wildens and seascapes by Andries van Eervelt, and a large
number of unattributed landscapes at the Buen Retiro may also have been Flemish 548

638. Angulo and Pérez Sanchez 1969, pp. 126 -142; Angulo and Pérez Sanchez 1973, pp. 70-71.

639. For a discussion of the importance of landscapes with hermit saints in the early seventeenth century, see
Jones 1993, pp. 130-135. See also Moran and Checa 1985, p. 243.

640. Brown and Elliott 1986, pp. 7781, 217. The collector Juan de Lastanosa’s garden grotto of his villa at
Huesca contained statues of hermits in their caves (Mordn and Checa 1985, pp. 202-203).

641. Brown and Elliott 1986, pp. 123127, 133-136. The landscape painter Juan de Solis also painted land-
scapes with hermits for hermitages of the Buen Retiro. Angulo and Pérez Sanchez 1983, pp. 330, 333, 335.
642. Angulo and Pérez Sanchez 1969, pp. 303, 309, no. 3.

643. Ibid., nos. 24 and 39.

644. Ibid., pp. 328, 331, no. 5A. Five landscapes were listed in Nificz del Valle’s studio in 1625 (Agullé y
Cobo 1978, p. 118).

645. Fernandez Bayton 1981.

646. Brown and Elliott 1986, pp. 136—137; Moran and Checa 19835, p. 262. Diaz del Valle (ed. 1933, p. 367)
noted the large numbers of Orrente paintings at the Buen Retiro, which he said were coliected on the orders of
the Conde-Duque de Olivares.

647. Moran and Checa 1985, p. 300, n. 67.

648. Brown and Elliott 1986, pp. 130-131. Ecrvelt appears to have regularly exported his paintings to Spain.
For 36 scascapes imported into Seville by Immerseel, see Denucé 1934, doc. 28.

MADRID, 1601-1755



Some older types of allegorical landscape images, such as paintings of the Months and
Elements, were brought from the royal palace of Valladolid.** In the concerted cam-
paign to decorate the palace (1633—40), many landscapes were acquired from Madrid
collectors by the king’s agents; Giovanni Battista Crescenzi, for instance, sold 12 Ital-
1an landscapes, a series of the Plagues of Egypt by Orrente was acquired from the
Marqués de Villanueva del Fresno (Docs. 20 and 28) and Stero de Quifiones supplied
marine paintings. Even Veldzquez is documented selling four small landscapes to the
king.%3Y The most important group were the two sets of large landscapes commis-
sioned in Rome from Claude Lorrain, Poussin, Lemaire, and northern artists such as
Both and Swanevelt, one set comprising anchorites and the other pastoral scenes.
Twenty-three of the anchorite landscapes and 22 pastoral scenes were installed in a
long gallery of the west wing, whose thematic consistency has led to its being called
the Landscape Gallery.!

In the hurried decoration of the Retiro, series of landscapes made ideal cover for
the large expanses of bare wall in the new palace, particularly over doors and win-
dows. Landscapes were considered suitable decoration for the Retiro, a large recrea-
tional palace with extensive gardens on the outskirts of Madrid. By the time Carducho
(1633) recommended landscape paintings as appropriate décor for rural houses (casas
de campo) the practice was traditional 3 Indeed, an early example of this is the fres-
coed ceiling decoration of the Gabinete de la Reina of the Pardo Palace outside Madrid
painted by Jerénimo de Cabrera in 1613. Here, the main narrative paintings from the
story of Esther and Ahasuerus are complemented by the Virtues, Signs of the Zodiac,
the Four Seasons, and 12 landscapes of the Months in the lunettes.®>* This form of
decoration probably derived from Italian models, since landscapes were painted as
mural decoration in Spanish palaces by Italian artists by the 1580s. Romolo Cincin-
nato frescoed rooms in the Infantado palace at Guadalajara, and the Roman specialist
Cesare Arbasia painted illusionistic landscape views at Cérdoba Cathedral and El
Viso del Marqués.®** In Madrid, a gallery that gave on to the outside in the house of
Don Pietro de’ Medici was painted by Patricio Cascesi ca. 1596 with hunting scenes
(“escenas de monteria y caza’).5% In the urban environment of the capital, landscape
paintings probably evoked in viewers a nostalgia for nature and rural pleasures, and
their appeal to collectors was probably complemented by much pastoral literature on
the theme of the rural idyll of the period.

In Spain, as in Italy, landscape was a genre associated with the meticulous “natu-
ralistic” style of Flemish artists, and northern painters were long recognised for their
ability to render natural appearances in rich detail. Spanish collectors probably associ-
ated the genre with Flemish expertise because large numbers of landscapes painted by
northern artists were traditionally exported to the Spanish market from Flanders and
Rome.%%¢ In 1569-1570, Licenciado Juan de Ovando asked Benito Arias Montano, in
Antwerp, to supply him six landscapes for his study with a few, small figures and by a

649. Ibid., p. 118.

650. Brown and Elliott 1986, pp. 120~123.

651. Ibid., pp. 125--127.

652. Carducho, ed. 1979, p. 330.

653. Angulo and Pérez Sdnchez 1969, pp. 84—85, nos.11-12.

654. Marias 1989, p. 579. Pacheco (ed. 1990, p. 512) cited Arbasia as a landscapist in Spain, and as a dircct
influence on the works of Antonio de Mohedano.

655. Marfas 1989, p. 579.

656. Flemish landscapes are commonly listed in noble collections of the sixteenth century. Garcia de Loaysa’s
inventory (1599), for instance, listed Flemish landscapes with hunting scenes (Mordn and Checa 1985, p. 155).
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good hand.®>7 In Arias Montano’s reply, he asked Ovando to specify the amount he
wished to pay “porque al precio es la perfeccidn dellos,” and reminded him that the
more expensive landscapes could be seen at close quarters and further away, while the
cheaper ones looked well only from afar.53® Such imports continued throughout the
seventeenth century and are sometimes registered in the libros de pasos of the Cdmara
de Castilla; in 1641, for instance, the Condesa de Feria imported a box of paintings
from Flander which comprised religious pictures, portraits, works on copper, and 17
landscapes, a group of 16 of the latter described as “ordinarios”.5*® Pacheco acknowl-
edged landscape as a Flemish specialty and did not mention any Spanish landscapists
by name. He cited three Flemish painters of snowscapes active in Seville and Hendrick
Vroom (1566 -1640) as a specialist in seascapes and sea battles.%¢° Particular mention
was made of Paul Bril (1554-1626), whom he distinguished for his “great inventive-
ness and rich and cheerful colour” (varon de mucha invencion y caudal y alegre
colorido).*s' Bril worked in Rome in his later career and painted many small land-
scapes on copper which were popular among collectors throughout Europe. His works
were also engraved and widely imitated. In 1618, for instance, the collection of Gaspar
de Ledesma Merifio included a landscape with pilgrims by Bril and a copy of one of
his pictures, along with a landscape by Orrente (Doc. 4). Bril’s landscapes were pres-
ent in the royal collection, and the collections of Spanish aristocrats and members of
the middle classes.®%?

By the middle of the seventeenth century, Flemish landscape paintings were
extremely common on the Spanish market. Artists in Antwerp and Brussels, capitalis-
ing on this taste, regularly exported their works to Spain. From 1623 to the 1640s, for
instance, Chrisostoom van Immerseel, a Flemish merchant based in Seville, imported
large numbers of Flemish paintings, and landscapes made up an important part of
these consignments, including works by such artists as Jan Brueghel II, Joos de
Momper, and Jacques van Uden.%¢3 Imported Flemish landscapes were often listed
in Spanish inventories as paises de Flandes and almost invariably formed series of
images (although some were listed as individual pictures in collection inventories).
This generic term derived as much from the fact that such pictures represented the
landscape of northern Europe as the style in which they were painted. While this was
a semi-anonymous genre in which mediocre paintings abounded, it is unlikely that
many Spanish collectors would have recognised the authorship of even high-quality
works by the many Flemish specialists in the genre. Thus, a landscape by the Antwerp
specialist Jan Wildens, which was recently on the art market in Madrid, was listed in
the Marqués de Leganés’s inventory of 1655 as “Un paisico de uno de amberes.” 6%
In the case of the inventory of the collection of the Conde de Molina in 1675, how-
ever, a number of Flemish hands were identified among his landscapes, perhaps reflect-
ing the fact that these were signed and held in high esteem in the collection (Doc. 93).

657. F.J. Sdnchez Cantdn, Fuentes literarias para la historia del arte espariol, 1941, vol. V, pp. 344-345.
Ovando wanted, among other things, “Media docena de lienzos paisajes para un estudio, de pocas y pequefias
figuras, si s¢ hallasen de mano buena y regocijada y si no mandarlos hacer.”

658. Ibid.

659. Moran Turina 1994, p. 553.

660. Morédn and Checa 1985, pp. 514-15.

661. Pacheco, ed. 1990, p. 512.

662. Morédn and Checa 1985, p. 255, 286, 297, 299, 303, citing the collections of the Conde de Monterrey,
Marqués del Carpio, Almirante de Castilla, and Pedro de Arce.

663. See, for example, Denucé 1934, docs. 12, 17, 22, 24, 26-28,33-35,37, 38, 75 and 79.

664. C. Garcia-Frias, in Madrid, Caylus 1993-94, pp. 88-91.
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Flemish seascapes were popular in Madrid, a city landlocked at the very centre of
the country, and may have appeared exotic to Castillians who had never travelled to
the coast. Surprisingly, in collections in the port city of Seville, they appear to have
been much less popular.®®® The trading interests of the merchant Cesar Buenvecino
living at court perhaps gave him a more particular interest in seascapes and ship paint-
ings.®%¢ Images of naval battles and storms may have conjured up the worst nightmares
of collectors involved in overseas commerce, such reversals of fortune perhaps even
serving as a kind of warning. In 1640 a consignment of 70 paintings recently imported
from Flanders and belonging to the royal asentista Julio César Scazuola consisted
of 64 landscapes and seascapes, five religious subjects, and a genre painting of a
woman with fruit.567 Scazuola owned property outside Madrid in the town of Tielmes
which contained a collection of pictures of lesser quality than the works decorating his
Madrid residence, and which was made up mostly of landscapes, at least six of which
were Flemish.%® These paintings were brought to Madrid and valued by Jusepe Leo-
nardo who designated many of them ordinarias, inciuding 14 copies of Old Testament
subjects by Pedro Orrente in poor condition (algunos dellas quebradas y la pintura
maltratada), and identified six landscapes that were cruder than others (mas toscos y
de peor mano), six of hermit saints as relatively worthless (de poco balor), and another
six that were sketchily painted or worn (la pintura es abreviada). Among the paintings
owned by Melchor de Rivera, a notary, in 1638 were four old Flemish landscapes that
were pinned to the wall, without stretchers or frames.®%°

As has been suggested above, Pedro Orrente’s success among Spanish collectors
was partly due to his imitating the almost universally admired landscapes with rustic
figures of the Bassano family of artists. In an analogous way, the continuing wide-
spread popularity of paises de flandes among collectors in Spain probably prompted
artists in Madrid to claim a share of this market by painting Flemish-style landscapes,
or at very least to copy these pictures and even Flemish prints.67° In Carducho’s Didlo-
gos (1633), a real view of the Manzanares river at Madrid reminded the Disciple of
paintings by Paul Bril, while the Master acknowledged that landscape painters at the

665. Martin Morales 1986, p. 158, found only five marinas in his sample of Sevillian inventories between
1600-1670.

666. His collection inventory listed 14 seascapes, eight of which represented naval battles. There were a further
19 landscapes listed, with hunting scenes, mythological subjects, and ruins. Three landscapes (*payses”) were
described hanging in Buenvecino’s office (“que estavan cn la lonja™) (AHPM, Prot. 7.151, unfoliated; Getty
Provenance Index No. E-178) .

667. For the postmortem inventory of Julio César Scazuola, Knight of Calatrava and Tesorero general de la
Santa Cruzacfa, sce AHPM, Prot. 7.805, ff. 1103-1125, Madrid, 23 November 1639. The painter Jusepe Leo-
nardo valued his paintings (ibid., ff. 1046v—1049v) and the paintings imported from Flanders for his collection
(“setenta Liencos que ultimamente binieron de flandes para el dho Julio cesar scacuola,” ibid., ff. 1067v—
1068v, 6 February 1640). All of the figurative paintings were listed as “copies™. Six pictures were large sea-
scapes (puertos de mar y nabios de tres baras escasas de ancho y bara y media de alto), eight paintings were
landscapes with hunting scenes, and 50 were landscapes (*“paises™), six of which were small landscapes
described as ““Pintura ordinaria™.

668. For Leonardo’s appraisal of Scazuola’s paintings brought from Tielmes to Madrid for sale, seec AHPM,
Prot. 7.803, ff. 1077v-1102, Madrid, 6 June 1640. These also included mythological subjects (Bacchus, Diana
and Acteon, Venus and Adonis, Cephalus), religious paintings and a genre picture whose description recalls
Flemish works and which was the most highly valued picture in the lot (un lienco de un Jabali 'y un benado y
una figura de henbra y tiene una Langosta con un ceston de ubas de dos baras y quarta de alto y dos escasas
de ancho, 1,000 reales).

669. See note 621 above.

670. Pérez Sanchez (1993, pp. 178—179) cites an exact copy of a Flemish landscape painting by Matias Jimeno
in the Prado Museum. Jusepe Martinez (ed. 1988, p. 231) gives the example of the painter Pedro Urzanque
copying landscapes from prints.

SEVENTEENTH-CENTURY SPANISH TASTE 101



102

Spanish court would cause the best Flemish artists envy.”! Francisco de Collantes
became a highly successful specialist in the genre of landscape, whose style and sub-
jects appear to derive from northern models rather than the observation of the Castilian
landscape; his paintings, in turn, were also widely imitated.5”? Juan van der Hamen,
whose name and background were Flemish, painted Flemish-style landscapes for pri-
vate collectors.5”* Antonio de Pereda, who had Flemish family connections, appears to
have done so too and may have painted his Flemish-style mountain scene around
1636, when he sold two smail landscapes for the Buen Retiro collections.5”* Juan de la
Corte, a Fleming who had been trained in landscape in the north, was a very popular
artist at court despite his limitations as a figure painter.®’”> A whole host of artists of
lesser talent could have based any number of landscapes on northern prints and have
sold these to undiscerning clients at the lowest end of the market.67®

In his house at Huesca, the collector Don Vincencio Juan de Lastanosa hung
many landscape paintings by Spanish masters, including Pedro de Orrente, Cristobal
de Vargas (“‘el Sevillano”), and Francisco de Collantes, as well as local artists Pedro
de Urzanque and Miguel de San Juan.®”” Moreover, in one room Lastanosa hung a
series of convex mirrors that reflected the real landscape outside and brought this into
the interior.6’® The landscape backgrounds of Veldzquez’s portraits may have looked
more “realistic” to viewers in the 1620s because of the contrast with Flemish land-
scapes that represented the norm in Madrid.®”® Some landscape painters were reported
to have worked from nature, the prolific Cordoban painter Antonio del Castillo and
Don Lorenzo de Soto making drawings from the motif.%80 However, landscape paint-
ings appear to have been appreciated as imaginative evocations and generealised natu-
ral scenes. Thus, Palomino admired José Antolinez’s landscapes for their great beauty
and imaginative qualities (“capricho”).3! His pupil, Alonso dela Barco, “pintor pai-
sista,” s said to have made excellent and skilled landscapes entirely “from memory,
without looking at anything, with such variety and beauty that it was a wonder™ %82 A
distinctively different style of landscape painting initiated by Veldzquez and based on
Italian prototypes was typified by the work of Juan Bautista del Mazo, who painted
topographical views and imaginary subjects, and his pupil Benito Manuel Agiiero,
who was particularly inspired by the classical landscapes of Claude Lorrain.

Maps and Flemish views of cities in Philip II’s collection and those of private
individuals in the sixteenth century related to Spanish imperial hegemony in Europe.%%?
Views of Flemish towns and battles in the Dutch wars which were painted in tempera

671. Carducho, ed. 1979, p. 177. The view also reminds the Disciple of prints by Gerolamo Muziano (1528~
1592). Muziano was also mentioned as a landscape specialist by Pacheco (ed. 1990, p. 512), and his works
were widely known from prints by Cornelis Cort and Nicolds Béatrizet.

672. Angulo and Pérez Sanchez 1983, pp. 36-62.

673. Jordan 1985, p. 109.

674. Angulo and Pérez Sanchez 1983, p. 237, nos.162, 163-164.

675. Angulo and Pérez Sanchez 1969, pp. 349-368.

676. Jusepe Martinez (ed. 1988, p. 231) speaks of the painter Pedro Urzanque, who painted landscapes from
prints.

677. Sanchez Cantén 1941.

678. Tbid. p. 290.

679. The background of a lost equestrian portrait of Philip IV by Velazquez of 1626 was said to be *“all painted
from nature”. Lépez-Rey 1963, pp. 186—188, no. 186.

680. Palomino, ed. 1986, p. 212, 301.

681. Ibid., p. 244, “Tuvo gran genio para los paises, que los hizo con extremado primor, y capricho™.

682. Palomino, ed. 1986, p. 280; ibid., ed. 1987, p. 269.

683. Moran and Checa 1985, pp. 51-52, 121, 123, 124. R. Kagan (1984, p. 89) noted the popularity of map
collecting in the sixteenth century.
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were listed in Spanish collections, but the loss rate for such a fragile medium appears
to be extremely high.%®* Views of royal palaces were also painted in the 1630s by
Spanish artists, although Mazo’s depictions differed in their emphasis on royal gar-
dens and court life.%%> However, urban views were painted in Spain and are listed in
seventeenth-century sources. Juan de la Corte appears to have made a specialty of
these, and works by him exist today, such as the Plaza Mayor with Juego de Caras
(Madrid, Museo Municipal). A view of Toledo by El Greco was inventoried in the
Madrid collection of Doctor Pedro Pacheco (Doc. 71), along with 16 views of cities
in Flanders.

Some collections in the period were made up almost entirely of landscapes, and a
number of these appear to have made up sets of works. In 1622, for instance, the pic-
tures of Don Francisco de Alarcén, a knight of Santiago and member of the Council of
Castile, comprised 85 landscapes, some of which were Flemish, which represented the
Seasons, fables, hunting and fishing, and hermit saints.%¢ In 1662, 139 landscapes,
“perspectives,” and battle paintings numerically made up more than half of the 207
pictures in the collection of Doctor Pedro Pacheco, a member of the councils of
Castile and the Inquisition in 1662 (Doc. 71), which was appraised, appropriately
enough, by the landscape painter Benito Manuel Agiiero. While most of these were
listed without an author, some were Italian and Flemish pictures, and there were land-
scapes by Cajés, Collantes, Pedro Cotto, and Nuiiez. In this collection it was possible
to see landscapes with animals attributed to the Bassano and the “Spanish Bassano”
Pedro Orrente, and an undoubted rarity was the View of Toledo attributed to El Greco.
The inventory of 1661 of Don Francisco de Aponte y Chaves reflects this collector’s
remarkable taste for mythological and classical subjects and landscapes.®®” His paint-
ings were also appraised by the landscape painter Benito Manuel Agiiero, who did not
give attributions, except for four small landscapes “which contain the gypsies of
Calot”. Valuable works depicting scenes from the Trojan Wars (The Rape of Helen,
Burning of Troy), the story of Dido and Aeneas, and the Judgement of Paris recall
subjects painted by Juan de la Corte and Francisco Collantes. Another 50 paintings
were listed as landscapes (paises), which included architectural settings, ruins, and two
seascapes, and whose subjects included saints and mythological scenes. The collection
of Manuel Monje in 1677 comprised some 24 landscapes and 12 “perspectives” by
Italian, Flemish, and Spanish hands, which included works by Agtiero’s pupil, Don
Lorenzo de Soto (ca. 1634—ca. 1688). Palomino notes that Soto was of noble birth
and based his landscapes on drawings from nature. While sets of his landscapes were
popular among private collectors, Palomino also describes how a decline in quality of

684. The collection of Pedro Pacheco (Doc. 71) included 26 views of Flemish towns, and six paintings of
named Flemish towns were listed in the collection of Francisco Gonzdlez Cossio de 1la Hoz (Doc. 88). These
represent an older genre, and one which was more common in sixteenth-century collections.

685. M. Moran and F. Checa, Las casas del rey, Madrid 1986.

686. AHPM, Prot. 7.833, {f. 719-750v, Madrid 21 January 1643, for the postmortem inventory of Alarcén.
Ibid., f. 839v for the Pintura listed in a copy of an earlicr inventory of 4 February 1622: “Pintura en g entran
nueve payses muy grandes de arvoles y cacas y pescas y otros quatro mas largos De los tiempos y seys Un
poco menores flamencos de fabulas ¢ ystorias y diez algo mas pequefios de 1o mismo y Un mapa grande y
veynte y cinco payses de vara poco mas de largo y dos tercias de ancho de hermitafios y diez y seys de vara Y
quarta de largo Y vara de ancho de padres del yermo y quince mas pequeiios de lo mismo que valdran todos
400 ducados antes mas q menos”.

687. For the postmortem inventory of Apounte y Chaves, described as a Procurator (agente y procurador
general ... de estos Reynos), sece AHPM, Prot. 6.713, f. 459471, Madrid 30 December 1661; Getty Prove-
nance Index No. E-98. The paintings were valued by Agiicro on 9 January 1662 (ibid., ff. 492-494v).

SEVENTEENTH-CENTURY SPANISH TASTE 103



104

his later work led to a corresponding decline in the calibre of his clientele, until the
artist was reduced to selling his pictures on the street.%®8

The documents list landscapes by such well-known figure painters such as Caxés,
Niifiez, and Antolinez, which are unknown or unrecognised today.®*® More common,
however, are works listed by artists who cuitivated a specialty in landscape and “per-
spectives,” some of whom are all but unknown today; Pedro de Orrente, Francisco de
Collantes, Manuel de Azevedo, Pedro Cotto (“El Mallorquin™), Cristébal de Vargas
(“El Sevillano”), and Juan de Solfs. An entry in the 1643 inventory of capital of Don
Alamo de Parada y Mendoza lists “Mas tres paises de collantes dos de rruelas Dos de
lanchares Uno de agevedo,” in which the name of the landscape specialist Francisco
Collantes appears next to those of the figure painters Juan de Roelas (?) and Antonio
de Lanchares, and the now obscure landscape specialist Azevedo.®%°

The landscapes of Juan de Solis and Manuel de Azevedo were undoubtedly popu-
lar with collectors, who were able to order pictures directly from them. In 1623, the
escribano Francisco Enriquez commisioned Manuel de Azevedo to paint eight large
landscapes in which the narrative subject (historia ) was to be of the patron’s choice, a
clause which implies that Azevedo’s landscapes could accommodate different figura-
tive subjects according to the individual requirements of clients.®®! In the same year,
Juan de Solis contracted to paint for Don Luis de Mendoza, mayordomo of the Duque
de Pastrana and knight of the Order of Alcédntara, 12 landscapes, made up of four of
hermits, four of gardens and fountains (“payses y fuentes y casas”), and four with
hunting scenes (*“‘payses y monteria”).%°> An important clause in the document stipu-
lating that these be by Acevedo’s own hand was intended to guarantee the quality of
the paintings. In contrast, in 1628 the landscape painter Cristobal de Vargas Colmenar
sold his landscapes through the shop of Francisco Barrera, with whom he contracted
to supply pictures for a piece rate over a period of two years.®?? Francisco Collantes
may also have worked for Barrera in 1630, and it may have been common for artists
who painted landscapes and still lifes to sell their works through dealers and shops.®%*
Sale by private commission, however, was the most prestigious means of working and
which, at least in theory, could allow most creative freedom. Thus Collantes’ works
were sought out by the collector Francisco Merchant de 1a Cerda, who commissioned
landscapes from the young painter for his own remarkable collection of pictures by

688. Palomino, ed. 1986, p. 301.

689. A landscape by Caxés was sold in Paris in 1837. See Angulo and Pérez Sdnchez 1969, p. 255, no. 195.
690. Agullé 1978, pp. 196-197. Tt is unclear from the documents whether the painter referred to is Manuel de
Azevedo, who was brother of the Toledan painter Luis de Tristdn and a landscape painter in Madrid who sold
landscapes for the Buen Retiro, or Cristébal de Azevedo, mentioned by Dfaz del Valle as landscape specialist.
Sce Diaz del Valle, ed. 1933, p. 365; Angulo and Pérez Sdnchez 1972, p. 111; Pérez Sanchez 1992, p. 254.
691. AHPM, Prot. 3.982, ff. 322323, Madrid, 31 October 1623. The landscapes were to be 22 by 14 varas
and finished in five months for the sum of 700 reales. Enriquez was not legally bound to accept the works if for
whatever reason he was unhappy with them, even if they were to be declared perfect by other painters.

692. AHPM, Prot. 4.959, ff. 724725, Madrid, 13 October 1623. The paintings were all to measure 1Y x 11%2
varas, to be finished within six weeks and for an agreed price of 42 reales each.

693. AHPM, Prot. 4568, ff. 616v—617v, Madrid, 10 April 1628. Vargas contracted to paint only for Barrera for
two years and his pictures to allow his pictures to be sold through his Cassa v tienda. Barrera agreed to pay
Vargas 20 reales for pictures of 1%2 x 1 varas and 24 reales for pictures of 1 x 1%2 varas which depicted land-
scapes with hermits and single figures (Y esto sc entiende de hermitafios of figuras sueitas). Vargas was to
receive 64 reales for each painting of 2 varas in size, which depicted landscapes with narrative subjects (que
An de ser Paises de istorias). Barrera had paid Vargas 572 reales on account of the primed canvases which he
was 1o supply him; those of 1¥2 varas at 6 reales; 1Y2 varas at 8 reales, those of 2 varas at 20 reales.

694. AHPM, Prot. 3.923, ff. 143-143v, 247-248. On 6 May 1630, Barrera agreed to repay Collantes’ debt of
813 reales to the artists and dealer Francisco Verjés. On 3 August 1630, Verjés signed a receipt for this amount
received from Barrera.
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living artists. In a 1628 document, Collantes was paid by Merchant de la Cerda for a
painting of the Assumption of the Virgin, and contracted to paint for him two land-
scapes, one with ruins and the other with trees, mountains, and figures.®®* These paint-
ings were still in Merchant de la Cerda’s collection when it was inventoried in 1662,
nearly thirty-five years later.®%

Landscapes are not usually described in documents; in the case of artists who
enjoyed a reputation as specialists in the genre, their names appear in the documents
much like trademarks. Pictures listed as paises de Orrente could have been painted by
the artist or followers, such as the Madrid painter Mateo de Orozco (active 1634~
1652), and would be typified by Bassanesque rustic landscapes, with or without a reli-
gious subject.®” Battle paintings were the specialty of Juan de Toledo, called El
Capitin because he had been a soldier, and their actual appearance was almost never
recorded in the documents. The development of this genre too may owe something to
the importation of foreign examples onto the Spanish market.®®® Earlier in the seven-
teenth century, battle paintings by the Flemish specialist Sebastian Vranckx were con-
sidered too expensive for the Spanish market, and Spanish versions may have been
cheaper and sold better.5® In the collection of Don Gregorio Ortiz de Santecilla, a
knight of Santiago, in 1676 (Doc. 95) a battle picture by Toledo worth 30 ducats was
paired with a copy of a work by the renowned Italian specialist Aniello Falcone, which
was worth 10 ducats more. Battle paintings which appear in the inventories of nobles
and knights, such as Don Juan de Castefieda in 1694, might reflect a romantic nostal-
gia for the military role that had traditionally distinguished their caste.

Scenes from the story of Troy were extremely popular among court collectors, as
testified by the numbers in seventeenth-century inventories. A complete cycle of easel
paintings of the story of Troy were commissioned from Juan de la Corte by the Conde
de Villalcdzar de Sirga for his residence at M4laga; remarkably, they are still in sitn.”"
The Burning of Troy was the most painted subject from classical history in Spain, and
was a specialty of the painters Juan de Ia Corte and Francisco de Collantes.”®' For
contemporaries, these hellish images may have carried sobering reminders of histori-
cal catasrophe and reversals of fortune. In pictorial terms their appeal depended upon

695. AHPM, Prot. 5.247, ff. 105~ 106v, Madrid, 10 March 1628. By this document, Collantes agreed to repay
Merchant de la Cerda a loan of 220 reales and a further 59 reales that he had overpaid him for *“un lienzo de
nuestra ss(efior)a de la asunzion con los doce apostoles™ (2V2 x 1Y2 varas). He was also to paint him *“dos
liencos de dos paysses uno de Ruinas y otro de Arboles y Penas™ (2Y2 x 1¥2 varas) “que Cada uno tenga su
ystoria diferente hechas de mi mano a satisfacion y Contento del dho fran(cisc)o de la cerda™. The paintings
were to be completed within two months and were to cost 40 ducats for the pair. Collantes was unable to sign
the document, and his age was given as 24 years old. On 18 January 1632, Collantes contracted with another
private patron, Don Francisco de la Hoz Villegas, to paint a St. Jerome and a St. Peter (1Y varas), within one
and a half months, for 300 reales. This document bears the comparatively crude signature of the artist. AHPM,
Prot. 5.248, unfoliated. These are the only known archival documents for this artists published to date. Curi-
ously, a year later, when Collantes appraised the small number of religious paintings left on the death of one
Francisca Gonzélez de Sepilveda (wife of Pedro Gonzdlez de Sepilveda, Inqusitional notary), he did not sign
the document because he said he did not how (AHPM, Prot. 5.956, ff. 8v—-9, Madrid, 29 December 1633).
696. For the Assumption, see Agullé y Cobo 1981, p. 215; Angulo and Pérez Sanchez 1983, p. 48, no. 25. For
the two landscapes, see Agulld y Cobo 1981, p. 214; Angulo and Pérez Sanchez 1983, p. 60, nos. 96, 97.

697. See the collection of Gaspar de Ledesma Merifio for “Un quadro que llaman pays de pedro rreate tasa-
ronlo En ¢ien rreales” (Doc. 4, no. 46)

698. Nine paintings of sieges by Jan Snellinck (I) were listed in the collection of Juan de Echauz in 1687, for
instance, (Doc. 113, no. 1).

699. Denucé (1934, doc. 17) cites a document of 1624 which mentions the price of Vranckx’s oil paintings as
an impediment to their sale in Seville.

700. Lépez Torrijos 1985, pp. 83, 206-213.

701. Ibid., pp. 224-226. As Pérez Sanchez (1993, p. 174) has pointed out, these probably derive from Neopoli-
tan prototypes painted by artists such as Aniello Falcone and Mico Spadaro.
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the amount of dramatic incident and the number of small figures in these scenes. The
belief that the management of light effects in night scenes were a greater challenge to
the artist’s skill probably ensured such subjects a place in the collections of discerning
connoisseurs.” In the Madrid Alcdzar a large painting of the Burning of Troy appro-
priately hung over a fireplace.’”’ Two large and expensive paintings of the Burning of
Troy and the Banguet of Mark Anthony and Cleopatra were in the collection of the
Marqués of Montesclaros (Doc. 13), and were acquired from his almoneda by the
wealthy Genoese merchant and banker Pablo Justiniano in 1628 (Doc. 19).

Juan de la Corte and Francisco Collantes were widely admired specialists in scen-
ographic paintings with small figures, depicting themes from the Bible, mythology,
and classical and modern history. A battle painting by Juan de la Corte is listed in the
collection of Gaspar de Ledesma Merifio in 1618 (Doc. 4); he seems to have enjoyed
a reputation with such paintings from an early date. He also made a specialty of paint-
ings of topical contemporary scenes, such as his ‘Juego de Canas’ in the Plaza Mayor
(Madrid, Museo Municipal). The patronage of private collectors must have been the
mainstay of the careers of Collantes and De la Corte, and Diaz del Valle and Palomino
note that their works were to be found in many “casas particulares” of the court.

The inventories reflect the increasing popularity in the second half of the seven-
teenth century of a specialist category of pictures known as “perspectives,” which
denoted subject pictures with small figures in elaborate architectural settings. Perhaps
the importation of works of this type by specialists in Italy caused more native painters
to take up the genre. Six perspectives by Didier Barra, called Monsud Desiderio in
Spain, were listed in collection of Don Fernando de Tinoco in 1652 and are among
the earliest documented in a Spanish collection (Doc. 54). Manuel Monje’s collection
boasted a set of 12 perspectives from Palermo (Doc. 96). The paintings of Viviano
Codazzi were extremely popular in Spain among those collectors who could afford
them, such as Ana Maria de Lezcama, widow of Joseph Pardo de Figueroa, Consejo de
Castilla 1678 (Doc. 99, no. 6), and Joseph Marquez de Escalante, Presbitero y Ayuda
de Oratorio de la Reina 1680 (Doc. 103, no. 1).

Earlier in the century, Juan de la Corte had a reputation for such works. De la
Corte combined a perspective setting with portraits of the royal family in one large
painting (Keir, Stirling Maxwell Collection), which may have been the work that
headed the 1646 inventory of the collection of Juan Siburi y Espinola, the Genoese
wife of Don Juan Hurtado de Tapia, a royal accountant.”® Around the middle of the
seventeenth century, Lazaro Diaz del Valle particularly noted the expertise of Fran-
cisco de la Corte and Francisco Gutiérrez as painters of perspective.’® Gutiérrez
appears to have been one of the most popular practitioners of the genre in the second

702. Diego de la Vega (Paraiso de lu gloria de los santos, 1607, t. 1, p. 329, cited in Herrero Garcfa 1943,

p. 214) remarks on the artistic challenge of the night scene (“suela la mano artificiosa de un pintor mostrar su
destreza en una pintura de noche”) and gives the examples of an Agony in the Garden and a Burning of Troy
(*“donde se ven los medios edificios caidos, las torres que vienen a tierra, las llamas que suben trepando tanto
humo, tantas sombras, y descubiertas las medias figuras a media luz y no mas™} Herrero Garcia 1943, p. 177
for similar comments by Alonso de la Cruz (Discursos evangélicos, 1599) , who adds two other religious sub-
jects. Pacheco (ed. 1990, p. 514) also believed the subject of the Burning of Troy required “great skill and
care” (gran destreza y observancia) in the handling of the lighting.

703. Orso 1986, p. 21.

704. Barrio Moya 1984, p. 462: “Primeramente dos liengos grandes, de quatro baras de largo y dos y media de
alto con sus molduras de pino teiiidas de negro, que en el uno esta pintada la vatalla de las Dunas de neoporte
en los estados de flandes = y en el otro una perspectiba con los reies y principe y otras figuras, pintados por
Juan de la Corte, fueron tasados en 2.500 reales.”

705. Diaz del Valle, ed. 1933, pp. 369 and 371, respectively.
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half of the century.”® In 1665 Gutiérrez valued two of his own works in the collection
of Ana Marfa de Pefiaranda most highly of all (Doc. 76). His works were esteemed
enough by the widow of a royal secretary, who took them with her into retirement in a
convent in 1698.797 His pictures were sometimes composites from foreign prints, the
figures lifted from Cigoli, for instance, and architectural settings from manuals of per-
spective, such as that of Hans Vredeman de Vries.”®® Despite the fact that they derived
from other images, they were often works whose size, complexity, number of figures,
and sheer amount of labour made them comparatively more expensive than many pure
landscapes. While many of these paintings remain in the storerooms of galleries today,
or are exhibited as curiosities, they represent an important aspect of taste for paintings
in the seventeenth century which is proved by their incidence in inventories of con-
temporary picture collections.

706. Angulo and Pérez Sanchez 1983, pp. 70-74.

707. Ibid., p. 72, nos. 1-4.

708. Ibid., pp. 72—73. Chrysostoom van Immerseel, the Flemish merchant in Seville who dealt in art, was
importing books by Vredeman de Vries from the 1630s. See Denucé 1934, doc. 16.
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A GOLDEN AGE OF COLLECTING

Marcus B. Burke

The Reigns of Charles V and Philip 11

The accession in 1516 of a “foreign” monarch, Charles of the Austro-Burgundian
house of Hapsburg (who was soon to be Holy Roman Emperor as well as king of
Spain), injected an international orientation into Spanish collecting at the highest
level.! Charles’s youth was spent in Flanders, but his taste was oriented toward Italy, at
least after his political and military career had brought him into contact with the High
Renaissance.? In time Charles became an important patron of Titian as well as the
Leoni, artists who would continue to be favored under Philip II.

Whether we can consider Charles to have been a “picture collector” is somewhat
more problematic. Modern art collections tend to place painting, graphic art, and
sculpture into a category separate from the “decorative arts,” but this was not the case
in Spain in the later Middle Ages and early Renaissance. Paintings were among sev-
eral types of precious objects placed in the care of the guardajoyas, or “keeper of the
royal treasures,” 3 and there is no indication, as in Florentine collecting by the fifteenth
century,* that works of “high” art and the artists who made them enjoyed a higher
status than, for example, jewelry and the artists who made it. We do not know if
Charles shared this attitude, although his commissioning tapestries after cartoons by
Jan Cornelisz van Vermeyen instead of a series of paintings to celebrate the victories
in the campaign against Tunis suggests a lingering medieval frame of mind.

Even if Charles was not a “picture collector” as such, it is nonetheless certain
that he possessed a large picture collection, albeit one scattered among the various cit-
ies in Europe where the peripatetic monarch held court. In Spain alone Charles owned

1. The history of collecting in sixteenth- and early seventeenth-century Spain is still being written, although
recent studies by J. Miguel Morén, Fernando Checa, Angela Delaforce, Jonathan Brown, Barbara von Bar-
ghahn, and Sarah Schroth have provided both the essential framework of the phenomena and a host of useful
details.

2. See H. Trevor-Roper, Princes and Artists: Patronage and ldeology at Four Habsburg Courts, 15171633,
New York 1976. Trevor-Roper’s insistence on the Flemish aspect of Charles’s taste may be overstated. For
example, his palace in the Alhambra at Granada and the upper story added to the interior court of the Alcdzar at
Seville are Italianate in style. A proper study of the history of Charles’s taste has yet to be made.

3. According to a description of the household of Charles V presented in the 1570s or 1580s by Jean Sigonney,
Comptroller of the Household to Philip II, the guardajoyas was one of a number of court officials supervising
various aspects of the royal possessions. These included the royal clockmaker, ornamental ironworker, tapestry
conservators, and silversmith. The aposentadores, or officials in charge of the maintenance, furnishing, and
supply of the Household, were a separate department. Madrid: Biblioteca Nacional, ms. 1080. (I am indebted to
Profs. Jonathan Brown and John Elliott for bringing this manuscript to my attention.) See also the discussion on
the palace duties of Velédzquez under Philip IV in . Brown, linages and Ideas in Seventeenth-Century Spanish
Painting, Princeton 1978, pp. 94-96.

4. See the memorandum written in the 1470s by Giovanni Rucellai of Florence, who lists the important pictures
in his family’s collection by artist’s name only. According to C. Gilbert, ltalian Art 1400— 1500: Sources and
Documents, Englewood Cliffs, NJ,1980, pp. 110111, Rucellai’s list is the first inventory of a private art col-
lection that is a “collection” in the modern sense of the word. Rucellai’s inventory is published in transiation by
Gilberton p. 112.

5. The Tunis tapestries and van Vermeyen's designs have been studied by H. J. Horn, Charles V's Conquest of
Tunis: Cartoons and Tapestries by Jan Cornelisz Vermeyen, Ph.D. dissertation, Yale University, 1977; published
as Jan Cornelisz Vermeyen, painter of Charles V and his Conquest of Tunis, Doornspijk 1989.
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more than 600 paintings. Madrazo notes the 470 paintings inherited from Queen Isa-
bella; a collection of more than 100 paintings, plus 40 not inventoried, which came to
Charles from his aunt and guardian, Margarita of Austria; and additional paintings
belonging to his mother, Queen Juana, and therefore (presumably) to his grandfather,
King Ferdinand.® To these may be added hundreds more in foreign centers and yet
others commissioned during his reign.” By the time of Charles’s death, moreover,
painting and sculpture had begun to acquire the pre-eminence among the arts which
they have since enjoyed. Indeed, the change to a more modern attitude toward painting
finds its terminus ante quem in the events following the emperor’s demise.

Together with his Flemish, Spanish, and Italian dominions and worldly goods,
Charles had bequeathed an enormous burden of debts to Philip II, who therefore had
to decide which parts of his royal inheritance were worth preserving and which could
be sacrificed to keep the estate solvent. At the almoneda, or public sale, which fol-
lowed the settiement of Charles’s will in 1571, Philip bought in all the paintings and
certain jewels of importance for Hapsburg imperial history and gave up most of the
other valuable objects.® Apparently Philip found the symbols of his family’s suzerainty
and the picture collection more important than the other treasures of the crown.
Already made aware, by virtue of his travels, of the wider world of European art,
Philip would soon develop into one of the most important connoisseurs, collectors,
and patrons of his age.” By the time of his death, Philip had given more than 1,000
works to the Escorial alone.!®

Philip’s appreciation of fine pictures was neither unique nor unprecedented, even
in the history of patronage in Spain. Rather, his decision to keep his father’s collection
intact was the result of cultural forces that had been gathering strength throughout
Europe for many decades. Among the most important of these forces were the influ-
ence of Humanism and Neoplatonism,!! the vast increase in the amount of theorizing
about art that took place in the Renaissance,!? a greatly enlarged knowledge of ancient
literature, artistic practice, and aesthetic values,' and Renaissance princes’ desire to

6. Madrazo 1884, pp. 30-33.

7. The 1561 inventory of Charles’s possessions at Simancas, a 1563 inventory of imperial robes and crowns,
and the inventory of Mary of Hungary have been published, along with many other documents relating to six-
teenth-century Hapsburg artistic matters, by R. Beer in Jahrbuch der Kunsthistorischen Sammiungen des aller-
héchsten Kaiserhauses Vienna, vol. 12, 1891, part 2 (“Quellen”), pp. xci—cciv (= nos. 8347-8483). Cf. the
Simancas inventory and Charles’s inventory at Yuste in 1558, cited by Madrazo 1884, pp. 31~44.

8. Madrazo, pp. 46-48. Apparently Philip sought at the end of his life to create something like crown jewels
for the monarchy, a desire that his successors never realized. See N. Horcajo Palomero in Reales Sitios, ycar 31,
no. 123, 1995, pp. 2-9.

9. Brown 1986, p. 28; Brown 1995.

10. His collection has recently been catalogued in Madrid: Patrimonio Nacional, IV Centenario del Monasterio
de El Escorial. Las colecciones del rey. Pintura y escultura, Madrid 1986 [hereafter: Escorial 1986]. Useful
overviews of his career as a collector may be found in Jonathan Brown's article in this volume and in “Philip I
as Art Collector and Patron,” in Richard Kagan, ed., Spanish Cities of the Golden Age: The Views of Anton van
den Wyngaerde, Berkeley 1989, pp. 14-39.

11. See E. Panofsky, “The Neoplatonic Movement and Michaelangelo,” in Studies in Iconology, New York
1962, ¢1939, Chapter 6, pp. 171230 (with bibliography), as well as the following: Panofsky, Meaning in the
Visual Arts, Garden City 1955, pp. 132, 148; Panofsky, Idea: A Concept in Art Theory, Columbia, S.C., 1968,
passim; C. de Tolnay, The Art and Thought of Michelangelo, S vols., Princeton [1943-60] 19691971, passim.
12. For a treatment of this subject see A. Blunt, Artistic Theory in Italy, Oxford 1940, passim.

13. This is especially true of the uses to which the “ut pictura poesis™ concept was put. Renaissance aestheti-
cians used the relationship between painting and literature, which Horace formulated as a tool for literary criti-
cism, as a means of ¢levating the social value of the visual arts. See R. Lec, “Ut pictura poesis: The Humanistic
Theory of Painting,” in The Art Bulletin, 22, 1940, pp. 197269 (also published separately). H. W. Janson, in
History of Art, New York 1969, pp. 277-279, notes that Boccaccio had also used a similar concept when he
spoke of Giotto’s having raised art to a status not held since antiquity. In Janson’s analysis, Boccaccio was using
Giotto’s popularity to bolster Petrarch’s new Renaissance-consciousness.
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harness the social power of art to political ends.'* The result was an important role for
the arts in Renaissance society and politics, as well as a marked increase in the mate-
rial rewards and social status enjoyed by painters and sculptors.'?

The first peak in this artistic ascent was reached in 1533, when Charles V made
Titian a Count Palatine and Knight of the Golden Spur. As Levey has noted, Titian’s
achievement is even more notable for having been the result of his skill as a painter
instead of some other quality or service.'® In addition, Charles V’s desire to play Alex-
ander to Titian’s Apelles had actually preceded thetr first meeting: it was Titian’s
works themselves that commended him to the emperor.'? It is no surprise, then, that
Charles’s son came to value both Titian and Titian’s works so highly. But many years
would pass before the royal admiration for painting was translated into an improved
social status for Spanish painters. Not until the late seventeenth century, when collect-
ing pictures was well established as an aristocratic pastime, did Spanish painters at last
achieve recognition as artists rather than craftsmen.!®

One final explanation of Philip’s preservation of his father’s pictures lies in the
role these paintings played in royal propaganda. Along with his collection, Philip
inherited a strong family tradition of using the arts to glorify the state, exemplified
by commissions such as Diirer’s allegorical prints for Maximilian I and the already-
mentioned Tunis tapestries of Charles V. Indeed, Charles went so far as to bring the
designer of the tapestries, van Vermeyen, along on the North African campaign as a
sort of “battlefield artist™.?® The Wunderkammer of Rudolph II (Hapsburg cousin to
Philip II and Holy Roman Emperor, 1576-1612) was both an expression of imperial
magnificence and a symbol of the emperor’s claim to power.?' Previous rulers of
Renaissance Spain had been equally aware of the value of artistic propaganda. One
may cite the triumphal arch that Alfonso V of Aragon built after 1453 to commemo-
rate his conquest of Naples, the projects of Alfonso’s successors in southern Italy, and
the buildings with highly political decorative schemes that the Catholic monarchs built

14. M. Levey, Painting at Court, New York 1971, Chapters 2 and 3 — “Courts of Earth” and *'Propaganda for
the Prince.” Cf. F. H. Taylor, The Taste of Angels, Boston 1948, Chapters 1 -4, passim. On Philip II's patronage.
sce also C. Justi, “Philipp I als Kunstfreund,” Miscellaneen aus drei Jahrhunderten spanischen Kunstiebens, 2
(no. 12), Berlin 1908, pp. 1-36; sce especially “War Philipp H ein Kunstverstindiger?” (pp. 31-36).

15. Blunt 1940, Chapter 4, pp. 48—-57; one should contrast this to the earlier situation as reported by Taylor,

p. 48. Sce also Levey 1971 passim, and the documentation now provided by Martin Warnke, Hofkiinstler: Zur
Vorgeschichte des modernen Kiinstlers, Cologne 1985; English translation, Cambridge and London 1993,

16. Patent of nobility published in F. Beltrami, Cenni illustrativi sul monumento a Tiziano Vecellio, Venice
1852, pp. 99-103. According to Levey 1971, p. 119, carlier knighthoods, such as that given to Carlo Crivelli by
Ferdinand, King of Naples, were rewarded almost in spite of the artist’s profession. Cf. Levey 1971, pp. 117—
118 (citing Vasari).

17. This information is from Arctino’s account in a letter to Charles V's wife, cited by JLA. Crowe and G.B.
Cavalcaselle, Life and Times of Titian, London 881, p. 361. Sec Levey 1971, pp. 119-120. The chronology of
the first actual meetings between Charles and Titian, and the sequence of paintings resulting from these meet-
ings, is the subject of scholarly debate. For a summary of the problem, see C. Hope, “Titian’s Early Meetings
with Charles V,” The Art Bulletin, 59, no. 4, 1977, pp. 551-552.

18. The social status of artists in Golden Age Spain has been investigated by J. Gallego, E{ pintor de artesano a
artista, Granada 1976; by M.C. Volk, “On Veldzquez and the Liberal Arts,”" in The Art Bulletin, 60 [incorrectly
printed as 581, no. 1, 1978, pp. 69~86; and by Brown 1978, pp. 87-110.

19. Diirer’s work for Maximilian has been investigated by E. Panofsky, The Life and Art of Albrecht Diirer, 1,
Princeton [1943] 1955, pp. 172-197. See also the catalogue for the Boston Museum of Fine Arts exhibition,
Albrecht Diirer: Master Printmaker, Boston 1971, pp. 247-257. For a discussion of the circumstances sur-
rounding the commission of the Tunis tapestries, see Horn 1977,

20. See Horn 1977, passim, and Trevor-Roper 1976, pp. 26-28.

21. T. DaC. Kaufmann, “Remarks on the Collections of Rudolf II: the Kunstkammer as a Form of Representa-
tio,” in The Art Journal, 38, no. 1, 1978, pp. 22~28.
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on the Spanish mainland.??> While still a prince, Philip II had enlisted the arts to sup-
port his claim to inherit the Holy Roman Empire.?3

Two other actions of Philip II were to influence Spanish collecting in the next
century: the importation of Italian artists (the so-called escurialenses) to decorate his
monastery-mausoleum-palace at the Escorial, and the establishment of Madrid as the
fixed capital of Castile and (implicitly) the other nations ruled by Spain. At the Esco-
rial, Philip established the precedent of turning to Spain’s non-Iberian possessions,
especially Italy, for certain types of artistic products: in his case, for large-scale deco-
rative programs and frescoes, to which secular subject matter would be added in the
next century. Indeed, in bringing the Italians to Spain, Philip may be said to have
secured an Italian foundation for the development of the seventeenth-century Spanish
school of history and religious painting, just as his having brought Antonis Mor to the
Iberian Peninsula added Netherlandish influence to Spanish portraiture.?* Both Flem-
ish and Italian influences were present in the architecture of the Escorial and Flemish
art was heavily represented in Philip’s picture collection.

In architecture the movement from the Plateresque style, with its intensely deco-
rated portals and windows separated by areas of blank wall, to the severe, somewhat
mannered classicism of Charles V’s palace at Granada and the Escorial, may be
thought of as removing decoration: hence the term estilo desornamentado. The inte-
rior of the Escorial was, considerably less “unadorned” than the exterior, although,
oddly, in spite of the remarkable amount of scholarship directed at Philip II as patron
and collector at the Escorial, there is confusion about the exact scheme of decoration
that existed during his lifetime. Of course, many sections of the complex — the library,
the Hall of Battles, the sacristy cloister — still preserve original frescoes. Similarly,
fragments of the secular decoration, such as highly decorative intarsia doorways, still
survive, although these have apparently been moved from their original locations.?
The use of tile dadoes also suggests a controlled sumptuousness with much closer ties
to the Plateresque and to earlier mudéjar traditions than the severe exterior would sug-
gest. Pictures would have added greatly to the effect, just as they do today in the royal
apartments and the museum areas. Philip had a great many pictures; if we add his own
works kept at the Escorial to the more than 1,000 he deeded over to the institution, we
arrive at an enormous figure.

22. Sce E. R. Driscoll, “Alfonso of Aragon as a Patron of Art,” in L. F. Sandler, ed., Essays in Memory of Karl
Lehman, New York 1964, pp. 87-96; G.L. Hersey, Alfonso II and the Artistic Renewal of Naples, 14851495,
New Haven 1969; ibid., The Aragonese Arch at Naples, 14431475, New Haven 1973 (reviewed by Driscoll,
The Art Bulletin, 57, no. 2, 1975; and by H. W. Kruft, The Burlington Magazine, 116b, November 1974, p. 679
—reply, 117a, June 1975, pp. 393-394).

23. For a discussion of these carly commissions of Philip I1, his supervision of the building of the Escorial, and
related matters, see M. Tanner, Titian: The *‘Poesie” for Philip II, Ph.D. dissertation, New York University
Institute of Fine Arts, 1976, pp. 4—13.

24. Among an increasing number of works on the subject of Italian influence on Spanish painting, the follow-
ing may be cited: A.E. Pérez Sanchez, ed., Caravaggio y el naturalismo espariol (catalogue of the exhibition
held at Seville in 1973), introductory essay, n.p., and extensive bibliography (hereafter: Seville 1973); Pérez
Sanchez, “La crisis de la pintura espafiola en torno a 1600,” in Esparia en las crisis del arte europeo, Madrid
1968, pp. 167—-177; H. Soehner, “Forschungs und Literaturbericht zum Problem des spanischen Caravaggis-
mus,” Kunstchronik, 10, 1957, pp. 31-37. See also the entries for R. Longhi 1951, S. Jacob 1967-1968, and
Pérez Sanchez 1964 in Seville 1973. Most recently, Jonathan Brown has proposed a model of cultural and artis-
tic diffusion from ltaly to Flanders and from both Italy and Flanders to Spain, with an autonomous Spanish
response, as the basis for understanding the development of the Spanish national school from the escurialenses
to the end of the seventeenth century. See Brown 1991, p. 2 and passim.

25. See Jesis Sacnz de Miera, “La historia de El Escorial en sus objctos: Las puertas taraceadas del Palacio
Privado,” Reales Sitios, 28, no. 108, 1991, pp. 29--36.

MADRID, 1601-1755



In the long run, the establishment of the court at Madrid would prove even more
important for the arts, since the previous system of moving the court among many
locations in Old and New Castile necessarily dispersed royal patronage instead of
focusing it on one spot. The peripatetic court was also a symptom of the crown’s rela-
tive weakness in relation to the great noble families, a political balance that the Haps-
burgs continually sought to overturn to their favor throughout the sixteenth century.
Nevertheless, although both Charles V and Philip II selectively excluded the grandees
from the centers of power from the time of the Comuneros onward, their potential
presence in a national (and indeed, an international) capital at Madrid eventually
resulted in a great concentration of patronage and collecting there once the members
of the aristocracy began to re-assert themselves under Philip IIT and Philip IV.

For these reasons —not to mention the concentration of documents in the Madrid
archives — this study has focused on Madrid. Let us therefore pause in our historical
survey to make some observations about life in the capital during the Golden Age.

The Urban Environment: Madrid in the Seventeenth Century

Although geographically central to the Iberian Peninsula, Madrid in many other ways
is ill suited for a major national capital. Situated on an arid plateau with an uncertain
water supply, it had an extremely irregular topography and, at the time of Philip II's
ascension, almost no monumental buildings other than a cramped fortress-palace, the
Alcazar. Thus, when Philip decided to move his court from Toledo to Madrid in 1561,
the selection seems to have represented, as Brown and Elliott have put it, “the triumph
of policy over plausibility.” 2¢ Indeed, Philip himself found it necessary to retire to the
foothills of the Guadarrama mountains to build his major monument, the Escorial,
although he also sponsored construction at the alcazares of Madrid and Toledo, the El
Pardo Palace, and elsewhere. Perhaps because Philip’s patronage was focused on the
Escorial, Madrid never developed into a real metropolis under his leadership, although
it became of necessity something of a boom town. Philip II’s successor, Philip III, and
the new favorite, the Duque de Lerma, attempted to move the court to Valladolid in
1601, but eventually returned to Madrid in 1606.

In spite of heroic efforts during the reign of Philip IV, the Alcdzar of Madrid
remained an awkward, uncomfortable residence, while the new summer palace built
in the 1630s, the Buen Retiro, was a hastily constructed, sprawling affair distinguished
more for its gardens and interior decor than for its exterior facades. The houses in the
town were even worse: since there were no convenient sources of stone or lime, many
dwellings were essentially adobe structures.”” Only the Plaza Mayor, initially built
from 1617 to 1619 under Philip III and Lerma’s patronage by the architect Juan
Goémez de Mora,?® had any sort of monumental aspect, although it was eventually
joined by distinguished individual government buildings, such as the court jail, and
a number of fine churches built during the reigns of Philip IV and Charles II.

Many noble Spanish families (the Duques de Infantado and their Mendoza rela-
tives, the Marqueses de los Vélez, along with the Alcalds and Lerma) had built signifi-
cant palaces in the sixteenth and early seventeenth centuries, but none of these was

26. Brown and Elliott 1980, p. 1.

27. For a survey of the urban history of Madrid, see Ramén de Mesonero Romanos, EI antiguo Madrid (Madrid
1861; also reprinted in an edition of 1976); see also the bibliography cited in Brown and Elliott 1980, p. 259.
28. See Madrid: Museo Municipal (essay and catalogue by V. Tovar Martin), Juan Gémez de Mora (1568 —
1648), exhibition catalogue, Madrid 1986.
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located in Madrid. The return of the grandees to the center of power under the leader-
ship of Lerma, Olivares, and Haro was therefore a return to an urban environment in
no way prepared to receive them. Perhaps because so many of the grandees were of
Valencian, Toledan, or Andalusian origin — all three areas have a strong Moorish
aspect — the nobles who came to Madrid also seem to have stressed the interiors of
their dwellings, which were often modest mudéjar brick structures with stone portals
and trim, arranged around or set in small huertas, or gardens.

Indeed, the garden pavilion seems to have been especially popular with collec-
tors. Duque de Lerma’s garden can be seen in the map of Madrid ca. 1630 by De Wit
(now in the Biblioteca Nacional). The Conde de Monterrey also, had a house with gar-
den on the Prado de San Gerénimo across from the Buen Retiro (that is, on the mod-
ern Paseo del Prado, where the Banco de Espafia now stands), which Gémez de Mora
had expanded to include a picture gallery opening onto the boulevard, somewhat in the
manner of the Frick Collection in New York.?® (Apparently, Monterrey, like Frick,
sought to enable some form of public access to his private museum.) According to a
contemporary account, Monterrey’s sala, or main gallery, was 120 feet long and deco-
rated with the finest of the Monterrey canvases.’® The grounds were set about with
ancient statues and casts after the antique, acquired during his service in ltaly.?!

In contrast, the palace of Monterrey’s brother-in-law, Don Luis de Haro (the 6th
Marqués del Carpio), was composed of a series of smaller houses, as was often done at
Toledo and, at Valladolid from 1601 to 1606 in order to provide a residence for Philip
III. Don Luis’s son, Gaspar de Haro (7th Marqués del Carpio), followed his uncle
Monterrey’s example and built as his principal residence a garden pavilion (which he
called “mi jardin,” or “my garden”) on the site where the Palacio de Liria and its
gardens now stand (as we have noted, the Carpio and Alba estates were merged in the
carly eighteenth century).

Like Monterrey’s garden house, Don Gaspar’s house seems to have been con-
ceived as a museum, and this may also have been true of the house and collection of
the ninth Almirante de Castilla, whose son, the tenth almirante, rearranged the palace
as a series of exhibits based on the attributions of the pictures displayed in each room
(see the introductory remarks to Docs. 43 and 117). The Imperial German ambassador,
Ferdinand Harrach, wrote in 1674 that when he visited the tenth almirante he was
stunned by the collection, the interior decor, and the garden, but unimpressed by the
exterior architecture of the palace, which, like that of Monterrey, was located on the
Prado de San Ger6nimo, and including, like that of Monterrey, a gallery.*? In short —
and in contrast to Italian cities such as Venice, Genoa, and Naples — Madrid was a city
of interiors, some arranged as private museums.

29. Sce P. Sagies Azcona, La Real Congregacion de San Fermin de los Navarros en Madrid, Madrid 1963,
pp. 119-120: cf. Pérez Sdnchez. Pintura ltaliana del siglo XVIII en Espana, Madrid 1965, p. 66, and 1977,

p. 422.

30. Sce F. Silvestre Gomez, Jardin florido del Conde de Monterrey (Madrid 1940), cited by D. de Alba, Dis-
cursos leidos ante la Real Academia de Bellas Artes de San Fernando en la recepcion piblica del Excmo.

Sr. Duque de Berwick y de Alba, Madrid 1924, pp. 44f.

31. The statues on the grounds probably included a Venus, an Apollo, and a gladiator sent to Madrid in the
shipment of December 1637. Sce Brown and Elliott 1980, pp. 123 and 269, note 61; Alba 1924, p. 40; and
Pérez Sdnchez, “Las colecciones de pintura del Conde de Monterrey (1653),” Boletin de la Real Academia de
la Historia, 174, no. 3 (1977). pp. 419f,, citing Cartas de Jesuitas, in Memorial Histérico Espariol. 14, p. 346.
32. From the diary of the Graf Ferdinand Harrach, Imperial Ambassador to Madrid; dated in Madrid 16 May
1674, published in Harrach, Ferdinand B., Graf, Tagebuch ... 16731674, F. Mencik, ed., Vienna 1913, p. 91.
(I am indebted to Enriqueta Harris Frankfort for this reference.) [16 May 1674] “Das Gebiiu des Hauses is sonst
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Moving from the greatest nobles down to the next level of society — lesser aristo-
crats, prelates, highly placed court officials, commanders of military orders or holders
of similarly lucrative positions, other wealthy hidalgos, and particularly wealthy com-
moners — we find that only a difference of scale separated their homes from those of
the grandees. Marcelin Defourneaux has sketched out the typical Spanish townhouse
of the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, with its entrance hall, or zagudn, on the
ground floor and the reception rooms on the piano nobile, beginning with an ante-
chamber and followed by a series of drawing rooms (estrados), including, in the
wealthier households, a grand salon, or estrado de cumplimiento, for important
occasjons.??

Some idea of what these interiors looked like may be derived from an engraving
published in José Garcia Hidalgo’s Principios para estudiar el nobilisimo y real arte
de la pintura [1693] (Madrid 1965) (Fig. 14). Although we must be careful not to
assume that Garcfa Hidalgo was depicting an actual interior (some of the furniture sus-
piciously resembles pieces known to be in the royal palace), his engraving does allow
us to make some generalizations about interior design and the role of pictures. The
room seems to be a vestibule of some kind, since the door appears to open onto either
the street (as it would in Madrid) or a patio (as in Seville or Valencia). The rich decor,
however, suggests a salon or receiving room of some importance, so that we may
apply his visual evidence to the estrados on the principal floor of larger houses as
well: note that the woman in the central doorway raises a curtain to reveal what may
be a room of similar size beyond, so that the room depicted may have been intended to
be understood as one of a series. Paired Spanish secretaries (varguefios) with their
trestle stands (puentes) and a larger Flemish or Italian-style secretary, as well as chairs
for guests, make up the furniture. Other than a few pieces of ceramic over the door, the
decor otherwise consists entirely of pictures, in this case edifying religious subjccts in
keeping with Garcfa Hidalgo’s exemplary program. To judge from the inventories
recorded here, a wealthier noble household, or even the royal palace, would have had
more of these rooms, with certain ones distinguished by especially fine decoration in
keeping with some special function or other importance. Less prosperous houses
would have had smaller or fewer rooms, decorated with smaller or less expensive pic-
tures. Garcia Hidalgo’s image is misleading on two points, however, since there are no
portraits and no landscapes. (We know from the inventories that portraits were com-
mon in at least the aristocratic households and that the great majority of collections,
from the king’s down through those of commoners, contained landscapes, usually
Flemish.) Nevertheless, it can easily be seen how the pictures in such a room could be
used to infer certain qualities of their owner: their devoutness, career, or particulars of
family genealogy, for example.

schlecht und irregulier, und siht man, dass ein Stokel an das andere geflickt worden, inwendig aber mit unter-
schidlichen alcoven und Berschlag von Spiegelglasern gar sauber geziert.... [He mentions a garden with two
water-play fountains.] ... Die ganz ling des Garten lasst er Schupfen oder Gewdlber machen in Form ciner
Galeria, auf selben eine Terasse mit seinen Palustren und Statuen.... [a hermitage chapel] ... Der Garten und
Haus ligt al Prado viejo.” Harrach also mentions (p. 51) the Equestrian Statue of Philip I1I (by Tacca) on the
grounds of the Casa del Campo, as well as a visit to the gallery of the Duque del Infantado (p. 87), of which he
gives no details. On 30 May 1674, the Duque del Infantado sponsored a gala in honor of the feast of San Fer-
nando (p. 95). Harrach also cites the works by Titian in the Royal Collection (p. 87), along with tapestries and
statues, some of the latter being copies after ancient works.

33. M. Defourneaux, Daily Life in Spain in the Golden Age, London 1970 (Paris 1966), pp. 148149,

A GOLDEN AGE OF COLLECTING 115



116

Sixteenth-Century Noble Collections

The collections of the great nobles under Philip II have only recently begun to be stud-
ied. Perhaps because of their secondary political role, the grandees tended to absent
themselves from court, remaining for long periods at their seigniorial estates, sur-
rounded by cliques of retainers.>* As a result, documentation of art collections for this
period is more scattered and more difficult to access than that for the seventeenth
century.

Stirling-Maxwell has suggested that the Duque de Alba’s collections were housed
in two palaces: La Abadia in Extremadura and the ducal seat in Alba de Tormes. He
also cites as important collectors of Italian painting the Mendozas in Guadalajara; the
Dugque de Villahermosa in Zaragoza; Luis de Avila, Comendador Mayor of the Order
of Alcéntara in Plasencia; the de Silvas in Buitraga; the Sandoval y Rojas family in
Valencia; the Pimentels (Condes de Benavente); and Antonio Pérez, Secretary to
Philip IL.33

The Berwick y Alba archives — so rich in information about the Carpio and other
family collections — ironically contain only fragmentary evidence on the Alba collec-
tion in the seventeenth century. However, a number of objects that have either been
listed in the surviving inventories or been preserved in the Berwick y Alba art collec-
tion are from the sixteenth-century holdings of the “Gran Duque.” These include
Titian’s St. Martha and Christ and General Pardon Conceded to Flanders by the
Dugue de Alba, and a curious statue, closely related to sixteenth-century satirical
engravings, showing the Duque de Alba crushing a three-headed serpent whose heads
represent Queen Elizabeth I of England, the Protestant Elector of Saxony, and the
Pope.?® Alba is also known to have confiscated works by Bosch in Flanders and sent
them to Philip IT in Madrid.?” The Pimentel (Benavente) and Infantado collections,
discussed below, also began to be prominent at this time.

The investigations of Delaforce and others have thrown considerable light on the
collecting activities of the government officials surrounding Philip.?# Philip II is also
known to have bought heavily from the estates of Don Felipe de Guevara, Don Luis
Manrique, and Cardinal Gaspar de Quiroga, as well as from the almoneda of Don Juan
de Austria, his half-brother,’ whose names may be added to the list of private collec-
tors at the time.

Art Collecting under Philip 111

By the time of Philip II’s accession, picture collecting had been identified as an attrib-
ute of royalty, and therefore worthy of the king’s subjects. The Italianate bias of royal
patronage, established under Charles V, continued under Philip II, especially at the
Escorial, although a strong Flemish presence was also to be found. The Escorial also
seems to have set a standard for interior decoration in which the picture collection
played a central, dominant role. What is more, a number of noblemen and other private

34. See J. H. Elliott, Imperial Spain: 1469— 1716, Harmondsworth and New York, 1970, ¢1963, p. 259; and in
The New Cambridge Modern History, 4, Cambridge 1971, pp. 442-444.

35. W. Stirling-Maxwell, Veldzquez and his Works, London 1855, pp. 9-12; ¢f. Taylor 1948, pp. 279-280.
36. Hustrated in Trevor-Roper 1976, p. 70. See also Alba 1924, pp. 81 and 84.

37. Trevor-Roper 1976, p. 78.

38. Sec Delaforce 1982, passim.

39. Madrazo 1884, p. 64.
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collectors started to assemble picture galleries of their own. In the reign of Philip IIi,
these still fluid patterns of sixteenth-century connoisseurship coalesced into the forms
that came to characterize the great collections of the seventeenth century.

The failures of Philip I as a ruler have unfairly clouded the assessment of his
role as a cuitoral leader, for his reign was not without its artistic and political achieve-
ments, as the recent studies of Sarah Schroth, J. Miguel Moréan Turina, and Antonio
Feros have demonstrated.*? A number of important examples of the “Court Style” in
Spanish architecture date from this period,*! as do significant attempts at organized
urban planning, such as the Plaza Mayor in Madrid and the palace complex at Lerma.
Likewise, the era is important for the history of painting in Spain. Not only did the
generation of foreign artists who came to work on the Escorial give way at this time to
a new group of hispanicized or native-born artists (the younger Carducho, Caxés,
Mayno, Orrente, Tristdn), but the masters who would soon bring Spanish art to its
Golden Age were also maturing. We thus find Philip III’s seal on the apprenticeship
contracts of Veldzquez, Cano, and Zurbaran.

Nor was Philip II inactive as a collector. Rubens, for example, brought several
dozen pictures — gifts of Vincenzo Gonzaga - to Valladolid in 1603.4? Shortly there-
after, Philip III purchased the collection of Peter Ernest, Graaf Mansfeld, who died in
1604. These chiefly Italian works came to Madrid via Flanders in 1608 and were
installed in El Pardo Palace, which Philip III was refurbishing after a disastrous fire.*}
Also in 1608, Philip III ordered a sale of the paintings of Philip II, but he bought in all
but a handful of devotional works* (the almoneda seems to have been a legal for-
mality taken as an opportunity to refine the collection). Finally, Philip III furnished a
complete palace, which was in fact assembled out of houses purchased from his favor-
ite, the Cardenal-Duque de Lerma, in Valladolid. The decoration of this palace, like
that of El Pardo, leaned heavily toward Italian — principally Venetian — art.*> In this,
Philip III'’s taste foreshadows that of private collectors during his son’s reign.

Lerma, the de facto ruler of Spain from 1599 to about 1618, was a Valencian who
had originally held the title of Marqués de Denia. In 1599 he was created Duque de
Lerma, a title deriving from a small city near Burgos convenient to the court in Valla-
dolid. Prodigiously converting the king’s favor into material assets, Lerma soon carved
out a Castilian empire of land holdings, offices, and royal gifts - the total worth
200,000 ducats (74,800,000 maravedies) a year by 1602.4% With this wealth, the
king’s privado or vdlido (favorite) soon became one of the foremost patrons in Spanish

40. Cf., for example, Trevor-Roper in The New Cambridge Modern History, Cambridge 1971, pp. 263ff.,

and Elliott {1963) 1970, pp. 300ff. (“The Failure of Leadership™). Cf. Harris 1940, pp. 26-28. Sce also

1. M. Moran Turina, “Felipe Il y las artes,” in Anales de historia del arte, 1, no. 1, 1989, pp. 159-179; and
M. Moran and E. Checa, El coleccionismo en Espana: De la cdmara de maravillas a la galeria de pinturas,
Madrid 1985, pp. 223-230. Cf. 8. Schroth, “The Private Picture Collection of the Duke of Lerma,” (Ph.D.
Dissertation, New York University, 1990), p. 97, note 3, and the works of Feros, cited in note 53 below.

41. These examples include the church of La Encarnacién in Madrid (1611-1616), the churches of Las
Bernardas and the Jesuits in Alcald de Henares, much of the construction on the hospital at Medina del Campo,
and the Diputacién in Barcelona. See G. Kubler, in G. Kubler and M. Soria, Art and Architecture in Spain and
Portugal and their American Dominions, Baltimore 1959, pp. 15-21.

42. See M. Diaz Padron, Museo del Prado: Catdlogo de Pinturas (Escuela Flamenca), 1, Madrid 1975, p. 312
~ citing M. Rooses, L’Oeuvre de P.P. Rubens, Antwerp 1886, 1, p. 202; Rooses-Ruelens, Correspondence de
Rubens, Antwerp 1887, 1, p. 197.

43. Madrazo 1884, p. 82, citing Madrid: Archivo del Palacio, Seccién de la Casa del Rey. leg. 17.

44. 1bid., p. 78.

45. Ibid., pp. 100-102.

46. Elliott 1970, p. 301.
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history. The ducal palace at Lerma, conceived as part of a planned urban environ-
ment,*” was already a tourist attraction during the duque’s lifetime, as shown by the
account of Sir Richard Wynn, an Englishman visiting Spain in 1623, who praised the
uniformity of the architecture. Wynn was surprised by the relative lack of furniture,*8
but does say that there were pictures in the palace. (Cervera Vera’s recent reconstruc-
tion of the palace interior, based on seventeenth-century inventories, portray more
sumptuous surroundings.)*’

Lerma was an important picture collector as well; his picture collection, unlike
the furniture of his palace, until recently had been little studied: Cervera Vera pub-
lished only a few pictures among other decorative objects. In a complete inventory of
his estate taken at the command of Philip IV, Lerma stated that he had 222 paintings
worth a total of 57,018 reales, but this included collections in all three of his seignio-
rial seats of Lerma, Ventosilla, and Denia.”® The relatively low valuation of the paint-
ings, as compared to the 80,000 reales’ worth of tapestries actually hanging in the
palace and many other tapestries and valuables turned over to Carlo Estrada (Carlo
Stratta, a Genoese banker) and Diego de Meneses as collateral for large loans, sug-
gests that Lerma was not as interested in picture collecting as he was in decorating
his new architectural masterpiece.

The duque, however, collected more actively than the paintings inventoried at
Lerma indicate. Earlier in his career, he had donated to the monastery of San Pablo in
Valladolid>' 238 papal portraits and 43 other pictures, including works attributed to
Tintoretto, Bassano, and Cambiaso; copies after “Marcello” and Leonardo da Vinci;
and unattributed works identified as “Roman” or “made in Italy.” To these data might
be added Lerma’s payments to Bartolomé Carducho in 1603, at least a few of which
seem to be for imported paintings, according to the analysis of Angulo and Pérez
Sénchez.?

Indeed, we now know that the documents previously available have hidden Ler-
ma’s activities in the artistic sphere. These have been revealed in stunning detail by the
work of Sarah Schroth, just as Lerma’s role in the international political life of the age

47. The town complex at Lerma has been studied in great detail by the Spanish architect-scholar L. Cervera
Vera. See his El conjunto palacial de la Villa de Lerma, Valencia 1967a; Bienes muebles en el Palacio Ducal
de Lerma, Valencia and Madrid 1967b.

48. R. Wynn, Account of the Journey into Spayne (1623}, in Hearne’s Historia vitae et regni, ..., Oxford
1729, p. 322. Wynn’s description of the Lerma complex reads as follows:

“The next Day wee traveled seven Leagues to a town called Lerma, where the Duke (the great favourite of the
late King) has a goodly Pallace, built all of stone. and more uniform then Houses in this Country are. Little
furniture there was within it, besides pictures, onely the Chappel was richly set forth with .. things that usu-
ally adorn such places.” Wynn’s comments on the sparse furnishings of the Lerma palace might merely betray
an Englishman’s lack of familiarity with the desornamentado style of Spanish Golden Age interior design, or it
might reflect the contemporary custom of moving furniture from one palace to another as the residence of the
owner changed. Cf., for example, the account in Sir Robert Bargrave, A Description of my Voyage (1654),
Oxford University Bodleian Ms. Rawlinson C. 799, f. 148: “Aranjuez is altogether unfurnished, as indeed are
most of ye Kings Palaces, except that in Madrid and ye Retiro; his Custome being to send his Harbingers
before him to ye other Palaces, with only such Necessaries as will barely suffice his short Stay.” The study of
English visitors” accounts of Golden Age Spain has been admirably begun by P. Shaw Fairman, “El Madrid y
los madrilefios del siglo XVII segun los visitantes ingleses de la epoca,” in Anales del Instituto de Estudios
Madrilerios, 1, 1966, pp. 137145, 1 am indebted to Enriqueta Harris Frankfort for advice concerning these
early accounts and for sharing materials in the library of the Warburg Institute, London.

49. Cervera Vera, 1967b, pp. 2732, notes pp. 5556, 80—87.

50. See AHNM, Seccién Osuna, legajo 1955-3 - printed document with notarial seal.

51. Garcfa Chico 1946; partially transcribed in Burke 1984, vol. 2, Document 1.2.

52. Historia de la Pintura Espanola, Escuela Madrilefia del primer tercio del siglo XVII, Madrid 1969, p. 25.
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has been rehabilitated by Antonio Feros.3? Schroth published nine new inventories that
document the picture collection throughout Lerma’s career and indicate his leadership
role in the artistic life of the period, not just in Spain but to some extent internation-
ally. Not the least of this influence was directed at the royal collections, since, as
Schroth estimates, some 631 of the approximately 700 pictures that Philip Il added to
the royal collections in fact came from Lerma. At its peak the Lerma collection con-
sisted of about 1,500 pictures, making it one of the largest collections of its time. Cer-
tainly larger than any other Spanish collection, it competed at least in size with Italian
collections such as those of the Cardinals Pietro Aldobrandini and Francesco Maria
del Monte.>* Any assessment of quality is made difficult by the limitations the Lerma
inventories place on our interpretation: for example, only about 25 percent of the entries
are attributed, and of these, one-fifth are copies and only about 100 can be traced to
extant paintings.”® Nevertheless, it is clear that the collections contained much of value:
three works by Titian, plus 19 copies; original works and copies after Tintoretto and
Veronese; an original Correggio; pictures by Bosch and Massys; and numerous works
by Spanish masters. Schroth plausibly suggests that the roster of artists indicates Ler-
ma’s reliance (and, implicitly, Philip III’s as well) on the taste of Philip I, especially in
imitation of what the elder Philip had done at the Escorial.>® This is corroborated by the
fact that many of the other collections of the era — for example, the Infantado, Ficallo,
and Pozo collections mentioned below — were also begun under Philip II. Thus, with
Lerma and his contemporaries we see an early glimpse of what would become a stan-
dard aspect of the collecting phenomenon in Golden Age Spain: the close (or symbi-
otic) relationship between the royal collections and private acquisitions, with the pre-
vious royal collections serving as a standard for private collections that would in turn
influence royal acquisitions. Lerma’s emphasis on Italian, particularly Venetian, and
Flemish masters will also prove paradigmatic, although his patronage of Spanish art-
ists would not always be duplicated by other noble coliectors.

The impact of the Sandoval y Rojas family upon Spanish private collecting was
not limited to Lerma himself. His uncle, Juan de Borja, Conde de Ficallo, possessed
more than 200 pictures; another relative, Francisco de Rojas, Marqués de Pozo, owned
nearly 300.%7 Schroth’s research, as well as the documents presented here, also docu-
ments collections for Juan de Acuifia, Marqués del Valle (377 pictures), and Pedro
Franqueza, Conde de Villalonga (246 pictures).

In 1599 Lerma promoted another uncle, Don Bernardo de Sandoval y Rojas (d. 7
December 1618), to the archbishopric of Toledo. Under Sandoval y Rojas’ leadership,
the Cathedral of Toledo continued to be a leading source of patronage, and the arch-
bishop himself played a role in the careers of such Toledan artists as Tristdn.>®

53. Schroth, 1990. See also A. Feros Carrasco, “Gobicrno de Corte y Patronazgo Real en ¢l Reinado de Felipe
I (M.A. thesis, Universidad Auténoma de Madrid, 1986); “Lerma y Olivares: La prética del valimiento en ta
primera mitad del siglo XVIL,” in LH. Elliott and A. Garcia Sanz, eds., La Espafia del Conde-Duque de Oliva-
res, Valladolid 1990; and The King's Favorite: The Duke of Lerma, Power, Wealth, and Court Culture during
the Reign of Philip Il of Spain, 1598—1621, Ph.D. dissertation, Johns Hopkins University, 1994.

54. Schroth 1990, pp. 97-98ft.

55. Ibid,, pp. 100-101.

56. Ibid., pp. 103-104.

57. Schroth 1985, pp. 2839 and 98, note 4; Pozo (or Poza) is cited by Pérez Pastor, vol. 2 [Memorias de la
Reul Academia Espariola, vol. 11, 1914], Madrid, p. 111, no. 559 (AHPM, notary Diego Romdn, Prot. 1.605,
ff. 281f. - given by Schroth as AHPM Prot. 2.176, ff. 206-232); cf. Pérez Sanchez 1965, p. 65. Ficallo’s inven-
tory is found at AHPM, no. 933, ff. 379v-386v. See also the entries for the respective documents, below.

58. Pérez Sanchez is currently investigating the role of the Cardinal in art patronage.
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Two documents that have come to light in the Madrid archives, the cardinal’s will
and a later inventory,> reveal something of the archbishop’s personal collection, which
passed in part to the family of his late contador mayor, Don Luis de Oviedo, and was
subsequently inventoried during 1663 —64 in the estate of Don Luis’s son, Don Fran-
cisco de Oviedo, who had also been in the Cardinal’s service along with his brothers.50
(Observations on the Oviedos’ roles as collectors may be found in the entry for the
document.) The Oviedo family apparently purchased or retained only a portion of the
archbishop’s pictures, because Philip III is also known to have bought several still-life
canvases at an almoneda following the prelate’s death,®! but what they acquired seems
to have been maintained largely intact from 1618 to the 1660s.

If we therefore assume that the Oviedo inventory is a reliable window into the
1618 Sandoval collection, we find the cardinal active in bringing tenebrist naturalism
to Spain. For example, confusion in the documents between Reni and Tristdn in the
attribution of no. 65 (A Philosopher) suggests that the Reni works owned by the cardi-
nal had been painted in his early, Caravaggesque period. Similarly, the St. Sebastian
attributed to Ribera in the documents (no. 15) may be one of the earliest works by this
artist to have reached Spain. Ribera had known ties to the Duque de Osuna, Viceroy of
Naples under Philip III and Lerma, and was also from Valencia, the original home of
the Sandoval y Rojas family. Even more important is the Madonna with Pilgrims,
attributed to Caravaggio, no. 1 in the tasacién — presumably a copy of the famous
Madonna of Loreto that Caravaggio painted for the Church of San Agostino in Rome
around 1604. There were also works attributed to Carlo Saraceni and to Spanish paint-
ers active in the reign of Philip III, especially those in the first wave of tenebrist natu-
ralism: Luis Tristdn and Juan Sanchez Cotdn. The court circles were represented by
the gentleman-painter and collector, Don Juan de Jauregui, and by Vicencio Carducho
and Eugenio Caxés, who were active as a team at the Toledo cathedral in 1614.62
Northern art works included pieces by Frans Floris, two copies after Diirer, Flemish
landscapes, flower pieces, and still lifes.

The image that emerges from the inventory of the collection presumably owned
by the cardinal-archbishop is one of a connoisseur with modern tastes. Sandoval y

59. Barrio Moya 1979a and AHPM, Prot. 2.310; ff. 1202~ 1218; the former is re-transcribed here as Doc. 73.
60. The 1663— 1664 Ovicdo inventory has also been published by J. L. Barrio Moya in Revista de Archivos,
Bibliotecas, y Museos, 82, 1979, pp. 163-171. Barrio Moya does not comment on the art-historical signifi-
cance of the collection, nor does he suggest a provenance to the collection of Cardinal Sandoval y Rojas, but he
does give a useful summary (most of it from the document) of the biography of Don Francisco de Oviedo. It
should also be noted that the Oviedo family was apparently very close to the Cardinal. Not only did all the sons
of the Contador hold posts in the Cardinal’s household, but the Cardinal also endowed the widow of the Conta-
dor with an annuity for life. See AHPM, Prot. 2.310, ff. 12021218, partially transcribed in Burke 1984, Doc.
1.5, and the essay with Doc. 73.

61. Madrid: Archivo del Palacio, El Pardo, legajo no. 8, 10 September 1619 — “se le libraron 100 reales a Juan
Vanderhamen por pintar un lienzo de frutas y caza para la galeria del mediodia ... de El Pardo, en correspon-
dencia de otros que se compraron de la almoneda del Cardenal de Toledo para las sobrepuertas.” (Published by
the Marqués del Saltillo in Boletin de la Sociedad Espariola de Excursiones, 1953, p. 168.) I am indebted to

W. B. Jordan for reminding me of this document; see his Juan van der Hamen y Leon, Ph.D. dissertation, New
York University Institute of Fine Arts, 1967, pp. 14, 184. (Jordan is now revising his work on van der Hamen, to
be published by Yale University Press.)

62. Saltillo 1947b, pp. 608—609. The Cathedral Chapter’s role in the importation of Italian tenebrist naturalism
into Spain lies just outside the scope of the present study. It is, however, worth noting that in addition to the
three canvases now known to be by Saraceni, there is another Italian work cited in the documents of 1614. This
is an Assumption of the Virgin of unknown authorship, which is also said to have been “brought from Rome™
(Saltillo 1947b, p. 609).
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Rojas was clearly in touch with Caravaggesque circles in Rome. He not only owned
works by Saraceni but also seems to have possessed one of the earliest direct copies
of Caravaggio to have reached Spain. The obvious attempt to include works by carlier
Spanish masters that would be compatible with the “modern” pictures in the collec-
tion (e.g., works by Navarrete and Blas del Prado) and the presumed patronage of
Tristan are logical parallels to the cardinal’s taste in Italian art.

Two other important private collections assembled during the reign of Philip 111,
those of the Infantados and the Benaventes, are discussed at length in the introductions
to the relevant documents, but should be mentioned here as well, along with that of
these patrons’ colleague, the Duque de Osuna. The Infantados — archenemies of the
Albas in the intrigues and factional struggles of Philip II's reign and occasionally sus-
pected of direct opposition to the Crown itself®? — acquired a particularly interesting
gallery. In addition to numerous Flemish canvases, the 1601 estate of Don Iiiigo Lépez
de Mendoza, Duque del Infantado, contained Italian pictures that had been sent to
Guadalajara from Rome by Cardinal Mendoza and the Duque de Feria.%* There were
also paintings, presumably Italian, that the late duque had bought in Madrid from
“Juan Tiroldino Milanés” — apparently an Italian picture dealer (see the discussion of
Carducho’s activities below). The collection was of further significance in that it con-
tained a relatively large number of secular subjects, following the lead of the royal
collections under Philip II and anticipated developments in the collections of Philip III
and the Duque de Lerma and his circle. As Schroth has pointed out, the presence of
still-life compositions and bodegones (still life with figures) in the Infantado, Loaysa
Girén, Sandoval y Rojas, Ficallo, Lerma and royal collections is an undeniable in-
dicator of the patrons’ acceptance of still-life compositions as independent works
of art.% The still lifes also show the collectors’ support of contemporary artistic
developments.

Also of great interest is the collection of Don Juan Alfonso de Pimentel, 8th
Conde de Benavente, who was Viceroy of Naples from 1603 to 1610. Like the Infanta-
dos before him, Don Juan made use of his service in Italy to acquire many fine works
of art. Indeed, we may think of him as the first great viceroy-collector of the seven-
teenth century, and his collection as the prototypical noble collection of the period
after that of Lerma. Of particular interest is Don Juan’s patronage of Caravaggio, with
whom Don Juan may have been the only Spanish collector to have direct contact.
According to Bellori, Benavente brought a Crucifixion of St. Andrew back to Spain
at the end of his tenure in Naples: that is, around 1611.96 This is corroborated by the
1653 inventory of the Benavente collection, which lists such a picture.5” This work
may be identified with a Martyrdom of St. Andrew attributed to Caravaggio, now in
the Cleveland Museum.®® Along with the copy of the Madonna of Loreto in the
Oviedo collection, already cited above, and an original half-length David and a
Portrait of a Young Man said to have been in the collection of the Conde de Villa

63. See Elliott 1970, pp. 261--267.

64. AHNM, Seccién Osuna, leg. 1948-5.

65. Schroth 1985, pp. 28-39.

66. G. P. Bellori, Le vite de’ pittori ..., Rome 1672, p. 214. According to a late seventeenth-century account,
Benavente Jeft Naples on 11 July 1610. See A. T. Lurie and D. Mahon, “Caravaggio’s Crucifixion of St.
Andrew from Valladolid,” The Bulletin of the Cleveland Museum of Art, 64, no. 1, January 1977, pp. 3 and 21,
note 2.

67. Garcia Chico 1946; published here as Document 56.

68. Formerly in the Arnaiz collection, Madrid. Lurie 1977, pp. 3~24, offers a strong argument in favor of the
identification, but cf. Seville 1973, no. 4.
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Mediana,® Benavente’s St. Andrew is among the first documented works by Cara-
vaggio to have reached Spain. Back in Italy Don Juan is known to have been the donor
of Caravaggio’s Madonna of the Rosary.”®

Don Pedro Téllez Girdn, Duque de Osuna, also made an important contribution
to the dissemination of Caravaggism in Spain. It has always been assumed that Osuna,
Viceroy of Sicily from 1611 to 1616 and of Naples from 1616 to 1620, brought back a
Crucifixion and four other works by Jusepe de Ribera for the Collegiate Church of
Osuna. Until as recently as 1991 no documentary evidence specifying dates for this
commission had come to light.”’ Study of the matter was greatly complicated by the
duque’s political disgrace and the events that happened after he returned to Madrid.”?
We now know, however, that the Crucifixion was in fact an Osuna commission — from
the duquesa.” In addition to providing an important benchmark in the dating of
Ribera’s oeuvre, the new data provide us with further evidence of the role of collectors
in the artistic interchange between Italy and Spain and the involvement of women
patrons in Spanish and Italian art of the era.

Non-Noble Collectors under Philip 111

Among the non-aristocratic members of Philip III’s government involved in picture
collecting was Lerma’s secretary, Rodrigo Calderén, who maintained a collection and
was a patron in his own right.” Don Alonso Ramirez de Prado, a member of the
Council of Castile arrested for corruption on 20 December 1606, may also have been a
collector.”” Don Alonso’s goods were sequestered at the time of his arrest, and the sub-
sequent inventory showed him to have amassed a fortune in real property and personal
goods. Contemporary accounts describe an estate containing 41,000 escudos’ worth of
silverware, 40,000 ducats’ worth of jewels, and 94,000 ducats’ worth of tapestries and
hangings.” No paintings are specified in the account, but the Duque de Berwick y
Alba, writing in 1924, cited a Diana at her Bath on panel that was said to have entered
the Alba collection from that of Ramirez de Prado in 1606.77 Certainly, later members
of the family, such as the Alonso Ramirez de Prado who served on the Councils of

69. Bellori 1672.

70. See Jonathan Brown, “A new identification of the donor in Caravaggio’s ‘Madonna of the Rosary,” " Para-
gone, year 35, no. 407, Jan. 1984, pp. 15-21.

71. See Pérez Sanchez’s entry on this painting in the catalogue of the exhibition, The Golden Age of Spanish
Painting, London 1976, pp. 47-48, no. 25.

72. Osuna was recalled from Naples in 1620 and was immediately imprisoned, mostly for political reasons,
upon his arrival in Madrid - see Elliott 1970, p. 325.

73. See Gabriele Finaldi, “The Patron and Date of Ribera’s “Crucifixion’ at Osuna,” The Burlingron Magazine,
133b, no. 1060, July 1991, pp. 445-446.

74. J.J. Martin Gonzalez, “Bienes artisticos de don Rodrigo Calderdn,” Boletin del Seminario de Estudios de
Arte y Arqueologia, Universidad de Valladolid, 1988, pp. 267-292; also cited by Schroth 1990, p. 99.

75. See Elliott 1970, pp. 317-318.

76. J. de Entrambasaguas, Una familia de ingenios: los Ramirez de Prado, Madrid 1943, p. 28, note 1 - citing
Cabrera de Cordoba, Relaciones ..., n.d., pp. 296ff. Entrambasaguas’ figures give Ramirez 904,000 ducats in
tapestries and colgaduras. Elliott 1970, p. 318, reads 90,000 escudos, or approximately 94,000 ducats (20
ducats were worth about 19 escudos). The 94,000 ducat sum is undoubtedly correct. Ramirez’ total worth
exceeded one million ducats, or more money than the Silver Fleet brought to Spain each year in the last decade
of Philip III's reign. The figures may have been inflated in the reporting: Cabrera de Cérdoba’s entry for 1608
suggests that the by then deceased Ramirez left an estate worth only about 220,000 ducats.

77. Alba 1924, p. 81: “... de los bienes secuestrados a D. Alonso Ramirez de Prado en 1606, cargo 74.” It is
not known where the duke got item 74. One might also note that a later member of the Ramirez de Prado
family, Don Lorenzo Ramirez de Prado, also owned pictures. See J. Fayard, Les membres du conseil de Castile
a Pepogue moderne (1621 -1746), Geneva-Paris 1979, p. 464, n. 67, citing AHPM 6.280, . 407 ~ document
dated 19 May 1657.
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Castile and the Indies and died in 1674, had significant collections. The second Don
Alonso left more than 200 lots of unfortunately unattributed paintings, some with high
valuations (not transcribed here).

Similarly, non-noble officials in the households of prelates and members of the
landed aristocracy had an opportunity to develop their own collections on the periph-
ery of their patron’s acquisitions. As mentioned above, the death of the cardinal-
archbishop Don Bernardo de Sandoval y Rojas of Toledo in 1618 occasioned the
transfer of a large segment of his collection to the ownership of his contador, Don
Luis de Oviedo. Pérez Pastor’s archival investigations have also added a small number
of names to the roster of non-noble collectors under Philip III: the courtier-architects
Francisco and Juan Gémez de Mora, a Don Juan de Herrera, a Hernando Briviesca and
his wife, Dofia Maria de Moscoso, and a Juan de Villela, who may have been an Ital-
ian — not to mention the collections of such artists as Leoni, Carducho, Garcia, and
Giacomo Trezzo the Younger.”® To this list we can add the collection of Don Juan de
Morales, who died in 1624 but whose pictures seem almost certainly to have been
acquired before 1620;7 those discovered by Schroth; # and three collections docu-
mented in this publication: those of Francisco de Brizuela y Cardenas, Agustin de
Villanueva, and Gil Ramirez de Arellano.®!

Philip III’s reliance on his favorite, the Duque de Lerma, brought the upper
nobility from the peripheral position they occupied under Philip II into a central role
in governing the nation. Lerma’s patronage system offered sizeable rewards to those
who supported the privado. Nobles chosen for service abroad had the additional oppor-
tunity to obtain significant works of foreign art; some developed into serious connois-
seurs. In short, by the end of Philip III’s reign, Spanish society and politics had estab-
lished conditions favorable to private art collecting.®?

The royal picture gallery, enriched by treasures from Italy and the Netherlands dur-
ing the reigns of Charles V and Philip II, continued to grow and to reflect an interest in
contemporary European art. Furthermore, Italian artists had established a new school
and a succession of new styles in Spain and, most significantly, had begun importing
“foreign” works for collectors who were unable to go abroad. Important ecclesiastical
commissions, such as those at Toledo, funneled Italian works into Spain. At Valencia
and Toledo, as well as at court in Valladolid or Madrid, collectors cultivated a taste for
Caravaggesque and other Italian styles of the day, including the reformed manner asso-
ciated with the Counter-Reformation. The visit of Rubens to Madrid, as well as the
continuing obsession of the Spanish court with the political and religious situation in
the Low Countries, maintained the traditional artistic connection with Flanders.

Standards of taste regarding older works of art had solidified under Philip III. Al-
though there is not yet enough data to allow us to identify all the artists who were appre-
ciated as “old masters”™ by 1620, several names appear frequently in the collections, which
suggests that they were the artists whose work was highly prized. These of course in-
cluded Titian and the other Venetians, particularly Bassano, followed by Raphael, Co-
rreggio, the reformed Mannerists, the escurialenses, and the early seventeenth-century
tenebrists, as well as selected Flemish masters, such as Bosch and the emerging Rubens.

78. See Pérez Pastor 1914, p. 120, no. 608; p. 121, no. 614; p. 123, no. 627: p. 132, no. 674; p. 133, no. 680,
p. 145, no. 741; p. 151, no. 778; and p. 170, no. 859.

79. AHPM, Prot. 2.674, ff. 905-1040.

80. Cited in W. Jordan, Spanish Still Life, Fort Worth 1985, pp. 28-39.

81. Fifty-eight such collections are included among the documents at the Getty Provenance Index.

82. These obscrvations are based on Trevor-Roper 1971, pp. 263fT., and Elliott [1963] 1970, pp. 300ff.
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Philip IV as a Collector

In the palace [of the Buen Retiro] we were surprised by the quantity of
pictures. I do not know how it is adorned in other seasons, but when we
were there we saw more pictures than walls.... I assure you, Sir, that
there were more than in all of Paris. I was not at all surprised when they
told me that the principal quality of the deceased King was his love of
painting, and that no one in the world understood more about it than he.
Jean Muret, 167783

Philip IV was born in 1598 and ascended to the throne in 1621. Trained in drawing by
the painter-friar Juan Bautista Mayno, he quickly developed the artistic interests that
would so brilliantly characterize the nearly forty-five years of his reign, until his death
in 1665. Nevertheless, only now it is possible to begin to give a precise account of
Philip IV’s collecting.®* No comprehensive inventory of the royal collections was
taken either during Philip’s lifetime or at his death. Partial listings were begun in 1636
and 1666, but the Alcazar in Madrid was not completely inventoried until 1686,%% and
the Buen Retiro remained without an inventory until the death of Charles I1.3¢ Charles
II was so inactive as a collector, however, that even the inventories of 1701 offer con-
siderable insight into the decoration of the royal palaces in Philip IV’s day.?” The stud-
ies of Pérez Sanchez, Bottineau, Brown, Elliott, Orso, and von Barghahn have aug-
mented this picture considerably, enabling us to have extensive information on Philip’s
artistic interests.?®

Philip IV can lay strong claim to being the foremost patron and collector of paint-
ings in his or perhaps any other age. Although his collection would eventually be
rivaled (in numbers, not in quality) by the holdings of Don Gaspar de Haro, it was still
incredibly vast. At the time of Philip’s death there were about 2,600 pictures in only
four of the many royal residences, out of a total that may have been as high as 5,500,%°
not to mention hundreds more assembled by royal initiative at the Escorial! Nor were

83. Jean Muret, a French clergyman who visited Madrid in 1677, and recorded his impressions in a journal;
quoted from Brown and Elliott 1980, p. 114.

84. A long step toward an understanding of Philip’s relative importance as a collector has been taken by Jona-
than Brown, whose 1994 Mellon Lectures at the National Gallery, Washington, on the topic, ““‘Kings and Con-
noisseurs: Picture Collecting at Four European Courts in the Seventeenth Century,” was published in 1995. See
also Brown 1987, pp. 4-20.

85. An inventory was begun in 1666, but appears not to have been completed. See Y. Bottineau “L’ Alcdzar de
Madrid et I’inventaire de 1686, Bulletin Hispanique, 58 (1956), pp. 421-425.

86. Published in B. von Barghahn,“The Pictorial Decoration of the Buen Retiro Palace and Patronage during
the Reign of Philip I'V,”” Ph.D. dissertation, New York University, 1979. An inventory had also been begun in
1664 - 1666, but, like that of the Alcdzar, was left incomplete. The 1701 inventory of the Alcdzar was published
by the Museo del Prado in 1975 (hereafter: “Alcdzar 1701/19757).

87. With the obvious exception of works whose authors were active after the death of Philip IV, we may
assume, with von Barghahn and Brown and Elliott (p. 269, note 48), that most of the pictures in the Buen
Retiro at the death of Charles I1 had originally becn placed there during the reign of Philip IV.

88. Bottineau 1956/58, Pérez Sdnchez 1965, Brown and Elliott 1980, S.N. Orso, “In the Presence of the ‘Planet
King’: Studies in Art and Decoration at the Court of Philip IV of Spain,” Ph.D. dissertation, Princeton Univer-
sity, 1978, and von Barghahn 1979.

89. The 1686 inventory lists 1,547 pictures in the Alcazar; von Barghahn 1979 cites another 926 in the Buen
Retiro in 1701, although certain of the Retiro pieces were added during the reign of Charles 11, yielding
approximately 850 for the reign of Philip IV. Brown and Elliott 1980 also cite 171 works at the Torre de la
Parada and 96 at the Zarzuela Palace (1980, p. 114). The inventories of 1701 cite 330 works at El Pardo and
150 at the Casa del Campo, but only about 60 at the Torre, indicating about 370 additional works. A handful of
works may have remained at Aranjuez, Valladolid, Seville, Granada, Segovia, etc. I thus calculate some 3,000
pictures in Philip’s collection. Brown 1987, pp. 17-18, and 1991, p. 204, counts 5,539 pictures in the twelve
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these riches merely the result of fortuitous inheritance: as Brown and Elliott have
pointed out, at least 2,000 of the 2,600 works entered the royal collections during
Philip IV’s reign, with the total perhaps surpassing 2,500.° Furthermore, Philip was
an amateur painter who, in spite of the social prejudices of his age, established rela-
tionships with Rubens and Veldzquez that went far beyond the usual dealings of artists
and royal patrons. In this, as in his collecting, he set the pattern for what the British
ambassador Hopton called the Spanish “affection” for painting.®’

The Alcazar Collection

As Philip’s principal residence and therefore the seat of government for the various
crowns in the Spanish monarchy, the Alcdzar in Madrid was necessarily decorated
with political and dynastic iconography. But, as Orso has shown, another motive
behind the decoration of a room such as the Hall of Mirrors might have been the
simple desire to provide a suitable showplace for the king’s pictures.’? In other words,
the Alcdzar functioned at least in part as a museum of art. For those who wished to
emulate the king’s love of collecting, the Alcdzar would have been the obvious model,
and therefore deserves special attention.

The 1686 Alcdzar inventory is of interest on several counts. Because it was not
taken at the death of a monarch, it was done with a deliberation that might not have
been possible in a time of governmental transition. Furthermore, the inventory is pref-
aced by a summary list of the most important painters represented in the collection.
This summary, compiled by the appraiser, Bernabé Ochoa (the jefe de la cereria, or
chief chandler of the palace), is an important aesthetic document in its own right. In
effect, it summarizes Philip’s taste along with his collection. At the same time, how-
ever, the summary is far enough removed from Philip and his generation to offer a
wider view of seventeenth-century Spanish connoisseurship. The summary tells us, in
effect, which European artists late seventeenth-century Spaniards thought significant;
it defines a canon of masters whose works were considered benchmarks for the norma-
tive aesthetics of the age.®® Finally, the summary documents Spanish acceptance —
even in the minds of bureaucrats, notaries, and accountants - of the Renaissance idea
that a painting is not only a precious object but also an expression of the creative per-
sonality of a particular artist.”*

The largest group of masterpieces attributed to individual artists in the 1686

palaces and country seats of the crown in the 1701 inventories, of which he estimates as many as half entered
the collections during Philip IV’s reign.

90. See the previous note, and Brown and Elliott 1980, p. 114,

91. Trapier, *“Sir Arthur Hopton and the Interchange of Paintings between Spain and England in the Seven-
teenth Century,” Connoisseur, 164 (1967), pp. 239-243, and 165 (1967), pp. 60-63.

92. Orso 1978, pp. 104-105. The connoisseurship aspects of the decoration of the Alcdzar have also been
cmphasized by Vicente Lled Caiial in his book review of Orso’s text in The Burlington Magazine, 129a, no.
1007, February 1987, pp. 119-120.

93. Panofsky 1968, p. 109, discusses the development of normative aesthetics in the thought of the Seicento
Italian critic, Bellori. As I have argued elsewhere, Bellori’s normative approach was anticipated in the writings
of the Spanish painter and theorist, Francisco Pacheco, who ray be said to have affected taste at court through
his son-in-law, Velazquez. See “Diego Velazquez and Religious Genre Painting™ M.A. thesis, New York Uni-
versity 1973, pp. 24-45; also see Panofsky 1986, p. 217, notes 67—-68; p. 219, note 74; and p. 225, note 28. In
any case, the list of High Renaissance artists selected by Ochoa for his summary is quite similar to that repeat-
edly cited by Pacheco when he wishes to call forth the best in earlier art (see, for example, Pacheco 1956,

vol. 1, pp. 23 or 475-477).

94. Cf. Gilbert 1980, pp. 110-112; Blunt 1940, Chapter 4, pp. 48—57.
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inventory was executed by masters of the sixteenth-century Venetian school (29 per-
cent of original works; 22 percent of all attributed works); the artist with the greatest
number of original works was Titian (78 pictures). Philip had inherited many of these
works from his predecessors, Charles V and Philip II, who had commissioned them;
others had been acquired by his father and by himself. Many of Titian’s pictures had
probably assumed an aura of dynastic or political significance along with their aes-
thetic value, but in any event their prominent role in the decoration of the Alcdzar
would itself have been sufficient to establish Titian as the Renaissance artist most
sought after by Spanish collectors. A strong second place was held by northern Euro-
pean painting of the sixteenth and early seventeenth centuries. Works of this school
constituted 17 percent of the collection {(and possibly more, since the inventory does
not always distinguish between sixteenth- and later seventeenth-century Flemish
painting).

As might be expected, Philip was not very interested in the Central Italian Man-
nerists (less than 2 percent of all attributed works), although a certain Venetian equiva-
lent can be found in the works of Tintoretto, Bassano, and El Greco (about 80 pieces
in all, or 13 percent of the attributed works). Of more importance were the High
Renaissance paintings, which were not particularly numerous (about 3 percent of all
attributed works) but included some of Philip’s most significant acquisitions. There
were also a number of works by the highly valued Correggio.

Among pictures by contemporary (seventeenth-century) artists, however, the
Flemish school and, above all, the works of Rubens led the way. Indeed, seventeenth-
century Flemish paintings seem to have been the single most numerous group in the
entire collection (269 pieces, or about 28 percent of all attributed works and 20 per-
cent of those works whose author is specified in the summary, although precise reck-
oning is again made difficult by the potential confusion between sixteenth- and seven-
teenth-century Flemish works). In contrast, only about 15 percent of the attributed
works in the inventory were of the Italian Seicento (about 5 percent of the attributed
works were by the tenebrists, including Ribera; 4—5 percent were of the Bolognese
school; and about 6 percent were by other contemporary Italian artists), although the
Italian works were distinguished by specific mention of artists’ names in the summary.

Most surprisingly, only 13- 14 percent of the royal pictures were attributed to
Spaniards other than Ribera and El Greco — or about 18 percent, if one includes the
two. There were only 28 pictures by Spanish artists other than El Greco active before
the reign of Philip IV, and only eight works by El Greco. Indeed, there were only 104
other works by Spaniards, and nearly half of these were by Veldzquez (43 works, or
about 7 percent of the originals whose authors are specified in the summary). Even if
we were to add Ribera to the roster of contemporary Spanish artists — in spite of his
Italian career and style —we could count only 142 contemporary Spanish works. On
the other hand, the inventory summary also mentions 579 “paintings by unknown
hands, among which are many tempera landscapes, descriptions [i.e., city views?],
maps, and portraits of great antiquity.” ®> These must have included many Spanish
pieces.

In general, Philip IV’s collection in the Alcazar displayed a remarkable balance.
Slightly less than half of all attributed works had been created before Philip’s reign:
contemporary works therefore enjoyed a slight majority among the attributed pieces,
while older works predominated by a two-to-one margin overall. Looked at without

95. Archivo del Palacio, Seccion Inventarios Reales, Alcazar, 1686, bound with the Alcdzar inventory of 1666.
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regard to date, attributed Italian and northern European works were almost equal in
number (approximately 420 Italian; 438 German, Netherlandish, or Flemish; and
22 unspecified French), with Spanish works a poor third. Among the contemporary
works, the Flemish school (269 works?) seems to have outnumbered the Italian and
Spanish schools put together (242 works).

The large numbers of Flemish works in the Alcazar may be explained by noting
that Flanders, like Naples, was as much a part of Philip’s dominions as was Castile.
Indeed, given the constant focus of foreign policy on the Low Countries during the
reigns of Philip II, Philip I1I, and Philip IV — not to mention that the so-called “House
of Austria” had in fact come to Spain from Flanders — it would have been surprising
not to find many Flemish works in the royal palaces. However, among the northern
works were many small landscapes (by Bril, for example) and other decorative pieces,
which would have had less aesthetic impact than the great Venetian pictures. Further-
more, some 103 of the contemporary Flemish pieces in the Alcdzar were either attrib-
uted to artists of too little importance to have been mentioned in the 1686 summary or
were not attributed at all: that is, we may assume that they were also primarily deco-
rative in function. Of the remaining works, two-thirds were said to be by or after
Rubens. In short, Flemish predominance in the Alcdzar was to a large extent the result
of Philip I'V’s patronage of Rubens.

What is more, the influence of the Italian school was apparent even within the
Flemish segment of the Alcdzar collection. Van Dyck, for example, had spent a large
portion of his career in Italy, and most of the paintings by Rubens in the Spanish royal
collection (including those copied by Mazo and others) were products of his late
period, when a renewed interest in Titian, sparked by Rubens’ re-encounter with the
Spanish royal collection, had augmented the Fleming’s own colorism and led him to
develop an Italianate sfumato and blond tonality in his works. It might be objected that
this is tantamount to saying that Italy had been the fountainhead of all European art
since the Renaissance, and Titian one of the sources of the Baroque style, but other,
less Italianate Flemings — Jordaens, for example — were not so prominently featured at
the Alcdzar. (Jordaens is not mentioned in the inventory summary of 1686.) We may
also observe that Philip’s two favorite Spanish-born painters, Ribera and Veldzquez,
had both been decisively influenced by the Italian school.

The Buen Retiro

The Alcdzar was not the only palace housing Philip IV’s collection; nearly as promi-
nent was the Palace of the Buen Retiro. In a sense, the Alcazar and Buen Retiro col-
lections complemented each other. The Alcazar demonstrated Philip’s talents as a
connoisseur of the great masterpieces of the past; the Buen Retiro displayed his
achievements as a patron and collector of contemporary art. But the Buen Retiro’s
complement of nearly 800 pictures was a group effort involving many of the greatest
collectors of the age.®® As Brown and Elliott have demonstrated, the haste, amid finan-
cial restraints, with which the palace was completed made it necessary to draw upon
the resources of many people in order to assemble enough works to cover the walls
literally from chair-rail to ceiling.%”

96. See von Barghahn 1979, pp. 71f., and Brown and Elliott 1980, pp. 105ff.
97. Sce von Barghahn, passim, and especially, the comments in Brown and Elliott 1980, p. 114, quoting the
French cleric, Jean Muret, who visited the Retiro in 1667.
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The surviving evidence indicates that, outside the Hall of Realms, which featured
the Spanish court artists and Zurbardan, the palace collection was in fact dominated by
Italian works. To be sure, there were Flemish pictures in the Retiro, but they seem to
have played a much less obvious role in the palace’s iconographic programs than at the
Alcazar. Many of the Flemish works in the Retiro were unspecified landscapes, still
lifes, hunting pieces, or genre scenes: that is, they were purely decorative in purpose.”®
To this we may contrast the series of Roman scenes by Lanfranco and others which
were located, according to von Barghahn's reconstruction, in the room that the king
crossed just before entering the Hall of Realms. The imperial theme in these works
was apparently intended to augment the imperial theme in the Hall of Realms itself.®

Noble Collectors and the Royal Collection

While his artistic interests ranged over the whole of Europe, Philip IV himself
remained on the Iberian Peninsula, and so had to rely on others — his viceroys in
Naples, ambassadors in Rome and London, governors-general in Milan and Flanders —
to acquire the works he sought. This process affected Philip’s taste, and the taste of the
agents themselves, who were often collectors in their own right.

As we discuss later, one nobleman-collector who bridged the regimes of Philip 111
and Philip IV was Don Fernando Enriquez Afdn de Rivera, third Duque de Alcald de
los Gazules (1583-1637).

It is difficult to say whether Alcald had a direct effect on Philip IV. Certainly, his
collecting efforts came just as Philip’s own interests were developing, so that it is
worth asking whether the display of antiquities and Spanish art at his family’s Casa de
Pilatos ' in Seville might not have stimulated Philip’s budding interest in collecting
and patronage. Although there seems to be no evidence that Philip visited the Casa de
Pilatos during his trip to Seville in 1624,'°! he must surely have heard of the collection
and of Alcala’s collecting activities in Italy before 1631 — perhaps from Olivares, who
intermittently resided in Seville during Alcald’s most active period there. Brown and
Kagan suggest that Olivares’ awareness of Alcald’s learning may have led to his being
chosen as Ambassador to Urban VIII; it is not difficult to imagine Olivares applauding
Alcald’s cultural achievements before the young king.'0?

The contributions of four other noblemen to the royal collection are better docu-
mented. These are Don Manuel de Azevedo y Zifiiga, 6th Conde de Monterrey; Don
Manuel de Moura, Marqués de Castel Rodrigo; Don Ramiro de Guzmaén, Duque de
Medina de las Torres; and Don Luis de Haro, who would eventually become the 6th
Marqués del Carpio. Like their contemporary, the Marqués de Leganés (discussed
separately below), all of these men came up in the royal service under the rule of their
kinsman the Conde-Duque de Olivares; indeed, Don Luis de Haro became the king’s

98. In von Barghahn 1979, pp. 86—94; Brown and Elliott 1980, pp. 130-132.

99. For the location of the pictures see von Barghahn 1979, vol. 1, pp. 151-153, and vol. 2, pp. 286ff. The
imperial theme in the decoration of the Buen Retiro will be the subject of a forthcoming article by the present
author.

100. According to Jonathan Brown in a correspondence of 6 June 1995, Alcald’s house — the Casa de Pilatos —
dervived its name from the fact that it served as a Station of the Cross in the annual Easter procession.

101. See Joachin Mercado Egea, Felipe 1V en las Andalucias, Jacn 1980. | am indebted to Jonathan Brown and
Steven N. Orso for advice on the question of Philip in Seville.

102. Brown and Kagan 1987, p. 234; see also Elliott 1986, pp. 153-154, 158, 165; R.A. Stradling, “A Spanish
Statesman of Appeasement: Medina de Jas Torres and Spanish Policy, 16391670, in The Historical Journal,
19, 1976, pp. 54-55.
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favorite after Olivares’ fall from power. Monterrey, Castel Rodrigo, and Medina de las
Torres served in Italy, while Luis de Haro manipulated Spain’s international network
of viceroys, governors, ambassadors, and agents to obtain pictures for the king.

As Olivares’ brother-in-law, Monterrey was particularly active in acquiring paint-
ings for Philip IV, especially in the 1630s, when as Viceroy of Naples he was the prin-
cipal agent for commissioning Neapolitan and Roman works for the Buen Retiro Pal-
ace. (This is perhaps what Hopton meant in part when he said that Monterrey had
returned to Madrid “with the best of Italye.” '9%) Monterrey had also undertaken the
transport of two of the most famous works of art to change hands in Seicento Italy:
Titian’s Andrians and Worship of Venus (Prado, nos. 418 and 419). The pictures,
which formerly belonged to Cardinal Aldobrandini, had come into the possession of
the Ludovisi family, who were associated with Spain. (For example, Niccold Ludovisi,
the last Italian owner of the pictures, became Viceroy of Aragén.) Monterrey was
therefore able either to purchase the pictures outright or (more likely) to serve as the
agent responsible for giving them to Philip IV on behalf of the Ludovisi.'® In any
event, the Tuscan Ambassador at Madrid, Bernardo Monanni, in his dispatch of
27 February 1638, assumed that the pictures had belonged to Monterrey, whose
“brother” (that is, Olivares) presented them to the king.!% It was these works by
Titian (“particulerly the Baccanalian™) that so impressed Hopton.

Pre-eminent among the contemporary works that Monterrey commissioned for
the Buen Retiro was a series of scenes from the life of imperial Rome by Lanfranco
(Prado, nos. 23436, 2943, and the Royal Palace of Aranjuez). These works were
matched by the large Funeral Games (Exequies) by Domenichino (Prado, no. 2926)
and other works with a Roman imperial theme by the younger artists Camassei, Fra-
canzano, Codazzi, Falcone, Andrea de Leone, and Micco Spadaro, as well as by the
Roman artists Perrier, Cerquozzi, and Romanelli.'*® According to Monanni, Don
Manuel sent twelve cartloads of paintings to the Buen Retiro in the fall of 1633.'%7
It is probable that other works for the Retiro came to Madrid later, either in separate
shipments or upon Don Manuel’s return in 1638.1%8 In acquiring contemporary pic-
tures for the king in Naples, Monterrey also made contacts that resulted, as we will
see, in acquisitions for his own collection and for the convent of the Agustinas Descal-

103. Trapier 1967.

104. H. Wethey, The Paintings of Tltian, London, vol. 3, 1975, p. 147, assumes that Prince Niccold Ludovisi
was the actual donor of the works, ca. 1637, as they had been inventoried in his possession in a Lodovisi inven-
tory of 1633. If so, Olivares (and Monterrey) seem to have been able to capture completely any public refations
value the gesture may have had. (See the following note.)

105. Florence: Archivo di Stato, Mediceo 4964, cited by Wethey, vol. 3, 1975, p. 147.

106. For further information on this subject see von Barghahn 1979, pp. 74-80, and Brown and Elliott 1980,
p. 123.

107. Dispatch dated 26 November 1633; Florence: Archivo di Stato, Mediceo 4959 - cited by Brown and
Elliott 1980, p. 123 and note.

108. See Brown and Elliott 1980, pp. 123 and 269, note 61, who cite a payment of 31 December 1638 for
repairs to “painted pictures which the Conde de Monterrey sent from the Kingdom of Naples.” It is not clear
whether this payment refers to the shipment of 1633, to works brought back when Monterrey returned in the
winter of 16371638, to a subsequent shipment also dating from 1638, or to some other envoy. Alba 1924,

p. 40, cites a receipt of December 1637 from a Master Lorenzo Peuza, for secular and religious statues — the
latter intended for Salamanca ~ sent to Spain in galleons under the charge of a M. Blanquin. The cost of trans-
port was 1,352 ducats. Pérez Sdnchez likewise cites a Jesuit letter from the same time which refers to some
8,000 crates of luggage brought back to Madrid from Naples at the cost of 60,000 ducats (1977, p. 419f. -
citing Cartas de Jesuitas, in Memorial Histérico Espariol, 14, p. 346). Note that Don Gaspar de Guzmdn, while
Viceroy of Naples in the 1680s, used both private merchant ships and Spanish naval vessels to transport works
of art back to Spain. Don Gaspar’s many shipments were spread out over a long period of time.
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zas in Salamanca, which the Monterrey family sponsored. Thus, what the king and
Olivares wanted affected what Monterrey collected, while Monterrey specified what
was bought and what the artists painted.

Medina de las Torres, who had been married to Olivares’ daughter (she died in
1626), followed Monterrey as Viceroy of Naples, 1638 -1643. Before leaving Spain,
he had given the king three works by the Bassani, inventoried in the Alcdzar in 1636.'%
It is commonly assumed that Medina de las Torres commissioned Ribera’s Martyrdom
of St. Philip for Philip IV in 1639.''° While viceroy, Medina (not unlike the French
Marechal Soult in Spain during the Napoleonic wars) forcibly acquired Raphael’s The
Madonna of the Fish (Prado no. 297) for Philip."'! Medina de las Torres is also known
to have given an important work by Correggio (Noli me tangere, Prado no. 111) and
possibly a work by Giorgione (Madonna with SS. Anthony and Roch, Prado no. 288)
to the king in the 1650s for use in the redecoration of the Escorial.!'? His principal
contribution to matters of taste, however, would seem to have been his role as a patron
of Ribera at the high point of the expatriate artist’s career and a means of bringing his
works to Spain.

Castel Rodrigo, whose service as Ambassador in Rome overlapped the adminis-
trations of Monterrey and Medina de las Torres in Naples, was also instrumental in
acquiring works to decorate the Buen Retiro. Indeed, his patronage of the important
series of at least 24 Italianate landscapes by Poussin, Claude Lorraine, Dughet, Jan
Both, and others has been the subject of scholarly discussion until recently, when
documentary evidence and new arguments have appeared to support Castel Rodrigo’s
role in the commission.''? We should add that he was an important patron of Borro-
mini as well.!'*

The range of aesthetic values represented by the commissions of each of the
nobles was distinct, reflecting in part their different locations in Italy, just as the col-
lections of Leganés and the Conde de Fuensaldafia (see below) were affected by their
service in Flanders. But the distinctions also reflect the different artists each had
brought into his circle of retainers. In particular, Monterrey, who supported artists

109. J. Bassano, Expulsion of the Moneylenders; L. Bassano, Lazarus and Dives and The Return of the Prodi-
gal Son (Prado, nos. 27, 29, and 39) — listed as gifts of Medina de las Torres in the 1636 Alcézar inventory
(Madrid: Archivo del Palacio), cited in Prado 1972, pp. 29-30.

110. Prado 1101; signed and dated 163[illeg.~ 0 or 9]. A date of 1630 has been ruled out for this work on
stylistic grounds. In was in the Alcdzar in 1666. For a review of scholarly speculation on Medina de las Torres
as the patron, see E. du G. Trapier, Ribera, New York 1952, p. 149.

111. Provenance cited in Prado 1985, p. 526; cf. Brown 1991, p. 208.

112. According to Padre de los Santos’ 1657 description of the Escorial (p. 239; also cited in Prado 1985,

p. 166), Medina de las Torres gave the Correggio to Philip IV, who sent it to the Escorial. Prado 1972, p. 243,
following a suggestion by A. Morassi, states that the Giorgione, which was at the Escorial by 1657, was simi-
larly a gift of Medina de las Torres.

113. Pérez Sanchez 1977, p. 419, suggests Monterrey’s patronage for these works, but the details and dates of
his career do not fit into the known circumstances of the commission. M. Rothlisberger (Claude Lorraine, New
Haven 1961, pp. 158~159), E. Haskell, Patrons and Painters: Art and Society in Baroque Italy, New York
1971, c. 1963, p. 173, and E. Harris, “G.B. Crescenzi, Veldzquez, and the ‘Italian’ Landscapes for the Buen
Retiro,” The Burlington Magazine, 122b 1980, passim all suggest G. B. Crescenzi as the patron. Brown and
Elliott 1980, pp. 125-129 and 269-270, note 69 reject both this hypothesis and that of Pérez Sanchez, who
suggests that Monterrey commissioned the works. Instead, Brown and Elliott, following Von Barghahn 1979,
pp. 84ff., advance the more plausible theory that the patron was the Marqués del Castel Rodrigo, who suc-
ceeded Monterrey as Ambassador in Rome. They offer further documentary and circumstantial evidence for
this hypothesis in “The Marquis of Castel Rodrigo and the landscape paintings in the Buen Retiro,” The Bur-
lington Magazine, 129a, no. 1007, February 1987, pp. 104-107.

114. See Joseph Connors, “Borromini and the Marchese di Castel Rodrigo,” in The Burlington Magazine,
133b, no. 1060, July 1991, pp. 434-440.
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painting histories and figure subjects in the Bolognese tradition, as well as urban
scenes, and Castel Rodrigo, who commissioned pastoral landscapes (also derived from
the Carracci, but emphasizing a different set of values), exploited different sections of
the contemporary Italian artistic spectrum. Since both groups of artists had obvious
ties to the old masters the nobles knew the king admired — particularly Titian and the
Venetians, but the Carracci and Reni as well - the commissions honor the king’s taste,
but the nobles’ intervention also added new dimensions to the king’s collection, intro-
ducing him to aspects of art that he could not previously have known. After receiving
Philip’s approval, the new pictures became part of the mass of aesthetic information
available to other collectors in Madrid by virtue of being located in the royal
collection.

Although less concerned with contemporary art, Philip’s most important and
most intimate collecting relationship was with Don Luis de Haro, who served as Phi-
lip’s privado from the fall of Olivares in the 1640s to Don Luis’s own demise in 1661.
An overview of Don Luis’s personal collection may be found below and in the entry
introducing the Carpio documents, but it will be useful here to describe in some detail
his contributions to the royal collection.

The International Trade in Pictures

The wars and other social upheavals that convulsed Europe during Don Luis’s lifetime
also contributed to a massive redistribution of artistic treasures, which one modern
scholar has gone so far as to call “the plunder of the arts in the seventeenth century.” '3
In the first place, paintings continued to be diplomatic stock-in-trade, even as they had
been in the Renaissance. Thus, Charles I of England, when Prince of Wales, left Spain
in 1623 with gifts of Titian’s Venus del Pardo and other works.''® But much more
important were the estate sales that followed the political demise or deaths of promi-
nent figures: the sale of the collection of the Cardinal Ferdinando Gonzaga, Duca di
Mantova, to Charles I of England in 1627-28;!'7 the sales in England of the Arundel,
Pembroke, and Buckingham collections, and eventually the royal collection; ''® and
the sales in Rome of the collections of important prelates, such as Cardinal Camillo
Massimi, whose estate was auctioned in 1677.119

Spain’s widespread European possessions, not to mention those of the Hapsburg
allies, meant that there would be a Spanish viceroy, ambassador, or agent within reach
of any important sale. Thus, as we have implied, Leganés, Monterrey, Pastrana, the
almirantes, and their contemporaries took advantage of service abroad to enrich either

115. H. Trevor-Roper, The Plunder of the Arts, London 1970.

116. Carducho 1633, f. 154; Pacheco 1648, p. 98 (ms. ed. 1956, vol. 1, p. 152ff.} - both reprinted in Sdnchez
Cant6n, Fuentes, vol. 2, pp. 108 and 136, respectively.

117. A Luzio, La galleria Gonzaga venduta, Milan 1913; cf. P. Askew, “Ferdinando Gonzaga's Patronage ...,
in The Art Bulletin, 60, 1978, pp. 274--296.

118. Trevor-Roper 1970, p. 58. On the English royal collection see Q. Millar, Abraham van der Doort’s Cata-
logue of the Collections of Charles I, The Walpole Society Publications, 37, London, 1958 -1960; Millar pub-
lishes the sales of the Commonwealth’s agents in the 1970 volume of the same series. See also W.L.F. Nuttall,
in Apollo, 82, 1965, and C. Phillips, The Picture Gallery of Charles I, London 1895. The Arundel collection
has been analyzed by L. Cust and M.L. Cox, in “*Notes on the Collections formed by Thomas Howard, Earl of
Arundel and Surrey, K.G..” The Burlington Magazine, 19, no. 101, August 1911, pp. 278281 and (inventory
transcribed by M.L. Cox) pp. 282-286; continued in 20, November 1911, pp. 97100, 233 -236 (January
1912), and 341-343 (February 1912); and in 21, August 1912, pp. 256-258. For further bibliography on the
collection of Charles I and other English collectors of the age, see Wethey 1969, p. 3, note 20.

119. J.A.F. Orbaan, Documenti sul barocco in Roma, Rome 1920, pp. 516519, also Harris 1957, p. 137.
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their own galleries or that of the king. By 1645 the king himself had written to Alonso
de Cérdenas, the Spanish envoy in London, responding to information about the col-
lections of Charles I and Buckingham that Cardenas had sent to Madrid.!?? During the
next four years Cardenas continued to keep the king, his Consejo de Estado, and Don
Luis de Haro informed of the English sales.'?' (Since Cérdenas was acting on Don
Luis’s orders, it is difficult to separate those activities benefiting the king from those
undertaken only on Don Luis’s account.) Similarly, the Conde de Fuensaldaiia sent
David Teniers the Younger to England in 1651 to purchase paintings at the Pembroke
and presumably other sales.!?? Teniers — somewhat against the wishes of Cdrdenas, as
the testy language in his report to Don Luis suggests — left 44 of these paintings for
Cérdenas to send back to Spain.!??

Other noblemen also made use of agents to buy art, but none of these collectors
could claim the resources and access to Spanish diplomatic channels that Don Luis de
Haro possessed as the privado of Philip IV. As Brown has described it, Haro was a
major beneficiary of the massive dispersal of pictures following the English Civil War.!24
It is remarkable how specific Don Luis’s instructions were, for example, on what kind
of subjects were to be bought and how concerned he was that Cardenas understand the
reactions of Veldzquez and the other connoisseurs at the Spanish court. Cardenas, for
his part, responded with determination, sound connoisseurship, shrewd bargaining,
and an occasional display of humor. He was willing to pursue a Holy Family by Raph-
ael for the better part of a year - perhaps even for four years. He carefully kept Don
Luis apprised of any paintings for sale.!? He often waited until the price was right and
almost always bought at considerably below the estimate.!?® He knew whom to bribe
and when to do it,'*” and he was well aware of the subjective nature of the art market.!?8
If, as the documents suggest, he went to Holland to buy pictures, then his pursuit of art
took him considerably beyond the usual boundaries of Spanish culture.

Don Luis was also aware of what other nobles were doing, including the work of
Teniers the Younger for Fuensaldafia. Fuensaldafia would, of course, give many of the
better pieces to Philip IV, but Teniers’ haste also gave Don Luis de Haro an opportu-
nity to look over Fuensaldaiia’s purchases. A number of the Fuensaldafia works had
also been sought by Don Luis; 21 of them would eventually enter the Carpio collec-
tion, including a Bassano Nativity and an Annunciation to the Shepherds, a Palma Vec-
chio Holy Family, Titian’s Adoration of the Magi (possibly now in the Prado), a por-
trait and a Madonna by Andrea del Sarto, six portraits by Tintoretto, two works by

120. Simancas: Archivo Histérico Nacional, Seccidn Estado, legajo 2576, s.f. published in part by Millar 1972.
1 am indebted to Jonathan Brown for this reference.

121. Ibid., Simancas, legajos 2576, 2523, 2526, and 2532.

122. Palacio de Liria, Madrid, Alba Archives, Caja 182-176; see Burke 1984, Doc. 3.2 for partial transcrip-
tion; also see Vergara 1989, pp. 127-132.

123. Palacio de Liria, Madrid, Alba Archives, caja 182-176; sec Burke 1984, Doc. 3.2 for partial transcription.
124. Brown 1991, p. 208.

125. Palacio de Liria, Madrid, Alba Archives, caja 182166 through 182--195, items dated 1651 —1660, items
36 bis, 37, 48 bis, and 49; see Burke 1984, Doc. 3.2 for partial transcription; and Berwick 1891, pp. 489-490.
126. Palacio de Liria, Madrid, Alba Archives, caja 182166 through 182-195, items dated 1651 ~ 1660, items
1 and 36 bis, 10 and 20 bis, 12 and 32 bis; see Burke 1984, Doc. 3.2 for partial transcription.

Palacio de Liria, Madrid, Alba Archives, caja 182-185; see Burke 1984, Doc. 3.2 for partial transcription.

127. Palacio de Liria, Madrid, Alba Archives, caja 182-166 through 182-195, items dated 1651 1660, items
20-21; see Burke 1984, Doc. 3.2 for partial transcription.

128. Cf., for example, the comment of Cardenas on Correggio’s Venus with a Satyr and Cupid, in the sale of
Charles Ps collection: “This picture is in good condition, and as it is very profane, it is highly valued.” (Palacio
de Liria, Madrid, Alba Archives, caja 182166 through 182195, items dated 1651 -1660; see Burke 1984,
Doc. 3.2 for partial transcription.)
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Van Dyck, and four by Veronese, possibly including the Kneeling Magdalene now in
the Prado (no. 498).'%°

Similarly, Cirdenas was not Don Luis’s only correspondent. In 1653 Don Luis
exchanged letters with the Marqués de la Fuente in Venice, with regard to the acquisi-
tion of a version of Tintoretto’s Gloria, which Veldzquez had admired.'*° In 1657, Don
Luis wrote to the Duque de Terranova in Rome about the purchase of statues for Philip
IV.'31 In 1661, the Conde de Ayala, writing from Italy, asked Don Luis to pay for
Raphael’s Christ on the Way to Calvary "Spasimo di Sicilia”, Prado (298), Madrid
which the Spanish king had been seeking to obtain.'3?

The list of works that Don Luis acquired either with the intention of giving them
to Philip or acting on Philip’s instructions is simply stunning. First place is held by
Raphael’s Christ Carrying the Cross. In addition there were the treasures acquired to
redecorate the Escorial, to be discussed below, including works by Titian, Veronese,
and Palma Giovane. Among other Venetian works given to the king were two small
pictures by Mantegna, one of which, a Death of the Virgin, is also in the Prado (no.
248), (Fig. 18), as well as Tintoretto’s Rape of Helen,'** Titian’s Twelve Emperors,'**
and Veronese’s pair of Hercules and Virtue and Vice, the latter being the Youth
between Virtue and Vice now in the Prado (no. 499), (Fig. 19). There was also a self-
portrait (Fig. 20) and a so-called Portrait of the Artist’s Father, both attributed to
Diirer and now in the Prado (nos. 2.179 and 2.180). A Madonna by Parmigianino '3
and Ribera’s Tantalus may also have been given to the king at this time.!3¢

The Escorial

Many of the best works Don Luis purchased for the king were, however, destined for
the Escorial. After the Alcdzar and Buen Retiro collections, the monastery of San

129. Palacio de Liria, Madrid, Alba Archives, caja 182166 through 182195, items dated 1651 - 1660, items
nos. 16, 17, 19-26, 28-32, 34, 35, and 41; see Burke 1984, Doc. 3.2 for partial transcription. The Adoration of
the Magi, ascribed to Titian, is possibly also in the Prado -~ see Wethey 1969, pp. 65-66.

130. Palacio de Liria, Madrid, Alba Archive, caja 182—179; sec Burke 1984, Doc. 3.2 for partial transcription;
cited by Pita Andrade, “Dos recuerdos del segundo viaje a Italia,” Archivo Espariol de Arte, 33, nos. 130131
(1960), pp. 2871.

131. Ibid., caja 182184 (see Burke 1984, Doc. 3.2 for partial transcription) and 1960b, p. 289, respectively.
132. Now in the Prado, no. 298; see Alba 1924, p. 92, and Pérez Pastor 1914, p. 180, no. 900.

133. Palacio de Liria, Madrid, Alba Archive, caja 182185 (see Burke 1984, Doc. 3.2 for partial transcription);
item 33 - marginal note indicates a location in the Escorial (not found in Santos 1657); probably now in the
Prado no. 399 (1.86 x 3.07 m. — cf. Haro dimensions of 2%4 x 3 varas = 1.96 x 2.52 m.). Two Turkish Battles
by Tintoretto appear in the Gonzaga collection in Mantua in 1607; Prado 1972 suggests that no. 399 was one of
these and was acquired by Veldzquez in Venice. The Prado entitles the work Arn Episode from a Battle between
Turks and Christians, but C. Bernari and P. De Vecchi, L’opera completa del Tintoretto, Milan 1970, no. 280,
identifies it as an Abduction of Helen, the same subject as the Tintoretto that Cdrdenas bought in England.

134. In the Alcazar in 1666; destroyed in 1734 ~ see Wethey 1975, p. 236.

135. Berwick 1891, p. 491.

136. Palacio de Liria, Madrid, Alba Archives, caja 182185, item 6 (2%2 x 2 varas = 2.14 x 1.71 m.); see
Burke 1984, Doc. 3.4 for partial transcription. For a complete discussion of possible identification of the Tanta-
lus — as tortured as the subject itself - see Burke 1984, vol. 1, notes to Chapter 3, p. 312, note 57. To summa-
rize, A. Palomino de Castro y Velasco, El museo pictérico y escala dptica, Madrid {1724) 1947, p. 877 speaks
of a set of four torturati (Titius, Ixion, Tantalus, and Sisyphus) by Ribera and says that one of these — the

Ixion - had been in the house of Jacob Uffel in Amsterdam but was taken back to Italy, reunited with the other
three pictures, and eventually brought to Spain. The Titius and Ixion are now in the Prado, nos. 1113 and 1114
(both 2.27 x 3.01 m.), and the Tantalus and Sisyphus are lost. Palomino may have been confused about the title
of the piece in Amsterdam; I find it much more reasonable to suppose that it was the Tantalus purchased by
Ciérdenas, possibly in Holland. See also the four tormentos inventoried in a middle-class collection, as noted in
AHPM, Prot. 6.297, f. 776v.
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Lorenzo del Escorial represented the most important repository of art within the royal
domain. In the years following the death of Balthasar Carlos in 1645, the king had
turned his attention to the Escorial and its Royal Pantheon, which was completed by
March 1654. Subsequently, the project came to include the decoration of the sacristy,
an ante-sacristy, and the salas capitulares (especially, the prior’s and vicar’s chapter
room) and would therefore have required devotional paintings.'>” This explains in part
Philip’s particular interest in the pictures being sold in England in the wake of the
Civil Wars, 164550, and it also explains Palomino’s assertion that Veldzquez, who
was in charge of the redecorations, assembled the needed paintings from the almoneda
of Charles I of England as well as from his own purchases in Italy and from pieces
provided by the Conde de Castrillo,!® although we now know that it was actually Don
Luis de Haro, through Alonso de Cardenas, was the actual purchaser of the English
pictures, '3

Philip indicated in 1656 that he had formed, “for some time, the intention to
adorn [the sacristy of the Escorial] with the most beautiful pictures that could be
obtained, given that his remains were going to rest here for all time.” 140 Several years
earlier Don Luis had also expressed concern about the pictorial decoration of the pal-
ace, but his concern was motivated more by what we would today call public relations
rather than religious piety:

Although there are some very great things by Titian at the Escorial, there
are a lot of other paintings that are very bad, unworthy of being in that
place among the other pictures; and since that place is a theater where so
many foreigners continually stop by at all times of the year, and they ad-
mire it as such a great marvel, I wouldn’t mind if all the bad were to be
taken away and replaced, if not by first class masters, then at least by
[better] ones ...'4!

It is worth noting that Philip and Don Luis had become so identified with the
issues of dynastic tradition and the status of the monarchy that they both assume that
fine pictures are not only desirable but also necessary. Don Luis’s comments also

137. The history of the collection at the Escorial is confused by a fire in 1671 and Charles II's decision to
augment the monastery s decoration in 1676. Qur basic source is Padre Francisco de los Santos, Descripcion
breve del monasterio de Sun Lorenzo el Real del Escorial, Madrid 1657, with subsequent editions in 1667,
1671, 1681, and 1698. Excerpts reprinted in Sanchez Canton, Fuentes literarias para la historia del arte
espariol, vol. 2, pp. 225-319. See J. Zarco Bacas y Cuevas, El monasterio de ... El Escorial, Third Edition
(Madrid 1926), pp. 188ff.; A. Bonet Correa, in Archive Espariol de Arte, 33, nos. 130-131, 1960, pp. 215~
249; and D.F. Darby, “Ribera and the Wise Men,” The Art Bulletin, 44 (1962), pp. 279 -280. (Rosemary Mul-
cahy’s recent study of aspects of the decoration scheme under Philip I¥ was still in the press at the time of this
writing, as were Jonathan Brown’s Mellon lectures on the collection of Philip IV, so that we have not been able
to take advantage of the light that each will surely throw on Philip [V’s activities at the Escorial.) See also
Beroqui y Martinez, *“Apuntes para la historia del Museo del Prado,” Boletin de la Sociedad Espaniola de
Excursiones, 38 (1930), pp. 123{f., and Berwick 1891, pp. 488, note 2 and 492.

138. Palomino 1947, pp. 227-228.

139. See Palacio de Liria, Atba Archives, cajas 182176, 182-178, 182180, and 182~ 195. The documents
indicate that Don Luis paid for the purchases made by Cérdenas out of his own pocket. It is not known if he
was in some way reimbursed by the Crown.

140. From the chaplain Jacques Chifflet’s account of the visit Philip paid to the Escorial in 1656; see Chifflet
165671964, p. 407: *“... diciendo que hace tiempo tenia intencidn de adornarla con lo mds bello que hubiera
en este arte, puesto que sus restos van a descansar aqui para siempre.”

141. Berwick 1891, p. 492; also quoted in Beroqui 1930, p. 123: “porque aungue en S. Lorenzo ¢l Real hay
tantas cosas tan grandes del Ticiano, hay otro pedazo de pintura muy malo, indigna de estar en aqucl lugar y
entre las otras; y como aquél es un teatro adonde continuamente van a parar todo el afio tantos extranjeros, y lo
admiran por maravilla tan grande, holgaria yo que se pudiese ir quitando todo lo malo, y subrogdndolo, puesto
que no no se¢ podra con obras de los Maestros de 1.7 clase, por lo menos con otros de m ...”
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imply a relatively high level of public access (if only by the wealthiest members of
society) and suggests that the foreign, “tourist” presence in Golden Age Spain was
substantial, perhaps much larger than is commonly assumed.

Some of Philip I'V’s gifts to the Escorial are recorded in the 1657 edition of Padre
Santos’ Breve descripcidn, which was written in part to celebrate the king’s comple-
tion of the Royal Pantheon and concurrent redecoration of the Escorial sacristy and
other areas.!'*? (The decoration of the chapter rooms was not finished until after 1657,
so we must rely on later editions and other sources to recreate the decoration
schemes.) Padre Santos’ account corroborates the Alcdzar inventory of 1686, which
mentions 41 works sent to the Escorial by Philip IV in 1656, along with 20 more sent
by Charles Il in 1675.'%3 Santos’ descriptions often include works that Haro acquired
from English collections.

The initial decoration of the Escorial had, of course, been entrusted to Italians
and Italian-trained Spaniards such as Navarrete, and the collection there included
some of the best examples of Titian’s art in Spain.'** The works still remaining at the
Escorial today (or conserved in the Prado with provenance to the Escorial) suggest that
Philip IV maintained this highly Italianate decorative scheme, especially in the sac-
risty, although it also had two pictures by Van Dyck and the chapter rooms had works
by Rubens, Daniel Seghers, and Van Dyck (at least one picture by the latter from a
Milanese collection, and therefore presumably from his Italian period).

Among the pictures Don Luis bought for the sacristy were Raphael’s Madonna
della Perla (Prado, no. 301, probably painted with Giulio Romano) (Fig. 11), pos-
sibly his Madonna della Tenda (now in the Alte Pinakothek, Munich, H.G. 797)

(Fig. 21),'% Andrea del Sarto’s Madonna and Child with an Angel and St. John the
Evangelist (Madonna della Scala) (Prado, no. 334) (Fig. 22), and Tintoretto’s Lava-
torio (Prado, no. 2824). For the prior’s chapter room, Don Luis provided a Conversion
of St. Paul and a matching Triumph of David by Palma Giovane (Prado nos. 272

and 271) (Figs. 24 and 25), as well as Veronese’s Christ and the Centurion (Prado,

no. 492) (Fig. 26), which Antonio Ponz called *‘the finest Venetian painting in the
Escorial.” 146

In their efforts to redecorate the Escorial, Philip IV and Don Luis had enlisted
several other members of the aristocracy, just as Olivares had done twenty years earlier
in decorating the Buen Retiro. Thus, as noted elsewhere, the Conde de Benavente, the
Duque de Medina de las Torres, and the Marqués de Leganés all contributed pictures,
and a number of others were bought from the estate of the Almirante de Castilla in
1647. In the 1660s, after Veldzquez was already dead, a number of works from the

142. Santos 1657, 1667, 1671, 1681, and 1698. 1 am indebted to Elizabeth A. Nicklas and Samuel Heath for
sharing unpublished essays on the decoration of the sacristy and chapter rooms, respectively. Aspects of their
research were reported in Brown 1986. The material presented here relies heavily on their findings.

143. See Archivo del Palacio, Madrid, Seccién Inventarios Reales, Alcdzar, 1686, bound with the Alcdzar
inventory of 1666.

144. Wethey 1969, vol. I, p. 383, lists 23 extant or lost but securely documented works by Titian at the
Escorial.

145. Munich: Alte Pinakothek, H.G. 797 (tentatively identified by Nicklas); the citation in the Haro documents
Madonna and Child with St. John gives dimensions of about 63 x 42 cm. versus 66 x 51 in Munich; Palacio de
Liria, Madrid, Alba Archives, caja 182185, item 40; see Burke 1984, Doc. 3.4 for partial transcription,
According to Nicklas, the Munich piece was in England by 1813 (Sir Thomas Baring). Cf. Berwick 1891,

pp. 490f.

146. A. Ponz, A., Viaje de Espafia (1772—1794), ed. M. Aguilar, Madrid 1947, p. 186; the Veronese is docu-
mented in Palacio de Liria, Madrid, Alba Archives, caja 182185, item 1 (2%2 x 3% varas = 1.92 x2.76 m.;
compare the Prado dimensions of 1.92 x 2.97 m.); see Burke 1984, Doc. 3.2 for partial transcription. See Prado
1972, citing Santos 1657, for provenance.
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Serra Collection in Genoa were acquired by the Conde de Pefiaranda and used in the
vicar’s chapter room.

We have already seen how Monterrey and Castelrodrigo, by providing Philip with
specific objects compatible with his tastes, could embellish the king’s collection. But
they and the other viceroys of Naples had the advantage of being in Italy, where the
latest developments were taking place. (The same applies to Leganés and other Span-
ish connoisseurs in Flanders.) Don Luis was bound to Madrid, and he was, moreover,
a particularly busy man with things other than pictures on his mind.

In any case Don Luis seems to have been willing to depend on the expertise of
Veldzquez, Angelo Nardi, and the other artists and connoisseurs at court.'*’ His letters
to Cirdenas often contain references to hoped-for approval from the experts:

Veldzquez has seen the Raphael, and it seemed to him a very great thing,
as I hope will be the case with the others.'48

The other one which I have given to H.M. these days is the large
Lavatorio by Tintoretto, and Veldzquez as well as Nardi have not only
taken it to be a great original but also ... [letter fragmentary].'4°

Indeed, two of Don Luis’s intended gifts ran afoul of the expertise of Velazquez
and Nardi. The Portrait of Leo X with Cardinals Giulio de’ Medici and Luigi dei Rossi
attributed to Raphael was held to be the copy by Andrea del Sarto mentioned by
Vasari,'3° and the attribution of Correggio’s Mercury, Venus, and Cupid was rejected —
unjustly, as it now appears.'>' Don Luis kept both works for his own collection.

All of this suggests that we must not assume Don Luis was simply carrying out
orders from Philip. In the case of the Spasimo de Sicilia, as Brown has noted,'? the
immense price of the picture and the necessity to establish a perpetual grant to the
monastery that owned it, not to mention Philip’s long-standing interest in the work,
does indicate that Don Luis was receiving instructions from the king. Similarly, Brown
describes Don Luis’s purchases from the collection of Charles I of England via Carde-
nas as a ruse to disguise the king’s involvement (which would have been indiscreet,
considering the fact that Charles had been executed by Parliament).'5? Even in its frag-
mentary state, however, the Haro-Cardenas correspondence reveals Don Luis to be
exercising independent judgment: he clearly knew what would please Philip IV, and he
passed this information on repeatedly to Cérdenas, but his choice of words suggests
that many of the decisions were his own.!>*

Don Luis and Philip IV were the same age, were both members of the same
closed society, and had both matured under the shadow of Olivares. In a sense they
were more closely related emotionally than brothers could ever be. Don Luis’s son,
speaking through the anonymous writer of his “authorized” biography, would later
claim that Don Luis “agreed in every way with the disposition of the king” and
remained Philip’s privado because of “the uniformity of their characters.” '3 On this

147. See E. Harris, *“Velizquez as Connoisseur,” The Burlington Magazine, 124, July 1982, pp. 436-440.
148. Berwick 1891, p. 491.

149. Ibid., p. 494.

150. Berwick 1891, pp. 488, 493; sec Vasari, Vite, 1942 ed., vol. 2, pp. 149~150 and 297. A version of this
work is now at Naples: Capidomonte, no. 138; Diissler 1971 gives it to Andrea del Sarto.

151. See Berwick 1891, pp. 493f.; the painting is now in the National Gallery, London, no. 10.

152. Brown 1991, p. 204.

153. Ibid., p. 202.

154, See Berwick 1891, pp. 488ff.

155. Biblioteca Nacional, Seccién de Manuscritos, ms. no. 18722-56.
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point we have Philip’s own testimony. Writing to Sor Maria de Agreda, his confidant
and advisor during the troubled later years of his reign, Philip explained his reliance
on Don Luis thus:

And although it is true that I have trusted him above my other retainers, it
has been because he was brought up with me from childhood, and I have
never recognized any ugly thing in him, neither in his habits nor in the
things he has represented to me, for he has always lived moderately, and [
take him to be a person of good intentions. And even though [all] this is
true, I have always refused to style him my “minister,” so that the unto-
ward recent events [i.e., Olivares’ later years] might be avoided.!®

The same quality that kept Don Luis in power - his ability to be of the same mind
as the king — also informed his contributions to the royal picture collection. It was not
so much a question of interaction as identity.

With regard to the Escorial decoration, Don Luis’s purchases for Philip IV had
a second, more practical aspect to them. The Escorial project assumed for Don Luis
something of the importance that the Buen Retiro had had for Olivares — we have
already noted his concern for the public relations aspects of the monument. As the
king’s privado, Don Luis had an implicit responsibility to see the work completed in
the best possible way, and he therefore tried to obtain the best “‘big name”” artists:
Raphael, Titian, Correggio. Unlike Olivares, however, Don Luis had to share his
authority with Veldzquez, who held an important court office and who was also firmly
entrenched in the king’s favor.'3” This is why Don Luis was so concerned that Veldz-
quez approve Cardenas’ purchases; he was also following the long-standing Hapsburg
tradition of using art for political ends, including his own career.

Don Luis was not, however, insensitive to the other qualities of the pictures he
was collecting. For example, when doubts about the Raphael Cardinals and Correg-
gio’s Mercury led to their disattribution, Don Luis wrote to Cardenas,

But your Honor ought to temper this disappointment with the fact that, if
these pictures are not found suitable for the king’s quarters, they never-
theless will be hung in mine, with the good faith in which they ought to
be held and in which the painters over there hold them ... 17 December
1654.158

A month later, Don Luis returns to this theme:

but this displeasure ... has two recompenses ... That with these two
pictures ... I will remain, and I will consider them to be originals ...
{letter fragmentary; 22 January 1655].'%°

He goes on to tell Cdrdenas that the Venus by Reni had found approval:

And [my] not having written to your Honor about it was not because it
had not been so esteemed, but rather that this master is not of the same
level as the others.

156. Published in K. Tomds Valiente, Los vdlidos en la monarquia espaiola, Madrid 1963, p. 182.

157. See Palacio de Liria, Madrid, Alba Archives, caja 182186 through 182195, items 1 and 36 bis, 10 and
20 bis, 11 and 12 bis, 12 and 32 bis, and Palacio de Liria, Madrid, Alba Archives, cajas 182185, 182194,
182-195. Sce Burke 1984, Doc. 3.2 for partial transcription.

158. Berwick 1891, p. 494.

159. Ibid., p. 494.
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Evidently Don Luis’s artistic values allowed him to rank Reni below Tintoretto
and Raphael, although it must be added that he kept the Reni, lesser master or not, for
his own collection.

The Serra Collection

The purchases of works from foreign collections by Fuensaldafa, Haro, and the king
suggest that in Madrid the acquisition of works of art did not occur in a vacuum but
was rather part of an international, European phenomenon, in which the tastes of col-
lectors in one country could influence decisions in others, especially when groups of
pictures moved from one collection to another.

One more “international” collection ought to be mentioned briefly. Among the
Haro-Cérdenas documents of 1654 in the Palacio de Liria is an inventory or list that
covers some 44 paintings in the collection of a “Marqués Serra”: that is, the Marchese
Giovanni Francesco Serra di Cassano, a Genoese general who had fought for Spain.'6°
This collection was apparently well known in its time; in addition to the Haro list it is
also catalogued in seventeenth-century Italian inventories preserved in Mantua and
Modena, first published by G. Campori in 1870.'¢! The collection was seen before
1657 in Milan by F. de Scanelli,'¢? and also by the young Oratorian priest Sebastiano
Resta, who later recalled the visit in the following way:

In Milan I have seen a most beautiful large picture by his hand in the
gallery of the Marchese Francesco Serra of Genoa, Field Marshall Gen-
eral in Italy of His Catholic Majesty, Philip IV, along with a Venus by
Titian and another made by Annibale Carracci in the good manner [buon
gusto] of Correggio, and other pictures from the aforesaid gallery, which,
in the year just passed of 1664 were bought for 5,000 [doubloons?] by
the Conde de Pefiaranda, Viceroy of Naples, and sent to His Majesty in
Spain.'63

The works, principally north Italian as we would expect, had been assembled
with refined connoisseurship: for example, as both Serra and Campori’s anonymous

160. Palacio de Liria, Madrid, Alba Archive, caja 182-194. (No date, but datable to before 1666.) ““Relagion
de los cuadros del Marques Siera.” No other identification given, but the document is found among papers
relating to the collections of Don Luis de Haro. See Burke 1984, Doc. 3.2 for partial transcription.

For a discussion of the Serra collection and its acquisition by Philip IV, see¢ Antonio Vannugli, La collezione
Serra di Cassano, Salerno 1989; also cited in Brown 1991, p. 204.

161. G. Campori, Raccolta di cataloghi ed inventarii inediti, Modena 1870, pp. 453-455; Campori cites nearly
identical entries. Compare, for example, his description of a Venus and Adonis with that of the Alba/Carpio
Serra list, item 39: (Campori 1870, p. 455) “famosa Venere con Adone e Cupido di mano d’ Anibal Carraccio,
fatta da lui ad emulazione di quella di Tiziano™ (No. 39) “la famosa Venus con Adon y Cupido de mano de
Anibal Caracio, hecha de el a emulacion de la que hizo el Tician.” As [ indicated in 1984, we may therefore
assume that the inventory in Campori describes the collection of the Marchese Serra. Vannugli 1989 indepen-
dently came to the same conclusion, using Campori's document to reconstruct the collection and compare it to
the Spanish Alcdzar inventory of 1666/86. See also D. Posner, Annibale Carracci, London 1971, vol. 2, p. 21,
no. 46.

162. Scanelli da Forli, Il microcosmo della pittura, Cesena 1657, p. 222 — cited by Wethey 1975, vol. 3, p. 194,
and by Crowe and Cavalcaselle 1877, vol. 2, p. 239 note: “{I saw] in Milan, in the House of the Marquese
Serra, a famous and worthy picture, which contains the fable of Venus and Adonis, both figures being of the
rarest beauty.”

163. Rome: Biblioteca Vaticana, Fondo Ottoboniano, Cod. Ottob. 1at. 2977; published in Vannugli 1991, p. 11:
“In Milano ho visto un Belliss. ® quadro grande di costui nella Galleria del March. © fran. ©© Serra Genovese M.©
di Campo Generale p. S.M. Cat.“* filippo 4.° in Itaglia, qual quadro con una Venere di Tiziano et un altra d’ Anni-
bale Caraccia fatta nel p.© buon gusto del Correggio, et altri quadri della d.  Galleria quest’anno passato del 1664
furono comprati in cinquemiila doble dal Co: di Pignoranda Vice Ré di Napoli ¢ mandati in Spagnaa S. M'a.”
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source indicate, both Annibale Carracci’s Venus and Adonis after Titian and a Venus
and Adonis by Titian are present (nos. 40 and 4).

In 1664, as Resta indicates, the outgoing Spanish Viceroy of Naples, Gaspar de
Bracamonte y Guzmadn, Conde de Pefiaranda, an important statesman and a collector
in his own right, purchased at least part of the Serra collection for Philip I'V. Appar-
ently, 39 paintings from the collection were bought for Madrid. A number of these
may be identified with extant works in the Prado, Academia de San Fernando, or the
Escorial. These include Carracci’s Venus and Adonis already mentioned (Serra no. 39,
Prado no. 2631), Parmigianino’s Portrait of One of the Counts of San Secundo (no. 13,
Prado no. 279), Lorenzo Lotto’s Messer Marsilio and his Wife (no. 10, Prado no. 240
Fig. 23), Reni’s Atalanta and Hippomenes (no. 3, Prado no. 3090), and Reni’s Christ with
the Cross (no. 38).'% Among the works sent to decorate the vicar’s chapter room in the
Escorial were Esther before Ahasuerus attributed to Tintoretto (no. 8)'%° and Vincenzo
Catena’s Christ Giving the Keys to St. Peter (no. 15, attributed to Bellini, Prado 20). One
of Van Dyck’s versions of Santa Rosolea (no. 8; Prado no. 14947?),'6 a St. Jerome by
Campi (no. 5, Prado 59), Bassano’s Expulsion of the Moneylenders (no. 23), and a copy
after Leonardo (no. 19) may have gone to the Escorial, but the provenances are confused
with those of similar works in the collection of the almirante, Medina de las Torres, the
royal collection, and the Escorial itself. With regard to other collections in Madrid, there
is the possibility that the Apollo Flaying Marsyas by Ribera, no. 1 in the Serra inven-

tory, can be identified with a work of the same title in the Carpio collection in 1689.1¢7

The Noble Collectors

As we have already indicated in our summary of the age of Philip III and Lerma,
almost all the great noble collectors shared certain resources and political or social
experiences that allowed them to amass the cultural treasures that are the subject of
this study. Let us therefore pause before surveying the collections of the reign of Philip
IV to examine the qualities they had in common.

The first of these was proximity to the king and the royal collection, the latter for
its influence on the collector’s developing taste and the former for the financial and
travel opportunities that royal favor could provide. Often, proximity to the king meant
being part of the circle of the favorite then in power: Lerma’s friends and relatives, in
the case of Philip III, or the Castrillo-Olivares-Carpio group (the Guzman and Haro
families) under Philip IV.

Second, to be a successful, the collector (and patron) usually needed to serve
abroad, either in Flanders or in Italy, as Ambassador, Governor-General, or Viceroy. In
fact, every one of the great collecting families had at least one member who served in a
high position in Italy. However, almost every one of the Spanish collectors active in Italy
had to some extent formed his or her own tastes before leaving Spain, so that the rela-
tionship between Spanish and Italian artistic values was by no means one-sided. At the
same time, the collectors who remained behind in Spain, including the king and many
members of the monied non-noble group (which we have somewhat anachronistically

164. Madrid: Academia de San Fernando, no. 291; see Pérez Sanchez 1963, pp. 174-175.

165. Authorship disputed. See L. de Vecchi, Tutta I'opera di Tintoretro (Classici dell’arte), Mitan 1970, no.
63b; the canvas remains in the Escorial. I am indebted to Samuel Heath (note 142) for sharing unpublished
information about works thought to have been present in the chapter rooms.

166. See Prado 1972 for possible provenance.

167. In the 1689 Carpio inventory (Doc. 115, no. 19, no dimensions). Until a reliable death inventory is found
for Don Luis, there can be no way to know when the work entered the Carpio collection.
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identified as a “middle class™), could count on a steady supply of works from Italy and
Flanders coming back to Spain. Eventually, and surprisingly quickly in some instances,
many of these works circulated in a type of art market by means of almonedas.

Given the massive debts of the Spanish grandees, one may wonder how the great
noble collectors found the means to acquire their collections. Would-be collectors in
Golden Age Spain could tap a variety of sources for the income they needed. Even
when their estates were burdened with debt, the grandees’ annual flow of rents gener-
ated liquid assets that could be diverted to purchases. In addition, royal favor occasion-
ally resulted in direct grants of money or legal assistance against creditors.'®® Royal
favor could also lead to the grant of a title with income-producing lands attached, such
as those given to Lerma, Olivares, Medina de las Torres, and many other collectors
cited here. Moreover, participation in the government could result in control over such
income-producing entities as the Chancery of the Indies and the rental properties of
the military orders. Thus, even the heavily mortgaged Infantado estates nevertheless
provided an annual flux of approximately 100,000 ducats, or 1,100,000 reales. The
buying power of such a sum may be better understood in the light of mid-seventeenth-
century wages: Infantado broughbt in 3,000 silver reales a day (Sundays included),
while a worker in the 1620s and 1630s earned between one and five reales each day he
worked at what we would today consider unskilled to semiskilled labor. That is, Infan-
tado’s cash flow was 600 to 3,000 times greater than the wages of an ordinary person.
Although we lack a precise modern equivalent, it would nonetheless be in the millions
of dollars a year. Lerma’s relatively unencumbered estates yielded twice this amount.

The Thirty Years’ War gave the nobility yet other opportunities for personal
enrichment, which they were quick to exploit.'® The vast expenditures necessary to
maintain Spain’s newly aggressive foreign policy directed a stream of income from the
silver mines of Potosi and the millones tax in Castile out to the captain-generalcies of
Spain’s European network. Furthermore, Spaniards in foreign service received salaries
or reimbursements for expenses and, depending on their status, might also find ways to
skim local tax receipts.

One example of the large sums involved may be cited. The Marqués de Leganés,
who had received his title and its income as a royal grant, also held a series of military
positions in Flanders and Italy, as well as the governorship of Milan, for all of which
he would theoretically have drawn salaries. More importantly, as governor he would
have been allowed to tap the resources of Spain’s military and political establishments
in northern Italy. In 1640, Leganés suffered a military defeat at the hands of the
French, losing, along with the battle, some 50,000 escudos (59,000 ducats) in cash,
representing buying power somewhere between 3 million and 20 million dollars today.
Although it is not clear whether the money was his own or actually the Crown’s (he
may have financed the campaign out of his own pocket in the expectation of reim-
bursement), Leganes’ contemporaries understood the sum to have been relatively mod-
est compared to his total wealth.'7®

168. See Elliott 1963/70, pp. 312-315, and H. Kamen, Spain in the Later Seventeenth Century, London 1980,
pp. 232ff. See also the cédula real issued by Philip III in favor of the Duques del Infantado in 1618 — AHPM,
Prot. 2.662, I1.

169. Trevor-Roper (in the New Cambridge Modern History, vol. 4, 1971, pp. 278-281) and others have sug-
gested that it was the international Spanish bureaucracy — or perhaps directorate, since we are dealing with such
high-born nobles as the Duque de Osuna, the Marqueses de Bedmar and Villafranca, and the Conde de Fuentes
— who actually fomented the change from the pacifistic stance of the Lerma regime to the more bellicose pos-
ture of Olivares and Philip IV. (See also Elliott 1968, pp. 325-327.)

170. Lépez Navio 1962, p. 264.
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Leganés was, of course, one of the foremost collectors of the age; among the
spoils taken by the French at Milan were also a number of his paintings. Men who
dealt at this level of finance (and in cash at that) had little difficulty finding a few hun-
dred ducats for a choice work by Annibale Carracci, or even a few thousand for a can-
vas by Raphael or Correggio, especially since they were already in Italy or Flanders,
where they held the reins of power. Furthermore, it was difficult for the government in
Madrid to supervise the foreign officials - all the more so if the privado depended on
their support to maintain his own power. Thus, as Brown and Elliott have remarked, a
Viceroy of Naples like the Conde de Monterrey could, in effect, bleed the kingdom
dry for the dual goals of Spanish arms and personal greed.'”!

Entailments

An incident in Florentine-Spanish international relations during the reign of Philip IV
not only illustrates the importance of art collecting in official policy at the time but
also points to the close interrelationship between the king’s taste and attitudes and
those of the grandees. Recent research by Edward 1. Goldberg has revealed a series of
letters between the Grand Duke of Florence and his ambassador in Madrid, concerning
the proper gift to offer Don Luis de Haro in thanks for having negotiated the sale of a
fortress town to the Grand Duchy of Tuscany. After much wrangling, the Grand Duke
finally sends a sculpted equestrian portrait of Philip IV. The Ambassador gives the
piece to Don Luis, who immediately gives it in turn to the king:

This morning, Don Luigi went to present [the statue] to the King. His
Majesty was gratified in the extreme, and he personally showed it to all
the courtiers, who agreed that the statue and buffet are without equal in
the world. His Majesty had it placed in the Octagonal Room between the
two galleries; the walls of this room are decorated with pilasters and
niches of jasper and with beautiful statues, and it is here that the king
keeps his most precious things, as the Grand Duke does in his Tribuna
[that is, in the Gallery of the Uffizi].

In the King’s presence, Her Majesty the Queen and the Infanta both
made their case: the Queen claiming it for her first male child and the
Infanta saying that she would take it with her when she leaves to marry.
The King laughed, telling them both that they had figured it wrong; since
the horse and the table were placed in this Tribuna, it no longer belonged
to him. Anything that enters that room is understood to be made over to
the Crown.!72

Two aspects of this report should be noted: first, Luis de Haro’s having given the
horse to the king ~ typical of his self-effacing ability to please the monarch — and sec-
ond, Philip IV’s attitude toward the works of art in the Octagonal Room. Given the
presence of dynastic portraits by Titian in the Octagonal Room, Philip’s response is

171. Brown and Elliott 1980, p. 225 and 278, note 25, citing a letter of Fulvio Testi, Lettere, Bari 1967, vol. 3,
letter 1345 (19 November 1638).

172. From the correspondence of Ambassador Monsignor Lodovico Incontri to secretary G.B. Gondi for the
Grand Duke Ferdinando II de” Medici, 1649 —~1651; Archivo di Stato Fiorentino, Florence. I am indebted to
Edward Goldberg for sharing this document with me; see his article, “*Spanish Taste, Medici Politics, and a
Lost Chapter in the History of Cigoli’s Ecce Homo,” in The Burlington Magazine, 134, no. 1067, February
1992, pp. 102-110.
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characteristic of the Spanish Hapsburg rulers from at least Philip II on. In Hapsburg
Spain works of art held a special significance for the king and, indeed, for the Crown.

Goldberg has properly connected this incident with the grandees’ attempts to
entail their art collections. During the seventeenth century, a number of noble collec-
tors sought to make their collections a permanent part of their estates, in the way that
certain royal pictures were apparently understood, in Philip’s words, to be “made
over” to the Crown. Accordingly, the best parts of the Benavente, Carpio, and Leganés
collections were entailed in an attempt to prevent their dispersal. Thanks to the efforts of
Lépez Navio and Mary Crawford Volk, we have extensive information on Leganes’
attempt to incorporate (vincular) his art collection into the mayorazgo of the marquisate
of Leganés — that is, into the estates pertaining to and inalienable from his noble titles.'”3

The word mayorazgo, related to hijo mayor, means, literally, “primogeniture”
or “an estate inherited by primogeniture.” It may be translated very loosely as “an
entailment” or “an entailed estate”: an estate whose property may be inherited only
by a specified line of heirs in such a way that the property can never be transferred
legally. As Volk points out, a specified succession was part of Leganes’ motivation for
authorizing the escrituras de mayorazgo that detailed his estates in 1630 and 1642.'74
(An obsession with the inheritance of his estate also marked Olivares’ final years: his
will reflects a desperate attempt to specify his legal heirs.)!’> What is more, one of the
documents presented in this volume contains evidence that “courtier class” (non-
noble propertied subjects) collectors were also seeking to entail paintings for inheri-
tance by the eldest surviving child through the legal device of a patronazgo (as
opposed to a mayorazgo).'’

In an age when feudal rights were fast becoming obsolete, and when income was
likely to be mortgaged heavily, the ability to catalogue the precise real property, fix-
tures, and movable goods adhering to a given title — and to protect this property from
alienation via an almost inevitable almoneda — was an important, even necessary
device for keeping a great estate together. However, as far as this study has been able
to determine, seventeenth-century nobles who sought to found mayorazgos were more
often successful at specifying what was to be inherited than they were at determining
who could inherit it. The history of the estates of Olivares, Infantado, Pastrana, Carpio,
Benavente, and (in the eighteenth century) Alba suggests that the Spanish courts
tended to uphold the rules of genealogical succession and the exigencies of particular
legal situations rather than the wishes of the founders of noble houses.!”” Furthermore,

173. Lépez Navio 1962, p. 261. Volk 1980, p. 257, notes that the ability of Leganés to incorporate his paintings
into his entailed estate was dependent upon his status as a grandee, which was accorded him along with his
marquisate in 1627. Sce also AHNM, Seccién Osuna, legajos 440/2-29, 440/2-33.

174. Volk 1980, pp. 257-258.

175. Olivares’ will was dated 16 May 1642; AHPM, Prot. 6.233, ff. 717-763.

176. AHPM, Prot. 6.303, ff. 427v—430v; originally published by J.L. Barrio Moya, Revista de Archivos, Bibli-
otecas y Museos, 82, 1979, pp. 163-71; also AHPM, Prot. 6.303, entire volume; published here as Doc. 73 —
see the previous discussion of the collection of Cardinal Sandoval y Rojas and the entry to the document,
below. The legal history of Spanish entailments remains unclear; until the appearance of this document, many
scholars had assumed that entailments (in the sense of mayorazgos) were the privilege of the nobility. Perhaps
the creation of a patronazgo, with analogy to the foundations established for convents, hospitals, and the like,
was a legal experiment, an attempt to get around social restrictions. The matter clearly warrants further study.
177. See AHNM, Seccion Ordenes Militares (Santiago), expediente 5274; Volk 1980, pp. 256 notes 4 and 5,
257 note 7 and 266ff; Sanchez Canton, 19231941, vol. 2; Lépez Navio 1962, pp. 268 notes 1 and 12, 269ft.
On the lawsuit over the Olivares estate, see AHPM, Prot. 6.292, ff. 460—-472; on the Alba lawsuits, see Palacio
de Liria, Madrid, Alba Archive, caja 157-44; AHPM, Prot. 6.292, ft. 447ff; AHPM, notaries Andrés de Calta-
fiazor, 16601691, nos. 9799 ff. and especially no. 9819, and Lorenzo Matamoros, nos. 8976—77; on the Bena-
vente estate and the lawsuits of 1653—1657, see AHNM, Seccién Osuna, legajo 440, section 2, 440/2—20. The
Benavente paintings were also entailed: see AHNM, Seccién Osuna, legajo 440/2-33; cited by Saltillo 1947,
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“primogeniture” in Spain could mean succession by the eldest daughter in the absence
of a male heir. As a consequence, surviving daughters could, and often did, inherit
noble titles and their estates. When these daughters married, their titles and estates
could be “captured” by other noble families. (Thus, the Carpio, Monterrey, and Oliva-
res collections all came to be part of the Alba estates, and the houses of Infantado and
Pastrana were merged.)

As aresult of this complex legal situation, very few galleries survived in the form
that their founders envisioned. But the grandees’ success or lack of it is not the real
issue: what is important is their intent. Spanish noblemen and noblewomen - particu-
larty those in the circle of Olivares — thought enough of their art collections to want to
incorporate them into their very titles, to be passed down to future generations along
with their lands, castles, palaces, and aristocratic status. With the new evidence pro-
vided by the Florentine Ambassador, we may also understand the noble entailments in
relation to the Hapsburg attitude toward works of art: like their rulers, the nobles came
to understand ownership of works of art as an important aspect of the ruling family’s
traditions.

The Alcala Collection

The first collector we will discuss is Don Fernando Enriquez Afdn de Rivera, the third
Duque de Alcala de los Gazules, whose career spans the transition from Philip Il and
Lerma to Philip IV and Olivares. His collection has been published elsewhere '"® but is
worth reviewing here at some length because it may be taken as a paradigm for the
noble collections of the following reign.

The Duques de Alcald, Marqueses de Tarifa (family name Afén de Rivera) were
Spanish collectors and patrons of art, architecture, archacology, and literature. Their
palace at Seville, the Casa de Pilatos,!”” was begun at the end of the fifteenth century
and completed in the 1530s by Don Fadrique Enriquez de Rivera, the first Marqués de
Tarifa. Don Fadrique’s nephew and heir, Don Per Afdn de Rivera, first Duque de
Alcala de los Gazules, subsequently assembled a large collection of antiquities around
a group of marbles given to him by the Pope Pius V, whose papacy coincided with
Don Per Afan’s tenure as Ambassador to Rome and Viceroy of Italy, 1566--1572.

The third duque, Don Fernando, was born in Seville in 1583; he served as Vice-
roy of Cataluna from 1618 to 1622, Ambassador to Rome from 1625 to 1629, Viceroy
of Naples from 1629 to 1631, and Viceroy of Sicily from 1632 to 1636. A member of

p. 610. The merging of the houses of Pastrana and Infantado is discussed below and documented in AHNM,
Seccidn Osuna, legajo 1948, secions 3 (a—b) and 4-5 (c~d); dated in Guadalajara 3 September 1601 and fol-
lowing (the document is a copy, made sometime between 1626 and 1633, of an inventory dated in 1601);
AHPM, Prot. 2.674, ff. 1044 14421f, cited by Pérez Pastor 1914, p. 170 no. 857; AHPM, Prot. 2.662, II;
AHPM, Prot. 8.226, ff. 1235, 3639, cited by Pérez Pastor 1914, p. 179f. no. 899; AHNM, Seccion Osuna,
cartas, legajo 582 (partially transcribed in Burke 1984, Doc. 2.16a); AHPM, Prot. 2.679, tf. 496-98; AHPM,
Prot. 10.432, ff. 123, 52v-548ff, AHPM, Prot. 10.437, ff. 29-53; AHPM, Prots. 8.224 and 8.225; Prot.
11.847, ff. 31ff.; AHPM, Prot. 14.916; AHPM, Prot. 2.676, ff. 216255 and 1367~ 1455.

178. The standard biography of Alcald is that of J. Gonzalez Moreno, Don Fernando Enriquez de Ribera tercer
Duque de Alcald de los Gazules, Seville 1969; an informative summary account may be found in Darby 1957,
pp. 202203, and 1962, pp. 288290, citing D. Ortiz de Ziifiiga, Anales de Sevilla, Madrid 1677, pp. 659 -666
and passim. For further information and bibliography, sec Brown 1987, pp. 38-40 and notes; Burke 1984,

pp. 50-56 and Casa de Pilatos, Seville, Alcald Archives, inventory and almondeda of the Duque de Alcala,
dated in Genoa, 19 May 1637 and subsequent; Brown and Kagan, 1987), pp. 232-255; A. Garcia y Bellido,
Archivo Espaniol de Arqueologia, xxiv (1951), pp. 7-21; J. Gestoso y Pérez, Curiosidades antiguas sevillunas,
Seville 1910, pp. 237--267; and M. Morales, Rodrige Caro, Seville 1947.

179. For Alcald’s career in Seville, see Brown 1978, pp. 38-39.
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Francisco Pacheco’s “academy” of artists, writers, and intellectuals, Alcald was a
leading patron of the arts and letters in his native Seville during the reign of Philip III
and a supporter of Rodrigo Caro, the father of Spanish archaeology. He was also the
possessor of a remarkable collection of antiquities housed in the Casa de Pilatos. The
Alcald library, an important resource for the Sevillian literati, was decorated by
Pacheco in 1604 with a complicated allegory of intellectual virtues symbolized by
scenes from the ancient myths.!8¢ Pacheco’s Arte de la pintura is laced with references
to the duque’s own love of collecting, not to mention his efforts as an amateur painter.8!
A measure of Alcald’s sympathy with his intellectual companions in Seville may be
gathered from his correspondence with Pacheco about ancient art in Rome after his
appointment as Ambassador there.'82

By the time Alcal4 arrived in Rome as Philip IV’s Extraordinary Ambassador to
Pope Urban VIII in 1625,'%3 he had already become a discerning connoisseur of paint-
ing. In addition to collecting pictures, Alcala continued to develop his interest in
antiquities, as may be seen in the letters to Pacheco already cited above, to which may
be added the evidence of the many marbles and ancient medals in his possession in
Genoa at the time of his death in 1637. According to Pacheco, Alcala also took the
young Madrid painter, Diego Cincinato — son of the escurialense Rémulo Cincinato —
to Rome with him in 1625,'%* presumably for the same reasons that Philip IV would
later send Veldzquez to Italy. Pacheco recounts the younger Cincinato’s great success
with a portrait of Urban VIII, which was unfortunately followed not long after by the
painter’s sudden death. Alcald is also thought to have served as the intermediary who
commissioned an influential painting of the Immaculate Conception from a recalci-
trant Guido Reni in Rome in 1627.185 The picture was intended for the Infanta Marfa,
Philip IV’s sister. Pacheco also records Alcald’s patronage of Artemesia Gentileschi,
several of whose pictures were among the pieces the duque sent back to Seville.'86

In spite of the opposition of his predecessor, the Duque de Alba, Alcald was
appointed Viceroy of Naples in 1629, entering the city on 17 August of that year.'8’
His principal associate at the time was Don Alonso de Cardenas, a career diplomat
who, as we have seen, would later play an important role in the artistic exchange
between Spain and England.!®® In Rome, Alcald had been a patron of Artemesia Gen-
tileschi and of the Bamboccianti; in Naples, he became a patron of Ribera, who

180. For the iconographic program, sec Brown 1978, pp. 78-81.

181. For example, see Pacheco 1956, vol. 1, pp. 58 (on a mosaic in the Alcalé collection), and 171 (on Alcaléd’s
practicing the art of painting), and vol. 2, p. 175 (on Pacheco’s attribution and restoration of works by Pedro de
Campana — analyzed by Brown 1978, p. 39).

182. Pacheco 1956, vol. 1, pp. 58-59, quoting a description of a recently discovered ancient painting (the
Aldobrandini Wedding) sent to him by Alcald from Rome. Alcald had the painting copiced and sent the copy to
Seville in 1625. (Also cited by Brown 1978, p. 38 note 65.)

183. Pacheco 1956, vol. 1, pp. 150-151.

184. Ibid. .

185. Now in the Metropolitan Museum, New York, no. 59.32. C.C. Malvasia, Felsina pittrice, vite de’ pittori
bolognese, Bologna 1678, vol. 2, pp. 79-80 “Vita di Guido Reni” — translated by C. and R. Enggass, Univer-
sity Park, Pennsylvania, 1980 — recounts a stormy series of negotiations between Reni and the Spanish Ambas-
sador in Rome, which were settled only after the intervention of the Pope (actually, the Pope’s nephew). See

H. Hibbard, “Guido Reni’s Painting of the Immaculate Conception,” in the Metropolitan Museum of Art Bulle-
tin, 28, 1969, pp. 21 and 32. Malvasia does not give the ambassador’s name. Both Alcald and the Conde de
Ofiate held ambassadorships in Rome at that time.

186. Pacheco 1956, vol. 1, p. 148.

187. D.A. Parrino, Teatro eroico, ¢ politico de’ Governi de’ Vicere del Regno di Napoli Dal tempo del Re
Ferdinando il Cattolico Fino al presente, 3 vols., Naples 1692-1694, vol. 2, p. 188; cf. J. Gonzélez Moreno
Don Fernando Enriquez de Ribera, Tercer Duque de Alcald de los Gazules (1583~ 1637), Seville 1969, pp. 153ff.
188. Ibid., vol. 2, pp. 188ff. On Cdrdenas, see Burke 1984, vol. 1, Chapter 3, passim.
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referred to himself as the duque’s “Apelles,” a relationship cut short by Alcald’s recall
to Spain in 1631.'% (The unusual subject of the Venturi portrait may relate to the
duque’s scientific interests, as indicated by the many navigational, mathematic, and
scientific instruments in his 1637 inventory.) Ribera’s Teoxenia (partially destroyed in
1734, fragments in the Prado) has been related to a Hellenistic relief in the Alcald col-
lection,'® while Ribera’s Christ Being Prepared for the Cross (Cogulludo, Santa
Maria), four images of philosophers (probably the works now in the Prado), and at
least two other works by Ribera were recorded in his inventories.'®! He also possessed
works by Andrea del Sarto, il Cavaliere d’ Arpino, Guido Reni, and Guercino.

Alcald’s tenure in Naples was brief, ending in 1631, but he soon returned to Italy,
serving as Viceroy of Sicily from 1632. Even from Sicily, he continued to commission
works of art — including a Mater Dolorosa from Ribera — in Naples.!?? Charged with
an embassy to the Holy Roman Empire, he died at Villach in 1637.'%3 Alcald’s death
inventories were taken in Seville and in Genoa, in preparation for an almoneda there
in the late spring of 1637.'°* (The choice of Genoa is not explained: perhaps the duque
had left his belongings there in anticipation of either shipment to Germany or return to
Seville. Genoa was an ally of Spain, had a direct maritime link to the Peninsula, sup-
ported a wealthy and cultured mercantile class, and had a large Spanish community.

It may have been chosen as the best location for an auction.)

Very few of the works recorded in Genoa were attributed, although these few
are of some interest. There were two pictures by Titian ~ a St. Lawrence and a Head
(evaluated at only 80 reales) — along with a piece by Caracciolo, a Miracle of a
Female Saint attributed to Caravaggio, the already mentioned Mater Dolorosa by
Ribera, and another work, an Apollo Flaying Marsyas, which may be one of Ribera’s
versions of this theme.!?3

Also of interest in the Genoa inventory are the several additional works attributed
to Bamboccio (Pieter van Laer), although the Dutch artist’s name could have been
used as a generic term for a type of lowlife scene. As Haskell has demonstrated, Span-
ish patrons were especially important in the rise of the Bamboccianti in Italy.'%¢
Michelangelo Cerquozzi, for example, was so identified with his Spanish and His-
panophile patrons that he affected Spanish dress, and Alcald’s successor, the Conde de
Monterrey, may have also been one of his early patrons. Furthermore, van Laer dedi-
cated a series of eight engravings of animals to Alcald in 1635 or 1636,'77 although it
1s not clear if these appear in the 1637 inventory. (At least one estampa was invento-
ried among Alcald’s pictures, but the evaluations on the lots given to Bamboccio,
100-200 reales, seem too high for them to be prints.) In any event, the inventory
documents Alcald’s patronage of genre subjects.

189. Now in the Lerma Foundation, Hospital de Tavera, Toledo, Spain. Ilustrated, with a transcript of the
inscription, in Felton 1982, pp. 128-129.

190. Sec D.F. Darby, “In the Train of a Vagrant Silenus,” Art in America, 31, 1943, pp. 140- 150; Felton 1982,
p. 122, offers 2 summary of the opinions on this question. The painting was reduced to fragments (Prado nos.
1122 and 1123) by the Alcézar fire of 1734.

191. Published in Brown and Kagan 1987.

192. Marqués del Saltillo, “Pinturas de Ribera,” Archivo Espaiiol de Arte, 14, 1941, pp. 246 -247, also Trapier
1952, pp. 85-86.

193. See Gonzélez Moreno 1969, pp. 177—178, and Darby 1962, pp. 289-290.

194. See Brown, “Murillo, pintor de temas eréticos: Una faceta inadvertida de su obra,” in Goya: Revista de
Arte, nos. 169-172, 1982, pp. 35-43.

195. There are examples from the mid-1630s in Naples and Brussels; illustrated in Felton, Jusepe de Ribera,
Fort Worth 1982, p. 179

196. Haskell 1971, pp. 135ff.

197. Ibid., p. 135-136.
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Since the 1637 Alcald inventory was taken for an almoneda, many of the works
mentioned never reached Spain. Nevertheless, the sale was so well attended by mem-
bers of the duque’s household and by the Spanish community in Genoa that some por-
tion of the collection might have found its way to the Iberian Peninsula. Furthermore,
the long roster of buyers (many of whom were presumably creditors of the duque’s
estate) bears witness to the widespread dissemination of works of art that the almone-
das brought about. The social strata represented by the buyers were equally diverse. At
one end of the spectrum were nobles like the Marqués de Alcanizas and hidalgo mem-
bers of the Spanish community, like Cardenas and “the Secretary” Herrera. At the
other end were people identified by only one name. In between were three members of
the Spinola clan, as well as other Italians such as “Raggio™ and “Imperiale,” and a
host of non-noble Spaniards. This pattern will also be seen to apply to estate sales in
Madrid, where people of all walks of life were able to acquire works of art.

Collectors in the Circle of Olivares: The Monterrey Collection

Alcald’s collection differed from those assembled later in the seventeenth century in
that it was intended to decorate a palace in Seville rather than in Madrid. Among the
policies of the new king, Philip IV, and his privado, Olivares, was an attempt to cen-
tralize power around the Crown. As the contemporary phrase put it, “Solo Madrid es
corte” — “only Madrid is the court.” By about 1630, this meant that Madrid had
become the principal seat of most of the nobility as well as the king. Although the
great wealth of Seville continued to mean that important collections could be assem-
bled there (especially by members of the second rank of nobility, the lesser aristocracy,
and merchants), the galleries of the greatest nobles were increasingly to be found
exclusively at Madrid.

One of the first great private collections assembled during the reign of Philip IV
was that of Don Manuel de Azevedo y Zifiiga and Dofia Leonor Marfa de Guzman,
6th Condes de Monterrey. Don Manuel’s career, including his relationship with the
royal collections discussed above, is in many ways typical of the great collectors of the
age. Monterrey was closely linked to Olivares: each had married the other’s sister. The
resulting interlocking of the houses of Monterrey, Olivares, and Haro (the Marqueses
del Carpio, Olivares’ kinsmen) created a potent political alliance with ramifications in
the world of art collecting.

Don Manuel benefited greatly from his family ties. As the stars of Zdfiiga and
Olivares rose at court, more and more members of their interrelated houses received
governmental positions. The members of the family also participated in Olivares’
vision of his family’s service to the State. In keeping with the example set by the
Conde-Duque, Don Manuel helped support the intellectual life of the capital, and in
1622 the sessions of the Madrid Academy were transferred to the house of Francisco
de Mendoza, secretary to Monterrey.!”8 In 1628, Don Manuel was appointed Ambas-
sador in Rome; he was then Viceroy of Naples from 1631-37. It is noteworthy that,
at the end of the seventeenth century, the Neapolitan historian Parrino cited Don Man-
uel’s marital ties with Olivares to explain his appointment as viceroy.!»

We have some details of Monterrey’s activities in Rome.2% Pacheco and Palo-

198. Brown and Elliott 1980, p. 42, citing G.A. Davies, A Poet at Court: Antonio Hurtado de Mendoza,
Oxford, 1974, p. 60.

199. Parrino 1692, vol. 2, p. 215.

200. Pita Andrade 1960a, p. 401, states, “there remain, in the Palacio de Liria, minute accounts of how much
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mino record Monterrey’s intervention on Veldzquez’s behalf when the painter sought
summer lodging in the Villa Medici during his first visit to Italy, 162931, and a
French visitor to Italy, J.J. Bouchard, left the following description of Monterrey’s pal-
ace (apparently in Rome, although the conde was already in Naples) in 1632:

[The gallery of the Palace] was filled by the Conde de Monterrey with an
infinity of beautiful originals by Raphael, Titian, and other excellent
painters, which [pictures] have been grabbed up in Naples and Rome.
[There were] rich furnishings in the rooms and a quantity of silver-
ware.... and a little library filled with good books.?"!

Furthermore, the Monterrey inventory of 1653 (see Docs. 57 and 58 below) dem-
onstrates that the conde’s gallery also displayed works by contemporary Roman artists,
such as the Cavaliere d’ Arpino (nos. 99—-100) and Antonio Tempesta (nos. 26, 97), as
well as by Bolognese artists whose market centered in Rome (Reni and Albani, nos.
75, 217). As has been noted, there is also reason to suppose that Monterrey was buy-
ing works by Cerquozzi at this time.?°> Haskell, citing the notice by Bouchard just
quoted, suggests that Don Manuel may also have acquired many of his Renaissance
works in Rome before his appointment to Naples.??? Later, in the mid-1630s, Monter-
rey undertook the transport of the two Aldobrandini works by Titian already discussed
with regard to the royal collections (Prado, nos. 418 and 419).

Don Manuel’s tenure in Naples was marked by a great surge of artistic activity
there. In addition to supporting resident artists such as his fellow Spaniard, Ribera,
and Stanzione — and encouraging the Neapolitan-born sculptor, Giuliano Finelli, to
return from Rome — the new viceroy also brought Lanfranco to Naples in 1634 and
protected Domenichino, who had arrived in 1630-31.2% Furthermore, commissions
from Don Manuel stimulated the careers of the younger generation of Neapolitan
masters.

Two major projects dominated Monterrey’s viceregal patronage in Naples. First,
there was the assembling of a large group of pictures for the Buen Retiro Palace in
Madrid, then under construction (already discussed above). The second artistic project
was his commission for a high altar to be shipped to the Convent and Church of the
Agustinas Descalzas (Recoletas) in Salamanca, Spain, which he clearly undertook in
partnership with his wife, who had a picture collection in her own right. The Monter-
reys began to build the Descalzas convent in 1636, thus superseding an earlier scheme
for the redecoration of the Church of the Ursuline Nuns, also in Salamanca.?’ The

the Count and Countess spent.” (Pita did not find any mention of Veldzquez, whose visit to Italy in 1629 he
was researching, but he did note a payment to Saavedra Fajardo.) [ have been unable to locate the documents
ctted by Pita. A set of expense journals, dated in ltaly from 16217 to 1622, do exist in the Alba Archives at the
Palacio de Liria (Seccion Monterrey, caja 147, sections 111-156), but they could not have originated in Mon-
terrey’s cmbassy, which took place in 1628—1631. The journals probably originated with the Duque de Alba,
who was en route to the Viceroyalty of Naples at that time (see the Document).

201. Pacheco 1956, vol. 1, pp. 159~ 161; Palomino 1947, p. 902. Their observations have been documented by
J.AF. Orbaan, “Notes on Art in Italy: Veldzquez in Rome,” Apollo, 6, 1927, pp. 28—29. For Bouchard’s jour-
nal, see L. Marcheix, Un Parisien d Rome et & Naples en 1632, Paris 1897, p. 61. (Also cited by von Barghahn
1979,p. 72))

202. Haskell 1971, p. 136.

203. Tbid., p. 171.

204. See Haskell 1971, pp. 171-172; Brown and Elliott 1980, pp. 123-125; and Fetton 1982, p. 170. Haskell
and Felton assume that both Lanfranco and Domenichino came to Naples of their own volition and were subse-
quently appropriated, as it were, by the Viceroy. Brown and Elliott claim that Monterrey “invited™ both artists
to Naples.

205. Documents relating to the original commission for the (Ursuline) high altar were published by U. Prota-
Giurleo 1957, relevant excerpts may be found in Felton 1982, p. 174 note 9. Brown and Elliott 1980, pp. 116
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Descalzas altarpiece included architectural decorations by Cosimo Fanzago, sculptures
by Finelli, an Immaculate Conception and a Pieta by Ribera, and peripheral paintings
by Reni and Lanfranco (all in situ). Other works commissioned for the church include
Ribera’s St. Januarius and sculpted portraits of the conde and condesa by Finelli. Of
course, the Monterrey’s patronage of Ribera did not stop with this ensemble: eleven
individual pieces and a set of six Heads are attributed to Ribera in the conde’s 1653
inventory, along with two other works said to be copies.

Don Manuel’s viceroyalty ended on 2 November 1637, and he left Naples ten
days later, returning to Madrid that winter.?°¢ Works of art, including those destined
for the Convent at Salamanca, were still arriving at the Monterrey house on the Prado
de San Gerénimo across from the Buen Retiro from November 1638 to May 1639.2¢7
Carducho, writing before 1633, had located “grandiose drawings of The Swimmers in
colored chalk by the hand of Michelangelo” in the Monterrey gallery and cited a Holy
Family by Raphael, which Don Manuel had obtained from the Carmelitas Descalzas
Convent in Valladolid.?%® What is more, most of the former viceroy’s choicest contem-
porary acquisitions were also close at hand, most notably in the Retiro but also, as in
the case of Titian’s Andrians, in the Royal Collection at the Alcdzar.

A lack of information, a certain disorganization and the relatively few works in
the Monterrey inventories have made it difficult to arrive at a final assessment of the
collection. To understand the activities of the conde and condesa as connoisseurs and
patrons, we must therefore look to the Retiro and to Salamanca as well as to Carducho
and other documents in order to supplement what we find in the inventories. Even
restricting our view to the conde’s inventory of 1653, we find that the collection was
impressive: 17 works by Ribera (plus two copies), seven works attributed to the Bas-
sani, five or six attributed to Titian (plus one copy and one or two dubious attribu-
tions), five to Luca Cambiaso, and lesser numbers to Bellini, Pordenone, Veronese,
Raphael, Correggio (copy?), Borgianni, Arpino, Tempesta, Baglione, Reni, Albani,
Lanfranco, and Van Dyck. Among plausibly identifiable pictures are an anonymous
Venetian Conversation of the Marchese di Pescara and the Madonna of the Parrot by
Salviati (Prado, nos. 526 and 177, respectively); the Crucifixion by Lanfranco now in
the Agustinas Convent in Salamanca; and, somewhat more controversially, two works
by Ribera, SS. Peter and Paul, (nos. 7 and 8 in 1653 — now in Vitoria). A St. Cathe-
rine Adoring the Crucifix, no. 72 in 1653, probably the painting now in Boston (no.
48.499), links the collection with the Carpio holdings.?® The 1655 inventory yields

and 268 note 41, publish a letter of 26 February 1636 from Don Manuel to Castel Rodrigo (Madrid: Archivo
Histérico Nacional, Estado, libro 85, s.f.), explaining the Viceroy’s decision to erect a new convent and altar.
The decorative scheme has been studied by A. Garcia Boiza, Una fundacidn de Monterrey: la iglesia y con-
vento de MM. Agustinas de Salamanca (Salamanca, 1945); by A. Madruga Real, “Cosimo Fanzago en las
Agustinias de Salamanca,” in Goya, no. 125, 1975, pp. 291-297; and (in summary) by Felton 1982, pp. 170
172 and notes.

206. Parrino 1692, vol. 2, p. 253; G. Coniglio, I Viceré spagnoli di Napoli (Collana di Cultura Napoletana, no.
16), Naples 1967, p. 269; see also Felton 1982, pp. 169ff. According to Haskell 1971, who unfortunately cites
no source, Monterrey departed from Naples with “forty shiploads of booty™ (p. 172).

207. See Saltillo 1953, p. 179.

208. V. Carducho, Didlogos de la pintura; su defensa, origen, essentia, definicion, modos y differencias,
Madrid 1633, ff. 148 and 151 - reprinted in Sdnchez Canton 1942, vol. 2, pp. 100f. and 103. Carducho indi-
cates that Don Manuel had the painting by Raphael restored and intended to take it to Italy. Pérez Sanchez
identifies it with item 120 in the 1653 inventory. Carducho’s report of the Michelangelo drawing is corrobo-
rated by contemporary Jesuit letters; see Pérez Sanchez 1977, pp. 419f. - citing Cartas de Jesuitas, in Memorial
Historico Espariol, 14, pp. 276 and 346.

209. The identifications, for the most part by Pérez Sanchez, are discussed at length in the entry for the Monter-
rey inventories.
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only a bit more information: a mere ten pictures are attributed, and most of these, such
as Lanfranco’s Crucifixion or Titian’s Cupid, are also present in the 1653 list. What the
1655 inventory may tell us is Dofia Leonor’s contribution to the joint collecting effort,
since the pictures listed then seem to have been hers alone. We may be able to assume
that those works present in 1653 but absent in 1655 were entailed or passed to the heir
rather than remaining in the widow’s possession.

Although Pérez Sanchez was surprised by the quantity of pictures with secular
subject matter (44 percent) in the 1653 inventory, their number was in reality fairly
modest, since 17 percent of the collection consisted of portraits. A comparison with
the holdings of Don Gaspar de Haro may be instructive here: in Don Gaspar’s 1651
inventory, nearly 80 percent of the works were secular in nature. Finally, there are the
evaluations set on the bodegones, still lifes, genre pieces, and landscapes in the Mon-
terrey collection. In almost every case, these are very low indeed, suggesting that the
gradual appreciation and upward valuation of these works that took place in the seven-
teenth century had not yet become a reality in Madrid (cf. nos. 166 and 170).

Other Collectors in the Circle of Olivares: The Marqués de Leganés

The fact that those with the most direct access to royal favor had not only the means
but also the best opportunities to collect is nowhere more clearly illustrated than in the
cases of two other families allied with Olivares: the Marqueses de Leganés and the
Marqueses del Carpio. Indeed, the Carpio holdings, had they ever been assembled into
one cohesive collection on Spanish soil, would have rivaled the king’s galleries, at least
in numbers alone. The Leganés collection did not lag far behind; it contained, at the
death of the first Marqués in 1655, more than 1,300 pictures, many of the highest quality.?'?

Leganés was born Diego Messia in Madrid around 15835, the fourth son of the
Conde de Uceda (who would become an important official in the household of Philip
III). Diego was taken to Brussels at an early age and served as a page in the archducal
court of the Spanish governors. He returned to Madrid and, in the early 1620s, rose
quickly to prominence under the protection of his cousin, the Conde-Duque de Oliva-
res. He was with Spinola at Jiilich in 1622 and went on to a prominent military career
in the Low Countries, northern Italy, and Catalonia, serving, for example, as Governor
of Milan from 1635 to 1641. He was created Marqués de Leganés in 1627 and shortly
thereafter married Spinola’s daughter, Policena. He changed his name from Messfa to
Felipez de Guzmdn (Olivares’ surname) at the time of his marriage.?!" Leganés took
pains to ensure that his art collection would be passed on to posterity as a part of his
titles.

A comparison of the Leganés inventories of 1630 and 1655 shows that, as a col-
lector, Leganés was both a captive of the circumstances of his career and a connoisseur
who grew from dependence into self-assurance. Initially, Leganés developed his col-

210. See V. Polerd, “Coleccién de pinturas que reunid en su palacio el Marqués de Leganés, D. Diego Felipe
de Guzman,” Boletin de la Sociedad Espafiola de Excursiones, 6, 1898—-1899; 1. Lopez Navio, 1962, pp. 261 —
268; and M.C. Volk, “New Light on a Seventeenth Century Collector: The Marquis of Leganés,” The Arf Bul-
letin, 62, no. 2, June 1980, pp. 256—268. The present study has relied heavily on Volk’s rescarch. See also
Sanchez Canton 1923-1941, vol. 2, p. 109.

211. The biography of Leganés was first given in a memorial he submitted to Philip IV in 1643 (London: Brit-
ish Library, Add. mss. 28,453, ff. 312 — cited by Volk 1980, p. 256, note 5). Alvarez y Bacna, Hijos ilustres
de Madrid, 4 vols., 1789/1973, vol. 1, pp. 337338, and vol. 2, pp. 297-298, gives a summary account of the
life of Leganés and that of his son. These are augmented on the basis of documentary evidence by Lépez Navio
1962 and especially by Volk 1980.

A GOLDEN AGE OF COLLECTING 149



150

lection in imitation of the royal collection, as his inventory of 1630 indicates. At that
time, he owned at least eleven works attributed to Titian, along with two works by
Massys, two by Rubens, one by Raphael, and one by Correggio.?'? By 1655, however,
Leganés had become something of a specialist in Flemish works, including those he
had commissioned himself. This specialization probably reflected the many years he
spent in the Low Countries, while the commissions and burgeoning size of his collec-
tion reflected the increased financial resources at his command after 1630.2!3 His
resources were equally great during his tenure at Milan, where he apparently acquired
his northern Italian works, but the zeal that the Carpios or Monterrey showed for things
Italian seems to have been moderated in Leganés by his prior interest in Flemish art.

The presence of Spaniards in the Low Countries during the sixteenth and seven-
teenth centuries, and the fact that Flanders was a loyal province (and indeed, primary
frontier) of the Spanish Crown, meant that the relationship between Flemish artists
and Spanish patrons, as exemplified by Rubens and Philip IV, was especially close. At
least in terms of collecting (which is distinct from patronage), Leganés certainly dis-
plays this relationship. Indeed, the roster of artists’ names in the Leganés collection
reads like a history of Flemish art from its Netherlandish beginnings to the mid-seven-
teenth century: Jan van Eyck, Rogier van der Weyden, Hieronymus Bosch, Joaquim
Patinir, and Quentin Metsys among the so-called “primitives,” and Peter Paul Rubens,
Anthony van Dyck, and Jacob Jordaens among contemporaries.

Although Leganés is best known as a collector of Flemish art, there were also a
great many Italian works among the masterpieces in his gallery. According to Cardu-
cho,?'* Leganes’ interest in Italian art was spurred by Philip IV’s gift of two portraits
by Titian, one of which seems to have been the Portrait of John Frederick, Elector of
Saxony, inventoried in 1630 and now in the Prado (no. 533). Another of the works
attributed to Titian in 1630, the Portrait of Federico Gonzaga, Duca di Mantova, may
be identified with a second extant canvas, also in the Prado (no. 408).2'5 Both of these

212. Volk 1980, p. 258.

213. Leganés’ wealth may be estimated by analyzing the wealth of his grandson in 1681. At that time, as

H. Kamen 1980 shows (pp. 230-237), the nct income of the mayorazgo estate of Leganés was 10,000 ducats a
year. (Kamen assumes that this figure is over and above the costs of the noble household.) It is likely that the
income of the estate was roughly the same, and the buying power of a ducat much greater, in 1630. To the
estate income may be added the salaries of Leganés as general, governor, etc., and the expense money and local
taxcs available to him in the course of his overseas dutics. We may thercfore assume that Leganés had at least
15-20,000 ducats of disposable income per year, and probably much more. (This would mean something like
$3—6 million or more per year, in 1990s dollars.} As has alrcady been noted, following Lépez Navio 1962,

p. 264, the enemies of Leganés in Madrid claimed that his loss of 50,000 escudos in the defeat at Casal de
Monferrato in 1640 was “child’s play,” and suggested that “the Indies seem to produce money to satisfy the
will (la dicha) of this man.” (See the Memorial Histérico Espaniol, 15, pp. 450ff.)

214. Carducho 1633, f. 155v — reprinted in Sdnchez Canton, 1923--1941 vol. 2, p. 109.

215. Wethey 1971, vol. 2, no. 49, p. 107; sec Volk 1980, p. 258 and note 15. Volk assumes that another work
by Titian, a Portrait of the Duke of Florence with his Hand on an Artillery Piece (no. 18 in 1655; called a Duke
of Ferrara in 1630 and a Duke of Urbino in the royal inventories of 1666, 1686, and 1700), was lost in the
Alcdzar fire of 1734, Wethey, however, tentatively identifies the Alcdzar picture with a Portrait of Alfonso
d’Este, Duke of Ferrara in the Mctropolitan Muscum of Art, New York, no. 27.56. Wethey attributes this work
to Titian, although the museum considers it a copy. (Cf. F. Zeri and E.E. Gardner, ltalian Paintings: Venetian
School, New York and Greenwich 1973, pp. 82~83, who suggest a seventeenth-century hand and speculate on
the possibility of Rubens’ authorship.) If the New York work is indeed attributable to Titian, its history must
include the Leganés collection. In any event, since the Alcdzar picture had been in the Spanish royal collection
before Leganés came to own it — indeed, since 1533 — Leganés must have received it as a gift from Philip I'V.
This explains his bequest of it to the king in 1655, along with the two portraits by Titian mentioned in Cardu-
cho. (The bequest is noted in the inventory entry for item 18: “esta pintura no se taso porque la dio su exca en
bida a su mgd.”) Leganés was, in effect, returning a picture which he had on loan. Perhaps the fourth work
which Leganés bequeathed to the king (a Portrait of the Duke of Alba, item 14 in 1655) had also been Philip’s
in the first place.

MADRID, 1601-1755



works exemplify Titian’s portraiture at the heigpt of his career. By 1655, the Italian
contingent in the Leganés collection, although decidedly a minority of the attributed
masterpieces, remained significant, comprising more than 200 works, not to mention
those whose description merely implied an Italian origin.?'® Leganés had made use of
his stay in Italy to acquire additional works by Titian, along with pieces by Palma,
Veronese, and other Venetian masters. The northern Italian masters Correggio and Par-
migianino were also represented in his collection, along with Cesare da Sesto, Gau-
denzio Ferrari, and an anonymous follower of Leonardo. There were works by the
reformed mannerists and the later, academic mannerists, including works attributed to
Cigoli, Scipione Pulzone, Il Cerano, Procaccini, Morazzone, and the Cavaliere d’ Ar-
pino — not to mention more than 20 works attributed to the Bassani. Many of these
artists had lived or worked in Milan, so purchases by Leganés might merely have
reflected the opportunities of the local art market, but it is also likely that he was
responding to the similarities between northern Italian naturalism and the dominant
style in early seventeenth-century Spain. Contemporary Milanese art was represented
by the work of Francesco del Cairo and by that of many anonymous artists; the artist
called “Muson” might also have been a contemporary Milanese, or perhaps Giralomo
Muziano. There was also a work attributed to Caravaggio and six to Ribera.?’

A surprising strong point in the Leganés collection was the gathering of Spanish
works. By 1655, Leganés had acquired pictures attributed to El Mudo, Pantoja de la
Cruz, Sinchez Coello, and Antonio Moro. Contemporary Spanish art was represented
by Ribera (already mentioned), Veldzquez (seven or eight works), Collantes, and a
number of lesser masters. Many of the anonymous works were probably Spanish as
well. Leganés also seems to have been a significant patron, or at least a major collec-
tor, of the work of Juan van der Hamen y Leon. Not only were many fruteros and
dessert still lifes attributed to van der Hamen in the Leganés inventory of 1655, but
there was also a series of portraits of contemporary literary figures including Lope de
Vega, Rioja, and Quevedo. According to the Leganés inventories published by Volk,
most of these works had been purchased by 1642.21% As Volk points out, the number
of Spanish pictures in the collection was limited, but even so small a group represents
an exception to the lack of interest in Spanish art that characterized many important
private collections.

The Marqués de Fromista y Caracena

Another example of collaboration between noble Spanish patrons and Flemish artists
is that of David Teniers the Younger and Don Luis de Benavides Carrillo de Toledo,
Marqués de Frémista y Caracena and Conde de Pinto (1608 —68, in the Low Countries
from 1656), whose collection was inventoried in 1668.2!° At his death, Frémista y
Caracena possessed 187 lots of paintings and an enormous library (including Teniers’
Teatrum of 1660), most of which represented his long service in Flanders and a tour of
duty in Milan. At the death of the marqués the Frémista y Caracena gallery held 20
pictures by Teniers, plus two collaborative efforts with Jacques d’ Artois, which docu-
ment the patronage of the marqués, along with other works attributed to Brueghel,

216. Sce AHPM, Prot. 6.265, ff. 478ff.

217. See the 1655 Leganés inventory.

218. Volk 1980, p. 264 and note 51.

219. AHPM, Prots. 9.818; cited and discussed by Marfa Angeles Moreno Garcfa, “El Marqués de Caracena,
mecenas de David Teniers el Joven,” in Goya: Revista de Arte, May —June 1988, pp. 330-336.
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Rubens, Snyders, and Van Dyck. We also know that the marqués obtained Correggio’s
Agony in the Garden for Philip IV, probably in 1656 at the end of his tour of duty in
Milan (1648 —56).%2° Other souvenirs of his Italian sojourn may be found in the works
by Titian, Tintoretto, Veronese, and the Bassani (the usual Venetian representation), as
well as by Pordenone, Luca Cambiaso, Guido Reni, Viviano Codazzi, and Franceso
del Cairo, who had come to Milan at the same time as Frémista.??!

The Fuensaldaia Collection

Recent studies by Alexander Vergara have elucidated the role of David Teniers the
Younger in acquiring pictures in London and the Low Countries after the English civil
war.??2 The chief beneficiary of this activity was Alonso Pérez de Vivero, III Conde de
Fuensaldafia, an important figure in Spanish policy of the era who was born around
1600 and died in 1661. He was the highest-ranking military officer in the Netherlands
from 1643 to the early 1650s and sporadically thereafter. His interest in art is docu-
mented in Teniers’ image of the Archduke Leopold-Wilhelm, Governor of the Nether-
lands, in his picture gallery as well as in the Haro-Cdrdenas correspondence already
cited. In 1651, he intervened significantly in the English Commonwealth sales follow-
ing Charles I's death, buying, among other items, ten tapestries and at least 44 paint-
ings. As Vergara points out, our list of Fuensaldafia’s pictures that we have from the
Alba Archives is probably annotated by Don Gaspar de Haro, Don Luis de Haro’s son,
indicating the collections where the pictures then resided. We should remember that
Luis de Haro was aware of Fuensaldafia’s activities and that at least 22 of the works
entered the Carpio collections. Don Luis also probably obtained some of them for the
king. Among the pictures identified are Titian’s Portrait of Daniele Barbaro (Prado
414), Van Dyck’s St. Francis with a Skull (Prado 1478), and Veronese’s Sacrifice of
Abraham and St. Mary Magdalene (both Prado, nos. 500 and 498).

Castrillo and Medina de las Torres

Two other members of Olivares’ circle, the Conde del Castrillo and the Duque de
Medina de las Torres, are also known to have acquired fine pictures. Both Castrillo
and Medina were related to Olivares by marriage, and they shared two further charac-
teristics: each of them hated the other, and each is known to have given pictures to
Philip IV.223 The few remaining records of Castrillo’s collection suggest very little of
interest. The handful of works sold at his almoneda in 1671 were greatly overshad-
owed by his large library, and the pictures inventoried upon the death of his wife (or
daughter?) in 1686 seem to have come from Don Gaspar de Guzmdan, Marqués del
Carpio.??* However, Castrillo was said by contemporary chroniclers to have given part

220. See C. Gould, The Paintings of Correggio, London and Ithaca 1976, pp. 212-213.

221. Moreno Gareia 1988, p. 331.

222. Vergara, W. Alexander, *'The Count of Fuensaldafia and David Teniers: their purchases in London after
the civil war,” The Burlington Magazine, 131a, no. 1031, February 1989, pp. 127-132.

223. On the roles of Castrillo and Medina de las Torres in the governments of Philip IV and Charles 11, sce
Elliott 1963/70, pp. 348 and 362. For an overview of Medina de las Torres’ political and diplomatic career, sec
R.A. Stradling, ““A Spanish Statesman of Appeasement: Medina de las Torres and Spanish Policy, 1639-1670,”
The Historical Journal, 19, 1976, pp. 1-31, citing extensive bibliography; G. Maraiién, El Conde-Duque de
Olivares (La pasion de mandar), 5th ed., Madrid 1965, pp. 154157, 277284, 298, note 30 and passim; and
1. H. Elliott, The Count-Duke of Olivares: The Statesman in an Age of Decline, London 1986, pp. 166168,
260-264, 278, 376, 396, 420, 429, 477-78, 561, 592-593, 632, 648649, 669772, and plate 30.

224. See AHPM, Prot. 9.799, ff. 3—~151; as well as Docs. 49, 109, 114 and 115.
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of his collection to Philip 1V,2%* and his better pictures may have escaped the inventory
or been hidden under some other rubric.

The collecting career of Medina de las Torres, whose inventory is included in the
present study (Doc. 83) is fairly well documented.??® The son-in-law of Olivares, he
was originally the Marqués de Toral, but was created a duque at Olivares’ request; he
served as Viceroy of Naples from 1637 to 1644. Medina de las Torres’ gallery, and his
ownership of works by Juan de Jauregui, were mentioned by Carducho in 1633,%?7 and,
as we have seen, he gave a number of highly important works to Philip I'V throughout
his career. Tormd, Trapier, and Felton assume that Medina de las Torres commissioned
the two canvases of St. Peter and St. Paul now in Vitoria, but they may have been in
the Monterrey collection before 1653.22® The suggestion that Medina de las Torres
also commissioned Ribera’s Clubfoot Boy (Louvre, no. 1725) also seems plausible, but
there is no secure documentation.??® Moreover, Medina de las Torres’ patronage of
two of Ribera’s most important works, the Dream of Jacob and the Liberation of St.
Peter (Madrid: Prado, nos. 1117 and 1073) is probable, although the identification has
been criticized.2%° In the light of his gifts to Philip and his ownership of works by
Ribera, one might expect to find Medina de las Torres in possession of a splendid pic-
ture gallery, but in fact the collection inventoried upon his death is disappointing in
both size and quality. Although it is possible that the true extent of Medina’s holdings
has somehow remained hidden, it is more likely that he was following the precedent of
Olivares, who appears not to have collected works of art in order to avoid competing
with Philip. It might also suggest that Medina de las Torres had acquired many of the
masterpieces either as an agent for Philip or with the prior intent to give them to the
royal collection, keeping only the works documented here for his own gallery.

The Carpio Collection

As we have already noted, two members of the Olivares circle, Don Luis de Haro and
his son, Don Gaspar de Haro y Guzman, sixth and seventh Marqueses del Carpio,
joined the almirantes and the Marqués de Leganés in the elite circle of collectors
whose holdings may be thought of as rivaling those of Philip IV in size. (The Carpios
are also discussed at length in the entries introducing their documents; see these
entries for biographical details not included in the following summary.)

Luis Méndez de Haro y Guzman (1598 -1661) succeeded Olivares as privado of

225. J. Barrionuevo, (A. Paz y Melia, ed.), Avisos, Madrid: M. Tello (Coleccién de Escritores Castellanos), vol.
2 (1893) p. 334, notes that the Conde del Castrillo gave part of his collection to Philip IV in 1656. Also cited by
Palomino 1947, p. 922; cf. Pérez Sénchez 1963, p. 67.

226. For bibliography, sce Document 33.

227. Didlogos de la pintura, Madrid 1633, f. 156 —~ reprinted in Sdnchez Cantén, vol. 2 Madrid 1933, p. 110f.
228. Pérez Sanchez 1977, p. 424 and notes to nos. 7-8.

229. Sec J. Baticle, in the exhibition catalogue, Trésors de la peinture espagnole, Paris 1963, no. 72, pp. 193~
195; cf. Felton 1982, p. 213, note 1. An old label on the picture connects it with the Princes of Stigliano.

230. In the catalogue of the recent Ribera exhibition (Pérez Sanchez and Spinosa 1992, pp. 102 and 139), Pérez
Séanchez suggests that Medina’s pictures were the Jacob with the Flocks of Laban (1632) and the Liberation of
Saint Peter now at the Escorial. Although Pérez Sanchez rightly notes that there is no reason that Medina might
not have collected two earlier works, rather than commissioned twe new ones, this assumes that Ribera, who
seems generally 10 have been working on commissions in the 1630s, had two pictures of roughly the same size
on two unusual Biblical subjects “in stock™ and ready to sell to Medina. It is not clear, moreover, that the two
Escorial works were conceived as a pair: the Dream of Joseph and the Liberation of Saint Peter both show
angelic intervention in human affairs, but how might one relate Peter’s release to the story of Laban Jaying
peeled rods? Finally, it seems more likely that the works dated from Medina’s viceroyalty would have been
commissioned by him.
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Philip IV in the 1640s, although he discreetly avoided being called the king’s favorite
in public. In this, he fulfilled what we have seen as one of the most important require-
ments for success as a collector in Golden Age Spain: proximity to the royal person.
Indeed, historians and his contemporaries, including, as we have seen, his son and
even King Philip IV himself, have commented upon Don Luis’s sympathetic relation-
ship with the monarch.

Don Luis’s collecting activities attracted the attention of his contemporaries as
early as 1638, but the first record we have of the Haro family collection is the inven-
tory taken in 1648 after the death of Dofia Catalina, Don Luis’s wife (Doc. 45). Only
one painting in eight is attributed in the inventory, but we can still form some idea of
the general shape of the collection from attributions to Sanchez Coello and Ribera and
to many Flemish painters, including Van Dyck and Brueghel. There was also a Christ
Washing the Disciples’ Feet (which should not be confused with a work by Tintoretto
of the same subject now in the Prado, which was purchased by Don Luis in 1654 and
given to Philip IV for the sacristy of the Escorial) and at least one work attributed to
Bassano. Don Luis also owned Velazquez’s Balthasar Carlos in the Riding School,
now in the Grosvenor estate.

The collection was in some ways typical of Spanish collections of the age: Vene-
tian art and the late Cinquecento were honored, over three-fifths of the works were
religious, and most of the secular pieces were either portraits or Flemish landscapes.
At the same time — unlike many other noble collections and the royal collection — the
1648 Carpio collection displays a remarkable bias toward Italian art. If we take only
those attributed paintings that a connoisseur might value for reasons beyond purely
decorative function, nearly three-quarters are Italian (four-fifths if we count Ribera).
Likewise, Spanish artists with strong ties to Italy prevail: Navarrete, Veldzquez, and
(again) Ribera. Even among the Flemings, the emphasis falls on Van Dyck, a particu-
larly Italianate master. Rubens is conspicuously absent.

Alas, the inventory taken upon Don Luis’s death in 1661 has survived only in
undocumented copies of circa 1802, so that it is impossible to say with certainty how
many of the pictures inventoried at the death of his son, Don Gaspar, in 1689, were in
fact Don Luis’s, unless Don Luis had mentioned certain pictures in his correspondence
with Cdrdenas. We know that Don Luis went on to collect many significant works —
not to mention those he gave to the king.

It is possible to make a few general and several detailed observations. In the first
place, Flemish works are somewhat more prominent in Don Luis’s presumed 1661 gal-
lery, and the proportion of secular to religious works has been reversed, with nearly
two-thirds of the listed works being secular.”3! The names of Rubens and possibly
Holbein, Stanzione, Paul de Vos, Bocanegra, Diirer, Orrente, and either Murillo or
Procaccini have been added to the 1648 roster. Among the Flemish and other northern
works were a landscape by Kierincx, one secular and two religious works by Rubens,
and three works by Van Dyck, including a St. Francis with an Angel, probably now in
the Prado (no. 1478). Portraits and landscapes still dominate the secular works.

From the Venetian school there were six pieces by or attributed to the Bassani,
including an Expulsion of the Moneylenders, a Forge of Vulcan, and two pictures from
Fuensaldafia.?*? There were at least three works by Giorgione, as many as nine by

231. This is perhaps an accident of preservation; see the summary following item 228, in Burke 1984, vol. 2,
Document 3.9.

232. Possibly now in the Prado, no. 28. For extant versions of The Forge of Vulcan by the Bassani, sce

E. Arslan, 7 Bassani, Milan 1960, vol. 1, pp. 221 and 226, and vol. 2, fig. 222.
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Palma Vecchio, and two by Andrea Schiavone. Seventeen works by or attributed to
Titian came to Don Luis, including an Adoration of the Magi from Fuensaldaiia,>*! a
St. Margaret,”* and a Nativity.?> Among the secular works by Titian were portraits of
Charles Bourbon, Constable of France,??¢ of a Duchessa di Ferrara,”” and of other,
unidentified sitters. There was a Venus, Psyche, and Cupid,>*® a Lucretia and Tarquin,
and a second Venus and Adonis, which Don Luis gave or sold to the Almirante de Cas-
tilla.2>® Works by Tintoretto included a Supper at Emmaus>*° and eight unspecified
altarpieces. Veronese was represented by a Kneeling Magdalene (now in the Prado, no.
498), a Magdalene with an Angel, and possibly a Christ Healing the Centurion’s Ser-
vant.>*! There were also a number of portraits and secular works by Veronese.

From the other Italian schools, Don Luis bought for himself a Holy Family with
St. John by Barocci; six Correggios, including the Mercury, Venus, and Cupid; two
large pieces by Gentileschi; at least four works by Parmigianino; at least one Perugino;
and three works by Andrea del Sarto. Raphael was represented by a tapestry cycle, the
Medici Cardinals, and a Madonna and Child with St. John, which was either left to
Philip IV in Don Luis’s will or included in the works sent to the Escorial. From Guido
Reni came a Venus, Cupid, and Three Nymphs,”*? a Portia, and a Lucretia.”* Needless
to add, such a collection was extraordinary by the standards of its (or any other) age!

Don Luis’s respect for art was not limited to his lifetime. In his will of 1658, Don
Luis specified that two sets of tapestries, including a set of The Acts of the Apostles
after Raphael, and a group of paintings were to be incorporated into the mayorazgo of
El Carpio. Like Leganés, Benavente, and other nobles, Don Luis implied that his suc-

233. Possibly now in the Prado, no. 433, although the Prado dimensions (1.4} x 2.19 m.) do not match those of
an Adoration of the Magi, attributed to Titian, in the 1689 inventory, Doc. 115, no. 242 2V2 x 2 varas = 1.§9 x
1.68 m.). Wethey 1969, p. 66, no. 4, gives the Prado canvas to Titian and workshop, and suggests a provenance
to Antonio Pérez. In any case, the Haro picture should not be confused with Titian's Adoration of the Magi in
the Escorial, which was always there — sce Wethey 1969, p. 65.

234. Possibly now in the Kisters Collection, Kreuzlingen; bought at the Charles I sale, after 1650, for £100. The
picture has no provenance from 1650 to 1806, but the latter date may indicate a Spanish sojourn. Cf. the Haro
dimensions of 24+ x 1¥2 varas = ~1.75 x 1.50 m.; Charles I sale = 1.88 x 1.60 m.; Kreuzlingen = 1.98 x
1.676 m. Information cited from Wethey 1969, p. 142, no. 118.

235. A copy of Titian’s Nazivity in the Uffizi, Florence, is found in the collection of Christ Church, Oxford
(.937 x 1.12 m.). This copy was in the collection of Charles I, but it has no provenance from 1650 to 1751/65 —
see Wethey 1969, p. 142, no. 118. A Nativity was attributed to Titian in the 1689 Carpio inventory (Doc. 115,
no. 266) and measured 12 varas (1.26 m.) square.

236. Probably now in Bilbao: Private Collection; Wethey 1971, p. 156, no. X-14 (as by a “minor follower™).
237. Now lost; Wethey 1971, p. 197, no. L-11.

238. (Doc. 115, no. 354.) This piece was probably similar to Titian's Allegory of the Marchese del Vasto. The
Allegory was purchased in Spain by Charles I, but it was in France in 1683 - sce Wethey 1975, p. 128, no. 1.
Cf. also Wethey, p. 129, for a similar subject in the Alcdzar in 1686.

239. Madrid: Palacio de Liria, Alba Archives, caja 182194, item 8 bis; sec Burke 1984, Doc. 3.2 for partial
transcription; see Wethey 1975, pp. 188194, for a discussion of extant versions of this subject.

240. De Veechi 1970, no. 18.

241. The marginal note to item 1, Palacio de Liria, Madrid, Alba Archives, caja 182194 indicates that the
painting purchased by Cédrdenas in London was thought to be the Centurion by Veronese inventoried in 1689
(Doc. 115, no. 371) (2+ x 2— varas). The marginal note is probably in error, as Cardenas’ purchase was
almost certainly sent to the Escorial and had markedly different dimensions (2Y2 x 3% varas). The documents
do not indicate that Cardenas purchased two Centurions, but the possibility cannot be excluded. See T. Pignatti,
Veronese, vol. 1, Venice 1976, p. 133, no. 165, with copies, nos. A66, A130, and A183. Veronese's Christ and
the Centurion was installed in the prior’s chapter house of the Escorial. Item 1, Palacio de Liria, Madrid, Alba
Archives, caja 182—194 is 2V2 x 32 varas = 1.92 x 2.76 m.; now in the Prado, no. 492 (1.92 x 2.97 m.). See
Prado 1972, citing Santos 1657, for provenance.

242. Cf. London: National Gallery, no. 90 (2.819 x 2.057 m.); the 1689 Carpio inventory, item 7, gives a width
of 4% varas (3.93 m.). Levey 1971, pp. 190~ 191, doubts the attribution of the London picture to Reni and
denies that it was in Charles I's collection.

243. Possibly in the Prado, no. 208 (as workshop of Reni; 0.70 x 0.57 m., with carliest provenance to Isabel
Farnese's collection at Aranjuez, 1746). There are no dimensions for this piece in the Carpio inventories.
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cessors would be lords not only of given pieces of geography and certain castles but
also of a specified group of paintings as well.

It has already been demonstrated that, in many cases, Don Luis’s collecting was
typical of the age. But it was also more conservative. Of all the artists mentioned in
the 1648 inventory and the Haro-Cérdenas correspondence, only Veldzquez was alive
in 1655. (Stanzione and Paul de Vos, who appear by 1661, were also alive.) Orrente,
Borgianni, Gentileschi, Reni, Ribera, Paul de Vos, Keirincx, Van Dyck, and Rubens
had all been Don Luis’s contemporaries, but most of these were dead or inactive by
1648 and were in any case artists whose importance had long been established. “The
tree is best measured,” runs a Spanish proverb, “‘after it has fallen.”

Don Luis’s conservatism can also be seen in the Seicento styles represented in his
collection. Like many other Spanish collectors, he was not drawn to the more radical
manifestations of the Baroque. He did collect tenebrist works, as the pictures by Bor-
gianni, Ribera, Gentileschi, and the younger Reni in his collection indicate, but tene-
brism was old-fashioned by 1648. What is more, when artists like Ribera and Veldz-
quez moved away from tenebrism, they did so in the direction of classicism and the
“grand manner”: that is, in the direction of the High Renaissance. Even the Italianate
bias of Don Luis’s collecting may be understood as a conservative quality: Italy was
the source of fine art and indeed, of much of European culture. The collectors in Don
Luis’s circle had read Vasari, and they considered the High Renaissance to be the stan-
dard against which, as Don Luis himself indicates, contemporary artists were to be
judged. In this context, Don Luis’s preference for Italian art, for Navarrete and Velaz-
quez, for the more Italianate Van Dyck over Rubens, may be understood as an attempt
“to get back to the source.”

Of course, not all the evidence for Don Luis’s activities as a collector survives.
But we have enough information to recognize in Don Luis 2 man who did not like to
take chances. In art, as in politics, all his trees had to be measured. He not only wanted
fine works, he wanted these works to be certified by experts, acclaimed, recognized in
public. His son, the seventh Marqués del Carpio, would prove more adventurous.

Don Gaspar de Haro

Don Luis de Haro’s successor in the estates of Carpio and Olivares was his son, Don
Gaspar de Haro y Guzman (1629-1687), who was known to his contemporaries as the
Marqués de Eliche.?** It would be difficult to imagine two men with less in common.
Whereas Don Luis was known for his loyal, self-effacing, almost passive political ser-
vice, as well as for his circumspection, chastity, and quiet good taste, Don Gaspar was

244, The first half of Don Gaspar’s life is discussed at length by Andrés 1975, passim. Sec also Alvarez y
Baena 1789/901973, vol. 2, pp. 298-301, and (on Don Gaspar's brother, Don Juan Domingo de Haro, Conde
de Monterrey) vol. 3, pp. 282—-284. Sce also I. Ezquerra del Bayo, El Palacete de la Moncloa, Madrid 1929,
and G. Maura Gamazo, Carlos I y su Corte, Madrid 1911, vol. 1, pp. 629ff. Sce also Garcia Carraffa, vol. 42
(40), pp. 294f., and Paz y Espeso 1948. The basic contemporary sources for Don Gaspar’s life are (1) the
accounts of Barrionuevo and his successors (A. Paz y Melia, ed., vols. 1 -4, Madrid 18921894 - reprinted as
two vols. in 1969; cited here as “Barrionuevo” and “Anonymous Chronicler, in Barrionuevo™); (2) the various
official papers relating to the Buen Retiro bomb episode (Biblioteca Nacional, Madrid, ms. 6751, ff. 110-111
and ms. no. 2280, entire volume); and (3) an anonymous but highly complimentary and therefore almost cer-
tainly authorized biography sent to Don Gaspar’s second wife ca. 16761682 (Biblioteca Nacional, Madrid,
Seccién de Manuscritos, ms. 18722-56), possibly written by Vélez de Ledn (sce G. de Andrés, El Marqués de
Liche: bibliofilo y coleccionista de arte, Madrid, pp. 28 and 46-47); and (4) a very brief mention of Don Gas-
par’s appointment as Viceroy of Naples in Parrino 1692, vol. 3, pp. 575-577. Additional information from
these sources is summarized in the entry preceeding Don Gaspar’s documents, below.
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rebellious, aggressive, egocentric, ostentatious, and licentious. On only one count, in
fact, did the son resemble the father: both were avid collectors of paintings. Indeed,
Don Gaspar may well rank, at least in terms of quantity, as the foremost private collec-
tor of his age. At his death in 1687, his collection numbered more than 3,000 works,
including 1,200 in Spain and approximately 1,800 more in Italy, and there is reason to
suspect the count is highly incomplete.

Don Gaspar’s cultural activities were not limited to art collecting. During the
1650s, Don Luis secured the offices of montero mayor and alcaide of the Buen Retiro,
Zarzuela, and El Pardo palaces for his son.>** As Andrés has pointed out, these posi-
tions made Don Gaspar responsible for entertaining the king.?*¢ In fulfillment of this
responsibility, Don Gaspar produced the dramas, masques, operas, and other royal
entertainments at the Buen Retiro, cultivating an attachment to the theater which
would persist to the end of his life.?*” Barrionuevo describes a number of sumptuous
entertainments, often mounted at Don Gaspar’s personal expense,?*® and Palomino
mentions that Don Gaspar brought Dionisio Mantovano to the Buen Retiro from Italy
around 165658 to engineer the machine plays in the palace theater.?*° Don Gaspar
was also credited, in 1658, with reorganizing the existing theatrical companies of
Madrid.>>® As alcaide of the Buen Retiro, he was responsible for the improvements
pecessitated by Philip I'V’s increased use of that palace after his second marriage.

Don Gaspar was also a significant patron of contemporary art. Palomino suggests
that Don Gaspar commissioned the frescoes that Angelo Michele Colonna and Ago-
stino Mitelli painted in the Church of St. Paul the Hermit in the Retiro gardens.>*! Don
Gaspar also employed Colonna and Mitelli at his own newly constructed residence.
Palomino reports extensive work at the jardin, including an Atlas by Colonna that held
a representation of the celestial sphere.?%2 After Mitelli’s death in August 1660, Don
Gaspar asked Colonna, along with Francisco Rizi and Juan Carrefio de Miranda, to
decorate the “Casa de la Huerta,” a villa on the road to El Pardo Palace that Don Gas-
par had recently purchased. (It is now known as the “Palacete de la Moncloa”.)?* In
addition, Don Gaspar acquired works by — and presumably, from - Velazquez (The
“Rokeby” Venus and other pieces),>>* Mazo (Olivares on a White Horse, The Siege of
Pamplona, and copies after Titian),>>* and Nardi.>*¢

245. See Andrés 1975, p. 10.

246. Ibid., p. 10. As Montero Mayor, Don Gaspar would have been responsible for the smooth progress of the
king’s hunting excursions ~ an important form of royal entertainment. As alcaide, Don Gaspar supervised alt
the diversions at the three suburban palaces.

247. Cf., for example, the portable stage inventoried as part of Don Gaspar’s possessions at Naples in 1687 ~
El Escorial Palace, Library, ms. &-1V-25.

248. Barrionuevo, letters 112, 124, 128, 172, 176, 181- 182, 201, 209, and 212 — dating from 1655 to 1658.
249. Palomino 1947, vol. 3, p. 1012 (= life no. 165).

250. Barrionuevo, vol. 4, 1894, p. 86.

251. Palomino 1947, vol. 3, p. 925:

Habiendo, pues, acabado Mitelli, y Colonna las obras de Palacio, los llevé el Marqués de Heliche a el Buen
Retiro, para pintar la ermita de San Pablo ...

The subject which Palomino specifies for the church’s ceiling, The Fable of Narcissus, seems strangely inappro-
priate for a hermitage chapel.

252. Palomino 1947, vol. 3, p. 925.

253. Palomino 1947, vol. 3, p. 926. The Palacete was adjudged to Don Gaspar in a venta judicial in 1660; he
also bought a mortgage, made in 1642 for 48,000 florins, which was related to the site. See Ezquerra del Bayo
1929, pp. 10ff.

254. Palacio de Liria, Madrid, Alba Archives, caja 221~2, ff. 1-20, item 222 (now London: National Gatlery,
no. 2057) and items 97 and 173.

255. The Portrait of Olivares is probably the canvas now at the Metropolitan Muscum of Art, New York, no.
52.125. See Palacio de Liria, Madrid, Alba Archives, caja 2212, ff. 120, items 234240 and 327.

256. An Assumption, item 325.
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The decoration of the Palacete de la Moncloa was connected to other aspects of
Don Gaspar’s career as a patron and a collector. The house itself was one of a number
of country places that Don Gaspar acquired, possibly as a convenience for his duties
as montero mayor and alcaide of El Pardo.?>” All three of the artists who participated
in the decoration had already been associated with Don Gaspar’s projects. Colonna, as
has already been mentioned, had worked at the Buen Retiro, and Carrefio had deco-
rated the bier at Don Gaspar’s mother’s funeral in 1647.2%8 Rizi was a theatrical
designer as well as a painter and had collaborated with Mantovano on a number of
commissions. He later became the principal scene designer and theatrical engineer at
the Buen Retiro.?*°

The ceilings of the Palacete were supposedly done by Colonna, while Rizi and
Carrefio supervised an unspecified number of Spanish painters in the decoration of the
walls. According to Palomino, the decorative program consisted of fresco copies of
famous masterpieces.

They copied with great accuracy, on the walls, all the best pictures that
could be had. Here are Raphael, Titian, Veronese, van Dyck, Veldzquez,
and many others, with golden frames, likewise painted, and cloth hang-
ings imitated most famously. And on the house’s exterior walls were
painted, in fresco, sundials with notable curiosities, which could show
the sun on such and such a day; but all these things have been ruined by
the ravages of time.2%°

Dionisio Mantovano probably also collaborated in the decoration of the Palacete.
In 1674, the Imperial Ambassador, Harrach, visited the site and attributed the paint-
ings on the lower story (Bdden) to Mantovano.?¢! Harrach did not say whether the
work was on the interior or exterior of the house.

In effect, Don Gaspar had created an imaginary “collection” after the works of
the respected artists who dominated his father’s gallery, lacking only Correggio. The
canon of taste had been passed on from father to son. But Don Gaspar had also
acquired his own collection of movable pictures, which exhibited a wider range of
interests. What is more, the two picture collections do not overlap, except for two
works specified as gifts from Don Luis. We must therefore assume that, by the age
of 22, Don Gaspar had already launched his career as an independent collector.

Don Luis had implicitly emphasized the social values of works of art; Don Gas-
par’s interests were more inclined toward the acquisition of art for its own sake. His
aesthetic sensitivity appeared, for example, in the increased percentage of attributed

257. See Andrés 1975, pp. 11-13, and AHPM, Prot. 9.819, ff. 740—-1201. Court gossips (cited by Andrés
1975, p. 11) held that Don Gaspar’s houses were maintained for his mistresses, but the location of the Palacete
de la Moncloa suggests that the houses were more related to his royal duties. The Moncloa site would have
been especially convenient, as it still is today, to El Pardo, as well as to the Casa del Campo’s game park, the
Torre de la Parada, and the road to El Escorial.

258. See Saltillo 1951, p. 170n and Saltillo 1953, pp. 233-34.

259. Palomino 1947, vol. 3, pp. 1017-1018.

260. Ibid., p. 926.

261. Harrach visited Don Gaspar’s “Casa de 1a Huerta” on 4 March 1674: ““In the afternoon, I took a walk and
brought my Karl along. I saw a very charming small house that the Marqués de Eliche has about a half an hour
away from here. The building has been rather cleverly painted al fresco. The lower storey was painted by an
itinerant [painter named] D. Dionisio N. — I am not alone in thinking it good. And the walls are all around
painted by various masters, such as Carafa and others, who may be found here. He [Eliche] has an orchard
nearby with various fruit trees.”

Harrach 1913, p. 71. 1 am indebted to Enriqueta Harris Frankfort for this reference.

MADRID, 1601-1755



paintings in the 1651 inventory, as compared to Don Luis’s inventory of 1648. Fur-
thermore, Don Gaspar was continually seeking to refine attributions, as may be
inferred from the incomplete entries (“by the hand of —~"") scattered throughout the
inventory. His roster of artists included the sort of lesser masters ~ Gabriel de Terra-
zas, for example — generally overlooked in Don Luis’s inventory. There were many
more Flemish works than in Don Luis’s collection, and the subject matter was far more
secular in character. Indeed, Don Gaspar’s gallery was notably profane; only about
20 percent of the works had sacred subjects. In contrast, as has been noted above, the
collection of the Conde de Monterrey, inventoried in 1653, contained nearly 56 per-
cent religious pictures, by no means an extreme example.?%? Although we now know
that secular subject matter was in fact common in noble mid-seventeenth-century
Spanish galleries, Carpio’s 1651 collection was highly unusual.

Certain paintings in the inventory have links to Don Gaspar’s official duties. The
presence of several works by Stanzione and Falcone recalls the canvases by these art-
ists at the Buen Retiro and Alcdzar. Similarly, a Tityus, attributed to Titian (Doc. 49,
no. 162), recalls the torturati by Titian and Ribera in the collections of Monterrey and
the king,?6? and the many battle scenes, still lifes, and landscapes in Don Gaspar’s col-
lection parallel the multitude of similar works at the Buen Retiro.2** The entries de-
scribing works by Veldzquez and Mazo also related to Don Gaspar’s life at court. Con-
temporary documents indicate that Veldzquez’s duties as aposentador mayor would
have brought him into contact — and even potential conflict — with Don Gaspar when-
ever the royal family was in residence at the Buen Retiro,?%>and Mazo and Don Gaspar
would have certainly become acquainted while both were serving in the retinue of
Prince Balthasar Carlos.26¢

Several aspects of Don Gaspar’s gallery of 1651 show him to be a collector of a
different kind than his father. There were, for example, many copies, uncertain attribu-
tions, small sizes, and unknown or young artists; the subject matter of many of the
works is likewise what we might expect to find in a “young” collection. Paintings
with genre or “decorative” subjects were, of course, less expensive than monumental
figured compositions, and a young collector’s gallery might have included many such
works. The type of subjects that served in a decorative capacity in Don Luis’s collec-
tion now assumed greater importance in Don Gaspar’s.

Don Gaspar’s turbulent career at court after the death of his father in 1661 has
little to do with the history of collecting, and is consequently outlined only in the entry
for his documents, below. However, the Buen Retiro affair of 1662 and its aftermath,
including exile, military service, and imprisonment in Portugal until 1668, had grave
consequences for Don Gaspar’s activities as a picture collector. In the first place, his
actions might well have cost him his life and resulted in the dispersal of his (and his
late father’s) collection: a conviction of treason would have subjected Don Gaspar’s
entire estate, including the picture gallery, to seizure by the Crown. As it was, Don

262. Pérez Sanchez 1977, p.425.

263. Prado nos. 426 and 427 (Titian) and 1113 and 1114 (Ribera). See von Barghahn 1979, pp. 235-236, Tra-
pier 1952, pp. 8182, and Pérez Sanchez 1974, pp. 241ff.

264. See von Barghahn 1979, passim.

265. For documents and other information regarding interactions between Don Gaspar and Veldzquez at the
festivities held in Madrid to celebrate the birth of Felipe Prospero, 28 November 1657, see ].E. Varey, “Velaz-
quez y Heliche en los festejos madrilefios de 165758, Boletin de la Real Academia de la Historia, 169,

no. 2, 1972, pp. 407-422.

266. See Biblioteca Nacional, Madrid, Seccién de Manuscritos, ms. no. 18722-56, {f. 200205, cited by
Andrés 1975, p. 49.
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Gaspar’s life and goods were spared, but it was to be six years before he could retarn
to collecting. The following eight years at Madrid (1668 —76) was a period of rebuild-
ing: widowed in 1669, Don Gaspar remarried in 1671, to Dofia Teresa Enriquez de
Cabrera, daughter of the Almirante de Castilla.

As detailed in the entry to his documents, Don Gaspar possessed four principal
residences, of which the Jardin de San Joaquin was probably the most important, and
the main repository of the art collection; indeed, the density of the hanging scheme
recorded in 1689 suggests a museum more than a home. (The model for Don Gaspar’s
Jjardin gallery may have been that of the Conde de Monterrey, which had come into the
possession of Don Gaspar’s brother by marriage.) Like a good museum curator, Don
Gaspar also sought to refine his collection, including at least one public almoneda,
described below.

Unfortunately, the lack of a death inventory for Don Luis makes it impossible to
say how many of the works inventoried in 1689 but absent from the inventories of
1648, 1651, or the supposed list of 1661 were actually acquired by Don Gaspar. The
documentary evidence is further confused because Don Gaspar sent many works back
to Madrid from Italy before his death in 1687.2%7 Nonetheless, it is certain that, by
1689, the Carpio collection was a star of the first magnitude in the constellation of
seventeenth-century private holdings. The statistics are impressive: the collection con-
tained more than 50 works attributed to Tintoretto, more than 30 each given to Titian
and the Bassani, and more than 15 to Veronese. There are nearly 40 works attributed
to Van Dyck, more than 25 given to Rubens, and nearly 20 related to Veldzquez. Other
artists represented by sizeable numbers of works are Leonardo da Vinci (five works —
attributions obviously somewhat dubious), Raphael (five, plus one copy), Michelan-
gelo (at least one), Andrea del Sarto (five), Correggio (six, plus two school pieces),
Palma (14), Parmigianino (seven), Giulio Romano (at least four), Luca Cambiaso (14),
Barocci (at least three),Sanchez Coello (16), El Greco (five), Caravaggio (three), the
Carracci (at least three), Reni (9), Ribera (18), Orrente (four), and many lesser mas-
ters. Among Seicento artists, the names of Stanzione, Cerquozzi (“Michael Angel de
la Batalla”), Reni and Ribera, Vaccaro, Van Laer, Codazzi, Artois, Rosa, Dughet,
Mario dei Fiore, Falcone, Claude Lorraine, and Giordano stand out. There was even a
portrait by Rembrandt (Doc. 115, no. 57). Excepting Veldzquez, Mazo, and possibly
Herrera the Younger (Doc. 115, no. 414), contemporary Spanish painters were con-
spicuously absent.

Don Gaspar de Haro in Italy

Don Gaspar left Madrid for Italy September 1676.768 However, problems with the cer-
tification of his credentials, not to mention the many difficulties associated with travel
and diplomacy in the seventeenth century, long delayed his arrival in Rome, which
apparently occurred in March 1677.26° Don Gaspar used his voyage as an opportunity
to tour northern Italy, including Venice, where his admiration for the works of Tinto-

267. See AHPM, Prot. 9.819, ff. 740~ 1201; El Escorial Palace, Library, ms. &-IV-25.

268. Madrid: Biblioteca Nacional, ms. 18722-56, fol. 200v.

269. See Biblioteca Nacional, Madrid, Seccién de Manuscritos, ms. no. 18722-56, ff. 200~205. Don Gaspar
apparently left Madrid sometime after 14 September 1676, was in Martorell, near Barcelona, on “*5 October”
16767, and arrived in Rome on “13 March™ (f. 201 v.). Because the ms. refers to “difficulties” experienced by
the former prime minister, Valenzuela, it is probable that Don Gaspar’s voyage occurred during the winter of
1676~77, when Valenzuela’s government fell. (A brief summary of Valenzuela’s career may be found in Elliott
1963/70, p. 365.)
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retto may have been strengthened. This admiration soon became a passion: Don Gas-
par would eventually acquire, during his years in Italy, more than 170 pictures attrib-
uted to Tintoretto.

The record of Don Gaspar’s early years in Rome remains partially confused,?”®
but it seems clear that, in spite of initial difficulties, his ambassadorship was a peace-
ful, relatively successful interval in his life. Indeed, Don Gaspar’s principal occupa-
tions in Rome were fighting off the machinations of hostile members of the Curia,
intriguing for his return to Madrid, and collecting works of art.?"!

What is more, Don Gaspar became a leading patron of contemporary painters in
Rome. Bellori, Pascoli, De Dominici, and Pacichelli all lauded his taste, collection,
and role as Maecenas in Rome and (later) in Naples.?’? The Oratorian priest, Sebasti-
ano Resta, himself an important part of the Roman art world, spoke of a scuola plato-
nica del Marchese del Carpio — a private academy or group of intellectuals meeting
under Don Gaspar’s protection.?’”? (Indeed, Resta may have influenced Don Gaspar on
several aesthetic issues, including the importance of Correggio — see the discussion in

270. Andrés 1975, p. 25, has Don Gaspar arrive in Rome on 13 March 1675, but then states that he immedi-
ately went to see Pope Tnnocent XI. However, Innocent X1 did not become Pope until 21 September 1676;
Clement X was still Pope in 1675. M.E.Ghelli, “ viceré¢ marchese del Carpio (1688—1687),” Archivio storico
per le province napoletane, 58 (1933), p. 286, assumes that Don Gaspar arrived in Rome in March 1677, which
date is corroborated by the best reading of Bibloteca Nacional, Madrid, Seccidn de Manuscritos, ms. 18722-56,
ff. 200-205. See the entry to the documents, below, for evidence of Pope Innocent XI's friendship with Don
Gaspar.

271. Bibloteca Nacional, Madrid, Seccién de Manuscritos, ms. 18722-56, ff. 201202, gives a vivid picture of
the intrigues surrounding Don Gaspar’s first year in Rome. Don Gaspar’s principal triumph at this time was
securing papal protection for Spanish troops billeted in Rome en route from Milan and other centers to Sicily.
His adversaries appear to have been Cardinal Cybo, the Pope’s principal minister, and Cardinal Pio. For further
details of Don Gaspar’s ambassadorship, see Ghelli 1933, pp. 286288 and notes, and Andrés 1975, pp. 25—
28, neither of whom cite contemporary ltalian sources. Don Gaspar’s second wife, Dofia Teresa, had remained
in Madrid. Both Madame d’ Aulnoy (cited by Andrés 1975, p. 27) and the Marquise de Villars (wife of the
French Ambassador - see her Memoires de la cour d’Espagne 1679 1681, published by Morel-Fatio, Paris
1893, pp. 206207, 226) recount Dofa Teresa’s pleas for her husband’s return. Such a move was apparently
opposed not only by the Queen Regent (now the Queen Mother), but also by the Almirante de Castilla (Dofa
Teresa's father) and many other courtiers. Villars ~ who never met Don Gaspar — mentions that Don Gaspar
was respected for his ““lively and enterprising spirit” (génie vif et entreprenant) but repeats the by now standard
opinton that Don Gaspar was bizarre et dangereuse (p. 206). See also Ghelli 1933, pp. 286{. and note.

272. See G.P. Bellori Le vite de’ pittori, scultori et architetti moderni, 3 vols., Pisa 1821, 3, particularly pp. 66—
67, reporting Luca Glordano’s comment that Naples, upon Don Gaspar’s death, “had lost a loving father, and
the painters a great support, by reason of the great delight this wise Lord (mentovato Signore) took in the picto-
rial art.” Sce also Bellori 1821, vol. 3, pp. 136-210 — and especially, pp. 191-193, describing the drawing by
Maratta commissioned by Don Gaspar; L. Pascoli Vite de’ Pittori, Scultori ed Architetti Moderni, 2 vols., Rome
17301736, (vol. 1), pp. 48 (Lifc of Grimaldi) and pp. 186 (Life of Berrettoni); Pascoli 17301736 (vol. 2),

p. 202 (Life of Ghezzi); B. De Dominici, Vite de’ Pittori, Scultori ed Architetti Napoletani, 4 vols., 1840, vol.
4, p. 315; G.B. Pacichelli, Memorie de’ viaggi per I'Europa Christiana, Naples 1685, part 4, vol. 1, p. 39; and
Haskell 1971, pp. 190—-192 and notes.

273. G. Bottari and S. Ticozzi, Raccolta di lettere sulla Pittura, Scultura et Architecttura, scrite da’ pitt celebri
personaggi di secoli XV, XVI, e XVII, 8 vols., Milan 1822-25, vol. 2, p. 105 — also cited by E. Harris, “El
Marqués del Carpio y sus cuadros de Veldzquez,” Archivio Espariol de Arte, 30 (1957), p. 136. Compare
Pacheco’s private “academy,” as described by Brown 1978, pp. 21-43, 59—-62, and 63ff. The career of Padre
Resta is known chiefly through his surviving Jetters (e.g., Bottari-Ticozzi, vol. 2, pp. 100, 104-105; vol. 3,

pp. 115~116 and 490-491 — cf. Haskell 1971, pp. 77 and 155.) According to Haskell 1971, p. 77, Vannugli
(op. cit. above), and M. Dunn, “Father Sebastiano Resta and the Final Phase of the Decoration of S. Maria in
Vallicella,” The Art Bulletin, 64, no. 4 (1982), pp. 601 -622. Padre Resta was an Oratorian, but the 1682 inven-
tory, item 1275, contains a sketch for a bust of “‘Padre Resta du Geronimini” — apparently implying that Resta
was a Jeronymite. Don Gaspar also owned a picture of St. Philip Neri (no. 1276) ~ a pendant to Padre Resta’s
portrait? — suggesting an Oratorian connection. More important than Resta’s theological connections (at Jeast in
the context of Don Gaspar’s collecting) were his aesthetics. Dunn 1982 outlines Resta’s later career. Dunn notes
(p. 603) that Correggio was Resta’s favorite artist, which might explain — at least in part — Don Gaspar’s passion
for his work.
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the entry to his documents, below.) Don Gaspar is also known to have retained at least
one poet, Juan Vélez de Ledn, as his secretary in Rome.?7*

As a patron, Don Gaspar became one of Maratti’s chief supporters and is known
to have expressed particular admiration for Bernini.?”> On at least one occasion, Don
Gaspar visited the aged Bernini’s studio, where he bought a self-portrait drawing -
probably the Portrait of a Young Man with Drawings in his Hand, 1682 inventory
(Doc. 109, no. 429).276 According to Pascoli, Don Gaspar paid twice-weekly, three-
times-weekly, and even “daily” (giornalmente) visits to the studios of Nicolo Berre-
toni, Giuseppe Ghezzi, and Giovanni Francesco Grimaldi.?”” He “discovered” Paolo
de Matteis,?’® and, in Bellori’s perhaps overly dramatic account, gave Luca Giordano a
torchlight tour of the pictures in the Palazzo della Spagna.?” Even if we allow for exag-
geration, it is clear that Don Gaspar not only made a tremendous impression on the con-
temporary Roman art world, but also made conspicuous efforts to befriend artists.

One of Don Gaspar’s commissions during his stay in Rome is documented in
some detail by Bellori. The passage, which concerns a drawing Maratti made for the
Carpio collection, is worth close attention:

In this regard we must refer to a very fine drawing that Maratti made for
the Marquis del Carpio at the time when he was the ambassador of the
Catholic King that is, the King of Spain to the court of Pope Innocent
X1. The Marquis was a great lover of painting. Besides statues, marbles,
and pictures in large numbers he also collected a considerable number of
drawings by the most famous painters of the past and of our times, hand-
somely displayed in thirty books. For some of these drawings he com-
missioned the most renowned masters then in Rome. The subject was to
be painting, and each artist was left free to represent it in his own man-
ner, as he chose.

[The passage continues with a description of Maratti’s allegorical response.]*%¢
Bellori’s description is pertinent for several reasons. It provides further evidence
that Don Gaspar did in fact commission as well as collect works of art from important

274. For information, bibliography, and notes on Vélez de Ledn, see Andrés 1975, pp. 28 and 46-47. Vélez de
Leobn is the best candidate for the writer of the ““authorized biography™ of Don Gaspar (published in Burke
1984, vol. 2, Document 4.6). He was the source of several pieces of propaganda issued in defense of Don
Gaspar’s career. As Andrés has noted, future biographical studies of Don Gaspar will require detailed research
into Vélez de Leon’s writings.

275. The preface 10 Don Gaspar’s volume of drawings after his collection of ancient and contemporary sculp-
tures is particularly Jaudatory of Bernini; the ms. is now in the collection of the Society of Antiquaries, London.
Sec Harris 1957, p. 138 and note 12, and 1958, p. 185; and also De Dominici 1843, part 4, vol. 1, p. 39.

276. Domenico Bernini, Vita del Cavalier Gio. Lorenzo Bernino, Rome 1713, p. 28ff.

277. Documented by Pascoli 1730 (vol. 1}, p. 186 (Life of Berrettoni); 1736 (vol. 2), p. 202 (Ghezzi); and
1730, p. 48 (Grimalds).

278. De Dominici 1843, vol. 4, p. 315.

279. Bellori 1821, vol. 3, p. 36.

280. Translation from Enggass and Browa 1970, pp. 141 -142. The drawing is probably the School of Drawing
catalogued as no. 1132. For an engraving of the drawing, see their frontispiece. For further information on Don
Gaspar’s drawings, see F. Saxl, “The Battle Scene without a Hero — Aniello Falcone and his Patrons,” Journal
of the Warburg and Courtauld Institutes, 3, 1939/40, pp. 75 and 76, notes 23 (citing earlier bibliography);
Harris 1957, (note 275; and the catalogue of a sale at Christie’s, London, 20 March 1973, pp. 56 (with exten-
sive notes). One volume of Don Gaspar’s drawings is in the National Gallery of Scotland (sec K. Andrews,
Catalogue of Italian Drawings, Cambridge 1971, vol. 1, pp. 160161 and 165). Another volume is the one at
the Society of Antiquarics, mentioned in note 275. Yet another is in the Biblioteca Nacional, Madrid (sce Saxl
1939, p. 76, note 2), and a fourth - now dismembered — is in the British Museum, London. 1 am most grateful
to Enriqueta Harris Frankfort for sharing these notices with me.
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artists in Seicento Rome. Also, it underscores Don Gaspar’s interest in the graphic
media, which was given the display deference of paintings.®! Finally, it reveals a theo-
retical side to Don Gaspar’s connoisseurship — in effect, Don Gaspar was asking the
artists to express, nonverbally, the aesthetic principles that governed their work. We
may assume that an analogous exchange of ideas often took place during the gather-
ings of Don Gaspar’s scuola platonica. Finally, Maratti’s drawing, which Bellori took
nearly two pages to describe, suggests that Maratti was himself an important source of
aesthetic theory in Don Gaspar’s Rome.

If this, and Maratti’s artistic superiority, had not been enough to commend
Maratti to Don Gaspar’s personal attention, another fact would have: Maratti was also
a collector, with exceptional holdings in many categories, but particularly in drawings.?$?
It may, of course, be merely coincidental that Bellori connects Maratti with Don Gas-
par’s 30 volumes of bound drawings, but it is equally possible that Maratti’s collection
served as a prototype for Don Gaspar’s.

The inventory that Don Gaspar took in Rome upon his promotion to the Viceroy-
alty of Naples in 1682 (Doc. 109) illuminates his activities both as a diplomat and as a
patron. For example, Bellori’s characterization of Maratti as Don Gaspar’s “favorite
artist” is corroborated by 18 items attributed to him.?8* One of these (no. 373)
describes a copy after Titian’s Virgin in Glory with SS. Francis and Nicholas, which is
given the relatively high evaluation of 150 scudi. Even if this picture was not a direct
commission, it represents Don Gaspar’s support of an important aspect of Maratti’s
artistic development.”®* Berrettoni, who was associated with Maratti, contributed three
works entirely by his own hand, including a Portrait of Poussin (no. 521), and another
four which were hung as a set in collaboration with Abraham Brueghel. Grimaldi
(“Giovanni Francesco Bolognese”; 1606 —1680), who was nearly sixty-nine years old
when Don Gaspar arrived in Rome, is represented by four works, including two land-
scapes that Don Gaspar hung together with a pair by Codazzi (nos. 789, 790). The
inventory also lists a work by Grimaldi’s son, Alessandro, who had died before his
father (no. 1004), and by Grimaldi’s son-in-law, Pietro Santo Bartoli (no. 153 - a copy
after Raphael; cf. the Escorial list, f. 15). Paolo Cattamara (“Paoluccio Napoletano™)
is represented by four large still-life compositions (nos. 193, 742).

Foremost among the many contemporary artists who figured prominently in Don
Gaspar’s collection was Pasquale de’ Rossi (1641-1725), a Venetian artist who came
to Rome around the time of Don Gaspar’s own arrival.?83 No less than 41 large-scale
figurative compositions by Rossi hung in the Carpio gallery in Rome; these included

281. See nos. 540541, 616, 625626, 647, 866, 1008, 1044, 1057, 10741076, 1101, 1106, 12941300,
1481-1484.

282. See J.K. and R.H. Westin, Carlo Maratta ... Figurative Drawings, State College, PA 1975, pp. 7-11, for
a discussion of Maratta’s collection of drawings. As the Westins note, pp. 89, Maratta’s works were very
closely held, and were shown only to selected visitors. The collection was eventually bought in part by Philip V
and Isabel Farnese.

283. See Haskell 1971, p. 191, and Bellori 1942, pp. 117 and 121.

284. According to Wethey 1969, vol. 1, p. 110, a copy by Maratta after Titian of this same subject was sold to
Spain with other paintings from the collection of the recently deceased Maratta. The 1746 inventory taken at La
Granja records the piece with the relatively small dimensions of ¥ vara 3 dedos by V2 vara 2 dedos - unverifi-
able, since the work is now lost. Unfortunately, Don Gaspar’s Roman inventory assigns item 373 the unlikely
dimensions, 20 x 5 palmi, making any identification difficult. It should also be noted that Don Gaspar had
employed artists 1o paint copies of famous paintings on the walls of his villa in Madrid, as discussed in the text,
above.

285. Rossi was born in Vicenza and trained in Venice; see U. Thieme and F. Becker, Allgemeines Lexikon der
bildenden Kiinstler von der Antike bis zur Gegenwart, 37 vols., Leipzig 190750, 29, 1935, citing earlier bibli-
ography, and Wittkower 1973, pp. 323 and 383, note 104.
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religious subjects, mythological scenes, decorative pictures with themes like “The
Four Seasons,” and miscellaneous pieces (e.g., Two Women, no. 970). Don Gaspar’s
enthusiasm for Rossi’s work did not extend to matters of price, however: Maratti’s
paintings were evaluated at four to eight times the price of a canvas of equivalent size
by Rossi.

Don Gaspar also acquired works by Sassoferrato (three works); Giovanni Bonati
(two); Francesco Cozza (one); Pietro Santo Bartoli (two, plus a copy after Raphael);
Baciccio (one); Ciro Ferri (two); the landscape artists Angeluccio (two) and Lauri
(one, plus four with other artists); and the stili-life painter Gavarotti (six), a pupil of
the recently deceased Mario Nuzzi (““Mario dei Fiore,” 1603-73). Luca Giordano had
already sold 11 works to Don Gaspar by 1682; he led a contingent of living Neapolitan
artists that included his pupil, Tommaso Giaquinto (“Giaquinto Ciciliano” (d. 1717)
one picture); the already mentioned de Matteis; and Cavaliere Giuseppe Recco (1634 -
1693), who would eventually die en route to Madrid, where he was expected to take a
position as court painter,?3¢

A survey of the pictures in Don Gaspar’s gallery in 1682 would have shown
points of both similarity to and divergence from the canon of taste in seventeenth-
century Spanish connoisseurship. The summary of the 1682 inventory lists more than
320 Venetian pictures.?®” But these numbers are misleading, for nearly half of the
Venetian works — 153 pieces — were attributed to Tintoretto or his school. To these
may be added 16 attributions to Tintoretto in the Escorial shipping lists, two in the
1687 inventory, and 54 more already in the Carpio collection in Madrid — not to men-
tion a volume of drawings. Don Gaspar thus transformed Spanish love of Venetian
painting into an idiosyncratic passion for a single artist’s works. (It is, of course,
impossible to determine how many of the pieces attributed to Tintoretto were actually
by his hand - Pinacci set low evaluations on most of the works. Even so, the acquisi-
tion of more than 150 works by a single artist in less than seven years was a extraordi-
nary feat — it represented the purchase of a Tintoretto canvas approximately every
other week. Don Gaspar must have bought every canvas attributed to Tintoretto that
came onto the Roman art market during his tenure as ambassador.)

Otherwise Don Gaspar’s collection showed a remarkably balanced and detailed
knowledge of the Italian school. Although a quick survey of his Cinquecento acquisi-
tions suggests a concentration of interest in the usual famous names (Titian, Veronese,
Correggio, Raphael, and Parmigianino) who had impressed Don Luis, Don Gaspar’s
Venetian pictures also included works attributed to the Bellini, Giorgione, Paris Bor-
done, the Palma family, Schiavone, and Bassano. (Compared to other Spanish Golden
Age collections, Don Gaspar’s gallery had only a modest contingent of works by the
Bassani: eight.) More than twenty different Venetian artists were represented in all.
Nor was the rest of the Cinquecento overlooked: there was a respectable smattering of
Central Italian High Renaissance names, and among the forty-odd Mannerist pieces
were works attributed to Giulio Romano, Beccafumi, Perino del Vaga, and Daniele da
Volterra. The large Venetian contingent was augmented by nearly 60 sixteenth-century
northern Italian works, including examples by the followers of Leonardo, Correggio
and his circle, Dossi, Lotto, Scarsellino, and others. The presence of token examples
of the work of Giotto and Cimabue has already been noted, but in fact Don Gaspar’s
historicism went far beyond the Renaissance. An important aspect of his Roman col-

286. Dizionario 1972, p. 328; Wittkower 1973, pp. 233-234 and 384, notc 120.
287. See Doc. 109.
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lection — unfortunately, one just outside the scope of this study — was a large assem-
blage of antiquities, which Don Gaspar hoped to ship back to Spain.

Perhaps the most remarkable aspect of Don Gaspar’s Cinguecento collection was
the large number of works by late mannerists. At least 77 pictures were attributed to
artists from this group, including Barocci (twelve works), Cambiaso (four), Giulio
Campi (one), Bernardino Campi (one), unknown Campi (one), Cigoli (two), the Zuc-
cari (16), Pulzone (nine), Santi di Tito (one), and Muziano (five). To some extent,
these pieces represented a Spanish bias in Don Gaspar’s taste. As is well known, Zuc-
caro and other so-called “reformers” were among the artists called to the Escorial in
the 1580s, and the reform style found numerous adherents in Spain well into the
1620s. Since the Spanish School was in a sense founded on reform principles, a Span-
ish collector might reasonably have been expected to seek out this kind of art. But, as
in the case of Tintoretto, Don Gaspar’s enthusiasm went well beyond a casual interest;
he collected almost all the painters we would today consider among the most signifi-
cant reformers. Given Don Gaspar’s concurrent interest in Bolognese art of the seven-
teenth century, his collection of such works suggests a certain amount of historical
curiousity.

Impressive as they were, Don Gaspar’s sixteenth-century pictures constituted less
than half of his collection. More numerous were the Seicento works, including those
by the contemporary artists already discussed. In particular, Don Gaspar cultivated an
appreciation for the cornerstone of Italian seventeenth-century painting: the School of
Bologna. More than 140 of the works inventoried in 1682 were said to be by Bolog-
nese artists, and another 69 were given to by Roman artists associated in some way
with the Bolognese. Forty-one works bore the names of the Carracci themselves. The
principal emphasis fell on Annibale and Agostino Carracci and their classicizing suc-
cessors: 108 lots were attributed to these artists. But another 32 lots were given to
Ludovico Carracci and those of his successors who worked in the fully Baroque style.

Indeed, a sense of historical balance - of attempting to collect the entire school
rather than focusing on one particular stylistic trend - pervaded the collection. Hence,
the works of Baroque artists such as Lanfranco and Cortona were present - if fewer in
number ~ to offset the more classical works of Domenichino, Albani, Poussin, and
Sacchi. Furthermore, Don Gaspar sought to collect seventeenth-century Italian paint-
ing in extraordinary depth and range: the more than 22 Bolognese artists represented
were joined by five tenebrists, over 40 other Roman masters, 14 Neapolitans, two
Spaniards, and a large group of northern artists active in Italy. Ultimately, the best
word to describe Don Gaspar’s collection would be “eclectic.”

Don Gaspar’s interest in the visual arts during his viceroyalty in Naples, 1682 -
87, also continued in spite of many preoccupations. For example, he obtained two new
works from Giordano, along with a copy by Giordano after Correggio and 27 work-
shop pieces retouched by the master. This corroborates Bellori’s account of Don Gas-
par’s continuing patronage of Giordano in Naples.?%® New artists, such as Giacomo del
Po, also appear on Don Gaspar’s roster; Giacomo’s daughter Teresa del Po would sub-
sequently engrave some of Don Gaspar’s masterpieces. In all, the Escorial shipping list
and 1687 inventory add 20 to 24 new names to those already present in Don Gaspar’s
Roman inventory. Nor was the flow of acquisitions much abated during his viceroy-
alty: more than 600 works entered his collection in Naples. But the peripheral activi-

288. Bellori 1821, vol. 3, pp. 59-66 recounts in some detail Don Gaspar’s many commissions for Giordano in
Naples.
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ties — for example, attribution and conservation — seem to have declined markedly.
The new pictures were by no means completely catalogued at the time of Don Gas-
par’s death.

One further aspect of Don Gaspar’s collecting and patronage remains to be dis-
cussed: his interest in the works of women artists. The Carpio inventories of 1682
and 1687 include works attributed to Sofonisba Anguissola (nos. 666 and 980); Irene
di Spilimberga, a follower of Titian (no. 726); Marietta Tintoretto (nos. 660—-61);
Domenica Macagna, a flower painter (nos. 775—-76); Elisabetta Sirani (no. 801); and
Teresa del Po (Escorial List, f. 20). We do not know, of course, Don Gaspar’s motives
may have had for acquiring these works — perhaps he cast his nets so widely that the
women were brought in with the rest. But, as has already been noted above, Don Gas-
par (or at least, Pinacci) was also aware of details in the biographies of these women,
indicating a more than circumstantial interest. Furthermore, he seems to have begun to
use Teresa del Po — working, to be sure, from drawings by her father — to publicize his
collection.

Much work remains to be done in identifying extant pieces from Don Gaspar’s
Italian acquisitions.?®” However, a few examples may be cited to give an indication of
the quality to be found among Don Gaspar’s acquisitions: Raphael’s Alba Madonna
(1687 no. 1256 — now National Gallery, Washington, no. 24); Correggio’s Madonna
del Latte (now Szépmiivészeti Muzeum, Budapest), which seems to be the same as
item no. 1134 in Don Gaspar’s 1682 inventory, from the Orsini gallery; and a second
Correggio, a Madonna and Child with the Young St. John, now in the Prado (no. 112,
identification tentative, Fig. 27). His Seicento works included masterpieces such as
Giordano’s The Genius of Rubens (Prado 190), along with the pictures by Velazquez
already cited. The attribution of several of Don Gaspar’s pictures is doubted by mod-
ern scholars: for example, the Weeping Magdalene, attributed to Titian at 1682,
no. 511, now found in the collection of the Duke of Portland, Welbeck Abbey, is
called a copy (after the original in the Pitti Palace, Florence) rather than a study, as
Pinacci’s entry suggests.

Don Gaspar died in Naples on 16 November 1687; as with so many noble collec-
tions, sales were ordered by his heirs in Naples and in Madrid, with the Naples venue
requiring correspondence between Madrid and agents in the viceroyalty. Given the size
of the collection and the complexity of international communication, it is not surpris-
ing that it took seven years to settle the estate, as detailed in the entry below. The range
of social classes represented by the purchasers at the sale is extraordinary, ranging
from the king to a gardener. Most of these were creditors of the estate who were will-
ing to accept pictures in lieu of cash payments.

Artist Advisors to Don Gaspar de Haro

The role of the Sienese artist Giuseppe Pinacci (1642 —-1718) in Don Gaspar’s collect-
ing is worth noting. Pinacci, like Nardi (and to some extent, Veldzquez), had what was
in effect a second career as an art historian and connoisseur. His knowledge of art his-
tory, much of which is revealed in the entries of the 1682 inventory, was quite detailed
and must of been of great service to Don Gaspar as he assembled his collection.

289. Harris 1983, p. 412, note 15, cited only seven extant works known to have borne Don Gaspar's mono-
gram. Since then, many more have come to light in auction houses, museums, etc.
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Indeed, throughout this study, seventeenth-century Spanish (and expatriate Ital-
ian) artists are encountered in the roles of connoisseurs, art historians, dealers, and
advisors. Spanish collectors valued their expertise, as may be inferred from Don